
Kermit Williams, District 7 
President 
Randy Carter, District 4 
President Pro Tern 

PONTIAC CITY COUNCIL 

Patrice Waterman, District 1 
Megan Shramski, District 2 
Mary Pietila, District 3 
Gloria Miller, District 5 
Dr. Doris Taylor Burks, District 6 

It is this Council's mission "To serve the citizens of Pontiac by committing to help provide an enhanced quality of life 
for its residents, fostering the vision of a family-friendly community that is a great place to live, work and play." 

47450 Woodward Pontiac, MI 48342 Phone: (248) 758-3200 Garland S. Doyle, M.P.A. 
Website: http://pontiaccityclerk.com/city-council-meetings Interim City Clerk 

Call to order 

Roll Call 

STUDY SESSION 
254th Session of the 10th Council 

September 21, 2021 at 6:00 P.M. 
Bowens Center 52 Bagley Pontiac, MI 48341 

Authorization to Excuse Councilmembers 

Approval of the Agenda 

Approval of the Minutes 
1. September 14, 2021 

Public Comment 

Agenda Items 

Special Presentation (Special Presentations are limited to 10 minutes.) 
2. Reducing the Digital Divide 

Presentation Presenter: Jason Dixon, Strategic Alliance Community Development 

3. Legal Report of the Status of the Medical Marihuana Review Process 

4. City Clerk's Response to Inaccuracies in the Medical Marihuana Review Legal Report and Clerk Update on 
Medical Marihuana Review Process 
Presentation Presenters: Garland Doyle, Interim City Clerk and Jonathan Starks, Assistant City 
Clerk/Regulatory Analyst 

Discussion 
5. Phoenix Center/Downtown 

Ordinances 
6. An Ordinance to Repeal the Existing Article II ("Water") of Chapter 118 ("Utilities") of the Municipal Code 

of Pontiac, Michigan ("Municipal Code"), and to Enact a New Article II ("Water") of Chapter 118 ("Utilities") 
of the Municipal Code, to Regulate the Use, Connection to, Inspection, and Supervision of the City Water 
Supply System; to Prohibit Cross Connections; to Regulate Use and Operation of Water Meters; to Provide for 
Water Rates and Charges; to Provide Requirements for Service Outside City Limits; to Establish Emergency 
Water Use Restrictions; to Regulate Water Main and Sewer Construction; and to Provide for Enforcement, 
Penalties, and Other Relief for Violations. 



7. An Ordinance to provide for a service charge in lieu of taxes for a housing project for low income persons and 
families to be financed with a federally -aided Mortgage Loan pursuant to the provisions for the State Housing 
Development Authority Act of 1966 (1966 PA 346, as amended; MCL 125.1401, et seq; the "Act"). This 
ordinance shall be known and cited as the "Tax Exemption Ordinance-for Perdue Place." 

Communications and Resolutions 
City Clerk 

8. Communication from the City Clerk informing the City Council that Robert S. Huth, Jr. of Kirk, Huth, Lange 
and Badalamenti, PLC has resigned as the Professional Expert-Legal Advisor to the City Clerk. 

9. Resolution to approve the agreement between the City and Davis Listman, PLLC to serve as the Professional 
Expert-Legal Advisor to the City Clerk at a cost not to exceed $50,000.00 and authorize the Mayor to sign the 
agreement 

Community and Economic Development 
10. Resolution to schedule a public hearing for the sale of Perdue School located at 25 S. Sanford to Community 

Housing Network for $600,000 

11. Resolution to approve agreement for payment in lieu taxes between Community Housing Network and the 
City 

12. Resolution to approve a contract between the City and Rightway Remediation, LLC to provide Asbestos 
Abatement Services for Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Clearance and Demolition of Batch 
17 Properties not to exceed $93,000 

13. Resolution to approve a contract between the City and International Construction to provide Demolition 
Services for CDBG Clearance and Demolition of Batch 17 Properties not to exceed $175,000 

Department of Public Works (DPW) 
14. Resolution to approve the agreement between the City and Asphalt Specialist, Inc. for $2,096,286.00 for the 

2021 Local Street Improvement Project 

15. Resolution to support application for Transportation Alternatives Program Grant through Michigan 
Department of Transportation (MDOT) for Gillespie A venue over Clinton River Bridge Superstructure Capital 
Preventive Maintenance. 

Finance 
16. Resolution to approve a budget amendment for fiscal year 2021-2022 to allocate a total $4,220,000 for 

construction and engineering services. 

17. Resolution to approve $988,000 contract amendment with Oakland County Sheriff to provide funding for 
seven (7) additional deputy sheriffs to the City's current contracted staffing levels. 

18. Resolution to accept and approve the Oakland County 2021-22 Auto Theft Prevention (ATPA) Sub-Recipient 
Agreement with the City of Pontiac and Authorizes the Administration to execute the Agreement 

Human Resources 
19. Resolution to approve hazard pay for essential and non-essential workers 

2 



Law 
20. Resolution regarding acceptance of Quit Claim Deed from Racer Properties LLLC for its half of the Vacated 

Portion of Hollywood Street 

21. Status Update on the Medical Marihuana Caregiver Ordinance (City Council asked the City Attorney to 
draft an ordinance on July 6, 2021). 

Planning 
22. Resolution to approve a Zoning Map Amendment request ZMA 21-03 for Parcel No. 64-14-28-455-001 to 

amend the current site zoning R-1 One Family Dwelling to R-3 Multiple Family Dwelling. 

Adjournment 

Upcoming Special Presentations 
October 5, 2021 
1. Pontiac Youth Recreation and Enrichment Center (PYREC) Fall Programming Schedule and Statistics from 

Summer Programming Trial Pop-Up Sites 

2. Oakland County Sheriff's Initiative to Control Gun Violence Incident; Security Initiatives 

3 



#1 
MINUTES 



September 14, 2021 Formal Draft 

Call to order 

Official Proceedings 
Pontiac City Council 

253rd Session of the Tenth Council 

A Formal Meeting of the City Council of Pontiac, Michigan was called to order at the Bowens Senior 
Center, 52 Bagley Pontiac, Ml 48342 on Tuesday, September 14, 2021 at 6:00 p.m. by Council President 
Kermit Williams. 

Invocation - Ms. Robinson 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call 

Members Present-Carter, Pietila, Shramski, Taylor-Burks, Waterman and Williams 

Mayor Waterman was present. 
A quorum was announced. 

Excuse Councilmembers 
21-280 Authorization to Excuse Councilperson Gloria Miller. Moved by Councilperson 
Pietila and second by Councilperson Taylor-Burks. 

Ayes: Pietila, Shramski, Taylor-Burks, Waterman, Williams and Carter 
No:None 
Motion Carried 

Amendments to and Approval of the Agenda 
21-281 Motion to remove item# 3 (resolution to approve agreement between City and 
Asphalt Specialist, Inc. for $2,096,286.00 for the Local Street Improvement Project) and item #5 
(resolution to approve hazard pay for DPW essential workers using American Rescue Plan (ARP) 
funds) defer item# 2 (special presentation on reducing the Digital Divide) from the agenda. Moved 
by Councilperson Waterman and second by Councilperson Taylor-Burks. 

Ayes: Pietila, Shramski, Taylor-Burks, Waterman, Williams and Carter 
No:None 
Motion Carried 

21-282 Motion to approve the agenda as amended. Move by Councilperson Waterman and 
second by Councilperson Pietila. 

Ayes: Shramski, Taylor-Burks, Waterman, Williams, Carter and Pietila 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

Approval of the Minutes 
21-283 Motion to approve meeting minutes for September 7, 2021. Moved by Councilperson 
Pietila and second by Councilperson Taylor-Burks. 

Ayes: Taylor-Burks, Waterman, Williams, Carter, Pietila and Shramski 

1 



September 14, 2021 Formal Draft 

No:None 
Motion Carried 

Subcommittee Report 
Received Public Safety - August 2021 
Recognition of Elected Officials - None 

Agenda Address - None 

Resolutions 
21-284 Motion to defer item #4 (resolution to approve the support Emergency Operations 
Plan in cooperation with the Oakland County Emergency Management and Oakland County 
Emergency Management Program) for two weeks. Moved by Councilperson Pietila and second by 
Councilperson Taylor-Burks. 

Ayes: Waterman, Williams, Carter, Pietila, Shramski and Taylor-Burks 
No:None 
Motion Carried 

Councilwoman Gloria Miller arrived at 6:33 p.m. 

Public Comment 
Seven (7) individuals addressed the body during public comment 

Mayor, Clerk and Council Closing Comments 
Mayor Waterman, Clerk Doyle, Councilwoman Shramski, Councilwoman Taylor-Burks, Councilwoman 
Waterman, Councilwoman Miller, Pro-Tern Carter and President Williams made closing comments. 

Adjournment 
Council President Kermit Williams adjourned the meeting at 6:51 p.m. 

Garland Doyle 
Interim City Clerk 

2 



#3 
SPECIAL 

PRESENTATION 



GMIIGIARMARCO, MULLINS & HORTON, P.C. 
ATTORNEYS AND COUNSELORS AT LAW 

TO: 

CC: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

RE: 

MEMORANDUM 

Pontiac City Council 
Interim Clerk Garland Doyle 

Mayor Deirdre Waterman 

Anthony Chubb, Esq. 

September 15, 2021 

Potential Conflicts of Interest in Marihuana Application Review Process 

This Memorandum is to provide the City Council with an update regarding potential conflicts 
within the marihuana application review process. 

ANALYSIS REGARDING COMPLIANCE ATTORNEY POTENTIAL CONFLICT 

On July 10, 2021, the administration was informed that the firm, Kirk, Huth, Lange & Badalamenti, 
PLC may have a conflict of interest in the Medical Marijuana Review process where they are under 
contract to provide compliance review, by Attorney Rob Huth, over all applications through the 
Clerk's office. Upon receipt of this information, the Administration took several steps to determine 
the truth of the claim so as to protect the interests of the City in this process. 

On July 12, 2021 Attorney Rob Huth was contacted to establish a discussion as to whether his firm 
had completed a thorough review of all potential conflicts of interest. 

On July 13, 2021, in the absence of an initial response, a letter was forward to Mr. Huth 's principal 
partner, Bob Kirk, stating the concern, information and seeking a proper response. 

On July 19, 2021, again in the absence of any response, a second communication was sent to the 
firm principals, including Attorney Huth, seeking clarification and affirmation that they did not have 
a conflict in performing the necessary reviews for the marijuana process. 

On July 22, 2021 the administration received a letter from Attorney Huth indicating that he looks for 
a potential conflict on a case by case basis as he picks up fractional amounts of the applications. The 
administration responded, seeking clarification, as the method of first checking for a conflict as to 
any applicant as the applications are picked up on a going basis, will result in the entire process 
being spoiled if one is found after many have been reviewed. 

On August 18, 2021 the administration, following up on further review and the fact that the Clerk 
has prohibited the administration from all and any access to records, sent another communication 
asking for final clarification. 

On August 23, 2021 the administration was informed by Attorney Huth that he in fact is conflicted 



Memorandum 
September 15, 2021 
Page2 

with at least three applicants in the review of medical marijuana applications. This conflict was first 
publicly disclosed by the Interim Clerk on August 20, 2021. 

ANALYSIS REGARDING HEARING OFFICER POTENTIAL CONFLICT 

The Interim Clerk has requested that the City approve a new contract for the hearing Officer, 
Attorney John Fraser, as he has moved his practice to Dykema. The materials provided by the 
Interim Clerk include an admission that Dykema represents clients who are seeking licensure in the 
City of Pontiac and that they are not dismissing those clients prior to the bringing on of Attorney 
Fraser to their firm. Those facts have been accepted as true pursuant to their letter: 

"Conflict of Interest, Disclosure, and Waiver. The Firm agrees that it will 
not review, analyze, grade, or hear the appeal on any application for any (1) 
organization, (2) individual with an ownership interest in an organization, or 
(3) individual submitting an application for a marihuana facility license with 
the City of Pontiac that it has previously represented in any capacity. To the 
extent pennissible pursuant to the Michigan Rules of Professional Conduct, 
the Firm further agrees that it will provide disclosure of any such previous 
representation including ( 1) the client previously represented, (2) the nature 
of the representation, and (3) the time period of the previous representation. 
Such disclosure shall be updated on an ongoing basis as necessary. 

The Firm has been retained by clients in the marihuana industry, including 
some of which have sought licensure in the City of Pontiac. The Firm is not 
terminating its relationship with any clients should it tum out that the client 
has applied in Pontiac. It will disclose the relationship to the City of Pontiac 
and advise the City of Pontiac to use another law firm to serve as "Hearing 
Officer" to review any matter relating to that client. 

The Firm has been or may be retained by other clients from time to time who 
may be adverse to the City of Pontiac in matters unrelated to the 
Representation covered by this limited Engagement. The City of Pontiac 
hereby waives any conflict that may arise in the Firm's representation of other 
clients in such matters and agrees not to disqualify the Firm from such 
representation, provided that such matters are not substantially related to any 
matter in which the Firm represents the City of Pontiac or on a matter in 
which the City of Pontiac has provided us with confidential information 
material to the matter." 

In both instances outlined above, the issue of whether a professional consultant retained at the 
direction of the Interim Clerk for the review and appellate review of applications was conflicted due 
to a conflict of interest, was promptly investigated and confirming written materials are now retained 
by the City Attorney. 



Memorandum 
September 15, 2021 
Page 3 

FINDINGS 

Dykema and Kirk Huth as consultants retained by the Interim Clerk have now acknowledged 
conflicts in the review process. 

As a result of the foregoing, City Attorneys have recommended several supplemental reparative 
actions to ensure the integrity of the application process to the Interim Clerk, but have not received 
confirmation that those recommendations will be adopted. 



REPORT OF SPECIAL COUNSEL 

-TO THE-

CITY OF PONTIAC 

... CONCERNING THE -

CANVASS OF VOTES CAST 

-AT THE-

RECOUNT 

-HELD ON -

SEPTEMBER 12, 2018 

Prepared and Submitted by: In Cooperation with: 
Eric Doster 
Doster Law Offices, PLLC 
2145 Commons Parkway 
Okemos, MI 48864 

Anthony Chubb / John Clark 
Giarmarco, Mullins & Horton, P.C. 
Tenth Floor Columbia Center 

(517) 977-0147 
eric@ericdoster.com 

101 West Big Beaver Rd. 
Troy, MI 48084 
(248) 457-7000 
achubb@gmhlaw.com 
jclark@gmhlaw.com 

Presented on: 
December 4, 2018 



SUMMARY OF EVENTS WHICH LED TO THE 
SEPTEMBER 12, 2018 RECOUNT 

1. On May 1, 2018, a citizen initiative was filed with the City of Pontiac to create an ordinance ( the 
''Ordinance") to allow medical marihuana facilities to operate in the City of Pontiac pursuant to the 
Medical Marihuana Facilities Licensing Act. See Exhibit 1. 

2. The Ordinance was placed on the ballot as Proposal 1 to be decided by the voters of the City of Pontiac 
at the August 7, 2018 Primary Election. 

3. According to the official results of the August 7, 2018 Primary Election, Proposal 1 passed with 3,900 
"yes" votes to 3,894 "no" votes - a 6 vote margin. See Exhibit 2. 

4. On August 27, 2018, a recount petition was filed by Billie Jean Swazer for a recount of Proposal 1. 
See Exhibit 3. 

5. The Oakland County Board of Canvassers determined that the recount (the "Recount") of the ballots 
cast at the August 7, 2018 Primary Election for Proposal I would be held on September 12, 2018. See 
Exhibit 4. 

SUMMARY OF RECOUNT PROCEDURES GENERALLY 

1. The Oakland County Board of Canvassers is responsible for conducting the recount of a city ballot 
proposal, such as the Recount of Proposal I . See Boards of County Canvassers Manual (Michigan 
Bureau of Elections) Chapter 7, Pages 1-2 of 8. 

2. The first step to conduct the Recount is to determine whether the precinct is recountable. According 
to the Boards of County Canvassers Manual (Michigan Bureau of Elections) Chapter 7, Page 4 of 8: 

"THREE SCENARIOS CAUSING PRECINCT TO BE NOT RECOUNT ABLE: 

• The seal is NOT placed on the ballot container in such a way to ensure that ballots cannot be 
inserted or removed from the container without breaking the seal or damaging the container. 

• The number on the ballot container seal does NOT agree with the number recorded in the Poll 
Book, Statement of Votes or ballot container certificate that is signed, dated and attested to by 
two election inspectors who have expressed a preference for different political parties. 

• The total number of ballots, as reflected by a physical count, does NOT agree with the number 
of voters as shown in the Poll Book and an acceptable explanation as to the reason for the 
discrepancy cannot be identified. (In making this determination it is important that all efforts be 
made to identify the reason for the discrepancy, including a review of the following: 1) spoiled 
and/or defective ballots 2) duplicate ballots and corresponding original ballots 3) provisional 
envelope ballots 4) remarks page notations and 5) Statement of Votes (Totals Tape))." 

3. Once a precinct is deemed to be recountable, then the individual ballots themselves are reviewed to 
determine the votes cast both for and against Proposal 1. The standards to guide the Oakland County 
Board of Canvassers to determine the validity of ballot markings are set forth in a document prepared 



by the Michigan Bureau of Elections entitled "Determining the Validity of Ballot Markings." See 
Exhibit 5. 

4. According to Joseph Rozell, the Director of Elections for Oakland County, the Recount was conducted 
with the aid of a tabulation of the ballots on a computer using a software application designed to 
specifically count only Proposal 1, as authorized pursuant to MCL 168.871(6)(b). Mr. Rozell further 
indicated that any questionable ballots were flagged by the computer tabulation, and the ballots 
themselves were placed on an overhead screen for everyone to observe in order to determine the 
validity of the markings for each particular ballot. 

SUMMARY OF EVENTS THAT OCCURRED AT THE 
SEPTEMBER 12, 2018 RECOUNT 

1. During the determination of the recountability of precincts, a number of precincts were deemed to be 
not recountable. According to the draft Minutes of the Oakland County Board of Canvassers 
concerning the Recount: 

"Precinct 19 was deemed not recountable because a City of Pontiac staff member removed the 
unsealed ballot container from the canvass without authorization and returned it to city hall. This 
was discovered the following day and the container was summoned back to the canvass and 
sealed." 

NOTE: According to Joseph Rozell, the Director of Elections for Oakland County, the City of 
Pontiac staff member who removed the unsealed ballot container was identified as Annette 
Wesley. 

"Precincts lAV through l0AV were deemed not recountable because the seal number from the 
ballot container was not recorded in the poll book as required by state law." 

NOTE: According to Joseph Rozell, the Director of Elections for Oakland County, the AV Board 
members should have recorded the seal number and signed the poll book. For some reason, the 
seal number is not recorded and the poll book is signed by Sheila Grandison and Annette Wesley. 

See Exhibit 6. 

Under the Michigan Election Law, an unsealed ballot box or other ballot container is not recountable. 
MCL 168.87l{l)(c); Board of County Canvassers Manual (Michigan Bureau of Elections) Chapter 7, 
Page 4 of 8. If the seal from the ballot container was not recorded in the Poll Book, the precinct is not 
recountable. Board of County Canvassers Manual (Michigan Bureau of Elections) Chapter 7, Page 4 of 
8. 

2. There was only one noteworthy ballot brought to our attention with respect to ballot markings. 
Specifically, this ballot was an overvoted ballot from AV Precinct 15. A diagram of this ballot is set 
forth on Exhibit 7. This ballot was originally deemed to be an overvote, and the Oakland County 
Board of Canvassers correctly determined that the attached ballot is an overvote. See Exhibit 8. 

3. After the Recount was complete, the Oakland County Board of Canvassers certified the results as 
3,896 "yes" votes to 3,895 "no" votes - a 1 vote margin. See Exhibit 9. 



EXHIBIT 1 
INITIATION OF AN ORDINANCE TO ALLOW 

MEDICAL MARIHUANA FACILITIES TO 
OPERA TE IN THE CITY OF PONTIAC 



INITIA.TION Of' AN ORDINANCE 

An iniUalion of an ordinance lo allow medical manhuena facniU&S to operate In the City of Pontlao pursuant to the Medical Marlhuana 
Facilities Ucenslng Act. Aot No. 281 of the Public: Ads-of 2016; to provide for standards and procedures to permit end regulate 
medlj:al marihuane'fadlilles; to pmv!de for Iha lmposlUon of perm,1 eppUcalion f-i and to Impose condiUqns for th~ra\iQj of . 
medlcal marihuana facllllles. o S · 

~ :!-: The City of PonUao ordains: ;;:; :::0 . 
i>-crtl. 

Seollon 1. lll)a · 0 ("') · 
(:') • f.T-l · 

The Otle of lh!s oro!nanco shE?ll be the 'City or Ponllao Medk:ai Marihuana Faclli\les Ordlnanoe! :::; --0- . < · 
Section 2. Dellnlllons. . :! 3, m: 

' ..... Cl,)' ....... 

The following words, tenns 1111d phrases, whM used In \hls artlcle, shall have the meanings ascribed to the~ In this ~onept. 
\\tlere the context. dearly Indicates a different r:ieenlna: . ~ . "j:i":.' 

Appl/cent means n ~n who appUes for a permit to operate a med cal mmihuana facility under this ordinance. 

Boatti means the Slate of Michigan Medloal Marlhuana Licensing B~rd. 

Class A g/OWllrmeans a grower Jlcenst!jl to grow not more than 500 marthuana plants. 

Class B grower means a grower J!censed to grow not mOfll than 1,000 marihuana plants. 

Cia11;1 C gruwer means a w,:,wer llceosed to grow not more than 1,i;<J0 plants. 

Department means the State of Michigan Oepwtmeot of Licensing end Regulato,y Alfa!rs or Its succesi:or agency. 

D/squsll(ying felony means a felony lr9t makes an lndlvldual lneDglble to receive a llcense under the MMFI.A. 

Grower means a commen:iaf entity the! tiulttvates, dries, bims, or cuces aod packages rnarihuana !or sale to a processor or 
provlslonlno center, As' used In this ordinance, grower shall Include class A growers, class B growers, and class C growers. 

Ucensa means a llcense that Is 'Issued undeF the· MMFLA that allows the licensee lo operale es a. grower, processor, secure 
transporter, provisioning center, 01: safely compliance laclllly. 

MsrlhUlllla-/nfvsm:i pm duct mean:s a topl<;al formulaUon, tincture, bev8rage, edible substance, or similar prodµct containing any USBble 
martiuana that Is Intended for human conswnpfion In a manner other then smoke lnhalaUon, Mllliluana-lnlused products shad not be 
considered a food for ptJrposes of the food raw, Act No. 92 of the PUbllcAds of 2000, being eecll00$ 289.1101 to 269.8111 of the 
Michigan Compiled Laws. 

Medical madhuana facH/ly' meWIS. a tacallon at which a grower, processor, provisioning center, secure transporter, or safety 
compUance facility Is r,censad to operate under the MMFLA. 

MMFLA means Iha Medical Marlhuana FacillUes Licensing Act, At:t No. 281 of the Publlo Acts of 2018, being seoUons 333.27101 to 
333.27801 of the Michigan Compiled Laws. · 

MMMA means the Michigan Medical Marihuana Ac~ lniUated Law 1 of 2008, being sectlom, 833.26421 lo 333.28430 of the Michigan 
Complied Laws. 

Permit/ea means a peraon who receives a perm/I to operate a medical marihuana faclllty under this ordinance. 

Proces.sorma11ns a commemlal ent1ty·thal purohases marihuana fi'OOl a grower end that extmcts resin from Ille marihuana or creates 
a mwllluwia-lnfused productforsele and transferln packaged fonn to a provlslonlng oenter. , 
Provls/rmlng centBI' means a commerolal enb'ty that purchas8$ marlhuana from a grower or processor and sells, supplies, or provides 
malihuana to registered qualifying paUents, dlreoUyorthrough the patients' registered plimary caregivers. Provlslonlng contsr Includes 
any commercial prop!lrtY where merlhuana Is sold at retail to registered,quallfylng patients or regl$1llflld prlmruy caregivers. A 
nonoornmerclel tooatlon used by a primary ca reg~ to assist a qualifylng patient connected to the caregiver through the department's 
marlhusna reglslrallon process In accordance with lhe MMMA Is not a pro\/lsionlng center for puiposes of this ordinance. 

Registered prlmtuy clll'llg/vermeans a person Who Is at least 21 years old and who has agreed to assist With a patten!'$ medical use 
of marihuana and who has a valid registry Identification card. . · 

Reg/sterod qualifying paU9nt means a persoo who has been diagnosed by a physician es having a deblfilaUng medical condition and 
has a valid registry ldentffk:atlon card. 

1'eg/slly /dentiflcotlon card means a document issued by the depaitment that ldenlifle.s a pemon as a mglstered quanfylng pedant or • 
registered primary caregiver, 

Serety comp//ancQ fuai1/ly meana a commercial enUly that recolves marlhuana from a medical marihuana rac1n1y or registered prlma,y 
caregiver, tests H for contaminants and for teln!hydlocanoablnol end other canoablnolds, retum the test results, and may l'l\lum 1h11 
marihuana lo the medleel marllmane facility. 

SecU/ll tmnspo,termeans a commercial enUly localed In this otato lhatatores marlhuBlla and transports marihuana between medical 
marlhuana facliiti1!$ tor a fee. 

stakeho/dor means wllh the officers, directors, end managellal employees of an applicant and eny persons who hold any direct or· 
lndlreat ov.nershlp Interest In the applicant 

Section 3. Creation of Medical Marlhuana Commission; Composition; Quorum, 

(a) Thero Is hereby oreat&d ·a modlcal malihuana commission. There llhall be four (4) members of Iha medical marihuana 
commlsslon. The rnembamhlp shall elect from among Its membBf'S a ~lrman, vice-chairman, and secratary, • 

(b) A quorum of the medical marilusna commlsslon shall consist of three (3) members. 

SeoUon4. Medical Marlhuana Commission Membership; QualiflcaUons; Term; Vae:inclos; Cornpensallon. 

(a) Members of the medlcal marihuana commlsslon ahell be residents of the ctly; and shah ba chosen so fer 8$ reallon!lbly 
practloeble In such a manner as to represent a Olll$$-Sectlon of the community, 

1 



(b) ~mbars of Iha medlcal marlhuana CC!ffimisslon shall be appointed by tha mayor to serve at Iha pleasure of tha mayor for 
a !arm of three, (3) years. Reappointment of a memberlo s&MI nn addlUonel conseouUve term Is subjecl. lo councll approval. 

(o) If a vacancy ocours on the medical marihuana commission, Iha ma}'Ol'shall appoint a new member lo fill the vaca.noy. 

(d) Members of the medical malihuana commission shall serve Without pay. 

Section 5. Medical Marihuana Commission Powers and Dulles, 

The medical marihuana oommlsslon shalf relliow and doctde au appealS that era ft11warded to It by the clerk under this ordlnanoe. The 
medical marihuana commission shall review all appeals d11 novo. The medical mwlhuana commission shall only overturn a decision 
or finding oflhe cletl<'lf-ltflnds wch decision or finding lo baarblrary orcapriciOus and not supJll)rted by material, submnflal, and 
competent facts on the Whole reoord considered by the olerk In arriving at such decision or finding, 

Section 8. Medical Marlhuana Commission RUies aiid RogulaUons; Mooflngs. 

(a) Tha medloal marlhuana commission shall adopt such rules and regula!iomi as It deems necessary to govern 118 prooeedlngs 
and dellbera.Uons. 

(b) The rules and regulations adopted by the medical man'huana COOlmlsslon shall be subjecllo approval by Iha oounoll. 

(c) The commlsslonsh!lll malnlaln a written recotd offfs proceedings and actfons which shall be available for publlo JnspeQl!on, 
showing the action of the commission and the vote of each member upon each question considered. All meeUngs of \he commission 
shaU be held In confonnance With the open meeUngs act, Act No. 2fil of the PublloActs of 1976, being sectloM 15.261 to 15.275 of 
Iha Mlohlgan CompHed Laws. 

Slll!llon 7, Medical Marihuana F'aclllty Rules and Rogulatlons. 

(a) In addition to the rules promulgated by the department and 1h11 staMes of the State of Michigan, the ()Jleratfon of medical 
marihuana faclllties shall be made In accordance w,1h the provisions of this ordinance. 

(b) Medical marihuana provhilontng oentera shatt be clm;ed for business, and no sale or otherdlsbibUllon of marihuana In any 
fonn shall occur upon the premises between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 7!00 a.m. 

Sectlon 13. Medical Marihuana Facility AppllcaUone. 

(a) No penson shall opera.le a medical marlhuana faclfity In tho ol1y without first obtaining a permit for the medical marihuana 
iacll',ty from the et'ly and obtaining a license from Iha departmanL 

(b) In addtt!on lo such li'll)pllc;atl\lns as may .be reqUlred by the department for llcepslng by the Slate of Michigan, appllcaUon 
shall be made to th& clerk to operate a medlcal marlhuana facll~y In Iha city, 

(c) AppllCllllons $hall be made on forms provided by the clerk, sheU be sJgned by the appllcari~ If an Individual, or by a duly 
authorized agent thereof, If an enUty, verified by oath or affidavit. and seal If avallable. and shall conleln all of the following: 

(1) The full name, date of birth, ph)l!lleal addrass, emaU addl'888, and telephone number of the appUcant In the case of an 
lndMduel: or, In the case of en entity, ell alekeholders thereof. 

(2) If the appllcant Is an entlty, the enUty's articles of incorporation or organlzat!onal documenls. 

(3) If the BppRcant hr an entity, the entity's employee idanliflcaUon number. 

(4) If the applicant 19 an entity, the entity's opereUng agruement or bylaws. 

(5) A wrillen description of Iha training and educallon that the applicant WIii provide to all employees. 

(6) A copy of the proposed business plan for the applicant 

(7) The proposed ownership stru<:ture of the !)OUty that ldentlflas the ownership percentage held by ea<Jh stakeholder, 

(8) A current organl:uition chrotlhat Includes Jll)s!tlon descriptions and the names ofea<:h person holding such position. 

(9) A proposed marketing, advertising, and business promotion ptnn for the proposed ~edl¢al marihuana facmty. 

(10) A desaipUon of planned tangible capltef lnv115tmenlln the city, Including detail related to the number and nature of proposed 
medloal marlhuane r,u:UIUes, and whether Iha locat!ons of sU<:111aclUU&s wur be owned or leased, 

(11) An explanation of Iha economic benefils lo the city and Job CIB&tlon lo be aohleved, Including the number and lypa of Jobs 
the medical marihuana faclllty Is expected to create, the amount and type of compensetion expecled to be paid for suoh Jobs, and the 
projected annual budget and revenue of the mild'ioal marlhuane fuclDty, · ~ 

(12) A d11scnpUon oi that]nanclal structure and financing for the proposed medical marihuana faclnty, 

(13) Short-leml and long-term business goals and obJecllves for the proposed med!oal mailhtJana faclflty. 

(14) A criminal background report of the li'll)pllcon\'s comlnal ij$fory, Suth reports shall be oblalned by Iha appnoantthrough the ~ 
lntemet Criminal History Aocess Tool (ICHAl) for appfloanls residing In Michigan and/Or through another state sponsored or 
aUlhoozad crirrJnal hlstory access sourca for appllconts \fflo r&Slde In other states orhnve raslded tn other stet.as within 6 yeB111 prior 
to the date of the appffcaUon. The applicant Is responstb!e for all chaiges ln011rrad In requesUng and recaMng the crfmlnal hlslcxy 
report and the report must be dated wi'lhln thirty (30) da}'S of the date Of the application. 

(15) A tleScrlptlon of proposed community outreach and education sltaleglas. 

(16) A description of proposed charilab!e pf ans, whether through financfal donations pr volunteer work. 

(17) A desO!lpUon of the seourity plan for I.he proposed medical marihuana faciltty that Is conslslent with the requirements of the 
department. . 

(18) A floor plan of the pioposed mlldlcal marlhu~1,1a facility, 

(19) A scale diagram llluslralln9 the property upon whlcl1 the proposed medical marlhuana facll!ty Is to be operated, frtcludlng all 
available parking spaces, and specifying which parking spac;es are handlcappad-accosalble. · 

2 



(20) A deprctlon of eny proposf;ld text or graphlomalerials to be 11hown on the exterior oflh9 proposed medical marihuana faclllty, 

(21) A facllty sanitation µan that desalbes howwasteV.Cll be stored and dlsposoo and how marlhuanawil be rendered unusable 
upon disposal at the p~ posed medical marihuana facntly. 

(22) A JllOPOs&d lnvenlOIY and recordkeeplng plan consistent With the requirements of the depl!l1menL 

(23) An allk!avlt that nellhur Iha applicant nor any stakeholder of tho applicant Is In def~ult to the city. 

(24) Ver!tlcatton that the apptlcant has a mlnlmum oaplt.illzallon consistent with the requirements of Iha dep.vtmant. 

· (25) . Proof of pmmlses llablllty and casualty l~surance consistent with the, requirements of the department 

(26) A signed acknowledgement that the applfcant understands that all matters relatoo to marihuana cultivatlon, possession, 
dispensing, tesUng, transporting, distribution end use are CU1TenUy subject to federal laws, and that the approval of a pell'II~ hereunder 
does not exonerate or exculpate, the applicant from ll)(J)()SUl'I! to ,any penalttes assoolated therewith, Further, the applicant completely 
releases end forever discharges the city end Us respectiVe employees, agents, faciliOes, tnsurers, lndemnors, successors, heirs and/or 
aSlllgns from any and ell pest, present or Mure t!alms, demands, obligations, anUons, causes of action, wrongfUI death clalms, rights, 
damages, cosla, IOSlles of services, expenses and compensation of any nature whalsoover, whether based on a tort. contraet or other 
theory or iecovery, which Iha applicant or Its stakeholders may now have. or whloh may hereafter ecorue or otherwise be acquired; 
on aocount of, or may In artt way erlse out of the appllcant or slal<eholders' appltcatlon for a permit and, If Issued e pelTIIII, tho applicant 
or 111a1<eholders' operaUon or a medical marlhuana fao!Rty. 

(27') A l00allon area map that tdenl!fles the, relative locartons of, and dlalances from, the nearest achoo~ chlldcere center, public 
park contalnln'g playground equipment, or reffglous Institution, as measured along the centerline of the street or streets of address 
between two fixed points on the centerUne delell'lllned by projecting straight fines, at right angles lo the, cenlerllne, from the primary 
point of Ingress to the echool, chlldcare center, ormllgloua lnsb1111lon, or, for a public park. from the playground equipment nearest to 
contemplated locaUon. end from the pr1mary point of Ingres, to lhe contemplated location. 

(28) It the applicant Is applying for a permit to operate a provisioning center, a patient education plan consistent w!lh the 
requirements of the department. 

(29) If the epplloant Is applylng for a permit to operate a provisioning center, a desoriptlon of eny drug end alcohol awareness 
programs that shall be provided or arranged for by the appllcant and made avallable to the publlo, 

(30) If \he applicant Is applying for a permit to operate a grower, a culUvaUon plan that Includes a descripUon of the cu!Uvatlon 
methods to ba used, Including whether the grower plans to grow outdoors consistent wllh Iha Mas promulgated by ths department. 

(31) • If the eppUcant Is applying for a permit to opereta a grower, a chemlcal and pestiolda storage plan that Is consistent wllh the 
requirements oftha department. 

(d) All appllcaUons must be accompanied by the appropriate fee ·to help defray admlnlstrellve costs associated with the 
application forlhe medical merlhuana facVlty, which shah be set by a resoluUon adopted by counoil, but shall not exceed fiVa thousand 
dollara ($5,000.00) per epplJcatlon. 

(e) An appUcant may apply formulffple medical marlhuana faclfity penntts ol the same or dlff'amnt nature. 

SooUon 9. Medl!"'l Marlhuana Faclllly Application Process. 

(a) Upon receipt of a completed application meeUng the requlraments of this ordlnance and the appropriate permit application 
fee, the clerk shaU ~fer a copy of the eppllca/lon to Iha fic'e department and the department of bl!lldlng $Bialy & planning. 

(b) No appficaijon shall be approved ~or a pennlt unless: 

(1) ihe fire department and the department ot bulldlng safety & plannlng or another relevant department have inspected \ 
the proposed locaUon for oompllanoe with all state and loc;al building, electrical, fire, mechanical and plumbing requirements. 

(2). The department of bullding 8afety & planning or another relevant department hes oonflnned that the proposed tocatlon 
complies with the zoning o_rdlnance. 

(3) · 'The proposed medlcat,marihuana faclllly has been Issued a certificate or ocoupanoy and, If necessary, a building 
pe,mlL 

(o) After this ordinance becomes effective, the clerkl!hall begin aC(;epUng modlcal marihuana faclffty epplloatlons within 60 
days. Within 7 days of the date the clerk begins accepting medical marlhuana faolllty pemilt appllcallons, the clerk must set a 21· 
day appllcaUon period during Which appllcants may apply for a pelll\lt to operat1;1 a provlslonfnq center. 

(d) The clerk shllll award a permit to any applfc.ant for a permtl to operate a grower, processor, sew re transporter, or safety 
oompllancefaoJlltywho submits a complete applloatlon, receives the approvals required In this sacllon, end meets the requirements 
of this ordtnarn:e. 

(e) The clerk shall assess, evaluate, score and'rank all appltoattons for pennits to operate a provisioning centarsubmlltad 
during the twenty-one (21) day applloallon period set forth In this secllon. 

(I) In Ifs applloatlon assessment, evatuaUon, scoring, ranklng, and deliberations relo(ed to pe{llllts to operate a 
provisioning t.onter, the olerk shall assess, evaluate, score, and rank each appticaUon based Upon a scoring and ranking 
procedure, developed by the clerk consistent With tho requirements, condlUons, and provhllons of Ihle ordinance In each of the 
foflowlng categories: . · 

(1) The content and sufflclency·of Iha lnfonnatlon required to be In the appllcatlon under this ordlnanoe. The maximum 
number of scoring points In this category shall bs fifty (50) points. 

(2) Whether the proposed medloal marihuana facllity. will be consistent w1U1 land use for the surrounding neighborhood 
and not have a detrimental effect on !raffle patterns and resident safety. The maximum number ol scoring points in this category 
ehall be twenty (20) points. 

(3) Planned outreaeh on behalr or the proposed madlcal marthuana faolllty, and Whether the applloant or tts Glakehotders 
have made, or plan to make, elgnlflcant physlo!ill Improvements to tha bulldlng housing Iha proposed medic.al marlhuana 'faclllty, 
lntludlng planQ to eliminate or mlnimb:e tramo, noise, and odor effects on tho surrounding neighborhood. ihe maximum number 
of scoring points In this category shall be ten (10) points. 

3 

,, 



(4) Whether the applicant or any of its stakeholders have a record of acts deblmentar to the publlo health, !lecurlty, safety, 
morals, goOd order, or general welfare prior to the dale of Iha appllcaUon. The maximum number of scoring points In this category· 
shaU be ten (10) points. If en applicant end ell of Its .stakeholdern have received prequellncaUon approval from the department 
or board, the applicant shall moelVe the maximum number of scoring points under this category. 

'(6) Whothor the applloant has reasonably Wld tang)bly demonstrated It possesses sulf,oiont financlal resources to fund, 
and the··requlslte business experience to execute1 the submitted buslness plan and oth"!r plans required this ordinance. The 
maximum number of scoring poln18 In this category shall be ten (10) points. If en appUcant end all of Its stakeholders have 

· reoelv.(d preq11allncaUon approval from tho department or board, the applicant shall recelve Ille maximum number of scoring 

1 
,'poin_l!l,linder_ IIJls oeteg9ry. 

• • (8) ', The ·.number of full-Ume end part-Uma posttions Iha applicant Intends to create: Iha hourly wages or salerlee the 
<applicant ln\ends to pay employees; whether the applicant hes articulated plans and strategies lo attract end hire employees 
1:1rom the City.of PonUaoi end Whether the applicant has articulated plans to provide employee health and welfare benefit plane, 

• Jncludlng, but not limited to, sick leave, maternity l&11ve, and paternity leave. The ma>dmum number of scoring points In this, 
oategqry shal{be ten (10) points. 

' ., 
(7) , · Planned phllanl.hroplo endaaVOC'$ and community Improvement programs aimed at the City of P.onttac. The maximum 
number of sooring points In this category shall be ten (10) poln18. . 

(8) The proximtty of the proposed medical merlhuana faoJUty to oilier structures, including whottm the proposed medical 
marlhuana facility Is more Uian 1,000 feet from an oporallonal pUbllo or prlvalll school and more than 500 feet from an oparaUonal 
commercial dlVdcqre organization (non-home ocropetlon) that ls licensed or reglslered with the State of Mlchlgan Department of 

• Health and Human Services ortts suocessor agency, a pubtlc park with playground equipment, or a rellgtous lnsU\Utlan the! Is defined 
es tax exempt by tho city assessor. Such distance between tho school, ohlldcere center, public perk, or reilglous lnstllution and the 
oonlempleled location shaU be measured l)]ong the oenterflne of tho street or streets of address between lwo fixed points on ll)e 
centerline determined by projecting straight fines, et right angles to Iha oenteljlno, from the prfmaiy point of Ingress to the school, 
chlldoara center, or rellglaus lnstituUon, or from the playground equipment In a pubtio park, and from 1he primary point of Ingress to 
the contemplated looaOon. The maidmum number of &COring points In this category shell 1/8 ten (10) points. 

(g) Overall scoring and ranking shall be conducted and opplled by the clerk on tho basis of osslgned points from zero (0) 
polots to one hundred end thirty (130) points with the lowest ovilrall total score as zero (0) pofnts and the highest possible total 
soore being one hundred and thirty (130) points. , 

(h) At the conclusion of the twenty-one (21) day applioaUon period, the clerk shell begin processing appllcalions for permits 
to operate provisioning centers, awarding permits to the twenty (20) highest scoring appllcanls. In the event of an eveluaUon 
scoring tle, whlch causes there to be more'than twenty (20) appUcaots who acht11ve scores sufficlent lo quality for a permll, tho 
soorfng..Ued applloanls will be entered Into a iandom draw. 'Those appl!osUons randomty selected shall be etfglble to receive a 
peimll to operate a proVlslontng center. In the event that the number of provisioning center pennJls subsequently fells below the 
maximum number authorized under this ordinance, the clerk shall not be l'!lqulred to score appllcanls, Instead, tho clerk shall 
evaluate applloaUons in the order that they are submitted and shall award pennits for provisioning centers to ai;i applicant Who 
submlts e complete eppltoatton, reooiVes the epptovels required In thls,sectlon, and meets ltle requtremerns or this. ordinance. 
However, In no event shall the number of provisioning center permit• e)(Oeed tha maximum number authorized under this 
ordinance. 

(I) Nothing in this section Is Intended to comer a property or other right, duty, privilege or Interest In a permit of any kind 
or nature whatsoever illcludlng, but not llmlted lo, any clalm of entitlement 

O) Tho clerl< may engage professional eJ<pert assistance In perfOmling the clerk's duUes and responslbllltles under this 
ordinance. 

Section 10, Medl!l'll Marlhuana Faclllty Permit Umttallons. 

There shall be no llmlt on the n1111ber of permils issued by the oiyfor growers, processo1$, secure transporters, or safety compllanoe 
fal)ll!Ues, The city shall Issue twenty (20) provisioning center ponnits or a number of provisioning center penntts equal to the number 
of complete provlsloning center perrnlt appfica6ons that meet tho requlremenl$ of thls ordinance and ere ,submitted during the twenty- • 
one (21 ) day period, whichever num\)er ts less. 

Sectlon 11. Medi cal Marlhuana Facility Co-Locatlon and stacking. 

(e) Consistent with the MMFLA and rules promugated by Iha department, any comblnatlon of oJiwel!l, prooessors, end 
provisioning centers may operate as separate medical marlhuana facilities at tho same physlcaj Jocalion. 

(b) Conslslentwi'th the MMFLA and rules promulgated by the department. appUcanJs fotclass C grower permits shall bG allowed 
to receive mulUple sueh perrnit!I e.nd operate under each pennlt In a single faclltty. 

sectJ.on 12. Transfer of l:xlst!ng Medical Marlhuana Faclllty Penni!$. 

(a) Pennntees may transfer a pennll Issued under this ordinance to a different locatlon upon receiving wrltlen approval from 
the clerk and the departmeot or the board pumuant to the MMFI.A 1;1nd rules promulgated by the depllflment. In order to request 
muniolpat approval to transfer a permit looaUon, the permlttee mu11t maka a written request lo the clerk, Indicating the current 
locaUon or the medical marlhuana facility and the proposed new location. Upon receiving the written request. the clerk shall refer 
a copy of the written request to the flro department end the department' of buildlng safety & planning or another appropriate 
departmenL No permit transfer shall be approved unless each suoh department or entity gives written approval that the proposed 
permll location meet the standards ldenUfied In thls ordinance and the depa!b"ent or board approves the transfer. 

(b) Pennlllees may transfer a pennlt Issued under this ordinance to a dlffenmt Individual or eriUty upon reoetvlng written 
approval from the clerk and the department or the beard pursuant In the MMFLA and rules promulgated by the department. In 

• order to request municipal approval to transfer a pennlt to a different lndlvlduul or enUly, the permlttoe must make a wrfllen 
request to the olerk, lndlcaung the current pennlttee and the proposed pennllteo. Toa clerk shall grant the request so long as the 
department or board authorizes the transfer pursuant to the MMFLA and rules promulgated by the department. 

SecUon 13, Term of Medical Matlhuana Faclllly Pormlt. 

(a) Each pennlt shall be dlspleyed In a oonsplouous spot In tho bulldlng for that current year. 

(b) A pannlttee shall remove any expired permlt on display end replace It with the current pennlt A permlltee shall not attempt 
nor act In llllY fraudulent manner In regard'lo the display of any pennlt 

(c) Approval of a permij shall ba for.a period of one cnlendar year subjeot to review by the clerk upon contlnue,d compJlant:e 
wllh the regulaUons ofthltartlcla, 

' Section 14. Annual Medical Marlhuana Fecltlly Permit Renewal. 

4 



(a) Application for a pannlt renewal shall be made In writing to the clerk at least 30 day$ prior to Iha expiration of an 
exlsUng permll , 

(b) An appllcaUon for a permlt1'911ewal required by this ordlnance shall b& made under oath on fonns providGd by the clerk, 
and shall contoln all of the information required In an Initial applioatlon. • · 

(o) An eppUoaUon for a permit renewal shall be accompanied by a renewal fee lo help defray admlJJlslraUve and.enforcement 
eosl8 assacialed with the operation of the med!°" marihuana facility, l'Ailch shall be silt by resolutlon of the councU, but shell nol 
exceed five thousand dollars ($5,000,00). 

(d) Upon receipt of a completed application fora pe1T11lt renewal meeting the requlrements of this ordinance and the permit 
renewal fee, tho clerk shall refer a copy of the renewal epplloatlon lo the fire department and the department of building safety 
&plann!ng. 

(e) No appUoalfon for I\ p81T1llt renewal shall be approved unless: 

(1) , The fire.department and the department of bullding safety & planning or another rele\'llnt department have, wtlhln the 
past oalendar year, Inspected the proposed locatlon for campllenci, with eU slate and local bulldlng, elettrlcal, fire, meohanlcal 
and plurriblng requirements, · 

(2) The department of bulldlng safety & planning or another relevant depa~ment has confirmed that the looetlon complied 
with the ;toning ordlnanoe at the Ume tho permit was granted. , 

(3) The permlttee PQSSesses the necessary state licenses or approvals, lncludlng those Issued P,ursuant to the MMFLA, 

(4) The applicant has operated the medical marihuana facUlty In accordance with the conditions and requirements oftHls 
ordinance. 

(5) The permlttee ls operaUng the medical ma~huana faclOly ln accordance wttM,late of Michigan laws and rules and this 
ordinance, and has not been declared a public nuisance. · · 

(f) If written approval Is given by each department orenUty Identified In this section, the oleri( shall lssu<.-a permit renewal 
to the applicant. The renawal shaft be deemed approved If the city has not Issued formal notice of denial within 60 days of the 
flllng date of the applloatlon. 

SecUon 15 •. RevocaUon or Suspension of Medical Mar!huana. Fa,;lllty PennlL 

,Each medloal .marihuana facility within the clly for which a perm!! Is granted ehall be 'Operated and maintained In i3coordanc:o with au 
applfcable laws, rules, and reglilallons, Upon any violation of this section or any seclion of this ordinance, the clerk may, after a notloa 
and hearing, revoke or auspend such pennlt as hereinafter provided, 

SecUon 16, . Procedure for Donlal, Recommendaflon of Non renewal, Suspension, or R11vocallon of Medi cal Marlhuana 
Facility Permit. 

The olerk shaU notify en applicant of Iha reasons fordenleJ of an appUoatlon for a pennll or permit renewal orfor revooaUon of a permit 
!Jr any adllerse decision under this ordinance.and provide lhe epplfo;ant or permittea with Iha opporl4nlty to be heard. Arry applicant 
or pelTlllttee aggrieved by the dental or revocaUon of a permit or adverse decision under this ordinance may appeal to the clerk, who 
shall appoint a hearing officer to hear and evaluate the appeal end make a recommendallon to the clerk. Suoh appeal shaU be taken 
by filing with the clerk, within fourteen (14) days after notice of the action complained of has been matladto the applicant orpermllb)a's 
last known address on the records of the clerk., a wrlUen statement se!Ung forth fuUy !he· grounds for the appeal. The clerk shall review 
Iha report and recommendation of the hearing officer and make e dects,lon on the melter, The clerk's deolslon may be further appealed 
to the medical marihuana commission If applied for In wrltfng to lhe medical marihuena commission no faterthan thirty (30) days after 
the cferk's decision. The review on appeal of a dMlal or revocaUon or adverse action shall be by the medical marihuana commission 
pursuant to this ordinance. Arry decision by the medical marihuana c:ommlsslon on an appeal shall be final for purposes of Judicial 
review. The eterk may engage prof8$Slonal experts to assist with the plOCOOdlngs und!i!l'thfs section. · 

Section 17, Criteria for Denial, Nonrenewal, Susporision, or RevocaUon of Medical ,Marihuana Factllty Ponnlt. 

In add~lon to llllY ol.lJer reasons set forth In thb ordinance, the city may ref\1$8 to /sStJe a permit or grant renewal of the permit or 
suspend or revoke the pelTlllt pursuant to Pontiac Olly Ordinance sectlon 1 •24 or for any c:,f tho following reasons: 

(1) A mi.terial vlolatlon of.any provlslon ol thls ordinance. 

(2) Any coriv.,clton ore disqualifying felony by Iha pennlttee or any stukeholder of the permlttee. 

(3) Fallure of the permlttee orthe medical manh,uanafaclllty to obtain or maintain a license from the slate pursuant to the MMl"LA. 

Section 10, Penalties. 

Any person In vlolallon of any.provision of this ordinance, Including the operaUon of a medical marlliuano facllity wit/tout a permit 
Issued pursuant to this ordlnaoce.-shall be subject to a five hundred dollar ($500,00) olvi1 fine and costs, Each day of a vlolallon 
may be considered a separate viOlaUon. · 

Section 19. Severabilfty; ConHlcts, 

(a) It any secllon, olause, or provision of this ordlnanco shall bo declared to be unoonsUtullonal, void, Illegal, or lneffecllve 
by any court of competent JurlstlloHon, such section, clause, or provlslon deofared to be unoonsUtuUonal, void, or mega! shall 
thoreby cease to be a part of I.his ordlnanco, but the remainder of. th!$ ordtnanoe shall stand and be In full foroe and ertact, 

(b) If any section, clause, or provt~lon of this ordinance Is determined bya court of competent Jurisdiction to bonntct wllh Iha 
MM.fl.A, state law, or rules promulgated by the department, the MMFLA, state law, or rules shall control. 

SecUon 20. Rnpealor, 

All ordlnances or parts of ordinances In connlct herewith are hereby repealed only to the extent necessary to gtva this ardlnalloe . 
full force and -effect · 

5 



EXHIBIT2 
OFFICIAL RESULTS OF THE AUGUST 7, 2018 
PRIMARY ELECTION FOR PROPOSAL 1 OF 

THE CITY OF PONTIAC 



OFFICIAL RESULTS 
USE YOUR BROWSER'S REFRESH BUTTON TO UPDATE RESULTS. DURING PEAK TIMES THE REFRESH MAY 

TAKE UP TO 2 MINUTES 

Last updated 8/22/2018 2:35:_34 PM EDT 

Proposal 1 City of Pontiac-Medical Marihuana Facilities Licensing Ordinance - Pontiac (Vote For 1) 

J..?' = Precinct Reporting 

Oakland Precinct Detail 
'• ,~,,•, .,,..,,. •I", •. ._,"" •• • • • •• ", • • • • " • n • •"" 

!Precinct 
,,_p l Pontiac, Precinct 

;1 
~ i Pontiac, Precinct 

[2 

t# ; Pontiac, Precinct 
i3 

,; i Pontiac, Precinct 
:4 

re$? : Pontiac, Precinct 
;5 

,JI 1 Pontiac, Precinct 
:6 

,J' j Pontiac, Precinct 
;7 

..f; Pontiac, Precinct 
:8 

,;p; Pontiac, Precinct 
\9 

# i Pontiac, Precinct 
,10 
' 

~ : Pontiac, Precinct 
:11 

.; : PonUac, Precinct 
·12 

~ ! Pontiac, Precinct 
:13 

,#', Pontiac, Precinct 
; 14 

,ti \ Pontiac, Precinct 
!15 

' 

: 

' 
' 
i 

! 

: 

' 

' 
: 

' ; 

' 
: 

! 

: 

' 
. ,, :-.~ .... -, ' ' ' .,, /, 

!Precinct ' 

# \ Pontiac, Precinct : 

'. 16 
: 

911' \ Pontiac, Precinct 
:11 

' 
~ : Pontiac, Precinct '. 

; 18 
' 

sl' \ Pontiac, Precinct 
'.19 

: 
,ef)"; Pontiac, Precinct 

:20 : 
: 

"'II' ; Pontiac, Precinct 
:21 ' 
iTotal: 
: : 

.. ,. 

Yes\ 

161 '. 

255: 

236' 

215: 

243 

' 
66° 

i 
·' 

174: 
' 
' 

116; 
' 

28: 
: 

257) 

180) 

213 

130: 

256! 
... . ,, 

Ye~("" 
, ...... 

227• 

143: 
' 

60 
I 

228. 

214: 

219' 

3,900 

147; 

337! 

174: 

23( 

233: 

45· 

260, 

153: 

228; 

110: 

301: 
; 

, .... -1 ..... ., ..... , •••• 

No; 

, 223j 

119: 

186: 

250· 

2391 

3,894: 

Totati 

620; 

593: 

410! 

446: 
i 

476\ 

101; 

300i 

208: 

517i 

441! 
' 

240\ 

557, 

Total\ 

450; 

262i 

133i 

414; 

458 

7,794 



EXHIBIT3 
NOTIFICATION OF RECOUNT OF PROPOSAL 1 



OAKLAND COUNTY CLERK/REGISTER OF DEEDS 

LISA BROWN 

COUNTY CLERK/REGISTER or- DEEOS 

September 4, 2018 

City of Pontiac 
Sheila Grandison, Clerk 
47450 Woodward Ave. 
Pontiac, Ml 48342 

Dear Ms. Grandison, 

WWW .OAKGOV .COM/CLERKROD 

ELECTIONS DIVISION 

JOSEPH J, R.OZELL., CERA 
DJRe:c-roR OF ELECTIONS 

On August 27, 2018 my office received a recount petition filed by Billie Jean Swazer for a recount of 
the City of Pontiac - Proposal 1. 

I have enclosed a copy of the recount petition. The recount will take place on the following date and 
location: 

Oakland Elections Division 
Training Room, West Wing 
1200 N. Telegraph Rd., Bldg 14E 
Pontiac, Ml 48341 

The recount will commence at 9:00 a.m. on September 12, 2018. Plan to arrive at 8:30 a.m. We are 
requesting that you deliver your ballot containers to our office no later than 2:00 p.m. on September 
11th. 

Please do not hesitate to contact my office, if you have any questions. 

Sincerely, 
COUNTY OF OAKLAND 

r~rr~ 
Joseph J. Rozell, CERA 
Director of Elections 

ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE 
1 2,00 N. i'P.;Ll,GRAPH RD,, bEPT, 4 15 

PONTIA(;, MICHl(;AN 48341-04 I 5 
(,MB) 858-0561 

CLERK@OAKGOV.COM 

ELE:CTIONS DIVISION 
1200 N. TELEGRAPH RP,, DEPT, 417 

PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 48341·0417 
(248) 858-0504 

ELECTIONs@OAKGOV.COM 

LEGAL & VriAL RECORDS 
1200 N. TEU(GRAPH Ro .. Dl!PT. 413 

PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 48341 ·0413 
(248) 858-0581 

CI.ERl<LEGAl,@OAltGOV,c;OM 

REGISTER OF DEEDS 
1200 N. TELEGAAPM Ro., DEPT. 480 

PONl'IAC, MICHIGAN 48341--0480 
(248) 858-0605 

DE:EDS@OA KGOV .COM 



EXHIBIT4 
NOTICE OF MEETING TO CONDUCT THE RECOUNT 



OAKLAND COUNTY CLERK/REGISTER OF DEEDS 

LISA BROWN 

WWW .OAKGOV .COM/CLER f~ROD 

ELECTIONS DIVISION 

COUNTY CLERK/REGISTER OF DEEDS 

JOSEPH J. ROZELL, CERA 
DIREC'TOR OF EL.ECTIONS 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

OF 

BOARD OF COUNTY CANVASSERS 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a meeting of the Board of County Canvassers will begin at 9:00 a.m. 

on Wednesday, September 12, 2018 in the Oakland County Elections Division, Board of County 

Canvassers/Training Room, West Wing, 1200 N. Telegraph Rd., Pontiac, Ml 48341. 

PURPOSE: Recount of ballots cast at the August 7, 2018 Primary Election for Ballot Proposal 1 -

City of Pontiac. 

ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE 
12.00 N. TFiLl,Gf1APH Rt)., DEPT, 415 

PONTIAC, MICHIGI\N 4834 ! ·041 5 

(248) 858·0561 
CLERll(fl}OAl(GOV .COM 

LISA BROWN, 
CLERK OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY CANVASSERS 

ELECTIONS DIVISION 
1200 N. TELl!GRAPH Ro., DEPT. 417 

PONTl,\C, MICHl,:;AN 4834 1·0417 
1:MB) 858-0564 

RLECTIONS@OAJ<GOV,COM 

LEGAL & VITAL RECORDS 
1200 N. TELt1GRAPH Ro., Dllf•T. 4 13 

PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 4f,J341 ·0413 
i248) 858-0581 

CLERKlf,GAL(il)oAKGOV,COM 

REGISTER OF DEEcDS 
1200 N, TE:LEGR/\PH RD., DEPT. 480 

PON'r!AC, MICHIGAN 4/J341·0480 
(248) 858--0605 

DEEDS@OAKC!QV,COM 



EXHIBITS 
"DETERMINING THE VALIDITY OF BALLOT MARKINGS" 
PREPARED BY THE MICHIGAN BUREAU OF ELECTIONS 



DETERMINING THE VALIDITY OF BALLOT MARKINGS 

Dctcnr,ining the \/a/icii/y err Ballot fll/Rf'irinqD 
Mic/Ji[!an Bureau or Eiec/ions 

ls.sued 5.27 04 .. eevi.scH/ January 2018 

Michigan election law, MCL 168.799a(3), provides the following direction on recounting ballots: 

If the electronic voting system requires that the elector place a mark in a predefined area 
on the ballot in order to cast a vote, the vote shall not be considered valid unless there is a 
mark within the predefined area. A stray mark made within a predefined area is not a valid 
vote. In determining whether a mark within a predefined area is a stray mark, the board of 
canvassers or election official shall compare the mark subject to recount with other marks 
appearing on the ballot. The secretary of state shall issue instructions, subject to the 
approval of the board of state canvassers, relevant to stray marks to ensure the fairness 
and uniformity of determinations made under this subsection. A secretary of state's 
instruction relevant to stray marks shall not be applied to a ballot unless the secretary of 
state issued the instruction not less than 63 days before the date of the election. 

Similar direction is provided under Michigan election law, MCL 168.803(2): 

If an electronic voting system requires that the elector place a mark in a predefined area on 
the ballot in order to cast a vote, the vote shall not be considered valid unless there is a mark 
within the predefined area. A stray mark made within a predefined area is not a valid vote. In 
determining whether a mark within a predefined area Is a stray mark, the board of 
canvassers or election official shall compare the mark with other marks appearing on the 
ballot. The secretary of state shall issue instructions, subject to the approval of the board of 
state canvassers, relevant to stray marks to ensure the fairness and uniformity of 
determinations made under this subsection. A secretary of state's instruction relevant to 
stray marks shall not be applied to a ballot unless the secretary of state issued the 
instruction not less than 63 days before the date of the election. 

The above provisions of law were enacted to accommodate those situations where the tabulating 
equipment employed to count ballots cast at an election is unable to recognize a properly cast vote. 
Such situations generally stem from the voter not making a mark in the predefined target area. They 
can also occur if the ballot marking is too light or small for the tabulator to recognize the presence of 
a vote. 

The proper way to indicate a vote on a ballot is to make a mark within the predefined area 
designated for casting a vote. Markings that are inconsistent with this standard cannot be counted as 
votes. 



Delem1ining ilw \laliclily of Ballot 1\/lario'ngs 
Mic/1i(]c1/l Bureau of Elections 

/.ssued 5. 27.04 - 1::::evisl'1cl January 20'/ 8 

Valid markings: Each of the examples provided below is a valid vote as there is a mark within the 
predefined target area for casting a vote. 

For ballots with ovals: For ballots with boxes: 

Invalid markings: Each of the examples provided below Is an invalid vote as a mark does not appear 
within the predefined target area designated for casting a vote. 

For ballots with ovals: For ballots with boxes: 

Corrections: A correction that causes a false tabulator read does not count as a valid vote. 

For ballots with ovals: For ballots with boxes: 

In each example above, count the top position only. 

Stray Marks: A stray mark made within a predefined target area is not a valid vote. In determining 
whether a mark within a predefined target area is a stray mark, the board of canvassers or election 
official (or board of election inspectors, when visually inspecting an absentee ballot rejected by the 
tabulator) shall compare the mark with other marks appearing on the ballot. Note, a cross or 
checkmark appearing in the predefined target area is not considered a stray mark and is a valid vote 
even if the voter does not consistently mark the entire ballot with a cross or checkmark. 

For ballots with ovals: For ballots with boxes: 

Candidate A 

Candidate B 

Candidate C 

In all three examples above, count the top two positions only. 



Determining tile Valicli/y of Ballot fVJwMno.s 
Mic/Jiqan Bureau of Elections 

lss110c! 5. ?7 04 - RA vised Jarnmry ?018 

Examples of false read situations requiring duplication of the ballot: 

False overvote created by ballot correction 

False Overvote/ 
Ballot Correction: 

Proper Duplication: 

' GOVERNOR AND LIEUTENANT 
GOVERNOR 

(Vatafllr nilll'IV>lnthMONE) 

1!$PIJll.1::NI 
O~~~N'frl C:> 

r~~-~::~: 
t'" ,..,.,w,.}llA'lA C,PIL(".t-AI( 

c::;, 

I 

False overvote created by invalid write-in 

False Overvote/ 
Invalid Write-in: 

Proper Duplication: 

.!!,TO.Tl' !flNAf(\R 
10th DISTRIC,-

IVoll ~r Ill'\ •YW~ lhl«l ONE) 

S.TiM!!r;ttl!. .. 
IA•l'JS:..11Wt 
io:MC-<:r..-.,,~101t,t:l ':!Hi lALSIU 

SCOffW.i\UfN 
'1tnYf.RNI 

~()~i.rrv ,;r~}Jtl<:ElETTI 

~ •<J( ~v l'f C\..~ e 

ISTMEi S~t.ATOR 
10th DISTRICT 

{Vobs 'ct n.:t llll>II!: u,1111 ONE: 

S'ti:VfllCI! ... 
l,lt1':ll~1:'.l,',I', 

ioa.«>ll'li'flt~•H.\.'?~ :-.WJ7Jt._lll(I 

f>t'>': I rw Allf'N 
~letil•A'IW.I 

r:~Hl.11.Yll:~~l!..!:1 U 
)«:) 1'."ffl'l .~•• l\'IT~tl 

D 

~--•lilh -
~ 

Mil.I 
~~ ·-, .. ~,.. .. 9,•u,1 ____ , 

CJ r.-:11; ...,.TIIIJWi,19 
w:lD4881Nm 

P;l'\IIM.:Mi -·•--Ill) JtliHllfD at MAllMl)Ud 
J01t111;1,>C11~MY. Jlt. 

~.'IA!>=. o~t~I.. 
Alll•UAANr, IJVOffAA.Jfrl' 

CJ~li.1'1.CIWC r;. Pl.CU.II 
..... •1r"""~ .. 

CJ 

REPRESENfAlM: 
IN STAT£ LfGISLAlURE 

19TH DISTRICT 
Volil F<I' l'inl MMt ThM M ( 1 I 

.._ loAA R.PASTOA 
l!!!!!!!!!!!!I! · .13EP~'L.. 
LJ ,KERRYLtOWRV_, __ _. 

t=="-=====OEJ,!OtAAT~ 

LJ 
•IM• 

RfPRl!SENfATIVE 
1M STATE LfGISUJ\JRE 

19TH DISTRICT 
Vo!al FcrtioO.IO!il Thltn <lNE(1J 

··-==· ~~~~-I LJ ,KER 



False crossover vote created by ballot correction 

False Crossover/ 
Ballot Correction: 

Proper Duplication: 

Rfl'IJDUCHU'.IJ'l1Y i :a: teMOOIIAllC l'.olRTT 
SECTION ~-~ s.£..'"110H 

00: flJST"'l.'l,lJS 

~>:lEIOfll.W 

I ~t. PO.l:tUll!S j,J:~.K£~~pj 
I CO.Clmll(llUL 
I 

Sl,\Tf, 

• J,\JESJ~AM 
C• l).r/11)[.00W' 

'"""" 

' 

False crossover vote created by invalid write-in 

False Overvote/ 
Invalid Write-in: 

Proper Duplication: 

... -- --~---
' l"..!!ll't RiPUBUCAN PAR'N i:· ,:'m,".\ DliMotAAllC PARTY 

SECTIOfl ~ ~ 5'CTION 

-~~~SCWl.~'1% 

Urwfe, 

tO!IG~NAL 

C mtt 

c:_,.. J~MtS J l!L\N(."l'.ASIO 

c;.) c~vm£.~,u:m 
- J,~i.\lf'(f11.I (IRl.',t-Q.V 

. ift:A 

... 
'"1. REPUIIUCA.'l PART( 

· SEC'l'K)N 
DfMOCRATIC PARTY 

SECTION 
-------------'---'---=-------------------
!--$1',l.l'E 

! 00\<f!INOII I b::::.::·~, 
c.l."ES-:!fflAR! 

I 
C:00(lll11$$1CNAL 

r--;;A'i" ·--
' GO~£IINCII ! ,\\W~:t~"'....-.·½-Nl~ 

C> I ~,1,,q;~J.OV.'DWlO 
,:,· ) i 1:1',\,c) t ~«QR 

<-:, , JEt.t..'l'EfH!(llWMl(.IJ. 
i 

Defem1ining 1/Je Va/1<'./i/y of Balla! tvlarfrinus 
Michigan Bureau of Elections 

Issued 5 .. 27.04 - Revi.W)(f .lanuary 20·1 B 

ft llliNOCAATlC PAAT'Y 

Ol:IIOCAATIC PAR.TY 

SJATE 
. OOWAAOft 

llii"'i=t}~ t:r~l}r'fil1rii.iA, ·· · -
D JOON./OEWM'ARl D M'roE.SCffOA 
D 't::::J~iiifii:_CffM_H_OUil __ 

□ . ----

_,_)Vd-1"11!">~!>;,'.~;"_,._, 
D IJK:UOSTllUNllt 
D JOllN ,IQE 11,Q/ff,\Rl . 
t:r-------

DIMC<;AATIC PAA'l'Y 

STAT!; 
GO'i'lft:IIOR 

...l\:'!.!!' .. !JOl.!"ft .. t4'~ . 
JAMES J, 11'.A'iCIWID 

----· ll.\llOE.8~ .. 

IIOUI 

ft CEMOCAAllC PAA'l'Y 

STAT!E 
' OMft.llOR 

□-~ .. i~~'1 
- IJ,l'll)E.&ll!iOR 
't::lrEltt'tifll.ll_GAAN_l_tOul-- 11 

D 



EXHIBIT6 
DRAFT MINUTES OF THE OAKLAND COUNTY BOARD 

OF CANVASSERS CONCERNING THE RECOUNT 



MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY CANVASSERS 

CALL TO ORDER: 

The Board of County Canvassers meeting was called to order by Chairperson Deneweth on September 12, 
2018 at 9:00 a.m., in the Elections Division, Board of Canvassersrrraining Room, 1st floor, West Wing 
Extension, 1200 N. Telegraph Rd., Pontiac, Ml 48341. 

ROLL CALL: 

MEMBERS PRESENT: 
Deneweth, Harsten-Spann, Harrell, Lipovsky. (4) 

County Clerk/Register Brown appointed Harrell and Lipovsky as Republican Members, upon 
recommendation of the county party, for the purpose of today's recount. 

ABSENT: None. (0) 

OTHERS PRESENT: Lisa Brown, County Clerk/Register; Joseph Rozell, Director of Elections; Joellen 
Shortley, Deputy Corporation Counsel. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 

Moved by HARSTEN-SPANN seconded by DENEWETH to approve the agenda. Motion carried. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

Moved by HARSTEN-SPANN seconded by DENEWETH to approve the minutes of the August 7, 2018 
Board of County Canvassers Meeting. Motion carried. 

NEW BUSINESS: 

CONDUCT A RECOUNT OF VOTES CAST AT THE AUGUST 7, 2018 PRIMARY ELECTION 
FOR PROPOSAL 1, MEDICAL MARIHUANA FACILITIES LICENSING ORDINANCE, IN THE 
CITY OF PONITAC. 

Original canvass on file in the County Clerk's office. 

The following determination was made regarding the recountability of the City of Pontiac 
precincts: 

Precinct 1 - Recountable Precinct 12 - Recountable 
Precinct 2- Recountable Precinct 13- Recountable 
Precinct 3- Recountable Precinct 14- Recountable 
Precinct 4 - Recountable Precinct 15 - Recountable 
Precinct 5 - Recountable Precinct 16 - Recountable 
Precinct 6 - Recountable Precinct 17 - Recountable 
Precinct 7 - Recountable Precinct 18 - Recountable 
Precinct 8 - Recountable Precinct 19 - Not Recountable 
Precinct 9 - Recountable Precinct 20 - Recountable 
Precinct 10- Recountable Precinct 21 - Recountable 
Precinct 11 - Recountable 



Precinct 1AV- Not Recountable 
Precinct 2AV- Not Recountable 
Precinct 3AV-Not Recountable 
Precinct 4AV- Not Recountable 
Precinct 5AV- Not Recountable 
Precinct 6AV- Not Recountable 
Precinct 7AV- Not Recountable 
Precinct 8AV- Not Recountabte 
Precinct 9AV - Not Recountable 
Precinct 10AV- Not Recountabte 
Precinct 11AV - Recountable 
Precinct 12AV- Recountabte 

Precinct 13AV- Recountable 
Precinct 14AV- Recountable 
Precinct 15AV - Recountable 
Precinct 16AV- Recountable 
Precinct 17 AV - Recountable 
Precinct 18AV- Recountable 
Precinct 19AV - Recountable 
Precinct 20AV - Recountable 
Precinct 21 AV - Recountable 

Precinct 19 was deemed not recountable because a City of Pontiac staff member removed the 
unsealed ballot container from the canvass without authorization and returned it to city hall. 
This was discovered the following day and the container was summoned back to the canvass 
and sealed. 

Precincts 1AV through 1 0AV were deemed not recountable because the seal number from the 
ballot container was not recorded in the poll book as required by state law. 

The tabulation of ballots from the recountable precincts concluded. Ballots containing 
overvotes in this contest or that were recognized as blank were adjudicated. 

The results of the recount were announced by Director of Elections Rozell: 

YES-3,896 
N0-3,895 

An original recount statement of votes was placed on file in the County .Clerk's Office. 

PUBLIC COMMENT: 

None. 

Moved by DENEWETH seconded by HARSTEN-SPANN that the meeting be adjourned. Motion carried. 

Chairperson Deneweth adjourned the meeting at 3:10 p.m. 

Lisa Brown 
Clerk/Register of Deeds 



EXHIBIT7 
DIAGRAM OF OVERVOTED BALLOT 

IN AV PRECINCT 15 



= ;;;;;; = 

ames 

CJ Sandy Pensler 

Cl 

CJ Vemon Molnar 

c::J Jim Tedder 

CJ Terry Whitney 

CJ Kristina Karamo 

t:J David B. Foster 

C:J Angela Powell 

l:::J David E.. S. Bowman· 

CJ CJ 

For the purpose of providing 
funds for the support of a public 
transportation system serving 
the elderly, disabled, and 
general public of the County of 
Oakhind, as a renewal and 
Increase of the ,9863 mills which 
expired with the 2017 tax levy, · 
shall the !Imitation on the 
amount of taxes Imposed on 
taxable property in the Oakland 
County Public Transportation 
Authority area be renewed and 
increased at 1.0 mills ($1,00 per 
$1,000 of taxable value) for four 
(4) years, 2018 through 2021, 
inclusive? It Is estimated that if 
approved this millage will raise 
approximately $31 million In the 
first year. 

t:JVes 

CJNo 

Shall the City of Pontiac, 
Oakland County, Michigan 
adopt an Ordinance to allow for 
Medical Marihuana Facilities 
which include 20 provisioning 
centers, and an unlimited 
number of growers, processors, 
secured transporters and safety 
compliance facilities that meet 
the requirements of State law 
and applicable City Ordinances 
consistent with the Medlcal 
Marihuana Facilities Licensing 
Act, 2016 PA 281. A full copy of 
the proposed City of Pontiac 
Medical Marihuana Facilities 
Ordinance is available in the 
City Clerk's office during normal 
business hours for review. 

!'!!Yes -No 

== --- ~ -= 



EXHIBITS 
LOG FROM RECOUNT INDICATING THAT 

BALLOT FROM AV PRECINCT 15 WAS 
DEEMED AN OVERVOTE 



24 9/12/2018 2:37:48 01500181209 rozelij 
PM 

25 9/12/2018 2:37:51 01500181209 rozelU 
PM 

26 9/12/2018 2:37:52 D1500181209 roiellj 
PM 

27 9/12/2018 2:37:53 01500181209 rozellj 
PM 

28 9/12/2018 2:37:55 D1500181209 rozeflj 
PM 

29 9/12/2018 2:37:58 D1500181209 rozellj 
PM 

30 9/12/2018 2:38:06 D1500181209 · . rozelU 
PM 

31 9/12/2018 2:38:13 D1500181209 rozelU 
PM 

32 9/12/2018 2:38:20 D1500181209 rozelU 
PM 

33 9/12/2018 2:38:38 D1500181209 rozellj 
PM 

34 9/12/2018 2:38:38 D1500181209 rozelU 
PM 

35 9/12/2018 2:38:40 D1500181209 rozelU 
PM 

36 9/12/2018 2:38:40 01500181209 .. rozelU 
PM 

37 9/12/2018 2:38:44 D1500181209 rozeiU 
PM 

38 9/12/2018 2:38:44 D1500181209 rozelU 
PM 

39 9/12/2018 2:38:48 D1500181209 rozelU 
PM 

40 9/12/2018 2:38:49 DlSOOi81209 ··. rozellj 
PM 

41 9/12/2018 2:38:50 01500181209 rozelU 
PM 

42 9/12/2018 2:38:52 01500181209 rozelU 
PM 

43 9/12/2018 2:38:52 01500181209 rozelU 
PM 

44 9/12/2018 2:38:55 D1500181209 rozelU 
PM 

45 9/12/2018 2:38:59 D1500181209 rozelU 
PM 

Oakland County, Michigan 

Pontiac Recount 

Primary Election, Tuesday, August 7, 2018 

sn1201s 
Paoe 2 of 3 

(,~l~;~t~i~!~}{;,~~l~gifi\K\U:'.tlfj;i))::ift:iK{Jt[i/D:: 

VotingAndResol Reviewing ballot Batch: 97,:Scan order. 31, UID: N/A, VAR: 4; Page: 1 
ution, Info 

VotingAndResol Ballot reviewed Batch: 97, Scan order. 31, UID: N/A, VAR: 4, Page: 1 
ution, Info 

UI, Info Menu Item Selected Menu Item Name: Review Ballot 

VotingAndResol Reviewing ballot Batch: 97, Scan order. 43, UID: N/A, VAR: 4, Page: l 
ution, Info 

VotingAndResol Reviewing contest 'Proposal !City of Pontiac-Medical Marihuana 
ution, Info Facilities Licensing Ordinance' opened 

UI,Info Menu Item Selected Menu Item Name: Hide Annotations 

VotingAndResol Contest reviewed 'Proposal lCity of Pontiac-Medical Marihuana 
ution,Jnfo Facilities Licensing Ordinance' closed 

VotingAndResol Reviewing contest 'Proposal !City of Pontiac-Medical Marihuana 
ution, Info Facilities Licensing Ordinance' opened 

Ul,lnfo Menu Item Selected Menu Item Name: Show Annotations 

Ul,lnfo Menu Item Selected Menu Item Name: Accept Contest 

Voting, Info Contest accepted Contest 'Proposal lCity of Pontiac-Medical 

-/( Marihuana Facilities Licensing Ordinance' read as 
'This contest was read ·as overvoted.', accepted as 
'User accepted as overvoted.' 

VotlngAndResol Contest reviewed 'Proposal lCity of Pontiac-Medical Marihuana 
utlon, Info Facilities licensing Ordinance' closed 

VotingAndResol Ballot reviewed Batch: 97, Scan order. 43, UID: N/A, VAR: 4, Page: l 
ution, Info 

UI, Info Menu Item Selected Menu Item Name: Review Ballot 

VotingAndResol Reviewing ballot Batch: 98, Scan order: 39, UID: N/A, VAR: 69, Page: 1 
ution, Info 

VotingAndResol Ballot reviewed Batch: 98, Scan order. 39, UID: N/A, VAR: 69, Page: 1 
ution, Info 

Ul,lnfo Menu Item Selected Menu Item Name: Review Ballot 

VotingAndResol Reviewing ballot Batch: 98, Scan order. 54, UID: N/A, VAR: 69, Page: 1 
utlon, Info 

VotingAndResol Ballot reviewed Batch: 98, Scan order. 54, UID: N/A, VAR: 69, Page: l 
ution, Info 

VotlngAndResol Reviewing ballot Batch: 98, Scan order: 54, UID: N/A, VAR: 69, Page: 2 
ution, Info 

VotlngAndResol Ballot reviewed Batch: 98, Scan order: 54, UID: N/A, VAR: 69, Page: 2 
ution, Info 

Ul,lnfo Menu Item Selected Menu Item Name: Review Ballot 



EXHIBIT9 
CANVASS OF THE VOTES CAST AT THE 

SEPTEMBER 12, 2018 RECOUNT OF PROPOSAL 1 
FOR THE CITY OF PONTIAC 



CANVASS OF VOTES C ST 

.. ATTHE .. 

RECOUNT 

.. HELD ON .. 

SEPTEMBER 12, 2018 

CANVASSED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY CANVASSERS 
OF 

OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN 



Oakland County, Michigan 

Primary Election, Tuesday, August 7, 2018 

8(1/2018 
Pagelof2 

Proposal 1 City of Pontiac-Medical Marihuana Facilities Licensing Ordinance • Nonpartisan Party 

Precinct 
Ponllac, Prednct 1 

Pontiac, Precinct 2 

Pontiac, Prednct 3 

Pontiac, Prednct 4 

Pontiac, Precinct S 

Pontiac, Precinct 6 

Pontiac, Precinct 7 

Pontiac, Precinct 8 

Porrtlac, Precinct 9 

Pontiac, ~net 10 

Pontiac, Pllldnct 11 

Pontiac, Precinct 12 

Pontiac, Precinct 13 

Ponllac, Prednct 14 

Pontiac, Precinct 15 

Pontiac, Precinct 16 

Pontiac. Precinct 17 

Ponllac, Precinct 18 

Ppntiac, Precinct 19 

Ponllac, Precinct 20 

288 

161 

256 

236 

215 

243 

56 

174 

116 

23 

257 

180 

212 

130 

257 
226 

143 

59 

228 
213 

332 

147 

338 

174 

230 

233 

4S 

126 

93 

35 

260 

153 

227 

110 

301 

223 

120 

73 

186 

250 

6W 47 

308 21 

594 46 

410 29 

44S 38 

476 25 

101 8 

300 22 

209 22 

63 3 

517 34 

333 21 

439 20 

240 21 

5S8 45 

449 33 

263 23 

132 12 

414 32 

463 34 

1 0 0 0 232 

l 0 0 0 109 

2 0 0 0 186 

1 O· 0 0 138 

1 0 0 0 113 

0 0 0 0 114 

0 0 0 0 23 

0 0 0 0 82 

0 0 0 0 43 

0 0 0 0 22 
0 0 0 0 15S 

0 ·O 0 0 87 

0 0 0 0 79 

0 0 0 ,0 73 

l 0 0 0 162 

0 0 0 0 166 

0 0 0 0 70 

0 0 0 0 40 

0 0 0 0 143 

0 0 0 0 171 

436 668 2761 24.19% 

221 330 2236 14.76% 

456 642 1948 32.96% 

302 440. 1ns 24.79% 

371 484 1886 25.66% 

387 SOl 2129 23.S3% 

86 109 1284 8.49% 

240 322 _2096 15.36% 

188 231 1677 13.77% 

44 66 532 12.41 % 

396 551 2874 19.17% 

267 35:I 2210 16.02% 

380 459 2031 22.60% 

188 261 1829 14.27% 

442 604, 2372 25.46% 

316 482 2390 20.17% 

216 286 2215 12.91 %' 

104 144 1862 1.73% 

303 446 2683 16.62% 

326 497 2157 23.04 % 



Oakland County, Michigan 

Primary Election, Tuesday, August 7, 2018 

8{1/2018 

Page2of2 

Proposal 1 City of Pontiac-Medical Marihuana Facilities Ucensing Ordinance - Nonpartisan Party 

Precinct 

Pontiac, Pteclnc:t 21 

Totals .. 
218 

3890' 

239 4S7 44 0 

ss,sJ:·. · 11~1: · .sso· · ·<1·: 
0 

0 

0 

0 

0 181 

· ··::;o:::-·'·: · 1339:·. 

320 

'5989' 

501 2721 18A1% 

·'.-8378_•·;: ·>4366,: .',19_19% 



STATE OF MICHIGAN 

County of OAKLAND 

We do hereby certify that the foregoing is a correct statement of the recount of the votes cast.at the Primary Election held on the 
7th day of August, 2018 for Ballot Proposal 1, In the City of Pontiac. 

~ ~ ==--~ 
Clerk of the Boarq of County Canvassers 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND 

In Witness whereof, we have hereto set our hands and affixed the 

seal of the Clroult Court for the County of Oakland this ) 'l---ffttay 

of September In the year two thousand and eighteen. 

We do hereby certify, that the foregoing copy of the statement of recount In the County of OAKLAND of the votes cast at the 
Primary Election held on the 7th day of Augus~ 2018 for Ballot Proposal 1 In the City of Pontiac and of the certlflcate thereto 
attached, are correct transcripts of the orlglnals of such statement and certificate, al)d of the whole of such orlglnals on file In the 
office of the clerk of said county, so far as they relate to the recount of the votes cast In the aforesaid election • . . . 

Oakland County Clerk -....:.:..:= 

In witness whereof, we have hereto set our hands and affixed the 

seal of the Circuit Court for the County of Oakland this f/.lt...day 

of September, In the year two thousand and eighteen. 

ATTACH SEAL IN BOTH CASES BEFORE TRANSMITTING STATEMENT 



#4 
SPECIAL 

PRESENTATION 



tm~oFp@Q CITY CLERK'S RESPONSE TO INACCURACIES IN THE MEDICAL 
,~\ . - ~ MARIHUANA REVIEW LEGAL REPORT AND CLERK UPDATE ON 
'A , ' A 

·~ - . -t MEDICAL MARIHUANA REVIEW PROCESS 
\.. 9 I.CH1GI'-~ 

City Council Presentation Highlights 
September 21, 2021 

Garland Doyle, M.P.A., CNP 
Interim City Clerk 

Jonathan Starks 
Assistant City Clerk/Regulatory Analyst 
Marihuana Regulations Division 

Website: http://pontiaccityclerk.com/medical-marihuana 
fj Pontiac City Clerk ~ PontiacClerk ~ Pontiac City Clerk a Pontiac City Clerk 

--- ---

A Fair and Transparent Process 



Agenda 

A. Clerk's Response to City Attorney Memorandum about Potential Conflicts of 
Interest in the Marihuana Application Review Process 

B. Clerk's Response to Report of Special Counsel to the City of Pontiac concerning 
the canvass of Votes Cast at the Recount held on September 12, 2018 

C. Medical Marihuana in Pontiac Update 

:A~ " · a d Trims~r~;_a--• -· .r.aJr n" ,._,. -- """"_,,..,.,~ 



A. Clerk's Response to City Attorney Memorandum about 
Potential Conflicts of Interest in the Marihuana 

Application Review Process 



City of Pontiac Medical Marihuana Permit Reviewer Conflict of Interest Policy 

At the request of the City Clerk, the City Council adopted the City of Pontiac Medical 
Marihuana Permit Reviewer Conflict of Interest Policy on February 26, 2019 

The policy calls for any reviewer to disclose any potential conflict that may provide an 
economic or other personal benefit to an employee, agent or contractor, or to any 
person or entity with whom they are related or have a financial interest. The policy 
further prevents any reviewer who may have a conflict from reviewing that application. 
This policy was put in place to ensure that decisions are based entirely on merit. 
Additionally, the policy states how violations are to be handled if a reviewer fails to 
disclose a potential conflict of interest. 

In addition to establishing the policy, the City Clerk worked to ensure that conflict of 
interest and disclosure clauses were placed in each of the professional experts' 
contracts. 



Did Atty. Huth violate the City's Reviewer Conflict Policy? 

NO. 

Robert Huth, Esq., of Kirk, Huth, Lange and Badalamenti who serves as the Legal Compliance Reviewer for the application 
process followed the established City policy and did not review any application that would have violated the policy. Atty. Huth 
disclosed to the City Clerk that he could not review the following non-overlay provisioning center applications Joyology, Jars 
and MK Group LLC due to the fact that his firm had provided legal work to these entities for matters unrelated to the City of 
Pontiac in conformance with the City's reviewer conflict of interest policy and conflicts of interest and disclosure clause in his 
contract with the city. Therefore, Atty. Huth did not violate the policy. 

--- - - - - --- -



Did Atty. Fraser violate the City's Reviewer Conflict Policy while 
serving as the Appeals Hearing Officer? 

NO. 

Atty. John Fraser served as the Appeals Hearing Officer while he was with Grewal Law, PLLC. While at Grewal Law, PLLC, 
Atty. Fraser did not have any conflicts. Since he has joined Dykema Gossett PLLC, he has not served as the Hearing Officer. 
Grewal Law, PLLC attorneys continue to serve as the Appeals Hearing Officer . 

. 



Does the City Clerk accept the City Attorney recommendations? 

NO. 

No, because there has been no violation of the City's Reviewer Conflict Policy. 

Additionally, many of the recommendations may cause further delays in the review process and possibly give the top 5 ranked 
provisioning center applicants that have been selected based on a fair scoring and appeals hearing process grounds to sue the city. 



B. Clerk's Response to Report of Special Counsel to the 
City of Pontiac concerning the canvass of Votes Cast at 

the Recount held on September 12, 2018 



1. Garland Doyle was not the City Clerk at the time of the recount held on September 12, 2018. 

2. Since being name the City Clerk on October 29, 2018, I have implemented staffing changes 
to address the issues in the report. 

a. The election specialist that was a part of the division during the recount is no longer with the 
division and the other employee has been primarily assigned other duties. 

b. Hired J oLynn Williams, a professional elections trainer to lead the Elections Division. 

c. Hired Mary Castro, a former outstanding precinct chairperson to fill the vacant Elections Specialist 
position. 



C. Medical Marihuana in Pontiac Update 



Cesar Chavez Overlay District 

Key 

Top 5 Ranked Proposed Locations 
• Rize Cannabis - 772 Cesar E Chavez 
• West Fort Holdings LLC - 870 Cesar E Chavez 
• Greenhouse Farms Pontiac LLC - 985 Cesar E Chavez 
• Yellow Tail Ventures Inc - 1025 Cesar E Chavez 
o The Cured Leaf TC Inc - 962 Cesar E Chavez 

Types of License Available in this District 
1) Grower 
2) Processor 
3) Secure Transporter 
4) Safety Compliance 
5) Provisioning Centers (No more than 5 Provisioning 

Centers will be selected in this district) 

-------~ 
l 
~ 
V 
iii. 

\ 
C'> 

§. 
is 
~ 

'P 
'q,v 

-?✓.-

,:,;::::-~~~ 

- ~ 
_ .............. .,..,,.,,~ 

;;,< ~ 

__ Val 

c-~ '~~~! II Yp-\nt, Ann·Artx>< 

~~ -, \ I \ 

/400~ '),' --j - ~~ \ '-·- s-s><-"' l '----~+----1---i i [ 
"5- ~ Q . moun, 

_ \ .,, .... ,n - i ~ - F--¼,,-2=• ,\ L~. S ~Ru:g<>rs 
,.s- r , \ ,0:, 0 

i~;y D~ \ i ::: 
i I i ~4-LJ"' I 1, "---- - r- -f -Kennc,n 

~ 

h~: ~------- \ 
/ / J / / /'e~,. / Z' ! -g ? ......... ❖~ ,._.:r -t •• o , 6 - -a- ,~q~ A, • 

J $ -: _,,,0.....___ / ' , . ~ -'- .Q. I - . <9~ ~--- ,&' ~ / .J. <? ~ ~ -v~~- / 1 " <- .. , ~~ ,...-cS 
_,._ ' ~ ----~ _. .. 

"-, . <:: ~-§'"' ~ ~ - "" "--.,., . ...... .. ✓ ~<+.. &' ' 
"¢5,;;;- ·""-~"" _,,,,✓•,-.,,,"" ,s-"' ~♦-~, ✓ ..___ <? 

. . 'G--i;-.. ,~-"' 

~~~><:---..&,❖s"' 
. -----........, 
'· '\:, 

"~"----



Downtown Overlay District 

Key 

Top 5 Ranked Proposed Locations 
• Common Citizen - 17 S Saginaw 
• 3 Green LLC - 81 N Saginaw 
• Zenith Ventures LLC - 22 N Saginaw 
• RTMC Enterprises Inc - 123 N Saginaw 
o RTMC Enterprises Inc - 10-12 W Pike 

Types of License Available in this District 
1) Secure Transporter 
2) Safety Compliance 

o'-' 
<t:-<; 

,C::,,§'l:> 

'0<> - \ I ;s-,.:>. tung 
.,..~ .,...- r\ot' ~\airmont· 

C'~ .. ,., / \ / 
~-:: Wocx!\V::Jrd 

'-~ ,-s;,. 

~ 
::'-L 

~
:(\C 

'q._. ,,,o,, 

✓Q.~ '1- "~ .:.; -~ ~ ~ ---- \!, 

~-==--=---\· 
~ ' i r ,---- ---?"'~ 

L--- - ~-"'- ---~ -n a. a 
t=.orra,ne ~ ::i 

0 

"" ' ~ . ::_.:;, 

' ~ 
~~ 

\ 

~ .... 

~3\Ct 

\ 
%. 

% e-

~ ......... _ _,,,.... 

t- . 
C: 

g 
-1----

"""' ( 
3) Provisioning Centers (No more than 5 

Provisioning Centers will be selected in this 
district) 

~✓J-o"'"'''~•• ~~ 
~~ \ . - ~ E hzabeth-'\~- -'% 

<;:~ <?:, ~ ~ // \ -- ,Jackson \ 

~ / ,7 /. ~<:, C) ] 

-:.)ud~f\- - _ 

~ - -- •Wh1~moJ~ ~ ~ 
"'ef......... ~ --0 '% <:;."\ /---=-~ , ~---- wessen __..c. 

......... ✓ ) 

~ 

\ 



Non Overlay District 

Types of Licenses Available in this District: 

Provisioning Centers are permitted in C-1, C-3 and C-4 zones properties located 
outside of the Cesar Chavez, Downtown and Walton Overlay Districts. (No more than 
5 provisioning centers will be selected in the Non-Overlay) 

Prior to being issued a permit, the applicant will need to obtain a special exemption 
permit from the City of Pontiac Planning Commission 

Safety Compliance are permitted in C-1, C-3, C-4, M-1 and M-2 zoning districts 
outside the Medical Marihuana Overlay Districts. 

Secure Transporters are permitted in C-1, C-3, C-4, M-1 and M-2 zoning districts 
outside the Medical Marihuana Overlay Districts. 



Non OYerlay District ProYisioning Centers . .\pplications Rankings 
1. Pleas i1utrees 

l . Hlul Croup LLC 

3 . Creeubou.se farws Pootiac LLC 

4. Attitude Welloess LLC 

5. :X•lure·s Rewed)· of Pontiac LLC 

5 . Common Citizen 

7. Green Station Depoe 

S. L•rren In,·esuneols LLC 

-------- ------ 9. Creen.stoue :'\;atural Remedie-i; 

10. Tbe Pier Pro,isiouiug Center 

11. Core Conna 

12. Get YourGreens LLC 

13. KG C•pitol In,·eshneots LLC 

14. B•ldwiu lnnstmeats Group LLC 

14 . .Joyolog,,· 

16. Purt> RootsLLC 

17. QualityRoots LLC 

lS. RUIC £oterpriSt>S lnc OBA :Xortbt>rn Trellis 

19. Pure Roo1s LLC 

19. PGSHHoldings LLC 

21 . :\IK Group :\0 LLC 

21 . Oceoo C•pilal LLC 

23. Greeastone :\licbi&•• LLC 

2. -4 . Blut- Tntu-'lo le LLC 

:!-. DSK Iloldiug Com pa.a~· LLC 

15. ="in·:ma Op1n-atioo~ :\II LLC 

.25. ~ ,uure ReleaJPootiac 

:?S. Dis trict 

28. CRO Yt-nlures LLC 

30. Hoy•t Qualii:,· Pro,·isioniag I Inc 

3 1. Pbarn1.aco luc 

31. Ph•rm><o Inc 

33. Dis lriCI 

33 . J .-u<.!>LLC 

33. Herb Wealth 

36. Genesis WeUnessCt'llttt· 

37. S.J:\IBHoldiugs LLC 

38 . .JDS Brothers LLC 

39. Zeo Republic LLC 

39 . Zen Republic LLC 

41..JIS LLC 

4! . :'\in•ilu.1 Opentious :\ll LLC 

43. Creeu Zooe LLC 

44. Superb D"1lk Inc 

45. West Coost :\leds LLC 

46. Cure Pootio1c 

4-_ Wish Poutlac LLC 

48. :XOBO :\licbig•o LLC 

How "ill !be lie be bandied for fifth place~ 

Per Ordin:tnce .235i (B) Section 9h "the 4ico1ing-tied 
applicants nill be ente1·ed into a random dran·. Tboc;e 
.tpplic.ttiou~ l'.todomly selt>cled shall be eligible to 
receh·e a permit to oper.1te .1 pro,isioniDi center. If 
needed. the 1·.1odom d.J·a.n· TiiU occur aflt>r lht> he-aring 
officer appeals ba,·e concluded. 

Note: Rankings are preliminary. They are subject to appeal. 

Release Date: August 20. 2021 5:00 pm 



Walton Blvd Overlay District 

----' I If -==--~ T \ fi 5 \a '"" 

- - Gat\OglY \_-J ~- _/ 

L 
--''--~ Brooks \ n ,..,c --&;1>~·30 :,: 

~ 

l /J- -;;c~ ('\No + - Duane ' . . ·]- ~~I 6 . \ 17 war,nck~ · Lvc1lle 3 " · --~·- -I L I . - 0 

. ·• t '!! . ~ Broo~ n ---· tc- ; 

--,-~l -- ·L:::~ ---L .--: U±• . ~ -

- Upland+ ] 

· - Nonn.f,eld~ , 

,- }- --+-- 1_ ,_-,_:.J__ ~ ~co,o•- , 
I - wottbM oil-= . - ~ __ - ~ --,~ .... - - . ~ - . .:__:.1 -

- sr,e!field~ --:-r . r-
/ Pnnce:on I I i---

- - Hopkins l 

Types of License Available in this District 
1) Grower 
2) Processor 
3) 
4) 
5) 

Secure Transporter 
Safety Compliance 
Provisioning Centers (No more than 5 Provisioning Centers will be selected in this district) 

---

~ 

§, 
-~ 



Office of the City Clerk 
Appeal Process 

Pontiac City Clerk makes decision on the provisioning center applications . 

• Applicant submits written appeal to Pontiac City Clerk within 14 days 
of receiving decision . 

• Grewal Law PLLC Appeals Hearing Officer 

• Hearing officer will conduct hearings on appeals and make a 
recommendation to Pontiac City Clerk, who makes a decision on the 

matter. The Clerk will issue his final decision. 

Applicants may further submit a written appeal to medical 
marihuana commission within 30 days of receiving the 

Clerk's final decision. 



Cesar Chavez and Downtown Hearing Officer Appeals have been 
completed. 

The following Non-Overlay applicants have appealed to the Hearing Officer. 

1. Nature's Remedy of Pontiac LLC 

2. Quality Roots LLC 

3. Common Citizen 

4. Greenstone Natural Remedies 

5. The Pier Provisioning Center 

6. KG Capitals Investment LLC 

7. Pure Roots LLC (2) 

8. Green Station Depot 

9. Joyology 

10. JARS LLC 

11. Larren Investments LLC 

12. Baldwin Investment Group LLC 

13. Greenstone Michigan LLC 

14. CRO Ventures LLC 

The hearing officer will conduct hearings in October. The appellant will be notified of their hearing date. 



Thirteen Applicants Appealed to the Medical Marihuana Commission after 
they received the Clerk's fmal decision. 

The Commission is a public body and appeals to the commission are subject to the Freedom oflnformationAct (FOIA). 

1. 

2. 

,., 
.) . 

4. 

Cesar Chavez 

The Dixie Depot 

Larren Investments 

PGSH Holdings LLC 

Caesars Garden 

1. 

2 . 

3. 

4. 

Downtown 
Detroit Medical Concepts LLC dba Kaleafa Pontiac 

Nature 's Medicine (2) 

Pure Roots LLC 

VB Chesaning 

5. Green Buddha II LLC 

6. Green Buddha/Marelus Brice 

7. Pontiac Provisioning 

8. JNN Property LLC 

We are unable to issue conditional approvals for Cesar Chavez and Downtown until the Medical Marihuana Commission hears the appeals. The medical 
marihuana ordinance calls for the Mayor to select the four members of the Commission. Mayor Waterman has not named the commission members. The 
top five applicants for Cesar Chavez have already been waiting over four months for the appeal process to be concluded. 

As soon as the commission hears the appeals, we will be able to issue conditional approvals to the top 5 ranked applicants. 

~ 



~ ~.:... 

"" 
1 -~ , 

i'<, 

Growers and Processors 
Growers and Processors are allowed in the Cesar Chavez and Walton Blvd Overlay Districts. 

Cesar Chavez Walton Blvd 
- --Yolo 

/ "-..-. '<.,:--,_ • Yp-~nn~ 

~,;~/ / c-."':"i, - J 1 \ ---~-/ ,., / ~~~ ... - . - ----n1"'"'i n , 
i 0 

;i: _ ~ • '2 . m0unt \ ,_..u 'e- \ _ - F -

-c°"'"'\ .r------~ ~ ~ ...... .,.,,.. 
<?-'"' r L\_U ·"<~ ('"') 

sa J . Gom"4 c ,:a ~ 
.31 D ~ B..--·orty 3 ~ ~ I t 
• l -~- -? 

~ { - Kenn,,n .!" 
~ 

~h 
I {';--F'\ , ~. 
l :J. J ~ ; <....,rf" -.,,,.<> .,,-:i-

"' . -ii_ &--...~$,,,..~ 
I ~ ;:, ,,P, / '-, . . ~ ... 'f ' . <% ~' ,.s--

- ~ n - ./ 
.c,.,., ,--:\) . 

- r e , c J ' - __ , 

~ l """cl< -- ~ I ._,~-;._ _flw I ==t• _ lcuolle 

3 

~ ~ ~ _ Brooklin - _ • ~ § 

• :i: <a • l 

Jc_Bmo~ 

~"-t 
- Nortnf1eld- ·· 

"'-'-'. .... , -...,.,, ~ ~,:ff/ '- ...__ ~ _, 

"'· ,ii: ',/ "'-, ,,v #"' 
'- -:~. ,,,'<..__ "·<-, . -.,.-.........___ -~✓ ~..,. d-' ...__ 
~~ ""e, r< / "''><"' ""' 
-- ""~ - .:" / ',,J' 

. ":~'.c-,;.c < :;;,-<f-' .'--.. 

~-,§>"' 

-~ I r \_ ~ ~?"""'\ 
- ,e" o _ -- !?- ' 8- I 

- <l-,. ~ • - m Chicago-~ 1"i -- -l ,,_ u;? 
;- < _ - ..... - ' _ , • ' ' ' -" L,;,, _ _ , _ _ i ' ! 

/ ~ =--..., " < ---~ I Golga te- ~ - - - ,._ 1L - r . 

' ' •-~ ---+- I --~,.,,~ '"'" " 7.- '- __ _ J :--- wa~tt~ ,::., ~-- -- - B - R1ctiard.~ --__. 

/, - -
If - -_ ·- =--·- ->d~T . - -~ 

...__ 
'- \-- I _Prmc-;;on _ I \ ---I _\-~ I __ 7 _- _ _ _Hopk.ins h I 

Proposed Locations: •PGSH Holdings - 1054 Durant • Botanical Greens Inc - 1651 E Highwood 



Additionally, the City Council approved a conditional rezoning agreement with Rubicon in January 2020 that allows growers and processors to locate at the old Glenwood Plaz.a site. 

Proposed Locations 
• Pharmaco Inc - 13 S Glenwood 
• Family Rootz LLC - 1-97 S Glenwood 

/ ,~. '- '>,·/ '- h "-.. '· V· ' . . ' - -, "'"--.. /'J/ ' '- •'l" ·' ,)(, "-.·, '>' /', ''I--' I - - -,-- - - -

'--, . ; / /;~ '-. 'y /2-'•_
1 ,'.cA,"-,'---J'>, ', ':,i.--, i="-=-1 I I I I I I ' I 

/ /, ✓, /,/ '-,;- /""111 "' ~/ / r' _ _) i I I i 

______ / ~ ~ ''</ <,_)A A<. ~LLJ. '::,v .. ~_I ~L- G~s~ } ~L! -_.=-1-=- ~ ' 
- ----- '----- --- / -----, - I n n i, i = ' '"' 

l~I I,-,~,. I ,, / 1 1' I , I U.'.....' ~-if'i ,,,.,-/" --.;-_L--'I -
1 I I I \. - - ~-- -· - "' _I ~ \ _.-,J.- ..-\. -

I 1,• 1
/~ v ___..-----~-;:-,_ / . ·v 

' / ' , '"-- '> '✓ , . , v~ / , /· / ,, , >--, 'ii _ , 
, Y < ' '- / /'-, '< ,d- , 

" /' '--. /· ( . / ', ·• 0 , . -s, / /\ -, c· -. -:,-, ~- > / ' .____/I ' 
I",~ / ' • ', 

,,//,, ~· / \ \ __ · - v'o..r1:' I 
> ;.:v. -<,J,., / , y'." ' 0 Delco ~ ' ,0, ,,' --~~~ ~--
/,·/-"''/.\ / <:- • I-

<' / / <Y/ .-----7 .,-l ~1--LJ - I I ', 
\ \ - &_§:- • I - ·1 r -•I 

. >,- "., __J __ _ 
"-'-', ', /" \ Granov,ew B lvd . ,, ' "' -, 1------ ~ ---r -7 --r.,.....,.. ---r =i -

- j •- • '.._l 

-_ - c 1ia111\60,r~St- -~ C 
-----·;;~~c=..J -

~ ' .....__, - ....L.. · · ...__ ;' ...____ -; -1 McGreg o 
t...J----- s,~- ,-· 
;:::::::·~ -::---::;· -1 r- ~ 

',:,-. -~~--i --1 - ,,-_ --- f--
' ' ,.,_,~ - _l_ 

:So-; sf:_-:_~-L: __ <. 

-LJ. · : i :r-r, 
~- --'-i._ I --..;,~...._--1.~ 
--r~_J~~-J 
- L_'§ •---l=-1 
-- L.___J gr-,._._ 
--1L ,;;; t=i 

I.J I TT 
1-'i---. ( 

--- <,.--.....,,; 
-\ r--""- '--.J/ ,\ 

·, 

--· l I ':',, / \ 
_Jc~';./· 

----: /, ---.'~ ~== - -~ _ .... 
/' 

- __ _ ....J 

1---

\---- - I~ 

- !!? --

-\ 

,,--
r :;;~ 

", __ . ~ ;-.--

! ~-=~~ 
/' _.l-



Conditional Approvals for Growers, Processors, Secure Transporters & Safety 
Compliance 

• 5 Growers 
1. Pharmaco Inc. 

up to 1500 plants 
2. PGSH Holdings Inc. 

up to 1500 plants 
3. Family Rootz LLC 

up to 1500 plants 
4. Family Rootz LLC 

up to 500 plants 
5. Botanical Greens Inc 

up to 1500 plants 

• 2 Processors 
1. Pharmaco Inc. 
2. Family Rootz 



Conditional Approval Next Steps 

After an applicant receives a conditional approval, they must comply with the following before the City 
Clerk can issue the applicant a permit to operate per Ordinance 2357(B). 

Fire Department (Waterford Regional Fire Department) and Building & Safety Department inspects the 
proposed location for compliance with all state and local building, electrical, fire, mechanical and plumbing 
requirements; 

Applicant received certificate of occupancy and if necessary, a building permit: 

Site plan approval and if necessary a special exemption permit approval from Planning. 

Proof of premises liability and casualty insurance. 

The applicant has obtained their pre-approval from the State of Michigan. 



Conditional Approval Monthly Tracking Update 
September 2021 

Grower 

Applicant Proposed District Conditional Consent to Building Fu-e Planning Liabili~·& State 
Name Location Appronl Release Form (Waterford Regional) Site Plan/Special Casu~· Pre-

Issued ReceiYed Exemption (if Insurance Appro,·al 
necessan·l Verified 

Pharmaco Inc 13S Old 6/3/2021 Yes 
Glenwood Glenwood 

Plaza 
(Conditional 
Rezoninsz) 

PGSH 1054Durant Cesar 5/21/2021 7/9/2021 
Holdimis LLC Cha,·ez 
Family Rootz 1-97 S Old 5/27i2021 6/19/2021 Yes 

Glenwood Glenwood 
Plaza 

( Conditional 
Rezonin!!) 

Botanical 1651 E Walton 7/19/2021 6/22/2021 Yes 
Greens Hi!!hwood 

Processor 

Applicant Proposed District Conditional Consent to Building Fire Planning Liab~· State 
Name Location ApproYal Release Form (Waterford Regional) Site Plan/Special & Pre-

Issued Receh·ed Exemption (if Casual~· Appro,·al 
necessa11·) Insurance 

Verified 
Pharmaco Inc 13 S Glenwood Old 6/3/2021 Yes 

Glenwood 
Plaza 

( Conditional 
Rezonin!!) 

Family Rootz 1-97 S Old 5/27/2021 6/19/2021 Yes 
Glenwood Glenwood 

Plaza 
( Conditional 
Rezonin!!) 



To Review both of the Clerk's Response Memorandums and the entire update on 
Medical Marihuana in Pontiac see the attached documents. 



TO: Honorable City Council 

FR: Garland Doyle, M.P.A. 
Interim City Clerk 

CC: Mayor Waterman 
Anthony Chubb, Esq. 

DATE: September 16, 2021 

OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK 

MEDICAL MAruHUANA DMSION 

47450 Woodward Avenue 
Pontiac, Michigan 48342 
Phone: (248) 758-3200 

Fax: (248) 758-3160 

RE: Clerk's Response to City Attorney Memorandum about Potential Conflicts of Interest in the 
Marihuana Application Review Process 

First of all, there have no violation of the conflicts of interest policy in the medical marihuana 
review process. As you know, I have worked hard to ensure that the medical marihuana review 
process follows the ordinance as approved by the voters and is a process that is fair, transparent 
and has integrity. 

This is why, I asked this honorable body to approve the City of Pontiac Medical Marihuana 
Permit Reviewer Conflict of Interest Policy in February 2019 before the application review 
process began. The policy that the City Council approved on February 26, 2019 calls for any 
reviewer to disclose any potential conflict that may provide an economic or other personal 
benefit to an employee, agent or contractor, or to any person or entity with whom they are related 
or have a financial interest. The policy further prevents any reviewer who may have a conflict 
from reviewing that application. This policy was put in place to ensure that decisions are based . 
entirely on merit. Additionally, the policy states how violations are to be handled if a reviewer 
fails to disclose a potential conflict of interest. I have enclosed a copy of the City of Pontiac 
Medical Marihuana Permit Reviewer Conflict of Interest Policy. 

In addition to establishing the policy, the City Clerk worked to ensure that conflict of interest and 
disclosure clauses were placed in each of the professional experts' contracts. 

As it relates Robert Huth, Esq., of Kirk, Huth, Lange and Badalamenti who serves as the Legal 
Compliance Reviewer for the application process having a conflict, Atty. Huth followed the 
established City policy and did not review any application that would have violated the policy. 
Atty. Huth disclosed to the City Clerk that he could not review the following non-overlay 
provisioning center applications Joyology, Jars and MK Group LLC due to the fact that his firm 
had provided legal work to these entities for matters unrelated to the City of Pontiac in 

t-



conformance with the City's reviewer conflict of interest policy and the conflicts of interest and 
disclosure clause in his contract with the city. Therefore, Atty. Huth did not violate the policy. 

As it relates to the City Attorney analysis of John Fraser having a conflict while he served as the 
Hearing Officer is untrue. Grewal Law, PLLC was selected by the City Clerk to serve as the 
Hearing Officer. Atty. John Fraser, Atty. Cheyenne Benyi and Atty. Chelsea Lenard all of 
Grewal Law PLLC have served as hearing officers to hear medical marihuana applicant appeals. 
Atty. Fraser informed the City Clerk that he would be leaving Grewal Law, PLLC to join 
Dykema Gossett PLLC on August 9, 2021. The City Clerk initially seeked to retain Atty. Fraser 
because he had served as the lead attorney for appeals. After realizing that Dykema Gossett 
PLLC had assisted some Pontiac applicants with preparing their applications, the City Clerk 
asked the City Council to remove the Dykema Gossett contract to serve as the new hearing 
officer from its agenda. It would have been a violation of the City's conflict policy for Dykema 
Gossett to serve as Hearing Officer. Therefore the Clerk determined that it was in the best 
interest for the City to retain Grewal Law, PLLC to continue serving as the hearing officer. 
Again Atty. Fraser did not have any conflicts while he served as the hearing officer. He served as 
the Hearing Officer while he was with Grewal Law PLLC. He has not served as the hearing 
officer since he has been with Dykema Gossett. Therefore, Atty. Fraser did not violate the 
policy. 

As it relates, to the City Attorney recommendations, the City Clerk has determined that 
they are not necessary since the established City of Pontiac Medical Marihuana Permit 
Reviewer Conflict of Interest Policy was followed by the reviewers. There has been no 
violation of the policy. Additionally many of the recommendations could expose the City to .• 
unnecessary lawsuits. The following are the City Attorney recommendations and the 
Clerk's response to the recommendations. 

City Attorney Recommendation 
1. As a result of the admitted conflict by Kirk, Huth, Lange & Badalamenti, PLC, the 

Interim Clerk, through Council action, should cancel the contract for compliance review 
services and immediately seek independent compliance review form a vetted replacement 
entity, to perform compliance review service for all 108 applications. 

Clerk's Response 
Another review of 108 applications is not necessary and could serve to cause liability for 

the City. The Mayor agreed to the manner in which potential conflicts would be handled by Atty. 
Huth. His agreement states: 

"Kirk Huth further agrees that it will not review, analyze, or grade any application for any (1) 
organization, (2) individual with an ownership interest in an organization, or (3) individual, 
submitting an application for a marihuanafacility license with the City of Pontiac that it has 
previously represented in any capacity. " 

2 



Atty. Huth did not review any applications from entities that had a prior relationship with his 
firm. He followed the process as required by the City. His agreement is attached. Starting over 
now is unfair to the winners and would only serve to cause further delay. Those that were 
told that they prevailed only to have if ripped away for not legitimate reason would likely 
have a cause action against the city. 

City Attorney Recommendation 
2. As a result of admitted conflict by Dykema Gossett, PLLC the Interim Clerk, through 

Council action, should cancel the contract for Hearing Officer services with Attorney 
John Fraser and immediately seek independent counsel to act as the Hearing Officer for 
all 108 applicants. 

Clerk's Response 
Atty. Fraser served as the hearing officer while at Grewal Law PLLC. Mr. Fraser's work 

on behalf of the city ahead of joining Dykema presented no conflict. It would be senseless to 
toss out the work he did while he had no conflict. He has not served as the hearing office 
since joining Dykema. 

City Attorney Recommendation 
3. Each professional consultant retained by the Interim Clerk should be immediately asked 

to submit a detailed conflict of interest statement, re-confirming that neither they nor their 
firm have any conflict with any of the 108 applicants, including their ownership structure. 

Clerk's Response 
The current policy regarding disclosures of conflicts works very well. Nothing else is 

required. 

City Attorney Recommendation 
4. The matter must be submitted to the City's liability carrier for review and 

recommendation. 

Clerk's Response 
The City Clerk contacted the City's liability carrier Michigan Municipal Risk 

Management Authority (MMRMA) and was informed they they do not provide this service. 
Furthermore, attorneys must follow the City's Conflict Policy and the Rules of Professional 
Conduct. 

City Attorney Recommendation 
5. Pending the recommendation of the City's liability carrier, the oversight of the 

application process must be temporarily seceded to the City Attorney and city council 
must recognize and allow the delegated city attorney, as appointed by the mayor pursuant 
to the authority of the city charter, to effectively perform his duties to the city by 

3 



informing council of opinions and memos at city council meetings, subcommittee and 
other such events at which city business is conducted. 

Clerk's Response 
As stated above MMRMA will not issue a recommendation because they do not provide 

this service. Also, there is no basis for the City Attorney to oversee the application process. It 
would be a violation of Ordinance 2357(8) to tum oversight over to the City Attorney. The 
only reason the City would make such a request is to appease the Mayor. 

4 



CITY OF PONTIAC 

MEDICAL MARIHUANA PERMIT REVIEWER CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY 

Purpose 

The City of Pontiac (the "City") has approved an ordinance to allow medical marihuana facilities to 
operate in the City. After receipt of a completed application, the Pontiac City Clerk is responsible for forwarding 
the application to the Fire, Building and Safety, and Planning Departments/Divisions, and the Pontiac City Clerk 
may forward the application or certain parts thereof to any other relevant department/division of the City 
(including contractors of the City) to confirm compliance with certain requirements of the City of Pontiac 
Medical Marihuana Facilities Ordinance ("Ordinance"). 

The City provides this Conflict oflnterest Policy to ensure that there is full disclosure in connection with 
approval/review of any medical marihuana facility permit application ("Medical Marihuana Application") or 
inspection of any proposed medical marihuana facilit}Uhat may provide an economic or other personal benefit 
to an employee, agent or contractor, or to any person or entity with whom they are related or have a financial 
interest. This will help to ensure that decisions are based entirely on merit. This policy is intended to supplement 
but not replace any applicable City, state or federal laws relating to conflicts of interest. 

Definitions 

1. Interested Person. An "Interested Person" is an individual who is in a position to review, inspect and/or 
approve components of an applicant's Medical Marihuana Application or proposed medical marihuana facility 
on behalf of the Fire, Building and Safety, or Planning Departments/Divisions or any other relevant 
department/division of the City (including contractors of the City) tasked with reviewing, inspecting and/or 
approving any components of Medical Marihuana Applications or proposed medical marihuana facilities. 

2. Family Member. A "Family Member" includes: the spouse of, or a brother, sister, in-law, ancestor 
(including parents and grandparents), child, grandchild or great grandchild of an Interested Person, or the spouse 
of any child, grandchild, or great grandchild of an Interested Person. 

3. Financial Interest. An Interested Person has a "Financial Interest" if: 

(a) such Interested Person, or any Family Member or Related Entity of such Interested Person, is 
directly or indirectly involved in any transaction or exchange with an entity or individual that has submitted or 
plans to submit a Medical Marihuana Application to operate a medical marihuana facility in the City (other than 
retail purchases of medical marihuana at a provisioning center in compliance with applicable laws); or 

(b) such Interested Person, or any Family Member or Related Entity of such Interested Person, has 
a compensation arrangement or a potential compensation arrangement of any form, direct or indirect, with any 
entity or individual that has submitted or plans to submit a Medical Marihuana Application to operate a medical 
marihuana facility in the City. 



4. Related Entity. A "Related Entity" means: any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, 
estate, trust or other entity or organization in which any Interested Person or any Family Member of such 
Interested Person, directly or indirectly, owns or controls or is negotiating to own or control (including through 
other entities or organizations) 1 % or more of the voting power, 1 % or more of the profits or economic interest 
or 1 % or more of the ownership interest of such entity or organization. 

Acceptance of Benefit 

Employees, agents and contractors reviewing, inspecting and/or approving components of an applicant's 
Medical Marihuana Application or proposed medical marihuana facility (and their Family Members and Related 
Entities) shall not solicit, accept or retain any direct or indirect gift, gratuity, compensation, payment or other 
benefit (collectively, "Benefit") from any individual or entity operating or seeking to operate a medical 
marihuana facility in the City. 

Procedures for Conflicts of Interest 

1. Duty to Disclose. Each year, promptly after the release of the Medical Marihuana Application by the 
City Clerk and on each anniversary thereafter (and in any case prior to any review by such Interested Person of 
any Medical Marihuana Application), each Interested Person shall complete and submit to the City Clerk the 
Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement/ Affidavit For Medical Marihuana Facility Permit Applications 
attached hereto ("Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement"). Even if an Interested Person has completed a 
Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement, if the Interested Person receives a Medical Marihuana Application in 
which such Interested Person has a Financial Interest or other actual or potential conflict of interest, before such 
Interested Person may review the Medical Marihuana Application, such Interested Person shall disclose to the 
City Clerk the existence of such Financial Interest or conflict together with a statement of facts that describe and 
explain such Financial Interest or conflict. 

2. Reappointment. Upon receipt of the Interested Persons' disclosure of Financial Interest or other actual 
or potential conflict ( or any other discovery of the same), the City Clerk shall report such Financial Interest or 
conflict to the respective head of the department or division and another employee, agent or contractor shall be 
assigned to the particular Medical Marihuana Application. 

3. Violations. 

(a) If the City Clerk or head of the respective department or division has reasonable cause to believe 
that an Interested Person has failed to disclose any actual or potential conflict of interest (including without 
limitation any Financial Interest) or has directly or indirectly solicited, accepted or retained a Benefit from any 
individual or entity operating or seeking to operate a medical marihuana facility in the City, the City Clerk or 
such department/division head shall inform the Interested Person of the basis for such belief and afford him/her 
an opportunity to explain the alleged failure to disclose or explain the improper Benefit. 

(b) If, after hearing the response of the Interested Person and making such further investigation as 
may be warranted under the circumstances, the City Clerk or respective department/division head determines 
that the Interested Person has in fact failed to disclose an actual or potential conflict of interest or directly or 
indirectly solicited, accepted or retained a Benefit, the City Clerk or respective department/division head shall 
take appropriate disciplinary and corrective action, and may forward the matter to the appropriate law 
enforcement agency to investigate. 

Approved by City of Pontiac: February 26, 2019 
Date 



CITY OF PONTIAC ("CITY") 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE STATEMENT/AFFIDAVIT 
FOR MEDICAL MARIHUANA FACILITY PERMIT APPLICATIONS 

Name: ___________________ (Interested Person) 

1. As an Interested Person, please list any Related Entity (as defined in the City's Conflict of Interest 
Policy) that has or plans to submit an application to the City to operate a medical marihuana facility. 

Date (Yrs) Person Involved 
Entity Percentage Interest From To (relationship) 

2. As an Interested Person, please list any organization or entity (profit or nonprofit) that you or a Family 
Member (as defined in the City's Conflict of Interest Policy) or Related Entity currently (or plan to) 
serve as an employee, contractor, agent, manager, director, officer or similar position or receive or are 
entitled to any form of compensation, that has or plans to submit an application to the City to operate a 
medical marihuana facility. 

Person Involved 
Organization/Business Position/Involvement (Relationship) 



3. As an Interested Person, please list any other organization, entity, involvement, relationship, conditions 
or circumstances that place or may place you in a conflict or potential conflict regarding the review, 
inspection or approval of any medical marihuana facility permit application for the City, including 
without limitation any Financial Interest (as defined in the City's Conflict oflnterest Policy). 

Organization or Circumstance Conflict or Potential Conflict 

4. Neither myself nor any of my Family Members or Related Entities have solicited, accepted or retained 
any direct or indirect gift, gratuity, compensation, payment or other benefit from any individual or entity 
operating or seeking to operate a medical marihuana facility in the City. 

Under penalties of perjury, I declare that: (i) I have completed this Disclosure Statement/ Affidavit and 
that to the best of my knowledge and belief it is true, correct and complete; and (ii) I will update this Disclosure 
Statement/ Affidavit within one (1) business day after any relevant circumstances change by notifying the City 
Clerk of such change. 

Signature: _______________ _ Date: ----------

STATE OF -------

COUNTY OF -------

) 
)SS 
) 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this __ day of ______ _ 
201_, by _________ _ 

32895177.4\158235-0000 I 

_ _________ , Notary Public 
_________ County, Michigan 
My commission expires: --------



ROBERT W. KIRK• 
ROBERTS. HUTH, JR. 
CRAIG W. LANGE 
RAECHELM.BADAtAMENTI 
MARYANNE J. DENE:WETH 
MICH/\ELC, TAYLOR 
ROSEMARYV. DAVIS 
PATRICK 8. MCKAY 
ELIZABETH P. ROBERTS 
ROBERT T, CAROLLO, JR, 
RYAN J. I •• FANTUZZI" 

~b•r of Florlda Ber 
"Al•• Mombt>rofVlrglnl• ear 

Dear Intel'im City Clerk Doyle: 

KIRI{ I HUTH I LANGE 
& BADALAMENTI~ 

ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

19600 HALL ROAD 
SUITE 100 

CLINTON TOWNSHIP, MICHIGAN 48038 
(686) 412-4900 

www KirkHuthlnw,com 

April 30, 2020 

WRITER'S E-MAIL: thUlh®klrf;huthlnw com 
FACSIMILE: (586) 412-4840 

Thank you for the opportunity to serve as "Professional Expert - Legal Advisor to the 
City Clerk" undel' the City of Pontiac Medical Marihuana Ordinance 2357(B) (the 
"Representation'l The engagement te1·ms of this letter arn listed below: 

Client, The client in this matter will be the City of Pontiac/ City Clerk (the "Client"). 
This engagement does not create an attorney~client relationship with any other person or entity. 
The point of contact will be the City Clerk. 

Scope of Engagement. In the course of the Representation, we will provide legal advice 
to the City Clerk, in his official capacity, in connection with his duties under the City of Pontiac 
Medical Marihuana Facilities Ordinance 2357(B) and matters related thereto. This includes legal 
advice with regard to applications for marihuana permits in the City of Pontiac, including but not 
limited to (1) advising on the legal consequences and effects of applicant criminal background 
information and staff/employee training and education matedals; (2) complete a compliance 
review of scored provisioning cente1· applications to ensm·e criteria has been consistently applied 
by members of the scoring teamj and (3) attendance of at least four in-person meetings with the 
Scol'ing Team, as directed by the City Cleric The City Clerk shall, in all cases, be the decision 
maker with respect to any scoring decision, We will NOT provide any service 01· advice other 
than legal advice. 

Conflicts oflnterest and Disclosure. Kirk, Huth, Lange & Badalamenti, P.L.C,, 
including its owner(s), employee(s), and consultants (collectively "Kirk Huth") agrees that it will 
not represent any (1) organization, (2) individual with an ownership interest in an organization, 
01· (3) individual, submitting an application for a marihuana facility license with the City of 
Pontiac. KirkHuth further agrees that it will not review, analyze, or grnde any application for 
any (1) organization, (2) individual with an ownership interest in an organization, 01· (3) 
individual, submitting an application for a marihuana facility license with the City of Pontiac, 
that it has previously represented in any capacity, To the extent permissible pursuant to the 
Michigan Rules of Professional Conduct, Kirk Huth further agrees that it will provide disclosure 

S:\P\Pontinc, City ol\Logal Advisor Agreement\Legal Advisor Agmt.docx 



Interim City Clerk Doyle 
Apl'il 30, 2020 
Page2 

of any such previous representation including ( 1) the client previously rep1·esented, (2) the nature 
of the representation, and (3) the time period of the previous representation. Such disclosure 
shall be updated on an ongoing basis as necessary. 

Kirk Huth has been retained by clients in the marijuana industry. It has not offered any 
legal advice to any client pertaining to any issue in the City of Pontiac. It is not aware of any of 
those clients applying for a license in Pontiac. Kirk Huth is not terminating its relationship with 
any clients should it tum out that the client has applied in Pontiac. It will disclose the 
relationship to Pontiac and advise Pontiac to use another law film to serve as "Professional 
Advisor to City Clerk" to review any matter rnlating to that client. 

During the course of this engagement, Kirk, Huth, Lange & Badalamenti, PLC and 
Robert S. Huth, Jr., Esq. arn prohibited from providing any legal representation for the City of 
Pontiac in any capacity, other than as identified herein. 

Rates and Charges. In order to manage costs, Mr. Robert S. Huth, Jr. will be principally 
responsible for the Representation. Other attorneys and professional staff may be utilized as 
appropriate. A short bio of M1·. Huth is attached. Hourly rates will be as follows: 

$200 per hout· for Robert S. Huth, Jr. and firm Associates 
.$90 per hour for staff 

The cost for this Representation will not exceed $85,000 unless otherwise agreed upon. 
Invoices will be addressed to the City of Pontiac, c/o Interim City Clerk Garland Doyle, 47450 
Woodwa1·d Ave, Pontiac, MI 48342. Annual increases in attorney rates are the norm. Out of 
pocket expenses, if any, will be sent directly to the Client for payment, or we will pay those 
expenses and invoice, the Client for the expense. A detailed invoice will be provided on a 
monthly basis and due net 30 days. lnte1·est at l % per month is charged to late payments. If 
necessary, costs of collection, including attorney fees, are chargeable to the Client. 

Federal Law. As you are aware, marihuana is currently still illegal under federal law. 
The laws of the State of Michigan and the City of Pontiac that allow for medical mal'ihuana are 
not recognized by the federnl government or by federal law enforcement authol'ities. State and 
local law has no effect on applicable federal laws, which may impose criminal and civil penalties 
for the possession, transportation, sale, or distribution of marihuana or for any activity related to 
marihuana products, services, businesses, or othet· activities. We are not providing any advice 
with respect to any federal law, including federal marihuana laws, implicated by the City of 
Pontiac's decision to regulate and license medical marihuana facilities. 

Other Legal Matters. We are Special Counsel to the Client, and we only represent the 
Client to the extent provided herein. We will not provide advice, including legal advice, on any 
matter outside the scope of this letter. Client should contact its General Counsel on any matters 
falling outside the scope of this Representation. 



Interim City Clerk Doyle 
April 30, 2020 
Page 3 

Dispute Resolution. If any dispute arises regarding the services provided to the Client 
by us or the charges for those services and related expenses, then we and the Client will first try 
in good faith to settle the dispute directly. If the dispute is not resolved, it shall be submitted to a 
third"party neutral facilitato1· in accordance with the mediation rules of the American Arbitrntion 
Association. If the dispute is not resolved in mediation, the dispute shall be settled through 
binding arbitration in accordance with the Commercial Atbitrntion Rules of the American 
Arbitration Association except as modified here. Judgment upon the award may be entered in 
any court of competent jurisdiction. The mediation and arbitrntion prnceedings, including any 
heal'ings, shall be held in the Detroit metropolitan area. Client and we ag1·ee that neither is 
entitled to or shall request punitive or exemplary damages and that the arbitrators shall not have 
the authority to award such damages or any damages in excess of actual pecuniary damages. 

Tel'mination. The City of Pontiac, by resolution of the City Council, or Rob Huth, by 
written notice to the City Clerk, may terminate this engagement at any time, with or without 
cause, upon 30 days' notice to the othet· party, whereupon a final invoice will be provided and all 
accounts settled. 

Document Retention. Generally, a client must be given advanced written notice of an 
attorney's intent to destroy retired files. It is our policy to destroy a file afte1· a period of three 
(3) years from the date of last service. By agreeing to this Representation, Client consents to the 
destruction of the closed file after three (3) years, without advanced written notice to the Client 
of our intention to destroy the file. Should you wish a copy of that file before that deadline, the 
obligation of contact resides with the Client. 

Please sign below and return this letter to me electronically or by mail. By signing this 
letter, you acknowledge that you have read, understood, consent to, and have had the opportunity 
to consult with independent counsel regarding the terms of this letter, and that you have the 
actual authority to enter into this Representation. 

Tet·ms and Conditions Approved By: 

Sincerely, 
Kirk, Huth, Lange & Badalamenti, P.L.C. 

· i 1t>:e1tJ~ 
Rob1t S, Huth, Jr. - Partnet· 

The City of Pontiac 

~~ 
By: Deirdre W~m~n-Mayor of Pontiac 

D/'i/7:v 



GARLAND s. DOYLE, M.P.A. 
Interim Ci{)' Clerk 
FOlll Coordinator 

SHEILA GRANDISON 

Dcpu{y Ci{y Clerk 

TO: Election Commissioner Sekar Bawa 
Election Commissioner Anthony Chubb, Esq. 

FR: Garland Doyle, M.P.A. 
Interim City Clerk 

CC: Honorable City Council 
Mayor Waterman 
JoLynn Williams, Assistant City Clerk/Elections Administrator 

DATE: September 16, 2021 

OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK 

47450 Woodward Avenue 
Pontiac, Michigan 48342 
Phone: (248) 758-3200 

Fax: (248) 758-3160 

RE: Clerk's Response to Report of Special Counsel to the City of Pontiac concerning the 
Canvass of Votes Cast at the Recount held on September 12, 2018 

First of all, I need to publicly state that I was not the City Clerk during the time that the recount 
held on September 12, 2018 took place. 

As a result of what happened at the recount, the City Council changed the leadership of the City 
Clerk's Office. On October 29, 2018, the Council appointed myself, a municipal government 
professional to serve as the Interim City Clerk. I have a Master of Public Administration and 
Graduate Certificate in Local Government Management both from Eastern Michigan University. 

Since being appointed the City Clerk, I have used my over 20 years of experience in local 
government management to conduct a staffing, budget and resource assessment of the Clerk's 
Office. 

As a result of my assessment and with the support of the City Council. I have been able to 
address the issues noted in the report of the special counsel as well as implement several other 
improvements to the Clerk's Office. 

Staffing 
The election specialist that was a part of the division during the recount is no longer with the 
division and the other employee has been primarily assigned other duties. Additionally, I noticed 
in the absence of not having a clerk, there was no designated staff member to lead the Elections 
Division. With the support of the City Council, I created a new position Assistant City 
Clerk/Elections Administrator to oversee Elections. Additionally, many issues in the report had 



to do with a lack of proper training of Elections staff and poll workers. This is why, I hired 
JoLynn Williams a professional elections trainer to serve as the Assistant City Clerk/Elections 
administrator in June 2020. In addition to hiring Ms. Williams, I hired Mary Castro a former 
outstanding Precinct Chairperson to fill the vacant Elections Specialist position in the division. 
Since Ms. Williams and Ms. Castro joined our staff. We had three successful elections August 
Primary Election 2020, November General Election 2020 and the August Primary 2021 Election. 
Ms. Williams has implemented a robust training program that included conducting a mock 
election for pollworkers during 2020. As a result of Ms. Williams leadership, we were able to 
resolve any discrepancies during the canvass after the November 2020 Election and we did not 
even have to canvass after the August 2021 Primary Election. This is the first time that Pontiac 
has not had to participate in a canvass after an election. 

Budget 
When I became the Clerk, the Clerk's Office was facing a major budget deficit. I was able to 
implement many cost savings measure, eliminate the deficit and balance the budget. 

Resources 
Additionally, I secured a $405, 640 grant from the Center for Tech and Civic Life (CTCL) to 
implement the 2020 Pontiac Safe Voting Plan. This grant allows us to bring many resources to 
Clerk's Office during the pandemic. 

Accomplishments 
As a result of addressing the staffing, budget and resource allocation in the Clerk's Office, we 
had 5 major accomplishments during 2020-2021. 

1. Establish a partnership with Pontiac Public Schools that led to the relocation of two of 
our polling locations to Pontiac Middle School and Walt Whitman Elementary. 

2. Installed 7 Ballot Drop Boxes one drop box in each of Voting District. 

3. Offer extended weekday evening and weekend hours for voters to vote. We were open 
for an additional 85.5 hours over our normal business hours during 2020. 

4. Launch a voter education website http://pontiaccityclerk.com 

5. Established the City Clerk Service Team to assist voters who were not able to vote in
person. The service team visited residences, shelters, hospitals and senior communities. 

2 



MEDICAL MARIHUANA IN PONTIAC 

City Council Presentation 
September 21, 2021 

Garland Doyle, M.P.A., CNP 
Interim City Clerk 

Jonathan Star ks 
Assistant City Clerk/Regulatory Analyst 
Marihuana Regulations Division 

Website: http ://pontiaccityclerk.com/medical-marihuana 
(j Pontiac City Clerk 'f#' PontiacClerk f@l Pontiac City Clerk a Pontiac City Clerk 



1) Overview of Ordinances 
2) Application Process 
3) Review Team 
4) Application Review Process 
5) Provisioning Center Scoring 
6) Overlay Districts 
7) Appeal Process 
8) Growers and .Processors 
9) Conditional Approvals 
10) Citizen Monitoring Taskforce 



1) Overview of Ordinances 

City of Pontiac Medical Marihuana Facilities Ordinance 
Ordinance 2357(B) 

• Approved by citizens of Pontiac in August 2018 
• Granted the City Clerk the authority to oversee the Medical Marihuana Process 
• License up to 20 Provisioning Centers using a 13 0 point scale 
• License unlimited Growers, Processors, Safety Compliance and Secure Transporters 

Zoning Ordinance for Medical Marihuana Ordinance 2363 
• Approved by the Pontiac City Council in April 2019 
• Stated where growers, processors, safety compliance, secure transporters and provisioning centers 

could locate 

• Created three Medical Marihuana Overlay Districts 
Cesar Chavez 
Downtown 
Walton Blvd 

,----~ -



2) Application Process 

When were applications accepted for provisioning centers? 
Jan. 6 - 27, 2020 a one-time 21 Day Application Period. 

How are applications ranked? 
By district, provisioning center applicants applied by district. 

When are applications accepted for growers, processors, safety compliance and secure 
transporters? 

Monday-Friday 8:30a.m. -4:30p.m. We began accepting applications in April 2019. 

-- T 



3) ReviewTeam 
• Garland Doyle, M.P.A., CNP, Interim City Clerk 

Ordinance 2357(B) the City of Pontiac Medical Marihuana Facilities Ordinance approved by Pontiac voters gives the City Clerk the responsibility to review, evaluate 
and/or score applications. Ordinance 2357 (B) allows the City Clerk to award no more than 20 provisioning center licenses using a 130 point scale. In addition, the City 
Clerk can award an unlimited number of permits for growers, processors, safety compliance and secure transporters. 

• Jonathan Starks, Assistant City Clerk/Regulatory Analyst 

Mr. Starks manages the day-to-day operations of the Marihuana Regulations Division under the direction of the City Clerk. Provides summary reports of regulatory 
initiatives and monitoring metrics for Medical Marihuana Facilities; Act as the liaison for the Marihuana Regulations Division with key city departments/divisions; 
Collaborate with Professional Experts to ensure policies and procedures are followed to ensure compliance; Evaluate and/or score various medical marihuana 
application sections; Coordinate the application appeals process. 

Previously, Mr. Starks served as the Special Assistant to the City Clerk. He received his Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting from Cleary University. 

Financial Advisor 
•Sherman J. Taylor, JD CPA 
SRT Consulting, LLC 

Appeals Hearing Officer 
•Cheyenne L. Benyi, Esq., Grewal Law PLLC 
•Chelsea Lenard, Esq., Grewal Law PLLC 
•Tim Seeger, Esq., Grewal Law PLLC 

Professional Experts 
Planning Advisors 
•Jill Bahm, AICP 
Partner, Giffels Webster 

•Eric Pietsch 
Senior Planner, Giffels Webster 

Security Consultant 
•Brain Stair 
Managing Partner, Global Alliance Protective Group, LLC 

The following City Departments and Divisions are a part of the review team: Planning, Building, City Engineering and the Waterford Regional Fire Department. 

Note: All reviewers have signed conflict of interest and confidentiality forms 

~ 



Medical Marihuana Division Org Chart 

I 
City Clerk (Interim) 

I Garland Doyle 

Assistant City Clerk/ Medical Marihuana 
Regulatory Analyst Professional Experts 

Jonathan Starks 

I I I I 
Financial Security legal Planning 

Advisor Consultant Advisor Advisor Hearing 
Customer Officer 

Service Rep ShermanJ. Brian Stair, Robert S. Huth. Jill Bahm, 
Global Alliance Jr., Esq. 

(Part-Time) Taylor, JD CPA Kirk. Huth, AICP Grewal 
SRT Consulting, Protective Lange, and Giffels Law, PLLC 

LLC Group UC Badalam<enti, Webster 
PLC 

(May2020-
Sept2021) 

The Clerk is recommended that Davis Listman, PLLC serve as the Legal Advisor. 

-r 



4) Application Review Process 

G2 Review Phase I • Content Review 

.. Clerk staff will review application to make sure all information and exhibits have been submitted . 

Review Phase 2 • ailli'f',Wr'n.r .• r,,{,..1 .,..,.. ... r:-11 .. Default Review 

.. Staff from each department/division checks the applicant name and stakeholders to ensure they 
are not in default with the city. 

(:J Review Phase 3 • Evaluation and/or Scoring Review 

• Review team members evaluate and or score their respective sections of the application. 

•a 1M""il .. •"1•""'iill"..'i.111111iii..a.l111 • Compliance Review 

(:2 

• The legal and planning advisors ensures that satisfactory and unsatisfactory standards have been 
consistently applied by reviewers for Grower. Processor. Secure Transporter. and Safety 
Compliance. 

• The legal and planning advisors ensures that Satisfactory , Somewhat Deficient. and Very 
Deficient have been consistently applied by reviewers. 

Review Phase 5 • Provisioning Centers Applications Ranked by District 

.. Conditional Approval , Notice ofDelkiencies or Application Denial fo r Grower, 
Proces..<or. Safety Compliwce and Secure Tran sporter 

• If applicant receives conditional approval. they advance to Phase 6 

• If application is denied. applicant can file an appeal. (Sec Appeal Process) 

G1 9 Review Phase 6 

(!J 

G2 

• Site Plan Approval and/if necessary Special Exemption Approval Appeal. 

Review Phase 7 

.. Certificate of Compliance/ Occupancy from Building and Fire. 

Review Phase 8 

• Clerk issues a permit provided you have been issued your pre-qualification from the State of 
Michigan. 

T- - - --



\ 

5) Provisioning Center Scoring 

l';#j 
C 

City of Pontiac 
Office of the City Clerk 

Medical Marihuana Provisioning Center Scoring Form 

-:t'~~BaCKr'OllWcl!Jnto ~-'i~t•:~::0-,$.,f':: $., 
Marihuan 
Business Entitv I I (2) 
Security -~----~- ~L I (1 .fil 

Financial Background I I 1 O 
Economic Benefits I I 10 
Community Development I I 10 

~iZ~'ll!aclJliYt 8la'rlfi1n· ,anBi'Safiitatlo.ri ,;fe.,:~. ~ -~ -:': • •>E::- \, , --~ 'f,~~ ~~.o~, 
Planning (8) 
Sanitation I I (2) 

f.:J-f#:--~~itien1~·1:dl1c'itioiii.6~::~'1-:1·;;1~:§~-~~1::~,€ ~~at&~3£~1J-} ~· ~~~~~~f.·~sr ;__:.: ~_. 
Staff Training and Education (2.5) 
Patient and Community I I (2.5) 
Pro rams 

-.t:an~·~'# =======~======~ = 
Resident 10 
Nejghborhood Land Use I I 10 

Communlh'1_1T1Qact I I 10 
Managerial Resources I I 10 
Financial Resources I I 10 
Job Creation I I 10 
Philanthropic and Community Improvement I I 10 
Physical Improvements I I 10 
Applicant Total Score 130 

*Applicant points are based on scoring reviewers scores and compllance reviewers recommendations. 

If the Legal Advisor or Planning Advisor disagrees with how an application was scored by a reviewer, the Clerk will 
review both the reviewer's score and the legal Advisor or Planning Advisor recommendation. After the Clerk reviews 
both the score and the recommendation, the Clerk will determine the final score that Is given to the applicant. 

Applicant Ranking: __ of __ To_tal Applicants 



O
verlay Districts. . t v~n" 6) 1 D1str1c . ✓ 

Chavez Over ay ¢•"' ~,,_ ~ j \ I 
Cesar ~- , -,,. , --l , 

___,--~ _.,-<.._ -✓-- .,._, 

Key 

Top 5 Ranked Proposed Locations 
• Rize Cannabis - 772 Cesar E Chavez 
• West Fort Holdings LLC- 870 Cesar E Chavez 
• Greenhouse Farms Pontiac LLC - 985 Cesar E Chavez 
• Yellow Tail Ventures Inc - 1025 Cesar E Chavez 
o The Cured Leaf TC Inc - 962 Cesar E Chavez 

Types of License Available in this District 
1) Grower 
2) Processor 
3) Secure Transporter 
4) Safety Compliance 
5) Provisioning Centers (No more than 5 Provisioning 

Centers will be selected in this district} 

' ~ .... 
-

·A.ran-Arbor 

L:on,gfe~ ,· 

-:;:::---~ 4-cy ",z -~ <:»lum ~-e---- s- 1 - \ ~ 
,,. __,_____~ ~ ![ . 

,'I ·~~ \LJ ell 

? 
,,::;. f

'<o<--
C, .,.,,,., 

<~ .. 

·r::s 
,.__-'-' 

~~<To 

a1 D 1 _t~r ... _,, LL " • 
( \ - -. ~ ,, ~ 

i 

f Ttr) <../ ~"',.v • 
E' ~ <.> § - ,,.~ • . o -- .f 8 - --.:i- g---... ~~ ~<! 

~ • J ~~ ::C ./G~: '----...~_.;/ .._,s:-

'-.. ""'"' · 4'"'"" d' ~ " ' x7''C<"" _,<:"' . ~ . ' . '-::~ ,$>~~ 
"'.,, . ............ .... ~ ..... -~ ~<>✓ 04,.. o❖ ..._ 

·cj!:- e'-, ., ,,. ..,.,.,'x...._ ,$ 
- -· . - / -,,.# 

::,.">-6" '"-.._ 



Cesar ChaYez OYerlay District ProYisioning Centers Applications Rankings 

1) 

:!) 

3) 

3) 

5) 

Applicants 

Rize Ca11Dabis 

West Fort Holdings LLC 

Greenhouse Farms Pontiac LLC 

Yellow Tail Yeutures luc 

The Cured Leaf TC luc 

6) Caesars Garden 

-1 Larreu luYes tweuts LLC 

8) PGSH Holdiu2s LLC 

9} l"-Yersity ::\Iedz 

10} Pure Life Solutions II LLC 

111 ::\fis~ · ::\lee LLC 

l:!) Southeast Pro,;siouiug Center LLC 

Bl Top Hill Compassion Center LLC 

141 OP Holdings II LLC 

l~I The Dine Depot 

16) Prime 7 LLC 

17 Herb Wealth LLC 

Top 5 Ranked Proposed Location 

1.) 772 Cesar E ChaYez Aw . 

2.) 870 Cesar E Chawz ,h e. 

3.) 985 Cesar E ChaYez ,h e. 

3.) 1025 Cesar E ChaYez ,he. 

5.) 962 Cesar E ChaYez AYe. 

Updated Ranking: List Release Date: July 6. 2021 
Rankings updated based on Clerk's decision after 
Hearing: Officer Appeals Round 2. 



Downtown Overlay District 

Key 

Top 5 Ranked Proposed Locations 
• Common Citizen - 17 S Saginaw 
• 3 Green LLC - 81 N Saginaw 
• Zenith Ventures LLC - 22 N Saginaw 
• RTMC Enterprises Inc - 123 N Saginaw 
o RTMC Enterprises Inc - 10-12 W Pike 

Types of License Available in this District 
1) Secure Transporter 
2) Safety Compliance 
3) Provisioning Centers (No more than S 

Provisioning Centers will be selected in this 
district) 

'<2 ,;,"'" 
,:,¢ 

-... ~~ 
~.s-~.,..~ 

0-~-""Q 

\-'\.a.t1.-un9-\ 
/ ,.r<:;1airm<>nt· 

-~ WQ9(!\var_d 

"--«> '~~ ~ / "", - ..,.,,.o_ 
..?! . ~ - "· 

"'--o i ----- -;,'g,"'\O. ----1.. .:.-- --- ~ - -s-0 . 

1:--=--=--~~~ 0 
I 1 
3 -----r- ::!:' 

]
• §'. ' - '~« '- " ] ~ -6,cl'"'" - "' 

J- 'c,, 
, ~ 

.., 
,<2 .,_ .,,,, 

- '% 
k-th - ~ - - E hza~ - \ 

.% . ~-· . ·i ' -

~-\ 
~ 
~\ 

~ 

~"'-\(..~ 

'%. 
% 
~ 

~ / _.,,,,,,. 

C: 

~ 
---1----

( 

// "\, en · 

/ ~ f \ ~ ~ -< 

' / ~ ~ 

'"'\,,..-- . i . ½,,., ~ 
/ . . 

... 



Do,Yntown O,·erlay Disn·ict Pro,·isioning Centers Applicatiom Rankings 

AEE.licants 

t. C o11111100 Cltluu 

1. 3 Grrro LLC 

3 . Z.,.nilh \rnlnrf'S llC 

3. RDIC Entrrpt1S<.'S Inc 

3 . R'l \IC E nl t rl'tiM•, Jnc 

6 . P11r(• Roots LLC 

7. Grtro Bronco ill LLC 

8. Ott roil l\ll'dicnl Co1m.•11h 

9. Pontiac PrortsloDiD)lllC 

10. YB Cbrs3ning 

11.1600 Brondw•~· LLC 

11. C:.rrrn Buddha Il LLC 

13. C. lr:m Roots LL C 

14. Ql'S :\flc-hljtwu Holdings Ll.C 

15. Gt~tn Buddha, ":\hrtlU$ Brier 

t:i. J'\';\ P roprrl~· l LC: 

17. JDS Drotbrrs LLC 

17. i'\'uturt' ", .\ ktlkloe 

17. :-aturr·s .\lt<lictur 

20. Bnttl.- S11rin~ LLC 

21. Grrrnstoor Easr LLC 

22. l\lirhignn Suppl~· nnd P ro,·b ion, 

23. :-;" " Cr11 l\ll' ds 

Top 5 Ranked Proposed Location 

1.) 17 S Saginaw St. 

1.) 81 K Saginaw St. 

3.) 22 K Saginaw St. 

3.) 123 K Saginaw St. 

3.) 10- 12 W Pike St. 

Ranking haYe been updated based on Clerk's decision after Hearing Officer Appeals 

Release Date: August 11. 2021 

~-



Non Overlay District 

Types of Licenses Available in this District: 

Provisioning Centers are permitted in C-1, C-3 and C-4 zones properties located 
outside of the Cesar Chavez, Downtown and Walton Overlay Districts. (No more than 
5 provisioning centers will be selected in the Non-Overlay) 

Prior to being issued a permit, the applicant will need to obtain a special exemption 
permit from the City of Pontiac Planning Commission 

Safety Compliance are permitted in C-1, C-3, C-4, M-1 and M-2 zoning districts 
outside the Medical Marihuana Overlay Districts. 

Secure Transporters are permitted in C-1, C-3, C-4, M-1 and M-2 zoning districts 
outside the Medical Marihuana Overlay Districts. 



Non O,·erlay District ProYisioning Centers A.pplications Rankings 
1. Pleasaotrees 

1. HluI Croup LLC 

3. Creeubou.seFamis Pontiac LLC 

4 . Attitude WellDessLLC 

5. ~arure ·s Rem~· o!Pootiac LLC 

5. Common Citizen 

7 . Creeu Slatioo Depoe 

S. Larrea Io,·estmeols LLC 

-------------- 9 . Creenstone~atunl Remtdi.s 

10. Tbe PierPro,isiouiug Ceur..-

11. Core CaDDa 

l!. Gel \'ourCreeos LLC 

13. KC Capitalio,·es lmeolSLLC 

14. Bald1'iu Io,·estmeats Croup LLC 

14. Jo~·ololl.'· 

16. Pure RootsLLC 

17. Quall~· Roots LLC 

1S. RDIC Eolerpaisesloc DBA~011h..-o Trellis 

19. PureRootsLLC 

19. PCSB Boldiogs LLC 

21. :\IK Croup :\ll LLC 

21. Oceoo Capilal LLC 

23. Creeostooe :\licbigao LLC 

:-4. Blut! T rau.s ll LLC 

:~. DSKlloldwg Cowp•n~·LLC 

25 . ~in·:ma Op~r.ation,; :\ll LLC 

25. ~ature ReleafPontbc 

28. Disuicr 

28. CRO \'enruresLLC 

30. Hayat Quali~· Pro\'isiouing I Inc 

31. Pharo,aco Ioc 

31. Pbarmaco Ioc 

33. Dis trict 

33 . JAK!>LLC.: 

33. Herb Weallb 

36. Genesis Welloess Ceut..-

37. 5.nIBBoldiogs LLC 

JS. JDS Brotbers LLC 

39. Zen Republic LLC 

39. Zeo Republic LLC 

41 . JISLLC 

42. ~in·ana Opentioos :\II LLC 

43. Green Zone LLC 

44. Supei·b Daok Ioc 

45. Wesr Coost :\!eds LLC 

46. Cure Pontiac 

47. Wish Pontiac LLC 

4S. :\'OBO :\licbigao LLC 

Bow nill the tie be bandied for fifth place~ 

Per Ordinance 23~7(B) Section 9h .. tbf' sco1ing-tif'd 
applicants l\ill be entered into a random dra-n·. Those 
applications randomly sele,cted shall be eligib)p to 
receil·e a permit to operate a pro,isioniD: center. If 
neHled~ the 1·.1ndom dr~1'- nill occur aftf'r thf' ht .iring 
officer appeals baxe concJuded. 

Note: Rankings are preliminary. They are subject to appeal. 

Release Date: August 20. 2021 5:00 pm 



Walton Blvd Overlay District 

--==-::::::;--:Msta,...... ___i I 

--GallOglY--· ~ __ _,/ II ,-· ~ .. ~,·~-~1••· \) 

, , I - . -· ' 

.n 

:,: 
<li: 

l 
l~ . -~ (_ _~to ~ _ Duane 

I LN•"1'0~ -D-_~wa,w,ck--:--,_ 0 _ _ . \· 8 ~ ! I .. -,! . ;~ . -~ -!~,- ""'f, F cs~- ; . ------ "'-· chic.,go- i " 

' . J:New·:-~-i-- -1:: _ 
1 

• .?. I Ii _ -
, --., - . ,-- - ' --

: : i 
V 

- s Mffie1d~ .::C '--_ _;= -- 'II · ,---. 

Pnnceton I 1 ·- i--= 

'-~ --+-,== -i;-----+-Hopkins~,!,=--~f----, 

Types of License Available in this District 
1) Grower 
2) Processor 
3) Secure Transporter 
4) Safety Compliance 
5) Provisioning Centers (No more than 5 Provisioning Centers will be selected in this district) 

--''---i,. Brooks -~½~--
l)pland 

- No~ld~ ::_ _- - -

-r - - - - ---



7) Office of the City Clerk 
Appeal Process 

Pontiac City Clerk makes decision on the provisioning center applications . 

• Applicant submits written appeal to Pontiac City Clerk within 14 days 
of receiving decision. 

Grewal Law PLLC Appeals Hearing Officer 

• Hearing officer will conduct hearings on appeals and make a 
recommendation to Pontiac City Clerk, who makes a decision on the 

matter. The Clerk will issue his final decision . 

• Applicants may further submit a written appeal to medical 
marihuana commission within 30 days of receiving the 

Clerk's final decision. 



Cesar Chavez and Downtown Hearing Officer Appeals have been 
completed. 

The following Non-Overlay applicants have appealed to the Hearing Officer. 

1. Nature's Remedy of Pontiac LLC 

2. Quality Roots LLC 

3. Common Citizen 

4. Greenstone Natural Remedies 

5. The Pier Provisioning Center 

6. KG Capitals Investment LLC 

7. Pure Roots LLC (2) 

8. Green Station Depot 

9. Joyology 

10. JARS LLC 

11. Larren Investments LLC 

12. Baldwin Investment Group LLC 

13. Greenstone Michigan LLC 

14. CRO Ventures LLC 

The hearing officer will conduct hearings in October. The appellant will be notified of their hearing date. 



Medical Marihuana Commission Appeal Form 
Applictticn~fa:mc _________ _ .~lic:.ltioc.Number _____ _ 

Following a d<niaI of 3!1 ,pplication by th< City Clerk 31!er rc-,iew by th< Hearing Officer. 3D. 
•ppcll3n! who nish<s 10 ,ppeal the d<ni:tl of its ,ppliarion =Y further •ppcal to th< m<dical 
m:uihu:tD3 commission by filing a written statement fully S<ttiDg forth the grounds for appal 
\\ithin 30 days :,ft,r ooti« ofth< d<niaI l13S bttn =iled to the :>pp<ll;mt. Written stattm<nts of 
•ppcal must be filed by mail or in person \\ith the City Clak. s ofli«. The m<dical m:uihu:tD3 
commission shall only o,'mUm a dtcisioo or findillg of the- City acr1.: if it finds such decision or 
finding 10 be arbitr.lf)" or ~cious :md not supported by ID3terial. subst:mtial. and competent 
f:tcts on the who!< record considered by th< City Cl<rk in arri,ing at such decision or findillg. 

Picas, not< the Medical l\·"1rihuana C.ommission is a public body. Any documcnls that you 
submit as, pan of;-our ,ppcal to Medical Marih= Commission are public :md subject to 
disclosure in a«ordance nith the Fr<edom of Infor=tion Act (FOL.\.). The bearing officer 
recommendation ;md the Clerk"s decision on :;our :>pp<al \\ill be submitted to the Medical 
Moribu3na Commission and therefore \\ill subject 10 public disclosure. 

Pleas, use the appal form below if you are submitting 3D. 3pp<al 10 1be Medial M.llihU31l3 
Commission. You c;m only ,ppeal 10 the Medical Marihu:tD3 Commission 31!er you h:n·e 
recei\~ a decision lett<r from th< City Clak aboUI your bearing officcr :tpp<al. 

'.\ledicol :\L>rihu:uu Focili~-Pennir Application 
:\[edical :\farihuan• Commission Appeol Form 

.-\ppell3D.r :-.ame (.-\pplkanr) I Address 

Ciry I Srare I Zip Cod• 

Ap~llanr·s Rtpns.nratin or Contact Ptrson for PurposH of .-\ppul 

Phone ~umber I Email .-\ddJ-ess 

Appelbm R.eptt--.. ecbti\~ er- Colmct Pen.on 
PrinlN~--------- Si~tur~--------- D.>1• 

AppliationN31:Dit _________ _ .-\pplic:ition Numbor _____ _ 

Written Statement of Appeal 
•If You Rtquir'f' Additional Span. Yoo lh,y Anacb . ..\n .-\dd~ndum. ..\ll ..\trachmt-nts To This 
.-\pp,:,) Torm Should B, Clur~· ubeltd "••h Your .-\pp,lbnr (.-\pplic•lion) :-.,m• and 
Application :'\um.bff 

For Office ofrbe City Cle,x Use Only 

H=ing Officer Appeal He:irinJz Dare ___ __ _ 
Cle,x Decision Lett<r Date _____ _ 



Thirteen Applicants Appealed to the Medical Marihuana Commission after 
they received the Clerk's fmal decision. 

The Commission is a public body and appeals to the commission are subject to the Freedom oflnformationAct (FOIA). 

I. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

Cesar Chavez 

The Dixie Depot 

Larren Investments 

PGSH Holdings LLC 

Caesars Garden 

I. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

Downtown 
Detroit Medical Concepts LLC dba Kaleafa Pontiac 

Nature's Medicine (2) 

Pure Roots LLC 

VB Chesaning 

5. Green Buddha II LLC 

6. Green Buddha/Marelus Brice 

7. Pontiac Provisioning 

8. JNN Property LLC 

We are unable to issue conditional approvals for Cesar Chavez and Downtown until the Medical Marihuana Commission hears the appeals. The medical 
marihuana ordinance calls for the Mayor to select the four members of the Commission. Mayor Waterman has not named the commission members. The 
top five applicants for Cesar Chavez have already been waiting over four months for the appeal process to be concluded. 

As soon as the commission hears the appeals, we will be able to issue conditional approvals to the top 5 ranked applicants. 



8) Growers and Processors 
Growers and Processors are allowed in the Cesar Chavez and Walton Blvd Overlay Districts. 

Cesar Chavez Walton Blvd 
~~ / "---- ~,.,_,,..,,.,,o :J 1- Yok>\ I 

Ann·A.nxw 

:;t,.~c,; / C--. ~ ----+-VpsAl.antJ-•1---------__.. 

,<~ -=-- -- / ::~.,...,,, , - -~ \ I -
s.#",,,,,...________.....__ ;' n 
~ ---- o,Jlun'\b'D~ \ 

~ lu 
<:::,,, ____ f 

' 

l 
? 
;,.: 

\ 
<'> a 
~ 
"l;_ 

~, 
'q, ~ i ~~~<~, 

~ I \ t"°"'·"""" r-i .,.......'c,. • ., .... --,r ... - 1r i 
1 7 C#"' r _i ~ -F-m<>vn< 

I (bi/ ri4-~ iLJ:. ~:_~ 
{ "Ken.,_,rr l___ \ l Be-.°f 
~ - i--

l-"' , 
§ 1,---.......___ 
- • J } 
P.l-g ~,,. ,,.,,r--_ 

"-... g_ -if ~ ----- -~"" ~ ~ · ....._ "'- E - &~ # :-...; '-" 
~ Q. -i'' _,,"d' ~.,,~~" 

,, -../.... I " ~..,~ '-;._.,...; ,SC 

"--.....J... ',, '>< -~.,.~ 
. )-..... .,__<> X '-<_ "' 
~ . '-....,a' . ·::-✓ 1::'0-,. _,,_# 

~ .:!'., /"> ,_,&'........._ 
~<=5:~. ✓ ,.,,.x ....... q-~ 
~ II{ ~~--

Proposed Locations: •PGSH Holdings - 1054 Durant 

1k>glY - (;= ~ -\ l 
_r_· ,-.,• .-c,,.ic) \) ~ 

I' _.}""'- ,;,/O"" r~ ( - I ,--

\ ~ ~

1 d= Tuan•1· .t/_ fl_-4w•n"ck~ -_ _ - - ~lu~ll• i 1 ~ Brooklin _ Q 8 

- - -- r- ~, ., _ • .s,_ Chicago-~ _ ~ · - I , 8 
. - j_N;,.,.~~-=t- -i 

•:r 
1 
l 

--'---- ___Jt----Brooks· 

~":~+~-
'- -NoMf1eld- ---

- J--= - I l ate-

' -- --+-~• I ---co,,;- , 

-=-"c.c-~- ~- -_( u td~ ---_ -·-+ I ~ r= l-1 ~-- r _, -_ 7 ~-- --, Hop~ns -

• Botanical Greens Inc - 1651 E Highwood 



Additionally, the City Council approved a conditional rezoning agreement with Rubicon in January 2020 that allows growers and processors to locate at the old Glenwood Plaza site. 

Proposed Locations 
• Pharmaco Inc -13 S Glenwood 
• Family Rootz LLC - 1-97 S Glenwood 

I~ '/(}}';~~~. "~~/. ,z::~x:::::::>v:~?J- B ~
1
-r ",, 

/__/~/-'"\~:~);'}! :G-iID\>~/'1\ I J G~g~~ i __ L_. _ulj 
~ ~,- / ---...,--,-i-r,1 -p, I J~ 1 ~ 0 

Im· 1 -:-iill, , I ,,. ,, / , I I I , 1------tl,,_ .......-1,_ . __j~ -
, I I h - I I I I I ' __ __J " \ / - 1 

I . I I 11 I . /' \, ~ _..._. __ -L- ·- -, . / / ,,----1':2 
--'-·-~'LL ~ / /, '-, / X- r -

, -".) "/ A \ > v, ; I ""' v / "'✓', // >- v"'/'~ -
Ah . " . . / 1< (_/~ /' ', g //· ~' y / \ '- _,; I ,>" -:, < ~.,,( \ ' • I J v:', 
1> ,.__y,<. >· y,• ,/('\ \,..,---:'.__ f ~ Dr.lCO S : ,--._:: j; 
/ <<- ✓ . A ,_ -\ --r-t ' • '>, -~ //· / 'T "~ ... .---✓-✓,/" • I , r '. ,_.,_ 
/' . \ // (f "" -',--'- -1 f--'' 
/ \ - '"" _L_ .L--

''~ '-, '-, ~ \ 1-------' Granov, ew Bl~ 
, ~-+------r-j __ ~ I l _ 

I -1 1 - ---:--:"":~------- ·-'--' ._Li 1-

,~-_-c_,.1_am_b~~ =-:J t=~ ~ YJJ__._j/' ~ ~ -_J 
, t-....__, ; ~~ j ,,~ego --~. LJl7"---.I '' / /').. · -- __J ~ 
'-;.,---- .. ~~ ,--, --; \-1-.l'r v_.,,,,,., \ ,-- ·- -, L 
. ~- ~~ -1 t-J -' J"-1· '\ -._ ____ .,,.,,.\ L-- - ~f 
~2 r~ J 1 ~V:::, \_ __j l __ ~--

~/I, , ,...j I • - \ '---·- - -·-• 
i / f . ! I , !..-- _/ __ ___.~ . 

' ---.; l~~c-~r:-~~ __ . 
' ' -,.,..-,__ 1--1 

,I . I ,/f-q, 1=-k:d-1 . r t / / 

i--!r~ ·--1 I----J'i: cs-
·- L_ ~ ~~ 
--l L __ , & r---j--..: 
...J ,....,..., iii W=l 

--. .,,.,, 
._.__i. -1 I 

,,,,,-·l I n 
~. 'iir- --r- __, i 
~ = ' =-· --.......... ~ g~-, 

---:;; _:::::i~ I _..-,;· 



9) Conditional Approvals for Growers, Processors, Secure Transporters & 
Safety Compliance 

• 5 Growers 
1. Pharmaco Inc. 

up to 1500 plants 
2. PGSH Holdings Inc. 

up to 1500 plants 
3. Family Rootz LLC 

up to 1500 plants 
4. Family Rootz LLC 

up to 500 plants 
5. Botanical Greens Inc 

up to 1500 plants 

• 2 Processors 
1. Pharmaco Inc. 
2. Family Rootz 



Conditional Approval Next Steps 

After an applicant receives a conditional approval, they must comply with the following before the City 
Clerk can issue the applicant a permit to operate per Ordinance 2357(B). 

Fire Department (Waterford Regional Fire Department) and Building & Safety Department inspects the 
proposed location for compliance with all state and local building, electrical, fire, mechanical and plumbing 
requirements; 

Applicant received certificate of occupancy and if necessary, a building permit: 

Site plan approval and if necessary a special exemption permit approval from Planning. 

Proof of premises liability and casualty insurance. 

The applicant has obtained their pre-approval from the State of Michigan. 

~ - - -- -- -



Conditional Approval Monthly Tracking Update 
September 2021 

Grower 

Applicant Proposed District Conditional Consent to Building Fire Planning Liability& State 
,'iame Location Appronl Release Form (Waterford Regional) Site Plan/Special Casu~- Pre-

Issued ReceiYed Exemption (if lnsul'llJlce Appronl 
necessarv) Verified 

Pharmaco Inc 13S Old 6i3/2021 Yes 
Glenwood Glenwood 

Plaza 
( Conditional 
Rezonin2) 

PGSH 1054Durant Cesar 5i21/2021 7/9/2021 
Holdings LLC Chavez 
Family Rootz 1-97 S Old 5/27/2021 6/ 19/2021 Yes 

Glenwood Glenwood 
Plaza 

( Conditional 
Rezonin2) 

Botanical 1651 E Walton 7/19/2021 6/22/2021 Yes 
Greens His!hwood 

Processor 

Applicant Proposed District Conditional Consent to Building Fire Planning Liability State 
!liame Location Approval Release Form (Waterford Regional) Site Plan/Special & Pre-

Issued Receind Exemption (if Casualty Appro,·al 
necessary) lnsUl'llJlce 

Verified 
Pharmaco Inc 13 S Glenwood Old 6/3/2021 Yes 

Glenwood 
Plaza 

( Conditional 
Rezonin2) 

Family Rootz 1-97 S Old 5/27/2021 6/19/2021 Yes 
Glenwood Glenwood 

Plaza 
( Conditional 
Rezonin2) 



10) City Clerk's Citizen Monitoring Taskforce on 
Medical Marihuana Implementation 

The six ( 6) member volunteer citizen taskforce will assist the Clerk with monitoring the implementation of medical 
marihuana in the Cit, of Pontiac. The taskforce has four main objectives. Those obJectives are issue policy 
recommendations develop a community benefits tracking system, develo2._ com_plamt process and community 
outreach efforts. The taskforce will meet several times over the next year. The Clerk and taskforce will work to 
ensure Medi(?al Marihuana Facilities fulfill the commitments that they made to the City and are good neighbors in 
our commumty. 

The six (6) member citizen taskforce will consist of one (1) representative from each of the three overlay districts 
(Cesar Chavez, Downtown and Walton Blvd. The representative must reside in or near the overlay district they are 
representing) and three (3) citywide representatives tcitywide representatives may reside anywhere in the city). 

Citizen Monitoring Taskf orce Members 
1. Kirk Bagg - Citywide Representative 
2. Iola Miller - Citywide Representative 
3. Sue Sinclair - Citywide Representative 
4. Jon Valentine - Cesar Chavez Representative 
5. Michael Glass - Downtown Representative 
6. Vacant - Walton Blvd Representative 

The residents were selected after completing an application process that included an interview. 



Example of a Conditional Approved Grower & Processor 
Commitments to Pontiac 

•Family Rootz Profile: 

• Community Benefits Pledges (Charitable Plans) 
• Partnership with Lighthouse of Oakland County with donation of 1 % of net sales & encourage employees to organize food and clothing drives 
• Partnership with Turning Point Recovery with encouraging our employees to volunteer & provide dollar to dollar matching funds. 
• Provide employee dollar to dollar matching funds raised each week to support many other deserving charities within Pontiac. 

• Community Outreach and Education Strategies 
• Partnership with Neighborhood Watch to enhance security 
• Family Rootz Director of Business Affairs & Strategies will attend every public scheduled meeting 
• Partnership with Pontiac Regional Chamber (PRC) to improve broader business & cultural activities 

• Job Creation and Opportunities 
• Creation of 90-100 jobs and goal to have 50% plus of employee based residing in Pontiac 
• 5 Full-time (FTE) Cultivators $65,000 - $85,000 per year 
• 10 Full-time (FTE) Cultivation Supervisors $45,000 - $65,000 per year 
• 27 Full-time (FTE) Cultivation Trainees $16.85 per hour 
• 1 Full-time (FTE) Clone Specialist $45,000 - $65,000 per year 
• 2 Full-time (FTE) Extraction Specialists $45,000 - $65,000 per year 
• 7 Full-time (FTE) Office Staff (salaries vary) 
• Competitive benefits packages including health insurance, medical, dental & vision and paid time-off 

... 



#6 

ORDINANCE 

I 



City of Pontiac 

Revised Water Supply Ordinance 
Article II ("Water") of Chapter 118 ("Utilities") of the Pontiac Municipal Code 

Executive Summary 
September 7, 2021 

The Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner (WRC) is proposing to revise the City's 
current water supply and cross connection ordinance (Article II of Chapter 118 of the Pontiac 
Municipal Code). The water ordinance, as proposed to be updated, sets forth the standards and 
procedures established by the City for the WRC to follow as it works collaboratively with the City 
to provide clean, safe drinking water while protecting the water system for the benefit of the people 
who live in Pontiac. This Executive Summary provides an overview of the ordinance, describes 
the general types of changes proposed, and explains why it is important that the changes be enacted 
by the City. 

Some highlights of the matters addressed by the water ordinance are as follows: 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• 
• 

Safe water supply 
Use of hydrants/ obstructions 
Use of curb stops/ obstructions 
Water meter installation / access / ownership / damage / secondary meters 
Plumbing material / fixtures / valves / permits 
Cross connection requirements I inspection / access to premises 
Water use regulations 
Ordinance enforcement 
Water main construction / permits / inspection 

Developed over several years, the proposed new ordinance revisions have been prepared with input 
from senior WRC Water Systems engineers, senior WRC attorneys, and WRC special legal 
counsel with extensive experience and specialization in water supply and cross connection 
ordinance matters. 

It is WRC's understanding that City Attorney, Anthony Chubb, and City Engineer, Abdul Siddiqui, 
have reviewed the proposed ordinance revisions. Also, in 2021 Water Resources Commissioner 
Jim Nash met with Mayor Deirdre Waterman to summarize the proposed changes. 

Overall, the proposed revisions are intended to improve WRC's ability to administer and 
implement the ordinance on behalf of the City and its residents. It provides the necessary authority 
and flexibility to address everyday water supply issues effectively and efficiently as they arise. It 
also leaves the WRC and the City well-equipped to face new challenges to the City's water system 
now and into the future. 

The following is a summary of some of the proposed changes: 



• Outdated, incorrect, inconsistent, or ambiguous definitions and requirements in the current 
ordinance have been revised, clarified, or removed. (As one example, references in the 
current ordinance to the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) and 
Detroit have been changed to the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and 
Energy (EGLE) and the Great Lakes Water Authority (GLWA), respectively.) 

• Definitions and requirements have been revised, clarified, or added as needed to comply 
and conform with requirements of current plumbing codes and applicable state water 
supply and cross connection laws and regulations. 

• Outdated practices and procedures that no longer apply have been revised to conform with 
current actual water supply and safety practices and procedures. 

• The respective responsibilities of the WRC/City and private water customers (who owns 
what parts of the system, who pays for certain optional or required activities, etc.) and the 
authority of the WRC acting as agent for Oakland County to administer and enforce the 
cross-connection program on behalf of the City have been clarified. 

• The current ordinance contains provisions that deal with the same or similar subject matter 
in several different places, sometimes inconsistently. This has been corrected so that like 
subjects are dealt with together in the same sections and inconsistencies have been 
removed. This makes the ordinance easier to administer and more user-friendly for 
customers to determine requirements that might apply to them. 

The final step needed to move forward is for the City to enact the ordinance as proposed to be 
revised. It is requested that the ordinance be placed on the City Council's agenda for passage in 
the near future. A clean and marked copy of the ordinance is attached for your review. 

2 



ORDINANCE NO. ---

AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL THE EXISTING ARTICLE II ("WATER") OF 
CHAPTER 118 ("UTILITIES") OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 
("MUNICIPAL CODE"), AND TO ENACT A NEW ARTICLE II ("WATER") OF 
CHAPTER 118 ("UTILITIES") OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE, TO REGULATE THE USE, 
CONNECTION TO, INSPECTION, AND SUPERVISION OF THE CITY WATER 
SUPPLY SYSTM; TO PROHIBIT CROSS CONNECTIONS; TO REGULATE USE AND 
OPERATION OF WATER METERS; TO PROVIDE FOR WATER RATES AND 
CHARGES; TO PROVIDE REQUIREMENTS FOR SERVICE OUTSIDE CITY LIMITS; 
TO ESTABLISH EMERGENCY WATER USE RESTRICTIONS; TO REGULATE 
WATER MAIN AND SEWER CONSTRUCTION; AND TO PROVIDE FOR 
ENFORCEMENT, PENALTIES, AND OTHER RELIEF FOR VIOLATIONS. 

THE CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN, ORDAINS: 

Sec. 1. Repeal of existing Article II of Chapter 118 of the Pontiac Municipal Code. 

The existing Article II ("Water") of Chapter 118 ("Utilities") of the Pontiac Municipal Code is 

hereby repealed in its entirety. 

Sec. 2. Enactment of new Article II of Chapter 118 of the Pontiac Municipal Code. A 

new Article II ("Water") of Chapter 118 ("Utilities") of the Pontiac Municipal Code is hereby 

adopted to read in its entirety as follows: 

118-25 Reserved. 

118-26 Definitions. 

ARTICLE II. WATER 

DIVISION 1. GENERALLY 

The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning: 

"2012 City of Pontiac Water Supply System Contract" means the City of Pontiac Water Supply 
System Contract entered into April 19, 2012, between Oakland County (by and through its Water 
Resources Commissioner, acting as the County Agency) and the City of Pontiac. 

"Approved" means the approval of the department. 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

"As amended" means "as amended from time to time." 

"ASSE" means the American Society of Sanitary Engineering or its successors. 

"Backflow" means water of questionable quality, wastes, pollutants, or other contaminants 
entering a public water supply system due to a reversal of flow, as determined by the department. 

"City" means the City of Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan. 

"City water" means water supplied by the city water supply system. 

"City water supply system" means the "City of Pontiac Water Supply System" and the "City of 
Pontiac Water Supply System Facilities" as those terms are defined, described, and specified in 
the 2012 City of Pontiac Water Supply System Contract, as the city water supply system now 
exists or is hereafter added to, extended, or improved. 

"Corporation cock" means the buried valve directly attached to the main. The corporation cock 
is owned by the department. 

"County" means the County of Oakland, Michigan. 

"Cross connection" means a temporary or permanent connection or arrangement of piping or 
other conveyance, appurtenances, or means through which a backflow could occur. 

"Curb box" (also referred to as "stop box") means the box or metal housing placed over the curb 
stop to enclose, protect, and allow ready access to the curb stop by the department. The curb box 
is owned by the department. 

"Curb stop" means a valve typically located on the supply pipe for the purpose of enabling the 
department to turn on or the supply of water to a premises. The curb stop is owned by the 
department. A curb stop is sometimes also referred to as a "curb cock." 

"Department" means the Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner, acting on behalf of 
the County of Oakland, Michigan, as the County Agency for the city water supply system as 
provided by the 2012 City of Pontiac Water Supply System Contract, and includes the Water 
Resources Commissioner's designated agents and authorized representatives. 

"Main" means any pipes other than supply pipes and service pipes used by the city water supply 
system for conveying or distributing city water. 

2 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

"Meter rates" means the rates or prices to be charged for city water based upon the size of the 
meter. 

"Occupant" means any person in possession of a premises other than the owner of the premises 
being supplied with city water. 

"Owner" means any person owning property or premises supplied or prospectively to be supplied 
with city water and includes the owner's authorized agents (sometimes also referred to as the 
property owner). 

"Premises" means a lot, tract, parcel, or plot of land; or a building, structure, facility, or 
installation, or any part thereof (including, but not limited to, a single dwelling or apartment, or a 
single room or building occupied for business or other purposes by one person or entity, together 
with any outbuildings and the land connected therewith). 

"Service pipe" means the pipe extending from the curb stop into privately owned land for 
supplying the premises with city water. The service pipe is owned by the owner of the premises 
being served. 

"Secondary water supply" means a water supply system maintained in addition to a public 
water supply including, but not limited to, water systems from ground or surface sources not 
meeting the requirements of Act No. 399 of the Public Acts of 1976, being section 325.1001 to 
325.1023 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, as amended, or water from a public water supply 
which in any way has been treated, processed, or exposed to any possible contaminant or stored 
in other than an approved storage facility. A private water storage tank supplied from a public 
water supply system shall be deemed a secondary water supply unless the tank is designated as, 
and is approved for, potable water storage and usage. 

"Submerged inlet" means a water pipe or extension thereto from a public water supply 
terminating in a tank, vessel, fixture, or appliance which may contain water of questionable quality, 
waste, or other contaminant and which is unprotected against backflow. 

"Supply pipe" means a pipe tapped into the water main and extending from the main to and 
including the curb stop or valve. The supply pipe and the curb stop or valve are owned by the 
department. 

"Water of questionable quality" means and includes, but is not limited to, any of the following, 
as determined by the department: Any water that is currently not subject to the public water supply 
system's control or water from a pipe, conveyance, tank, vessel, fixture, or appliance not subject 
to the department's control; any water that the department has reason to believe may contain waste, 

3 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

pollutants, or other contaminants; or any other water that the department believes may create a 
hazard to the city water supply system or may otherwise adversely affect the public health, safety 
and welfare. 

"Water service" means the water provided by the city water supply system to any property or 
premises. 

,.118-27 .. Supervision .. of.city water .. supply system ................................................................................................................................................. . 
The city water supply system shall be supervised and managed exclusively by the department. The 
operation, maintenance and management of the system shall be under the immediate supervision 
and control of the department. 

..118-28_.Department's .. duties ................................................................................................................................................................................................................ . 
The department's duties shall include, but shall not be limited to, supervision of the booster 
pumping stations, grounds, mains, extensions, wells, tanks, supply pipes, and other sources of 
water supply, administration of the cross connection control program, and such other duties as 
provided by this article or other applicable laws and regulations . 

..118-29 .. Rules. and .. regulations ............................................................................................................................................................................................................. . 
The department is authorized on behalf of the city to develop, administer, and enforce any rules 
and regulations as determined necessary by the department for the management and control of the 
city water supply system, consistent with other applicable laws and regulations. The rules and 
regulations may govern matters, such as, but not limited to, the type and quality of materials and 
accessories to be used for connection to the system, construction methods for connection to the 
system, and other operations and maintenance matters pertaining to the system. Such rules and 
regulations, as developed by the department from time to time, shall be complied with and any 
violation of the rules and regulations shall be deemed a violation of this article. A copy of the rules 
and regulations shall be kept at the department office and shall be available for public inspection 
during normal business hours . 

.. 118-30 .. Construction._or. alterations.; .. Plans .................................................................................................................................................................... . 
(a) If any construction, alterations, or attachments are proposed to be connected with the city 
water supply system, the property owner shall submit plans and specifications for the proposed 
changes to the department for the department's inspection and approval or disapproval prior to 
making any connection. The department shall determine whether the proposed changes may be 
connected and the terms and conditions under which their connection and use will be allowed. 

4 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

(b) Each service connection to the water system must be made to a water main that parallels 
the entire length of the street frontage of the property to be served or is located in an easement 
that directly abuts and parallels the entire length of the property to be served. A property owner 
may be permitted to temporarily connect into a water main that does not parallel the entire 
frontage of a street abutting the owner's property or is not located in an easement that directly 
abuts and parallels the entire length of the owner's property, subject to all of the following 
conditions: 

(1) Ifthere is an existing well on the subject property, that the temporary connection is 
necessary due to the failure of the well; 

(2) That the installation of a residential well, in accordance with applicable laws and 
ordinances, will not provide a potable water supply on the property; 

(3) That there is no other reasonable alternative; and 

( 4) That the property cannot be lawfully used or occupied without a temporary connection 
under this section. 

118-31 Prohibited uses of water. 

(a) No person shall take or use city water from premises other than the person's own premises 
without the department's prior authorization. 

(b) No person shall sell or give away water supplied by the city water supply system to the 
person's own premises for any purpose. 

( c) Water supplied by the city water supply system shall not be used for any purposes other 
than those specified in the original application under which the supply was granted, or as may 
otherwise be permitted by the department under this article. 

118-32 Unauthorized water connections; supply by single service pipe to more than one lot 

,prohibited ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... .. 
(a) City water shall be taken and used only through supply and service pipes established by or 
under the supervision of the department. 

(b) In no case shall one service pipe supply water to more than one lot, unless the additional 
lots are occupied by only a single building or unless occupied by only a single industry or 
enterprise, as determined by the department. 

5 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

118-33 Unauthorized turn on of water. 

(a) No person shall tum on water service without the department's prior written authorization. 
Further, if the water has been shut off by the department for any reason, no person shall tum it on 
again without the department's prior authorization. 

(b) If this section is violated, the water may be shut off at the corporation cock at the main or 
curb stop. In such case the owner shall, before it is again turned on, pay all costs associated with 
the shutoff or disconnection and subsequent reconnection prior to restoring service. In addition, 
the owner shall pay all other delinquent charges on the account. 

_118-34 .. Contamination __ of_water .. supplyprohibited ....................................................................................................................................... .. 
No person shall do any act, permit any act to be done, or fail or neglect to take any action, which 
may, or may tend to, contaminate or pollute the city water supply system, as determined by the 
department. Violation of this section may result in the water being shut off or disconnected by the 
department at the property owner's expense. 

__118-35 .. Waste. of water prohibited ............................................................................................................................................................................................. . 
Excessive or unnecessary use or waste of water by any person, whether intentional, or whether 
caused by carelessness or by defective or leaky plumbing or fixtures, is strictly prohibited, even if 
the service is metered. For disregard of or repeated violation of this section, the water may be shut 
off or disconnected by the department at the property owner's expense. 

118-36 Interference with water mains. 

The water mains of the department, whether within or outside of the city, are under the exclusive 
control of the department. All persons other than authorized agents or employees of the department 
are forbidden to disturb, tap, change, obstruct access to, or interfere with the water mains in any 
way. 

_118-37 .. Opening hydrants;_.obstructions .......................................................................................................................................................................... . 
(a) Fire hydrants are provided for the sole purpose of extinguishing fires and are to be opened 
and used only by the department and the fire department or by persons authorized by the 
department. In no case shall any person use a wrench or tool on any fire hydrant other than a 
regulation fire department hydrant wrench. 

(b) No person shall in any manner obstruct or prevent free access to, or place or store, 
temporarily or otherwise, any object, material, snow, debris or structures of any kind within a 
distance of 15 feet of any fire hydrant. Any such obstruction when discovered may be removed at 

6 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

once by the department or the fire department at the expense of the person responsible for the 
obstruction. 

118-38 Fire suppression connections; prohibited use; testing; backflow prevention detector 

.assembly ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... . 
(a) If connections are provided for fire suppression on any premises, no water shall be taken 
or used through such connections for any purpose other than extinguishing fires and testing of fire 
equipment. 

(b) All fire suppression systems supplied with city water shall be equipped with an ASSE 
approved backflow prevention detector assembly of a size and quality as required by the 
department. Existing fire suppression systems not equipped with an ASSE approved backflow 
prevention detector assembly shall be so equipped within six months following the effective date 
of this section. If an ASSE approved backflow prevention detector assembly is not installed within 
this prescribed period, the water supply to the fire suppression system shall be shut off and shall 
not be turned back on until the proper backflow prevention detector assembly has been provided. 
The expense of turning off and turning on the water shall be paid by the owner . 

.. 118-39 .. Curb.stops.; .. opening and .. closing ........................................................................................................................................................................ .. 
(a) When new service pipes are put into any premises, the curb stop shall be left closed, and 
shall thereafter be opened by the department only upon the request of the owner or the owner's 
agent and at the property owner's expense. 

(b) It shall be a violation of this article for curb stops to be opened or closed by any person 
who is not an authorized agent or employee of the department, except that a licensed plumber may 
open a curb stop to test the work as provided in section 118-43. 

(c) No person (including the person's agents or employees) with a permit to use water for 
constructing or repairing buildings or other similar work shall open or close curb stops, or 
otherwise interfere with the curb stop except with prior authorization of the department. 

. 118-40 .. 0 bstru ction .. of. or .. interference .. with .. curb .. stops, .. valves, .. or. fixtures .............................................................. .. 
No person shall obstruct or interfere in any way with any curb stop, curb box, valve, or fixture that 
is part of or connected with the city water supply system, including, but not limited to, obstruction 
or interference by placing ( or allowing the placement) in, on, or about it any building materials, 
rubbish, soil, snow, or any other objects or substances that hinder free and easy access by the 
department to the curb stop, curb box, valve, or fixture. 

7 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

.. 118-4_1 .. U se .. of. service pipes;,. separate.Premises ................................................................................................................................................... .. 
(a) No person shall use a service pipe to supply water in any manner to any premises or for 
any purpose that the service pipe was not intended by the department to serve or supply. If this 
section is violated, the department may shut off the water from the service pipe or disconnect the 
water service at the property owner's expense. 

(b) There shall be only one billing account per tap. If one building is occupied by two or more 
distinct families, or if a commercial building is occupied by two or more firms or persons, a single 
charge for water shall be made against the owner of the building for the whole building if it is 
served by one supply pipe. Default in the payment of any part of this charge shall subject the 
premises to the same penalties as are provided in regard to other overdue charges. The payment of 
a part of the whole charge by a tenant or any other person shall not invalidate or modify this 
section. 

( c) If one building is occupied by two or more distinct families, or if a commercial building is 
occupied by two or more firms or persons, the property owner may apply for additional taps to 
supply part of the whole building. Separate billing accounts can be established for each tap. 

__118-42 __ Service pipes, .. maintenance; .. notice __ to __ repair; __ cost __ of_repair .. constitutes.lien ............................... .. 
(a) If any owner refuses or neglects to make any repairs or replacements on any portion of the 
service pipe that the owner is required to maintain, within a reasonable time under the particular 
circumstances but in no case exceeding 14 days after the owner has received notice from the 
department, then the department may shut off the water to the premises, or may cause such repairs 
or replacements to be made and charge the cost thereof to such owner and against the property 
served, which charge shall be due immediately. 

(b) The charges provided for in this section shall be a lien against the property served and all 
provisions of this article in relation to penalties and to the enforcement of water charges shall be 
applicable to charges for repairs and replacements made by the department. 

_118-43 .. Interference.with .. supply pipes, .. mains,.or.curb __ stops ........................................................................................................ .. 
No person shall tap, repair, change, or otherwise disturb the water supply pipes, mains, or curb 
stops, nor change, repair, or in any way interfere with supply pipes, mains, or curb stops, except 
that licensed plumbers may use the curb stop for the purpose of testing their plumbing work. If 
used by a licensed plumber to test the work, the curb stop shall be left in the same condition and 
position as the plumber found it prior to the test. 

8 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

,.118-44 .. Subdivided. building;,. separatepipes ............................................................................................................................................................. . 
If a building, originally built as a single building or premises and fitted with one service pipe, but 
capable of being divided by sale or otherwise, has been subdivided, the separate division shall be 
connected to the main by separate service pipes with accompanying curb stop. Each separate 
service pipe will be· metered in accordance with division 4. If this section is violated, the 
department may shut off the water from such service pipe at the property owner's expense. 

__118-45 .. Protection .. of pipes_ from . .freezing ...................................................................................................................................................................... .. 
Service pipes and/or meters likely to be exposed to freezing temperatures shall be effectively 
protected by the property owner from freezing in a manner determined sufficient by the 
department. 

_ 118-46 .. Special permits . .for _water .. usage. in __ construction __ or .. other. special. use ....................................................... . 
(a) An application for a special permit to use city water in the construction or repair of 
buildings or for any other construction or repair work or for any other special use shall be made to 
the department upon the form provided by the department for that purpose. The character of the 
work for which the water is to be used and the estimated quantities of water to be used in such 
work shall be provided in the appropriate blank space provided on the form. All the blanks on the 
form shall be filled in and certified to by the owner or the agent of the person desiring such services. 
An estimate of the value of the water to be used, at the established rates, will then be prepared by 
the department, and a bill rendered for the value. Upon the payment of the bill in full, a permit will 
be issued by the department. When a hydrant is used for purposes mentioned in this section, the 
deposit shall also include inspection costs and an estimated cost of possible damage to the hydrant. 

(b) If it appears to the department that the applicant for water to be used in the construction or 
repair of buildings or other special use has misrepresented the quantity of water to be used, the 
supply of water to be used for the proposed purpose shall immediately be shut off and shall not 
again be turned on until a true and revised estimate of the quantity of water to be used in such work 
is submitted and until the department is paid for the water for the additional work, together with a 
fee as set by the department. The expense of turning off and turning on the water shall be paid by 
the owner. 

118-47 Discontinuance of service. 

( a) The department shall have the right to shut off and discontinue the supplying of water to 
any and all owners, occupants, property, or premises for any violation of any requirement of this 
article after giving 30 days' notice by leaving a copy of the notice at the place where the water is 
used. 

9 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

(b) The department shall have the right to immediately shut off and discontinue the supplying 
of water to any owner, occupant, property, or premises in case of an emergency without any notice 
whatsoever. 

(c) If water is discontinued under the authority of either section 118-47 (a) or (b), or as 
otherwise authorized by this article, neither the department, the county, the city, or their officials 
or employees shall be liable in any way whatsoever for any damage caused by such the 
discontinuance of water. 

,.118-48 .. Relation __ to __ plumbing codes; __ Resolution .. of conflicts .. o.r .. inconsistencies ................................................. . 

(a) This article and the rules and regulations established by the department hereunder shall not 
supersede the state or city plumbing codes, but is supplementary thereto; provided, however, that 
if there is any conflict or inconsistency between the standards, requirements, or procedures 
provided by this article and the department's rules and regulations and the standards, requirements, 
or procedures provided by the state or city plumbing codes, the standards, requirements, and 
procedures of this article and the department's rules and regulations shall control. 

(b) If there is a question or ambiguity regarding whether there is a conflict or inconsistency 
between the provisions of this article or the department's rules and regulations and the provisions 
of the state or city plumbing codes, the question or ambiguity shall be resolved by the department. 

118-49 Connection Requirement. 

(a) All premises within the city used or occupied for residential, commercial or industrial 
purposes shall be connected to the city water system, and the owners and occupants of all such 
premises are required to maintain such connections in accordance with the provisions of this 
article. 

(b) If a premises is not connected to the city water system, then the property shall connect to 
the system upon the occurrence of any one (1) of the following events: 

( 1) The sale of the premises; 
(2) New construction on the premises; 
(3) The failure of a private well supplying water to the premises, as determined by the 

Oakland County Health Department; 
( 4) The modification of an existing structure of more than one ( 1) room on the at-grade 

floor; 
(5) Any building greater than six hundred (600) square feet on the at-grade floor; or 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

( 6) Any development or site constrnction requiring site plan approval from the City 
Planning Commission or as directed by the City Manager, building official or 
engineer. 

( c) This section shall not apply to the following: 

(1) To any premises where the nearest pait of the parcel is more than one hundred (100) 
feet from a city water main. 

(2) To any premises that is connected to a well solely for irrigation purposes. 

······························--------------

By connecting premises to the water or sewer system, the owner thereof irrevocably grants to the 
department or its agents the right to enter at all reasonable times onto or in the premises for the 
purposes of reading meters or installation, inspection, repair, and maintenance of sewer or water 
supply and water use facilities on the premises. 

118-51-118-60 Reserved. 

DIVISION 2. PLUMBERS 

.118-61 .. License .. required ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................ . 
No person who is not an authorized agent or employee of the department shall do any plumbing 
work in connection with the city water supply system or make any attachments, connections, 
alterations, or repairs to any service pipes, fixtures, or plumbing work connected therewith, unless 
the person has been duly licensed to do such work by all appropriate licensing entities . 

. 118-62 .. Workmanlike .. performance .. reguired ........................................................................................................................................................... . 
Licensed plumbers engaging in work connected with any aspect of the city water supply system 
shall do all work properly and in conformance with acceptable industry standards of work quality. 
All parts, attachments, and fixtures supplied or used by plumbers shall be of a kind and quality 
approved by the plumbing inspector. 

118-63-118-75 Reserved. 

11 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

DIVISION 3. INSPECTIONS IN GENERAL 

__118-76 __ Department. inspectors; .. credentials ................................................................................................................................................................ . 
(a) Inspectors, foremen, employees, and agents of the department whose duty it may be to 
enter upon private premises to make inspection and examination of the pipes, backflow devices, 
meters or attachments used in connection with the city water supply system may be provided with 
a badge or such other credentials as the department may deem proper to identify them as authorized 
agents of the department. 

(b) Except in the case of an emergency, no inspector, foreman, employee, or agent of the 
department shall be entitled to enter upon any private premises unless the inspector, foreman, 
employee, or agent carries and exhibits the badge or credentials provided under this section . 

.. 118-77 .. Access .. to .. premises;. refusal; .. discontinuance .. of. service .................................................................................................... . 
(a) Any person that is supplied or whose property or premises is supplied with water by the 
city water supply system shall be deemed to have accepted and agreed, as a condition to service, 
to full and timely compliance with the provisions of this article and other applicable laws and 
regulations, including, but not limited to, the authority of all authorized agents or employees of the 
department to have access to the property or premises as provided by and for the purposes stated 
by this article. 

(b) Upon the presentation of the badge or other credentials provided for in section 118-76, any 
authorized agent or employee of the department shall have free and unencumbered access at all 
reasonable hours to any premises supplied with city water for the purpose of making any inspection 
thereof, including the examination of the entire water supply and plumbing system upon the 
premises, and for the purposes of making repairs or installing or removing any or all appurtenances 
used to render service to the premises. 

( c) It shall be a violation of this division for any person to refuse to admit an authorized agent 
or employee of the department to any premises for the purpose of inspection and examination of 
the water supply or plumbing system thereof or to make repairs or install or remove any 
appurtenances used to render service to the premises as determined necessary by the department. 
If any authorized person is refused admittance to any premises, or once admitted, is hindered or 
prevented in making such inspection, examination, repairs, installation, or removal, the department 
may shut off the water to the premises. Water service shall not be restored to the premises until 
the inspection, examination, repair, installation, and/or removal is allowed to be completed. The 
expense of turning off and turning on the water shall be paid by the owner. 

12 



Citv of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

118-78 Unauthorized use of credentials. 

No person not an authorized officer, inspector, foreman, agent, or employee of the department 
shall have, wear, or exhibit any badge or credential of the department. It shall be the duty of every 
such person, upon termination of such authorized status, to immediately surrender and deliver to 
the department all badges and credentials of the department. 

118-79-118-90 Reserved. 

DIVISION 4. WATER METERS 

118-91 Meters required. 

(a) All premises using water shall be metered, except as otherwise provided by this article and 
approved by the department. 

(b) Each service connection shall be individually metered unless otherwise approved by the 
department. 

( c) Each meter shall have a separate service line and shut-off valve . 

. 118-92 .. Installa tion .. by .. departmen t ........................................................................................................................................................................................... . 
(a) The department may at any time install a water meter, or require a meter to be installed, 
and charge appropriate meter rates. 

(b) Water meters shall be set in an accessible location and in a manner satisfactory to the 
department. Where the premises contain no basement or other place suitable for meter installation, 
the meter shall be installed outside in a meter pit or box, the location of which shall be approved 
by the department. Where it is necessary to set the meter in a pit or box, such pit or box shall be 
built at the expense of the property owner as directed by the department. 

( c) All meters shall be otherwise installed in compliance with all department standards and 
regulations. 

,,118-93 .. Ownership, .. control, .. and .. main tenance .. of. meters ...................................................................................................................... .. 
(a) All water meters required to be installed by the department shall be acquired from the 
department. 

13 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

(b) All required meters shall be maintained by the department and shall remain the property 
of, and at all times be under the ownership and control of, the department; provided that the 
plumbing and valves associated with water meters shall be the responsibility of the property owner. 

118-94 Meters to be sealed; injury, tampering, relocating, disconnection, interference, etc. 

_prohibited ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ . 
(a) All meters and valves on meter bypasses shall be sealed by the department. No person 
except an authorized agent or employee of the department shall break, injure, or tamper with such 
seals. 

(b) No person other than an authorized agent or employee of the department or a licensed 
plumber shall change the location of, alter, disconnect, remove, or interfere in any way with any 
meter. 

( c) The department is authorized to shut off water service to any premises without notice if the 
department determines that a meter's seal has been broken, injured, or tampered with; or that a 
meter has been relocated, altered, disconnected, removed, or interfered with, as prohibited by this 
article. If the water is shut off as provided by this section, it shall not be turned on until the 
noncompliance with the applicable requirements of this article have been corrected to the 
department's satisfaction. The expense of turning off and turning on the water shall be paid by the 
property owner. 

__118-95 .. Damage .. to .. meters; .. responsibilities .. ofproperty owner ................................................................................................... . 
(a) Any damage which a meter may sustain resulting from carelessness of the owner, agent, or 
tenant, or from neglect of any of them to properly secure and protect the meter, as well as any 
damage which may be caused by frost, hot water, or steam backing from a boiler, and/or any 
intentional damage to a meter, shall be paid by the property owner to the department on 
presentation of a bill therefor. If the bill is not fully and timely paid, the water may be shut off and 
not be turned on until all charges have been paid to the department. The expense of turning off and 
turning on the water shall be paid by the property owner. 

(b) The owner of any premises where a meter is installed shall be held responsible for its care 
and protection from freezing and from injury or interference by any person. In case of any injury 
to the meter or in case of its stoppage or imperfect working, the owner of the affected premises 
shall give immediate notice by telephone to the department office. 

(c) There shall be a suitable place provided on all connections for a meter, easily accessible 
and free from all danger of frost. No person shall place any obstruction of any kind over or around 
the meter that will interfere with the reading or the repair of the meter. 

14 



Citv of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

.. 118-96 .. Access __ to .. inspect, .. replace, .. or .. test ...................................................................................................................................................................... .. 
(a) The department shall be provided access to any premise as determined necessary by the 
department to inspect, replace, or test a meter. Such access shall be provided without prior notice 
during normal working hours or at any time in an emergency situation. 

(b) The department is authorized to terminate water service to any premises without notice if 
access has been refused or prevented by any person as prohibited by this article. If the water is 
shut off as provided by this section, it shall not be turned on until access has been provided as 
determined necessary by the department to conduct the inspection, replacement, or test of the 
meter. The expense of turning off and turning on the water shall be paid by the property owner. 

} 18-97 .. Bypass_ prohibited; __ exception; __ strainer ..................................................................................................................................................... . 
All water supplied by the city water supply system that is used on any premises shall pass through 
an approved meter. No connection between the meter and the main shall be made or maintained. 
A bypass shall be installed only for meters 3 inches and greater, with a sealed valve placed on the 
bypass. Meters sized 3 inches and larger shall have an approved strainer. 

__118-98 .. Secondary water_meter ....................................................................................................................................................................................................... . 
At the option of the property owner, an additional water meter, referred to as a secondary water 
meter, may be installed following department guidelines. The secondary water meter shall allow 
for the metering of water that is directed exclusively to a sprinkler system or outside spigot or 
connection such as, but not limited to, a swimming pool, which water would not enter a sanitary 
sewer system and will not be applied to the calculation of the sewage disposal bill for the property. 
The provisions of this article regarding the installation, use, and other requirements applicable to 
a single water meter shall also apply to the secondary water meter. 

118-99-118-105 Reserved. 

DIVISION 5. SUPPLY PIPES AND FIXTURES 

} 18-106 .. Water .. connection_; __ application procedure ........................................................................................................................................ . 
(a) An application for the introduction of city water to a private premises, or for the change of 
an existing supply, shall be made to the department by the owner of the premises, or by the owner's 
agent authorized in writing. The application shall be made upon the form furnished by the 
department. The applicant shall sign the form and certify that the applicant accepts all provisions 
on the form, all applicable provisions of this article that apply to water service, and all rules and 
regulations applicable to water service made by the department. 

15 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

(b) The application for city water shall be accompanied by the permit fee specified in section 
118-113. The permit fee shall be returned if the application is not granted. 

( c) Upon receipt of an application for water service, the department may make or cause to be 
made an inspection of the premises. Unless service is rejected, the applicant may be required to 
deposit with the department a sum of money that will be sufficient to cover the cost of the 
installation, as determined by the department. After the water deposit has been paid, the department 
shall install the pipes and equipment and keep or cause to be kept a detailed cost of the installation, 
including all labor and material. The cost to the applicant for such installation shall be specified 
by the department and may include the labor and material together with an allocation of costs of 
employee fringe benefits and administrative overhead and other indirect costs. If the total cost of 
the installation of water service pipes and equipment exceeds the deposit required under this 
subsection 188-106( c ), the water shall not be turned on until the difference is fully paid. In no case 
shall water be turned on while any sums due to the department remain unpaid for the installation 
of service pipes and equipment specified in this section. 

( d) All persons shall comply with all state and/or local cross connection back:flow regulations 
as determined applicable by the department. 

) 18-107 .. Material. for pipes .................................................................................................................................................................................................................... . 
The department shall determine and specify the supply pipe material must be used. Service pipes 
shall comply with the standards and specifications of the department. 

) 18-108 .. Approved.fixtures .. required . .................................................................................................................................................................................. .. 
The refusal or failure of the owner to equip the premises with service pipe connections, utilities, 
or fixtures of character and quality approved by the department shall be sufficient grounds for the 
department to refuse to connect the premises with the city water supply, or if the connection has 
already been made, to refuse to tum the water on, to tum the water off, or to disconnect the city 
water supply. The expense of shutting off and turning on the water shall be paid by the property 
owner. 

.. 118-109 .. Supply pipes;. installation .. by department. ....................................................................................................................................... .. 
Supply pipes, including curb stops, shall be installed only by the department, and shall be under 
the exclusive control of the department. No person other than an authorized agent or employee of 
the department shall construct, repair, or otherwise change or interfere with such pipes in any way. 

16 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

.. 118-1_1 o .. Service .. pipes; .. installation .. by plumber; .. approval._ .............................................................................................................. .. 
Service pipes shall be put in by a licensed plumber or as directed by the department. All the fixtures 
and attachments put in on the premises in connection with service pipes shall conform in character, 
design and quality to the standards of the city plumbing code and shall be approved by the 
plumbing inspector. 

__118-111 .. Laying servicepipes . ........................................................................................................................................................................................................... . 
Every service pipe shall be laid at least 5 feet below the surface and beyond the outside line of the 
sidewalk, and sufficiently waving to allow no less than 12 inches extra length to prevent rupture 
by settlement of the earth, and so protected as to prevent bursting by freezing. No service pipe 
shall be laid in the same trench with a drain or sewer . 

. 118-112.,Valves;)nstallation .. and .maintenance;. meter ............................................................................................................................. .. 
In each building intended to be connected with the public water supply, functioning valves shall 
be provided for the installation and maintenance of the meter at the property owner's expense as 
required by the department connection regulations. Such valves shall be kept in good working 
condition and shall be thoroughly protected from freezing. 

__118-113 .. Fees .. for permits, .. inspection .. and}nstallation .............................................................................................................................. .. 
Fees for permits, inspection of work, charges for original installation of all supply pipes and meters 
from the city water mains and all fixtures connected therewith, including stops and boxes, shall be 
as established by the department from time to time. 

118-114-118-119 Reserved. 

DIVISION 6. CROSS CONNECTIONS 

.. 118-120 .. Purpose ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... .. 

(a) The purpose of this division is to promote and protect the public health, safety and welfare 
by the identification, prevention, and elimination of cross connections which have been recognized 
as the cause of public health problems due to the hazard caused to drinking water quality; and by 
reducing the risk of cross connection contamination of the city water supply system. 

(b) This division shall control all matters concerning the inspection, detection, testing, 
prevention and elimination of cross connections in new and existing residential, commercial, and 
industrial premises and facilities. 

17 



Citv of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

}18-121 .. Authority, agent, .. and_administrator ........................................................................................................................................................ .. 

The depaitment shall be the city's designated authority, agent, and administrator of the cross
connection control program and shall have the authority to implement that program with respect 
to any property or premises receiving water from the city water supply system. 

}_18-122 .. Compliance _with_ laws, .. ordinances, ,,codes, .. rules, .. and .. regulations . ............................................................. . 

All connections with a public water supply system shall comply with all applicable laws, 
ordinances, codes and rules, including, but not limited to, the following (referred to collectively in 
this division as "applicable cross connection laws and regulations): 

(a) The Michigan Safe Drinking Water Act, Act 399 of the Public Acts of 1976, as amended; 
and the associated Water Supply Cross Connections rules, Michigan Administrative Code, R 
325.11401 - R 325.11407, as amended. 

(b) The latest edition of the Oakland County Water Resources Cross Connection Control 
Program, as approved by the State of Michigan, as amended. 

( c) The Pontiac Code of Ordinances including this article and all other sections of the Code of 
Ordinances pertaining to water supply or plumbing, as amended. 

( d) The latest editions of the Michigan Plumbing Code, the Michigan Building Code, and the 
Michigan Residential Code, as adopted by the city, as amended. 

This division does not supersede any law, ordinance, code, rule, or regulation, but is supplementary 
to them. Except as otherwise determined and directed by the department, the most stringent or 
restrictive provisions applicable to cross connections shall control, whether established by this 
division or by such other applicable law, ordinance, code, rule, or regulation. Further, if there is 
any conflict or inconsistency between the provisions of this division with respect to cross 
connections and the provisions of any other law, ordinance, code, rule, or regulation regarding 
cross connections, the provisions of this division shall control; and if there is a question or 
ambiguity with regard to whether or not there is a conflict or inconsistency between the provisions 
of this division and the provisions of any other law, ordinance, code, rule, or regulation, the 
question or ambiguity shall be resolved by the department. 

18 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

)18-123_.Cross_.connections.prohibited;_.unlawful_connections ..................................................................................................... . 

(a) A cross connection to the city water supply system is prohibited. 

(b) It shall be unlawful for any person to create, maintain, or to cause or allow the creation or 
maintenance of, any cross connection ( direct or indirect) of a public water supply system and any 
other water supply system or source, including, but not limited to, a connection between the public 
water supply system and any of the following: 

(1) A secondary water supply. 

(2) Any source of water by submerged inlet. 

(3) A lawn sprinkler system. 

(4) Piping which may contain sanitary waste or a chemical contaminant, including self
contained hydronic boiler systems. 

( 5) A fire suppression system. 

(6) Any other source of potential contaminant (regardless of the source or means of 
connection) . 

.. 118-124_.Cross .. connection._inspections ................................................................................................................................................................................. . 
(a) It shall be the duty of the department to inspect and re-inspect all premises, properties, or 
facilities served by the city water supply system where cross connections to the system are deemed 
possible by the department and as otherwise required by applicable cross connection laws and 
regulations, including, but not limited to, the approved Cross Connection Control Program. In 
conducting such inspections, the department shall also conform to the general requirements for 
inspections as provided by division 3 of this article. 

(b) The frequency of inspections and re-inspections for cross connections shall be established 
by the department based on potential health hazards to the city water supply system and other 
factors as determined relevant and appropriate by the department. 

.. 118-125 .. Access .. to .. premises;. right .. of .entry . ............................................................................................................................................................... . 
(a) Notwithstanding any other provision or requirement of this article or any other applicable 
law or regulation, the department shall have the right to enter any premises, property, or facility 
for the sole purpose to inspect and examine for cross connections. 

19 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

(b) The department shall be granted access to all premises, properties, or facilities at all 
reasonable hours to determine or confirm the possible presence of a cross connection. The 
department shall be granted such access to all areas of a premises, property, or facility where the 
department believes that there may be piping or other conveyances that could ultimately be 
connected to the city water supply system. 

(c) Upon the department's request, the owner or occupant shall furnish the department any 
information regarding the piping system of the premises, as determined pertinent by the 
department. 

(d) The owner or occupant's refusal to supply the access or information as provided by this 
division, at the time requested by the department, shall be a violation of this division. 

(e) Further, the owner or occupant's refusal to grant access orto supply such information when 
requested shall be deemed evidence of the presence of a cross connection and a violation of this 
division, subject to such further steps and enforcement as determined necessary and appropriate 
by the department and as provided by applicable cross connection laws and regulations, including, 
but not limited to, discontinuance of service. 

118-126 Discontinuance of service. 

(a) The department is authorized to disconnect water service to a premises, property, or 
facility, after reasonable notice, for violation of any of applicable cross connection laws and 
regulations and to take such other precautionary measures deemed necessary to eliminate any 
danger of contamination of the city water supply system from cross connections or to otherwise 
prevent or mitigate a hazard to the public health, safety, or welfare. 

(b) If the department determines that there is an existing or potential threat to the public health, 
safety, or welfare, including but not limited to, poisoning, the spread of disease, or contamination 
of the public water supply of any kind and from any source, the water service may be terminated 
immediately. 

( c) If water service is disconnected as provided by this section, such service shall not be 
restored until the cross connection has been removed and any other deficiencies or potential 
hazards have been corrected as required by the department in accordance with applicable cross 
connection laws and regulations. 

( d) The expense of turning off and turning on the water shall be paid by the owner. 

20 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

118-127 Correction of violations. 

Upon notification by the department of a violation of this division, the property owner shall 
promptly correct the violation in compliance with the schedule required and specified by the 
department. The total time allowed for completion of the necessary c01rections shall be contingent 
upon the degree of hazard involved and include the time required to obtain and install any required 
equipment. The use and installation of any such equipment shall be subject to the department's 
prior written approval as otherwise required by this division for use and installation of protective 
devices. A person's failure to timely complete required corrections as required and specified by 
the department is a violation of this division. 

118-128 Protective devices. 

The department's written approval shall be obtained for any proposed backflow prevention 
corrective action or protective device before use or installation. All testable backflow prevention 
devices shall be tested upon installation and at specified periodic intervals thereafter. The 
department may require the filing of a back:flow device test report for any installed device on a 
periodic basis or at such frequency as required by the department. All testing and maintenance of 
backflow prevention devices shall be at the owner or occupant's sole expense and shall be 
performed by a person or entity approved by the department. The failure to file any required report 
is a violation of this division and may be deemed evidence of a cross connection subject to an 
enforcement response by the department as otherwise provided by this article. 

118-129 Fire suppression systems. 

(a) All fire suppression systems that are connected to the city water supply system on the 
property side of the water service shall be isolated with an ASSE approved backflow prevention 
detector assembly approved by the department. A single check or single check detector check shall 
not be considered an approved backflow prevention detector assembly. The level of backflow 
protection required shall be commensurate with the degree of potential hazard, as. determined by 
the department. 

(b) Any fire suppression system that contains any additives will be required to be protected by 
an ASSE approved reduced pressure backflow prevention detector assembly. 

( c) If a fire suppression system does not currently have an ASSE approved backflow 
prevention detector assembly, the owner of the premises shall cause an ASSE approved backflow 
prevention detector assembly to be installed within the shortest time feasible as required and 
specified by the department. 

21 



Citv of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

( d) If a fire suppression system has a backflow prevention device, but the device does not meet 
the latest backflow protection standards as provided by applicable cross connection laws and 
regulations or is otherwise determined inadequate by the department, the owner of the premises 
shall cause the fire suppression system to be upgraded to meet the latest standards in compliance 
with the schedule required and specified by the department. 

(e) A person's failure to timely complete the installation of an ASSE approved backflow 
prevention detector assembly or upgrade an existing backflow prevention device for a fire 
suppression system as provided by this section is a violation of this division. 

118-130 Piping identification. 

When a secondary water source is used in addition to a public water supply system, exposed public 
water and secondary water piping shall be identified by distinguishing colors or tags and so 
maintained that each pipe may be traced readily in its entirety. If piping is so installed that it is 
impossible to trace it in its entirety, it will be necessary to protect the public water supply at the 
service connection in a manner acceptable to the department and state as required by applicable 
cross connection laws and regulations. 

)18-131 .. Protection .. ofpotable.water.supply . ......................................................................................................................................................... .. 
The potable water supply made available on the properties served by the public water supply shall 
be protected from possible contamination, as specified by this division and by the state and city 
plumbing code. Any water outlet which could be used for potable or domestic purposes and which 
is not supplied by the potable system shall be labeled in a conspicuous manner as "Water Unsafe 
for Drinking." 

.118-132 .. Charges .. for .. inspection ..................................................................................................................................................................................................... . 
Inspection charges established from time to time by the department shall be included in the water 
service rates. 

118-133-118-145 Reserved. 

DIVISION 7. RATES AND CHARGES 

..118-146 .. Security. deposits ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................... .. 
The department may require such cash deposits as it may deem necessary prior to installation of 
meters or connection of premises to the system or otherwise as security for payment of water 
charges. 

22 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

) 18-14 7 .. W ater .. rates; .. minim um.requirements .................................................................................................... • ................................................ .. 
(a) The rates to be charged for water service shall be as established from time to time by the 
department. The water service rates in effect in the city on the date of the adoption of this article 
shall remain in effect until changed by the department. 

(b) Copies of current rate schedules shall be kept on file at the department office for public 
inspection and distribution. 

( c) Charges for water service to premises outside of the city shall not be less than the charges 
for comparable service to premises within the city. 

118-148 Date of bills. 

All charges for water supplied at meter rates for any billing period shall be due and payable on the 
due date shown on the bill. 

. 118-149_ N on-receipt .. of _bills ................................................................................................................................................................................................................ . 
The department shall attempt to render bills to its users for metered water and other sundry charges. 
The non-receipt of the bill by the user covering such charges shall not excuse the failure of the 
user to pay such bill when due and payable. 

)18-150 .. Failure .. of_meter_to_register; .. testing_for __ accuracy . .............................................................................................................. . 
(a) If a meter malfunctions and fails to register, including, but not limited to, instances caused 
by tampering with a meter or a reading device, the user shall be charged for the period of time that 
the meter is not registering at the average consumption for a comparable period as shown by the 
meter when in order, or as otherwise determined or estimated by the department. 

(b) The accuracy of a meter on any premises shall be tested by the department upon written 
request of the owner of the premises, who shall pay in advance a fee to cover the cost of the test. 
If, as a result of the test, the meter is found by the department to register three percent (3%) or 
more water than actually passes through it, another meter will be substituted therefor, and the fee 
shall be repaid to the owner of the premises. 

( c) If the department determines that a meter is inaccurate, the department may adjust the water 
bill for the current year in a manner determined appropriate the department. 

)_18-151 .. Water .. supplied .. at_,meter .. rates ............................................................................................................................................................................. . 
If water is supplied at meter rates, there shall be a charge for all the water registered by the meter. 

23 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

.,118-152 .. Frequency.of.billing;_.delinquent .. accounts; .. fees ...................................................................................................................... . 
(a) No free service shall be furnished by the system to any person or entity. Charges for 
services shall be billed and collected monthly and shall be deemed delinquent if not paid pursuant 
to section 118-148. A late payment charge shall be the lesser of either ten percent ( 10%) of the 
balance due or ten percent (10%) of the current monthly bill which shall be added to all delinquent 
account balances. 

(b) Amounts for security deposits and fees for services rendered by the department shall be 
established from time to time by the department. 

.118-153 .. AUpayments .. to.be.received.by the .. department ...................................................................................................................... . 
Payment of all charges for water and services furnished by the water supply system shall be made 
to the department. 

) 18-154 .. Service .. charges .. constitute_ lien .. upon .property . ....................................................................................................................... . 

(a) Charges for water and services furnished to a premises and expenses incurred in the 
installation of water service for any premises, together with delinquency fees, shall be a lien on 
that premises, and those charges delinquent for six ( 6) months or more may be certified annually 
for entrance of the lien on a tax roll. Such charges may be collected and the lien enforced in the 
same manner as general city taxes against such premises. However, in a case where a tenant is 
responsible for payment of the charges, and the department is so notified in writing signed by both 
landlord and tenant, including a true copy of the lease and an affidavit from the lessor that contains 
a notation of the expiration date of the lease, then the charges shall not become a lien after the date 
of the notice upon receipt of such notice, and the department shall render no further service to the 
premises until a security deposit is made. A security deposit shall consist of the average annual 
charge for services, with a minimum use of eight (8) CCF (one hundred (100) cubic feet) per 
month. Additionally, the deposit shall also include all applicable and reasonable miscellaneous 
fees, charges, expenses and assessments, if any. If the monthly payments for services provided are 
not received, the amount due will be paid from the funds on deposit. Once the funds on deposit are 
exhausted, service will be shut off. Service will not be re-established until any unpaid balance is 
paid in full and another deposit equal to the annual average charge has been paid. 

(b) The lessor's affidavit shall be on a form provided by the department and shall indicate the 
following under oath: the date of the execution of the lease, the expiration of the lease, and a 
statement that, pursuant to the lease, the lessor is not liable for the payment of charges for service 
furnished by the water and sewer system. The lessor's affidavit shall be filed with the department. 
The lessor shall provide written notice to the department at least twenty (20) days prior to any 
change, cancellation or termination of the lease. If a lessor does not file an affidavit or fails to 

24 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

provide the twenty (20) days' notice of any change, cancellation, or termination with respect to 
any premises in accordance with this section, then charges for service furnished by the water and 
sewer systems to such premises shall be a lien thereon and collected in the manner provided above. 
In such a case, if the charges become delinquent, service to the premises shall be subject to being 
immediately shutoff and the security deposit shall be applied to the delinquency unless twenty (20) 
days' notice was not given by the lessor of any cancellation, change in, or termination of the lease . 

.. 1.18-155 .. Appeal. of _overcharges ..................................................................................................................................................................................................... .. 
Persons claiming to be overcharged may appeal to the depaitment. The department shall 
investigate the matter and make such an examination and decision as the depaitment finds 
necessary and in conformity with the established rate schedule. 

118-156-118-165 Reserved. 

DIVISION 8. OWNER REQUESTED WATER SHUTOFFS AND REBATES 

,,118-166 .. Request_to permanently discontinue .. water .. service ............................................................................................................ . 
If a property owner desires to permanently discontinue the use of city water on any premises, a 
request to that effect, stating the reasons therefor, shall be made in writing by the property owner 
to the department. The department will then disconnect the water at the main at the property 
owner's expense. The charges for supplying city water to the premises will thereafter be abated. 

,,118-167_.Turnoff_during__temporary_vacancy ........................................................................................................................................................... . 
(a) In case of the temporary vacancy of any premises, the water will be turned off at the curb 
stop by the department upon the written request by the owner of the premises to the department 
and will be turned on again upon the date specified by the owner in such request. 

(b) During a temporary vacancy where water service has been shut off by the department, 
minimum charges will not be billed when service is off for less than half of the billing cycle 
provided no water is used during that period. If no water is used but service is available for at least 
half of the billing cycle or greater, the minimum billing will be charged. In the billing cycle where 
service is restored, the minimum charges will be billed if service is available for half of that billing 
cycle or greater. 

( c) If metered premises are left unoccupied, with the water not shut off by the department, no 
rebate will be allowed for water registered by the meter that may leak or waste through the 
plumbing or fixtures. 

( d) The expense of turning off and turning on the water shall be paid by the owner. 

25 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

118-168-118-180 Reserved. 

DIVISION 9. SERVICE OUTSIDE CITY LIMITS 

118-181 Contract authorization. 

The department is authorized to enter into a contract for the County of Oakland for the sale and 
delivery of water to any owner or occupant outside of the limits of the city, on terms more 
specifically set forth in this division . 

.,118-182 .. Rules .. and.regulations ........................................................................................................................................................................................................ . 
Each applicant for water service outside the city limits shall be subject to all of the provisions of 
this article that apply to water service within the city limits and all rules and regulations applicable 
to water service made by the department. 

__118-183 .. Installation.expenses;.advancepayment;.consents ............................................................................................................ .. 
(a) Before any permits are issued for water service outside the city limits, water mains shall 
be duly and properly installed in the streets or highways of the adjoining property. Such installation 
shall be done under the supervision and inspection of the department. The expense for the 
supervision and inspection and installation shall be paid in advance by the applicant. 

(b) Written consent of the proper local municipal authorities for the use of public highways in 
accordance with the terms of this division shall be placed on file with the clerk before a permit for 
water service outside city limits shall be issued. 

118-184 Annexation of water facilities. 

If any property in which mains and supply pipes using city water are located becomes annexed to 
the city, the main and supply pipes shall become the sole property of the department without 
expense to the department. 

118-185-118-210 Reserved. 

DIVISION 10. WATER USE RESTRICTIONS 

.118-2.11 .. Purpose; conditions .. warranting declaration. of .emergency ................................................................................ .. 
(a) It is recognized that conditions may arise as a result of a prolonged drought, or a prolonged 
period of heavy water demand, or as a result of damage or breakdown of an element of the water 
distribution system, or a combination of such factors, that could result in a water supply emergency 
that would negatively affect operating flows and residual water pressures in substantial portions 

26 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

of the water distribution system, with no apparent means immediately available to adequately 
maintain flows and pressures throughout the system. 

(b) If such a situation arises, it may be in the interests of public health, safety and welfare to 
limit the nonessential use of water (including, but not limited to, lawn sprinkling) to preserve, to 
the extent possible, sufficient water pressure and flow for drinking and other essential domestic 
uses, and for fire safety, and essential industrial uses. 

( c) The purpose of this division is to provide authority for the department to declare an 
emergency and limit the nonessential uses of water if determined necessary by the department. 

,.118-212 .. Temporary emergency.sprinkling regulations .......................................................................................................................... . 
(a) Whenever the department receives notification from the Great Lakes Water Authority or 
the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy that the supply or pressure 
demand for water cannot be accommodated and general welfare is likely to be endangered, or 
conditions within the water system of the city are likely to endanger the general welfare of the city, 
the department shall determine that a state of emergency exists and prescribe the following 
emergency regulations which shall apply in the city for all properties connected to the city water 
system: 

Sprinkling of lawns and landscaping and all outdoor water use shall only be allowed for 
properties with even-numbered addresses on even-numbered dates and for properties with 
odd-numbered addresses on odd-numbered dates. 

(b) Whenever the department receives notification from the Great Lakes Water Authority or 
the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy that provisions in subsection 
(a) of this section are not sufficient, or conditions within the water system of the city are likely to 
endanger the general welfare of the city, the following emergency regulations shall apply in the 
city for all properties connected to the city water system: 

Sprinkling of lawns and landscaping and all outdoor water use shall not be allowed. 

( c) The department and the Great Lakes Water Authority shall, within 24 hours of notification, 
cause these regulations to be posted at the department office and publicly announced by means of 
broadcasts or telecasts by the stations with a normal operating range covering the city, or other 
means. 

( d) The emergency regulations shall become effective immediately after being posted and 
publicly announced as provided by this section. 

27 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

( e) Upon notification from the Great Lakes Water Authority or the Michigan Department of 
Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy that the emergency regulations are no longer necessary, 
the department shall cause a public announcement lifting the water restrictions. 

DIVISION 11. ENFORCEMENT 

118-213 Municipal civil infractions. 

(a) Violation; Municipal Civil Infraction. Except as provided by section 118-214, and 
notwithstanding any other provision of the city's laws, ordinances and regulations to the contrary, 
a person who violates or fails to comply with any provision of this article (including, without 
limitation, any notice, order, decision or determination promulgated, issued or made by the 
department under this article) is responsible for a municipal civil infraction, subject to payment of 
a civil fine of not less than $1,000.00 per day for each infraction and not more than $10,000.00 per 
day for each infraction, plus costs and oth~r sanctions. 

(b) Repeat Offenses; Increased Fines. Increased fines may be imposed for repeat offenses. As 
used in this section, "repeat offense" means a second ( or any subsequent) municipal civil infraction 
violation of the same requirement or provision of this article (i) committed by a person within any 
one-year period and (ii) for which the person admits responsibility or is determined to be 
responsible. The increased fine for a repeat offense under this. article shall be as follows: 

(1) The fine for any offense that is a first repeat offense shall be not less than $2,500.00, 
plus costs and other sanctions. 

(2) The fine for any offense that is a second repeat offense or any subsequent repeat 
offense shall be not less than $5,000.00, plus costs and other sanctions~ 

(c) Amount of Fines. Subject to the minimum fine amounts specified in sections 118-213(a) 
and 118-213(b), the following factors shall be considered by the court in determining the amount 
of a municipal civil infraction fine following the issuance of a municipal civil infraction citation 
for a violation of this article: the type, nature, severity, frequency, duration, preventability, 
potential and actual effect, and economic benefit to the violator (such as delayed or avoided costs 
or competitive advantage) of a violation; the violator's recalcitrance or efforts to comply; the 
economic impacts of the fine on the violator; and such other matters as justice may require. A 
violator shall bear the burden of demonstrating the presence and degree of any mitigating factors 
to be considered in determining the amount of a fine. However, mitigating factors shall not be 
considered unless it is determined that the violator has made all good faith efforts to correct and 
terminate all violations. 

28 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

(d) Authorized Local Official. Notwithstanding any other prov1s10n of the city's laws, 
ordinances and regulations to the contrary, the following persons are designated as the authorized 
local officials to issue municipal civil infraction citations directing alleged violators to appear in 
district court for violations of this article ( or, if applicable, to issue municipal civil infraction 
notices directing alleged violators to appear at a municipal ordinance violations bureau): the 
department, any sworn law enforcement officer, and any other persons so designated by the 
department or the city. 

(e) Additional remedies. In addition to ordering the defendant to pay a civil fine, costs, and 
damages and expenses, the city and/or the department may ask the District Court to issue and 
enforce any judgment, writ, or order, including injunctive or other equitable relief, necessary to 
enforce this article, as authorized by state law. 

(f) Other Requirements and Procedures. Except as otherwise provided by this section, the 
requirements and procedures for commencing municipal civil infraction actions; issuance and 
service of municipal civil infraction citations; determination and collection of court-ordered fines, 
costs and expenses; appearances and payment of fines and costs; failure to answer, appear or pay 
fines; disposition of fines, costs and expenses paid; and other matters regarding municipal civil 
infractions shall be as set forth in article X of chapter 86 the Pontiac Municipal Code and Act No. 
236 of the Public Acts of 1961, as amended. 

(g) This section shall not affect the sections provided for by any state or local law for a 
violator's failure to comply with a judgment of the District Court, nor shall this section in any way 
limit or restrict the authority of the court to enforce its orders by appropriate sanctions or actions. 
This section shall not restrict, limit or bar any action permitted under any other provision of law. 

118-214 Criminal penalties; imprisonment. 

Any person who (1) at the time of a violation knew or should have known that water of 
questionable quality, wastes, or other contaminants or pollutants were discharged or introduced by 
the person to the city water supply system contrary to any provision of this article, or contrary to 
any notice, order, permit, decision or determination promulgated, issued or made by the 
department under this article; or (2) intentionally makes a false statement, representation, or 
certification to the department in any form, notice, report, or record required by this article, or in 
any other correspondence or communication, written or oral, with the department regarding 
matters regulated by this article; or (3) intentionally falsifies, tampers with, or renders inaccurate 
any meter, protective device or water supply equipment or appurtenances required by this article; 
or ( 4) commits any other act that is punishable under state law by imprisonment for more than 
ninety (90) days; shall, upon conviction, be guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of 

29 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

$500.00 per violation, per day, or imprisonment for up to ninety (90) days, or both in the discretion 
of the court. 

118-215 Continuing violation. 

Each act of violation, and each day or portion of a day that a violation of this article ( or of any 
notice, order, decision or determination promulgated, issued or made by the department under this 
article) exists, occurs, or continues constitutes a separate and distinct violation subject to the fines, 
penalties and other sanctions and remedies as provided by this article. 

118-216 Nuisance. 

A violation of this article ( or of any notice, order, decision or determination promulgated, issued 
or made by the department under this article) is deemed to be a public nuisance and shall be 
corrected or abated as directed by the department and/or the city. In addition to any other legal or 
equitable remedies available under the law, any person creating a public nuisance shall be subject 
to the provisions of state law, this article, or other ordinance of the city governing such nuisances, 
including reimbursing the department, the department, and/or the city, as applicable, for any costs 
incurred in removing, abating, or remedying the nuisance, as applicable. 

118-217 Judicial relief. 

The city and/or the department (in conjunction with the city's legal counsel) may institute legal 
proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction to seek all appropriate relief for violations of this 
article or of any notice, order, decision or determination promulgated, issued or made by the 
department under this article. The action may seek temporary or permanent injunctive relief, 
damages, penalties, costs, and any other relief, at law or equity, that a court may order. The city or 
the department may also seek collection of fines, penalties and any other amounts due to the city, 
the department, or the department, respectively, that a person has not paid. 

118-218 Cumulative remedies. 

The imposition of a single penalty, fine, notice, or order upon any person for a violation of this 
article, or of or of any notice, order, decision or determination promulgated, issued or made by the 
department under this article, shall not preclude (or be a prerequisite for) the imposition by th.e 
city, the department, or a court of competent jurisdiction of a combination of any or all of those 
sanctions and remedies or additional sanctions and remedies with respect to the same violation, 
consistent with applicable limitations on penalty amounts under state or federal laws or 
regulations. A criminal citation and prosecution of a criminal action against a person shall not be 

30 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

dependent upon and need not be held in abeyance during any civil, judicial, or administrative 
proceeding, conference, or hearing regarding the person. 

118-219-118-220 Reserved. 

DIVISION 12. WATER MAIN AND SEWER CONSTRUCTION 

118-221 Permit required. 

No water main or sanitary sewer which shall serve or be designed to serve more than one premises 
shall be constructed, reconstructed or altered in the city unless a permit for such construction, 
reconstruction or alteration is first procured from the city. 

118-222 Permit application. 

Application for a permit under this article shall be accompanied by complete plans, specifications 
and cost estimate which shall be submitted to the department for review and approval before such 
pe1mit is issued. Such review will include: 
(1) Checking water main plans for size of mains and adequacy of valves and fire hydrants; 
(2) Checking sanitary sewers to determine proper grades with resultant self-cleaning velocities; 
(3) Determining types of pipe joints and pipe materials on the basis of the characteristics of the 
particular area; 
(4) Determining protection of pipe, width of trench and strength of pipe by depth of sewer and 
type of soil to be encountered; 
(5) Checking sizes to determine needs for sanitary sewers; 
(6) General review of cost estimate for payment of fees and inspection deposits; 
(7) Review for compliance to the department standards and specifications. 

118-223 Permit - issuance or denial; appeals. 

If the plans and specifications are approved by the department, the water main and sewer 
construction permit shall be issued upon payment of the fees and inspection deposits as hereinafter 
provided. If the department does not approve the plans and specifications, the department shall 
give recommendations in writing to the applicant. The applicant may amend the plans and 
specifications in accordance with such recommendations. 

118-224 Inspections during progress; departure from approved plans; notice of violation. 

The department shall make or cause to be made all such inspections of projects under this article 
including the receipt of material tests and the requests for compaction tests by an approved 
independent testing laboratory, costs therefor chargeable to the owner, as the work progresses as 

31 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

the department shall deem necessary to ensure that the sanitary sewer and water main will be built 
in accordance with the approved plans and specifications and in accordance with all provisions of 
this article and any other ordinances and regulations of applicable agencies. The department shall 
have the right to authorize departures from the approved plans and specifications where necessary 
because of unforeseen circumstances, but no departures from the approved plans and specifications 
shall be made without the prior knowledge and resultant charges made by the consulting engineers 
preparing the original plans with subsequent authorization therefor by the department. If the 
department shall find that the improvements are not being installed or constructed in accordance 
with the aforementioned standards, the department shall issue a written notice of violation 
requiring the installation or construction to be so corrected. In such notice the department shall 
specify a time limit for the correction of the violations. If the violations are not corrected within 
the specified time, the department or the department's representative may order all work stopped. 

118-225 Review fee. 

A review fee shall be paid to the department at the time an application for permit is filed under this 
article. A schedule of fees is available from the department. 

118-226 Permit fee; final field inspection. 

(a) A permit fee in an amount as established by the department shall be deposited with the 
department to reimburse the ordinary costs incurred by the department for inspection during water 
main or sewer construction. The amount of all fees shall be adjusted to meet the actual cost of 
inspection of the project after work is completed at which time an additional inspection fee may 
be required and become payable to the department or a refund made to the owner. 

(b) Upon completion of the project the department shall make a final field inspection 
accompanied by the owner's consulting engineer and shall furnish thereto copies of wye locations 
of other predetermined buried outlets. The owner's engineer shall then prepare as-built drawings 
of the project furnishing the department with one (1) set of reproducible mylar plans thereof. 
Further, the owner shall provide a maintenance guarantee bond on the department's form prior to 
final acceptance of the work. 

Sec. 3. Severability. Sections of this Article shall be deemed severable and should any 

section, clause or provision of this Article be declared to be invalid, the same shall not affect the 

validity of the Ordinance as a whole or any part thereof other than the part so declared to be invalid. 

32 



Citv of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

Sec. 4. Saving Clause. The amendment or repeal by this Article of any ordinance or 

ordinance provision shall have no effect upon prosecutions commenced prior to the effective date 

of this Article or prosecutions based upon actions taken by any person prior to the effective date 

of this Article. Those prosecutions shall be conducted under the ordinance provisions in effect 

prior to the effective date of this Article. 

Sec. 5. Conflict. Except as otherwise expressly provided, the provisions of this Article 

shall control in the event of any inconsistency or conflict between this Article and any other 

provision of any other Ordinance of the City. 

Sec. 6. Publication. This Article shall be published by publishing a summary of the 

Ordinance in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Pontiac, including the designation 

in the publication of the location in the City where a true copy of the Ordinance can be inspected 

or obtained, as authorized by State law. 

Sec. 7. Effective Date. This Article shall become effective upon the date of publication of 

the notice of its adoption as provided in Section 6, above, and as certified by the Clerk, below. 

33 



City of Pontiac Water Ordinance 

Adopted this ____ day of ________ , 2021, by the City Council, City of 
Pontiac, Michigan. 

On roll call, the vote was: 

Yeas: 

Nays: 

By: 

Certification 

I, _________ , Clerk of the City of Pontiac, Michigan, do hereby certify that the 
foregoing is a true copy of the ordinance adopted by the City of Pontiac City Council at a regular 
meeting held on ________ , 2021, at __________ , and that it was 
published in _______ on _______ , 2021. 

---------- , Clerk 

34 



#7 

ORDINANCE 



CITY OF 
PONTIAC 

Executive Branch OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

TO: Mayor Deirdre Waterman, City Council President Williams and 

City Council Members 

FROM: Matthew A Gibb, Special Counsel for Economic Development 
Linnette Phillips, Director of Economic Development 

DATE: September 16, 2021 
For the Council Session of September 21, 2021 

RE: OPTION TO PURCHASE AND DEVELOP PERDUE SCHOOL 

1. RESOLUTION TO SET PUBLIC HEARING REGARDING OPTION TO 
PURCHASE PERDUE SCHOOL 

2. FIRST READING ON ORDINANCE FOR PAYMENT IN LIEU OF 
TAXES 

(THESE REQUIRE SUSPENSION OF COUNCIL RULES) 

BACKGROUND 

1. Ownership - The City of Pontiac became the owner of 25 S Sanford Street ( known 
as "Perdue School") as a part of the Global Settlement Agreement between the City 
and Charles Stephens. In December 2020, the City abided by the terms of the 
Global Settlement and paid the sum of $600,000 as a credit against the Global 
Settlement, and Charles Stephens deeded the school property to the City. The City 
of Pontiac now owns the entire site. 

2. Value - The value paid by the City under the Global Settlement was set as a part of 
the overall closing of the Ottawa Towers Global Settlement, it was not based upon 
market value. The market value of the property is likely ZERO. The basis of claiming 
the property has no value is the fact that it is heavily contaminated with mold and 
other issues and would require both demolition and the remediation of 
environmental materials. The costs of demo and site cleaning exceed the value of 
the building and the property. 



At best, the property could produce a value of $80,000 based upon comparable 
properties. 

Council is being asked to consider approval of the Option to Purchase and the Payment in 
Lieu of taxes Agreement that is needed to support the Project. Procedurally this is done in 
the following steps: 

1. Option to Purchase. The Council needs to suspend the rules at its September 
21 st meeting and set a public hearting on the Option for September 28, 2021 (its 
regular formal meeting) where approval or rejection of the Option would occur. 

CHN has a October 1, 2021 deadline to apply to the State for financing, so if 
approved on September 28th the document would be executed and provided to 
meet that timeline. 

2. Payment in Lieu of taxes. The pr9ject, being contaminated and requiring 
significant diligence would seek a PILOT agreement as CHN has done in the 
past. That process includes an Ordinance and an Agreement. At the September 
21 st meeting the Council would suspend the rules and declare the first reading 
held. At the September 28 meeting the Council could adopt the ordinance and 
approve the Agreement. 

What's being considered? 

1. OPTION TO PURCHASE 

The Community Housing Network (CHN) has offered to purchase the property from the 
City for $600,000. The Offer is attached. It was not solicited by the City. The City currently 
has no policy on handling unsolicited offers, so this is in the discretion of the Council. The 
Charter allows for the sale of property after the public has an opportunity to comment at a 
noticed meeting, which the City Attorney has directed can be a regular session of Council. 

Key provisions 
1. Purchase Price - CHN has offered $600,000 to purchase property in its "as is" 

condition, subject only to diligence for a housing project on the site. 

Deposit - CHN will make a $5,000 non-refundable deposit upon approval 
and execution. They will then make a $10,000 non-refundable deposit upon 
approval of the necessary tax credits from MSHDA. The City will retain this 
even if the final financing is not approved. 



2. Due Diligence - CHN intends to the demolish the building to build 76 Unit 
Affordable housing development. They will be seeking MSHDA financing and have 
included the following concept of financing: 

"The primary financing mechanisms expected to be utilized are 4% and 
9% housing tax credits which will ensure long-term affordability of the 
new units. The timeline for the process of applying for, securing, and 
closing on this type of funding is lengthy yet CHN has a demonstrated 
history of success in funding and completing these types of 
developments. A relevant example is CHN's Jefferson Oaks community 
in Oak Park, Michigan, which combined the adaptive reuse of the former 
Thomas Jefferson school and new construction units surrounding the 
school. " 

3. Maintenance and Liability - During the term of the option, CHN will be responsible 
for all maintenance (e.g. lawn cutting, snow removal, fencing, security) and will 
assume liability for the property. 

4. Non-Assignment to an Unknown Developer - The City is well acquainted with the 
quality of work and reputation of CHN, as such it is confirmed that CHN can only 
assign the Option to entities sunder its direct control, meaning those that would be 
owned by CHN but might have a different name. 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Perdue School site is a very challenging project, requiring a firm with expertise in 
demolition and construction of housing for the City. If the City were to market the 
property for sale it can expect to obtain not more than $80,000 for the site. Because of the 
unique qualifications of CHN in obtaining state and other support for the project, and the 
continuing need in the City for affordable housing, they can offer the price which makes 
the City whole on this property following the forced Global settlement with Charles 
Stephens. 

Economic Development strongly recommends accepting the Option and directing the 
Mayor to execute the Agreement to meet the deadlines of CHN 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION REGARDING THE OPTION IS ATTACHED 



Item Two (2) on next page 

2. PAYMENT IN LIEU OF TAXES AGREEMENT 

The Perdue Place project consists of 76 affordable housing units and a community 
building. The project is described in the materials attached and will be presented at the 
September 2pt meeting by CHN. As with prior CHN based housing projects in the City, 
there is a need to finance the project through tax credits and MSHDA based 
programming. 

The PILOT Agreement 
a. The proposed Payment in Lieu of Taxes Agreement provides a 47 year (the 

statutory maximum is 50years) schedule, with initial payments calculated as follows: 

Gross Rents - 7 6 units 

Less Vacancy 

Less Landlord Paid Utilities 

Less Water & Sewer 

Net Collected Rents 

PILOT Percentage 

PILOT Payment 

8% 

Calculation 

894,960 

(71,597) 

(43,000) 

(53,200) 

727,163 

4% 

29,086.53 

Improved Cash Flow for City of Pontiac 

Non-City City Portion 

20,733.77 8,352.75 

504.33% 

The property currently creates ZERO revenue to the City. The life of the PILOT 
would generate $612,000 to the City, plus the residual economic impact of 76 new 
housing units. 

b. Agreement Safeguards. As was approved and included in the recent Mccarroll 
School (Glenwood) PILOT project, the City has demanded and obtained approval of 
several safeguards: 

a) Contracted Trades. For all construction activity on the site, during construction 
and as part of the Project's perpetual maintenance, Developer shall use its 
best efforts to contract, hire and utilize contractors and sub-contractors 



having their principal place of business in Pontiac or individual trade laborers 
residing in the City. 

b) Workforce Development. Developer shall use its best efforts to hire Pontiac 
residents for work and positions within the operations of the Project, both 
during construction and after. 

c) Security Plan. Developer shall provide a Security Plan including security 
cameras throughout the Project, secured property entries, professionally 
designed exterior site lighting and relationship building with local law 
enforcement. 

Developer shall be responsible for and provide ongoing maintenance and 
support for all security equipment and confirm the then working condition 
and training of management. 

d) Affordability. Developer shall rent the units of the Project to Low Income 
Persons and Families in accordance with and as required by Section 42 of the 
Code, for so long as required by Section 42 of the Code. 

e) /\1anagement and /\1aintenance. Day to Day management and maintenance of 
the Project is of significant importance and condition to the ongoing authority 
of this Agreement and the exemption grated herein. As such; 

(i) The Developer shall provide the City and the Building Official with the 
name and address of the Management Company and the name and 
direct contact information (phone and email) of the Management 
Company's primary Manager. This information shall be updated at all 
times and notice of any changes provided to the City within thirty (30) 
days of any change. 

(ii) The City may inspect the Project for ordinance, code or other lawful 
purposes. The Developer shall promptly repair or correct any noticed 
violations as directed by the City's Building Official. 

(iii) The Developer shall provide an annual report to the City setting forth, 
at a minimum: 

1. Vacancy data and rate of retention and re-leasing; 

2. Security incidents, including number of law enforcement 
call/reports; 

3. Any improvements greater than $10,000 to the Project, 



whether by permit or otherwise, that occur from and after 

the date of the Certificate of Occupancy or when all unit 

has been offered for lease, whichever is sooner. 

4. A report showing that all security equipment and 

measures are in working order and that Management has 

been trained on their operation and use, such report 

being a summary report of all quarterly reports. 

f) Programming and Access. That portion of the Project consisting of a 

community center for the residents of the Development shall also be made 

available, subject to scheduling and programing, to the City's youth recreation 

and senior programing departments to be used as a satellite for enrichment 

and growth opportunities. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Economic Development strongly recommends that the needed PILOT Agreement be 

accepted and provided to CHN as part of their attempt to secure State support through 

MSHDA for the redevelopment of this site. 

Affordable housing continues to be a dynamic challenge for the City and the quality and 

past reputation of the projects completed and managed by CHN give confidence that this 

will be a substantial asset to the City. 

COUNCIL MUST SUSPEND THE RULES AT THE SEPTEMBER 21, 2021 MEETING AND DECLARE 

THE FIRST READING HELD OF THE ATTACHED ORDINANCE. THE PAYMENT IN LIEU OF 

TAXES AGREEMENT MAY BE FINALLY CONSIDERED AT THE COUNCILS FORMAL SESSION 

OF SEPTEMBER 28, 2021 (ALLOWING ANY FINAL QUESTIONS OF POINTS OF INTEREST TO 

BE RESOLVED OR INCLUDED) 



Perdue Place Presentation 
Pontiac City Council 
September 21, 2021 

'-

Commu 
HOUSING NETWORK 

Opening Doors • Transforming Lives® 



Perdue Place Development 

• Community Housing Network (CHN) is proposing the creation of 
Perdue Place, which will consist of 76 one, two and three bedroom 
new construction rental apartments constructed on the site of the 
Perdue School at 25 S. Sanford St. 

• After extensive reviews by engineers, architects, environmental 
contractors and construction contractors the determination was 
made that the existing school building cannot be repurposed. Plans 
call for the building to be demolished to make way for the new 
development. 

• Total development cost of the new community will represent a $25 
million+ investment in the city. 



(lJ 
-C ..,_,, 
..,_,, 
ro 

ro 
> 
0 
L 
Q_ 
Q_ 

<( 

>-L 

bJJ.~~~~~~~t::~i-=~~~---;-, ~~ 
I 

ro b.O 
C C C ·- ·-
ro Et; 

- (lJ - f!: ~ 0... o_ 

QJ 
(lJ rl 
>N 
ro o ...µ 
b.O~ ·-V) C 00 
0 '-..,_ 
·- CJ) 
V) 

! 

j! 
!, 

111~ I J ,c: __ _ 
-'I,=-., 

rr= 
1 I 

V) ·-
E 
E 
0 

I 
I llJ~~~~~~~~~~~~-----~ ii','.N•N;M 

u 
b.O 
C 

C 
C 
ro -o_ 



(./") 

C 
0 
-1--' 
m 
> 
GJ 
w 



Community Building 

4,000+ square feet with leasing office, services 
offices, large meeting space for resident and 

community programming 

·•,L1>Me .... ~~~.11,11f; 

~-~= 

~::~i.i1il :t'.z.f~ 

~~~~~: 
~t,;.,;a,ril,&~.~ 

(~), ~R!:1:MUNITY BUft .. :OliNG FRONT ELJ::VATIION 



Previous CH N Developments 

Unity Park Rentals -
Pontiac 

Unity Park Rentals features 79 
one, two, three and four 
bedroom single family homes 
built over fives phases, with a 
community building at Auburn 
and Roselawn 



Previous CH N Developments 

Jefferson Oaks - Oak --

Park 

Jefferson Oaks features the 
adaptive reuse of the former 
Thomas Jefferson school, with 
20 one and two bedroom 
apartments in the school and 
40 three and four bedroom 
townhome units built across 
the remainder of the site 



Previous CH N Developments 

Erin Park - Eastpointe 

Erin Park features 52 
duplex units in 26 
buildings. There is a large 
community room which 
is identical to what is 
being proposed for 
Perdue Place. 



Previous CH N Developments 

Grafton Town homes -
Eastpointe 

Grafton Townhomes 
features 48 two and 
three bedroom 
townhomes and 
community space. 

··~··----1 



Development Timeline 

• CHN is hopeful of applying to the Michigan State Housing Development 
Authority for tax credit funding on 10/1/2021 

• If the application is approved, which is anticipated approximately February 
2022, CHN will begin work immediately on closing the financing 

• Demolition of the school could begin in September 2022, with site work 
and construction commencing shortly after 

• Construction completion and full lease up is anticipated by late fall 2023 



Next Steps -

9/21 and 9/28/2021 Council Meetings 

• Introduce, discuss and seek approval of PILOT ordinance and 
development agreement 

• Introduce, discuss and seek Option Agreement approval 

• Seek approval of contingent Rezoning 



Questions? 

For questions that have not been answered tonight, please contact C.J. 
Felton, CHN Director of Real Estate Development, at 
cjfelton@chninc.net or by phone at 734-812-8960. 

HOUSING NETWORK 

Opening Doors • Transforming Lives® 



Perdue Place 
Community Housing Network, Inc. 

76 Multifamily Rental Units 

Sample Tax Summary in Pontiac 
$100,000 Taxable Value (SEV) 

County Operating 4.19000 
County Pk & Rec 0.241500 
HCMA 0.214600 
OCPTA 1.000000 
Zoo 0.100000 
Art Institure 0.200000 
Oakland Intermediate Sch Allocated 0.20030 
Oakland Intermediate Sch Voted 
Oakland Comm College Voted 
State Education 
School Operating 
School Debt 
CVT Operating 
CAP IMP 
Sanitation 
Library 
Senior Services 
MESSA Judgment 
Admin Fee 
Total Estimate 

Gross Rents - 76 units 
Less Vacancy 
Less Landlord Paid Utilities 
Less Water & Sewer 
Net Collected Rents 

PILOT Percentage 

PILOT Payment 

3.16870 
1.58440 
6.00000 

18.00000 
3.87000 

11.27370 
1.40910 
2.81830 
1.00000 
0.50000 
0.34240 

56.1130 

PILOT Calculation 

Calculation 

894,960 
8% (71,597) 

(43,000) 
(53,200) 
727,163 

4% 

29,086.53 

Improved Cash Flow for City of Pontiac 

Sample Tax Estimate 

All Taxes 

100 
419.00 

24.15 
21.46 

100.00 
10.00 
20.00 
20.03 

316.87 
158.44 
600.00 

1,800.00 
387.00 

1,127.37 
140.91 
281.83 
100.00 

50.00 
34.24 
56.11 

5,767.41 

City Portion -

Non-City 

20,733.77 

City Portion 

1,127.37 
140.91 
281.83 

50.00 

56.11 
1,656.22 

28.7% 

City Portion 

8,352.75 

504.33% 

9/14/2021 



Perdue Place 
Community Housing Network, Inc. 

76 Multifamily Rental Units 

PILOT Projections 

Projected Total 
Rent Total Payments 

Increase PILOT Non-City City To 
Year % Amount Portion Portion Pontiac 

PILOT Approved 
2021 Development Time 
2022 Construction and Lease up Time 

PILOT Starts 
Year l 12/31/2023 n/a 29,087 20,734 8,353 8,353 
Year2 12/30/2024 1.00% 29,377 20,941 8,436 16,789 
Year 3 12/30/2025 1.00% 29,671 21,151 8,521 25,310 
Year4 12/30/2026 1.00% 29,968 21,362 8,606 33,916 
Year 5 12/30/2027 1.00% 30,268 21,576 8,692 42,607 
Year6 12/29/2028 1.00% 30,570 21,791 8,779 51,386 
Year? 12/30/2029 2.00% 31,182 22,227 8,954 60,341 
Year 8 12/30/2030 2.00% 31,805 22,672 9,133 69,474 
Year9 12/30/2031 2.00% 32,441 23,125 9,316 78,790 
Year 10 12/29/2032 2.00% 33,090 23,588 9,502 88,293 
Year 11 12/30/2033 2.00% 33,752 24,059 9,693 97,985 
Year 12 12/30/2034 2.00% 34,427 24,541 9,886 107,872 
Year 13 12/30/2035 2.00% 35,116 25,031 10,084 117,956 
Year 14 12/29/2036 2.00% 35,818 25,532 10,286 128,242 
Year 15 12/30/2037 2.00% 36,534 26,043 10,492 138,733 
Year 16 12/30/2038 2.00% 37,265 26,564 10,701 149,434 
Year 17 12/30/2039 2.00% 38,010 27,095 10,915 160,350 
Year 18 12/29/2040 2.00% 38,770 27,637 11,134 171,484 
Year 19 12/29/2041 2.00% 39,546 28,190 11,356 182,840 
Year 20 12/29/2042 2.00% 40,337 28,753 11,583 194,423 
Year 21 12/29/2043 2.00% 41,144 29,328 11,815 206,239 
Year 22 12/28/2044 2.00% 41,966 29,915 12,051 218,290 
Year 23 12/28/2045 2.00% 42,806 30,513 12,292 230,582 
Year24 12/28/2046 2.00% 43,662 31,123 12,538 243,121 
Year 25 12/28/2047 2.00% 44,535 31,746 12,789 255,910 
Year 26 12/27/2048 2.00% 45,426 32,381 13,045 268,955 
Year 27 12/27/2049 2.00% 46,334 33,029 13,306 282,261 
Year 28 12/27/2050 2.00% 47,261 33,689 13,572 295,832 
Year 29 12/27/2051 2.00% 48,206 34,363 13,843 309,676 
Year 30 12/26/2052 2.00% 49,170 35,050 14,120 323,796 
Year 31 12/26/2053 2.00% 50,154 35,751 14,403 338,199 
Year 32 12/26/2054 2.00% 51,157 36,466 14,691 352,889 
Year 33 12/26/2055 2.00% 52,180 37,195 14,984 367,874 
Year 34 12/25/2056 2.00% 53,224 37,939 15,284 383,158 
Year 35 12/25/2057 2.00% 54,288 38,698 15,590 398,748 
Year 36 12/25/2058 2.00% 55,374 39,472 15,902 414,649 
Year 37 12/25/2059 2.00% 56,481 40,262 16,220 430,869 
Year 38 12/24/2060 2.00% 57,611 41,067 16,544 447,413 
Year 39 12/24/2061 2.00% 58,763 41,888 16,875 464,288 
Year 40 12/24/2062 2.00% 59,938 42,726 17,212 481,500 
Year41 12/24/2063 2.00% 61,137 43,580 17,557 499,057 
Year 42 12/23/2064 2.00% 62,360 44,452 17,908 516,965 
Year 43 12/23/2065 2.00% 63,607 45,341 18,266 535,231 
Year 44 12/23/2066 2.00% 64,879 46,248 18,631 553,862 
Year 45 12/23/2067 2.00% 66,177 47,173 19,004 572,866 
Year 46 12/22/2068 2.00% 67,500 48,116 19,384 592,250 
Year47 12/22/2069 2.00% 68,850 49,079 19,772 612,022 

PILOT Projections 9/14/2021 



ADOPTED: 

CITY OF PONTIAC CITY COUNCIL 
PERDUE PLACE 

ORDINANCE NO. ____________ _ 

TAX EXEMPTION ORDINANCE 

_____ ,2021 

An Ordinance to provide for a service charge in lieu of taxes for a housing project for low income persons 
and families to be financed with a federally-aided Mortgage Loan pursuant to the provisions of the State 
Housing Development Authority Act of 1966 (1966 PA 346, as amended; MCL 125.1401, et seq; the 
"Act"). 

THE CITY OF PONTIAC 

ORDAINS: 

SECTION 1. This Ordinance shall be known and cited as the "Tax Exemption Ordinance-for Perdue 
Place." 

SECTION 2. Preamble. 

It is acknowledged that it is a proper public purpose of the State of Michigan and its political subdivisions 
to provide housing for its low income persons and families and to encourage the development of such 
housing by providing for a service charge in lieu of property taxes in accordance with the Act. The City is 
authorized by this Act to establish or change the service charge to be paid in lieu of taxes by any or all 
classes of housing exempt from taxation under this Act at any amount it chooses, not to exceed the taxes 
that would be paid but for this Act. It is further acknowledged that such housing for low income persons 
and families is a public necessity, and as the City will be benefited and improved by such housing, the 
encouragement of the same by providing real estate tax exemption for such housing is a valid public 
purpose. It is further acknowledged that the continuance of the provisions of this Ordinance for tax 
exemption and the service charge in lieu of all ad valorem taxes during the period contemplated in this 
Ordinance are essential to the determination of economic feasibility of the housing project that is 
constructed with financing extended in reliance on such tax exemption. 

The City acknowledges that the Sponsor: Community Housing Network, a Michigan non-profit corporation, 
has offered, subject to receipt of an allocation under the LIHTC Program by the Michigan StateHousing 
Development Authority, to own and operate a 76 unit housing project identified as PERDUE PLACE on 
certain property located at 25 S. Sanford in the City (tax parcel number: 14-28-455-001) to serve low 
income persons and families, and that the Sponsor has offered to pay the City, on accountof this housing 
project, an annual service charge for public services in lieu of all ad valorem property taxes. 

SECTION 3. Definitions. 

A. "Authority" means the Michigan State Housing Development Authority. 



B. "Annual Shelter Rent" means the total collections during an agreed annual period from or 
paid on behalf of all occupants of a housing project representing rent or occupancy charges, exclusive of 
Utilities (as hereafter defined). 

C. "LIHTC Program" means the Low Income Housing Tax Credit program administered by 
the Authority under Section 42 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

D. "Low Income Persons and Families" means persons and families eligible to move into a 
housing project. 

E. "Mortgage Loan" means a loan that is Federally-Aided (as defined in Section 11 of the 
Act) or a loan or grant made or to be made by the Authority to the Sponsor for the construction, 
rehabilitation, acquisition and/or permanent financing of a housing project, and secured by a mortgage on 
the housing project. 

F. "Sponsor" means Community Housing Network, a Michigan non-profit corporation, and 
any entity that receives or assumes a Mortgage Loan. 

G. "Utilities" means charges for gas, electric, water, sanitary sewer and other utilities 
furnished to the occupants that are paid by the housing project. 

SECTION 4. Class of Housing Projects. 

It is determined that the class of housing projects to which the tax exemption shall apply and for which a 
service charge shall be paid in lieu of such taxes shall be housing projects for Low Income Persons and 
Families that are financed with a Mortgage Loan. It is further dete1mined that Perdue Place is of this class. 

SECTION 5. Establishment of Annual Service Charge. 

The housing project identified as Perdue Place and the property on which will be located shall be exempt 
from all ad valorem property taxes from and after the commencement of constrnction or rehabilitation. The 
City acknowledges that the Sponsor and the Authority have established the economic feasibility of the 
housing project in reliance upon the enactment and continuing effect of this Ordinance, and the qualification 
of the housing project for exemption from all ad valorem property taxes and a payment in lieu of taxes as 
established in this Ordinance. Therefore, in consideration of the Sponsor's offer to construct and operate the 
housing project, the City agrees to accept payment of an annual service charge for public services in lieu of 
all ad valorem propeity taxes. Subject to receipt of a M01tgage Loan, the annual service charge shallbe equal 
to 4% of the Annual Shelter Rent actually collected by the housing project during each operatingyear. 

SECTION 6. Contractual Effect of Ordinance. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of section 15(a)(5) of the Act to the contrary, a contract between the City 
and the Sponsor with the Authority as third party beneficiary under the contract, to provide tax exemption 
and accept payments in lieu of taxes, as previously described, is effectuated by enactment of this Ordinance. 



SECTION 7. Limitation on the Payment of Annual Service Charge. 

Notwithstanding Section 5, the service charge to be paid each year in lieu of taxes for the part of the housing 
project that is tax exempt but which is occupied by other than low income persons or families shall be equalto 
the full amount of the taxes which would be paid on that portion of the housing project if the housing project 
were not tax exempt. 

SECTION 8. Payment of Service Charge. 

The annual service charge in lieu of taxes as determined under this Ordinance shall be payable in the same 
manner as general property taxes are payable to the City and distributed to the several units levying the 
general property tax in the same proportion as prevailed with the general property tax in the current calendar 
year. The annual payment for each operating year shall be paid on or before July 1st of the operating year. 
Collection procedures shall be in accordance with the provisions of the General Property Tax Act (1893 PA 
206, as amended; MCL 211.1, et seq.). 

SECTION 9. Duration. 

This Ordinance shall remain in effect and shall not terminate so long as: (i) the Sponsor obtains a Mortgage 
Loan on or before June 30, 2024; (ii) a Mortgage Loan remains outstanding and unpaid; and (c) the housing 
project remains subject to income and rent restrictions under the LIHTC Program but in no case longer than45 
years from the date of the certificate of occupancy issued by the City for the housing project. 

SECTION 10. Severability. 

The various sections and provisions of this Ordinance shall be deemed to be severable, and should any section 
or provision of this Ordinance be declared by any court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or 
invalid the same shall not affect the validity of this Ordinance as a whole or any sectionor provision of this 
Ordinance, other than the section or provision so declared to be unconstitutional or invalid. 

SECTION 11. Inconsistent Ordinances. 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent or in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance are 
repealed to the extent of such inconsistency or conflict. 

Section 12. Effective Date. 

This Ordinance shall become effective on ______ , 2020, as provided in the City Charter. 

By: 

CITY CLERK 





Resolution of the Pontiac City Council 

WHEREAS, the voters of the City of Pontiac approved the City of Pontiac Medical Marihuana Facilities 
Ordinance (Ordinance 2357 (B)) in 2018, and; 

WHEREAS, Ordinance 2357 (B) section 9 gives the Clerk the authority to "award permits "to any 
applicant for a permit to operate a grower, processor, secure transporter, or safety compliance", and; 

WHEREAS, Ordinance 2357 (B) section 9 states that the Clerk "shall assess, evaluate, score and rank 
each application based upon a scoring and ranking procedure developed by the clerk" for provisioning 
center applications, and; 

WHEREAS, Ordinance 2357 (B) section 9(i) states that "the Clerk may engage professional expert 
assistance in performing the clerk's duties and responsibilities under this ordinance", and: 

WHEREAS, the Clerk has selected Robert Charles Davis., Esq., Davis Listman. PLLC to 
serve as the Professional Expert-Legal Advisor to the City Clerk at a cost not to exceed $50,000.00, and; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Pontiac City Council approves the agreement between the 
City of Pontiac and Davis Listman, PLLC to serve as the Professional Expert-Legal Advisor to the City 
Clerk at a cost not to exceed $50,000.00 and authorizes the Mayor to sign the agreement. 



Attorneys at Law 

September 14, 2021 

DAVIS BURKET 
SAVAGE LISTMAN 

Dear Interim City Clerk Doyle: 

ROBERT CHARLES DAVIS 
t: (586) 469-4300 
f: (586) 469-4303 

rd avis@d bsattorneys. com 
www.dbsattorneys.com 

Thank you for the opportunity to serve as "Professional Expert -Legal Advisor to-the 
City Clerk" under the City of Pontiac Medical Marihuana Ordinance 2357(B) (the 
"Representation"). The engagement terms of this letter are set forth below. 

Client. The client in this matter will be the City of Pontiac/City Clerk (the "Client"). This 
engagement does not create an attorney client relationship with any other person or entity. The 
point of contact will be the City Clerk or others if designated by the City Clerk. 

Scope of Engagement. 

(1) Complete a compliance review of scored provisioning center applications to ensure 
criteria has been consistently applied by members of the scoring team. The City 
Clerk shall, in all cases be the decision maker with respect to any scoring decision. 

(2) Assist the Pontiac City Clerk in developing the medical marihuana facilities renewal 
application and instructions for grower, processor, secure transporter and safety 
compliance facilities. 

(3) Assist the Pontiac City Clerk in developing the medical marihuana facilities renewal 
application and instructions for provisioning center facilities. 

In the course of the Representation, we will provide legal advice to the City Clerk, in his official 
capacity, in connection with his duties under the City of Pontiac Medical Marihuana Facilities 
Ordinance 2357(B) and matters related thereto. This includes legal advice with regard to 
applications for marihuana permits in the City or Pontiac. 

Conflicts of interest and Disclosure. Davis Listman, PLLC, including its owner(s), employee(s), 
and Consultants (collectively "Davis Listman") agrees that it will not represent any (1) 
organization, (2) individual with an ownership interest in an organization, or (3) individual, 
submitting an application for a marihuana facility license with the City of Pontiac. Davis 
Listman further agrees that it will not review, analyze, or grade any application for any (1) 
organization, (2) individual with an ownership interest in an organization, or (3) Individual, 
submitting an application for a marihuana facility license with the City of Pontiac, that it has 
previously represented in any capacity. To the extent permissible pursuant to the. Michigan 
Rules of Professional Conduct, Davis Listman further agrees that it will provide disclosure of 
any such previous representation including (1) the client previously represented, (2) the nature of 
the representation, and (3) the time period of the previous representation. Such disclosure shall 
be updated on an ongoing basis as necessary. 

An Association of Trial and Business Attorneys 
10 ~ l\ll~in ~frcof • ~11i+o .d.01 • l\llf ~lomonc. 1\111 • A~n,t ~ 



Davis Listman has been retained by clients in the marijuana industry. It has not offered 
any legal advice to any client pertaining to any issue in the City of Pontiac and, it is not currently 
aware of any of those clients applying for a license in Pontiac. Davis Listman is not terminating 
its relationship with any clients should it turn out that the client has applied in Pontiac. It will 
disclose the relationship to Pontiac and advise Pontiac to use another law firm to serve as 
"Professional Advisor to City Clerk" to review any matter relating to that client. 

During the course of this engagement, Davis Listman, PLLGand Robert Charles Davis, 
Esq, are prohibited from providing any legal representation for the City of Pontiac in any 
capacity other than as identified herein. 

Rates and Charges. In order to manage costs, Mr. Robert Charles Davis will be principally 
responsible for the Representation. Other attorneys and professional staff may be utilized as 
appropriate. A short bio of Mr. Davis is attached. Hourly rates will be as follows: 

$200.00 per hour for Robert Charles Davis and Firm Associates 
$90.00 per hour for staff, if necessary 

The cost for this Representation will not exceed $50,000 unless otherwise agreed upon. 
Invoices will be addressed to the City of Pontiac, c/o Interim City Clerk Garland Doyle, 47450 
Woodward Ave, Pontiac, MI 483.42. There will be no increase in the rates set forth above. 
During the term of the Representation, out of pocket expenses, if any, will be sent directly to the 
Client for payment. A detailed invoice will be provided on monthly basis and due net 30 days. If 
necessary, costs or collection, including attorney fees, are chargeable to the Client. 

Federal Law. As you are aware, marihuana is currently still illegal under federal law. The laws of 
the State of Michigan and the City of Pontiac that allow for medical marihuana are not 
recognized by the federal government or by federal law enforcement authorities. State and local 
law has no effect on applicable federal laws, which may impose criminal and civil penalties for 
the possession, transportation, sale, or distribution of marihuana or for any activity related to 
marihuana products, services, businesses, or other activities. We are not providing any advice 
with respect to any federal law, including federal marihuana laws, implicated by the City of 
Pontiac's decision to regulate and license medical marihuana facilities. 

Other Legal Matters. We are Special Counsel to the Client. We only represent the Client to the 
extent provided herein. We will not provide advice, including legal advice, on any matter outside 
the scope of this letter. Client should contact its General Counsel on any matters falling outside 
the scope of the Representation. 

Dispute Resolution. If any dispute arises regarding the services provided to the Client by us or 
the charges for those services and related expenses, then we and the Client will first try in good 
faith to settle the dispute directly. If the dispute is not resolved, it shall be submitted to a third
party neutral the facilitator in accordance with the mediation rules of the American Arbitration 
Association. If the dispute is not resolved in mediation, the dispute shall be settled through 
binding arbitration in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American 
Arbitration Association except as modified here. Judgment upon the award may be entered in 
any court competent jurisdiction, The mediation and arbitration proceedings, including any 
hearings, shall be held in the Detroit metropolitan area. Client and we agree that neither is 



entitled to or shall request punitive or exemplary damages and that the arbitrators shall not have 
the authority to award such damages or any damages in excess of actual pecuniary damages. 

Termination. The City of Pontiac, by resolution of City Council, or Robert Charles Davis, by 
written notice to the City Clerk, may terminate this engagement at any time, with or without 
cause, upon 30 days notice to the other party, whereupon a final invoice will be provided and all 
accounts settled. 

Document Retention. Generally, a client must be given advanced written notice of an attorney's 
intent to destroy retired files. It is our policy to destroy a file alter a period of three (3) years 
from the last service date. By agreeing to this Representation, Client consents to the destruction 
of the closed tile after three (3) years, without advanced written notice to the Client of our 
intention to destroy the file. Should you wish a copy of that file before that deadline, the 
obligation of contact resides with the Client. 

Please sign below and return this letter to me electronically or by mail. By signing this 
letter, you acknowledge that you have read, understood, consent to, and have had the opportunity 
to consult with independent counsel regarding the terms of this letter, and that you have the 
actual authority to enter into this Representation. 

Very truly yours, 

Davis L/'/'fi 
By:~L1t:l-
Robcfrt Charles Davis 

RCD/tmj 

Terms and Conditions Approved By: 

The City of Pontiac 

By: _________ _ 
Deirdre Waterman, Mayor of Pontiac 



ROBERT CHARLES DA VIS 

WORK: (586) 469-4300 
EMAIL: RDA VIS@DBSA TT0RNEYS.C0M 

EDUCATION 

University of Detroit School of Law 
Degree: Juris Doctor, December 1986 

Central Michigan University 
Degree: Master of Arts, Public Administration, August 1983 

U.S. Merchant Marine Academy, Kings Point, New York 
Degree: Bachelor of Science, Nautical Science, June 1981 

Commissioned Officer, Lieutenant J.G., U.S. Coast Guard, June 1981 

WORK EXPERIENCE 

Davis Burket Savage Listman 
September 1, 2006 - Present 

Litigation and appellate practice with focus on municipal, environmental and land use matters. 

MUNICIPAL LEGAL SERVICES 

General Counsel, Addison Township, 2010 to Present 
General Counsel, Village of Oxford, 2013 to Present 
General Counsel, City of Marine City, 2016 to Present 
General Counsel, Village of New Haven, 2006-2013 
General Counsel, Southeastern Oakland County Resource Recovery Authority, 2001 to Present 
General Counsel, Southeastern Oakland County Water Authority, 2001 to Present 
General Counsel, Washtenaw Regional Resource Management Authority 
Special Counsel, Macomb Township, 2017 to Present 
Special Counsel, Washtenaw County, 2016.to Present 



ACADEMIC AND APPELLATE PRACTICE EXPERIENCE 

Adjunct Professor -- University of Detroit Mercy School of Law 
(a) Law of Hazardous Waste. Initial course development and instruction. 
(b) Michigan Water Law. Initial course development and instrnction. 

Client And/Or Attorney References Available Upon Request 

Lead counsel through Trial and Appeal on attached Case Listing 

114 cases to Michigan Court of Appeals 
38 cases to Michigan Supreme Court 
5 cases to 6th Circuit Comt of Appeals 

3 cases to United States Supreme Court 

2 





CITY OF PONTIAC CITY COUNCIL 

RESOLUTION TO SCHEDULE A PUBLIC HEARING REGARDING 
OPTION TO PURCHASE PERDUE SCHOOL 

Whereas, the City of Pontiac has received an offer from the Community Housing Network 
to enter into an option agreement to purchase the 25 S. Sanford Street, Pontiac, Michigan 
also known as Perdue School; and 

Whereas, the option agreement provides that the property will be sold by the City of and 
purchased by the Community Housing Network for a purchase price of $600,000.00 as 
well as other considerations; and 

Whereas, Administrative staff has determined the option agreement to be in the best 
interests of the City; and 

Whereas, Pontiac Charter Section 3.113, Transfer of City Property; Contracts, requires 
public notice and hearing prior to the sale or disposal of City-owned property; 

Now, Therefore, the City Council of the City of Pontiac sets a public hearing regarding 
the potential sale of 25 S. Sanford Street, Pontiac, Michigan also known as Perdue School 
to be held at the City Council meeting to be held on September 28, 2021, and further 
directs the City Clerk to publish notice of same in a paper of general circulation. 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL, Pontiac, Michigan, this __ day of 

-------' 202. 

AYES: ----------

NAYS: ----------

I, Garland Doyle, Interim Clerk of the City of Pontiac, hereby certify that the above Resolution is a true copy 
and accurate copy of the Resolution passed by the City Council of the City of Pontiac on _______ _ 
2021. 

GARLAND DOYLE, City Clerk 

Dated: ________ , 2021 



OPTION AGREEl\rnNT 

This Option Agreement ("Agreement") is made and entered into this ___ d,1y or 
. 202 l. between the City n!' Pontiac. whose nddn:ss is 47450 Wood\\i.1rd 

;\ wnue. Pontiac. Michigan 48342 (hercinaf'!er, "Optionor") and Community Housing Network, 
Inc .. ,1 Michigan nonprul'it corporation. with o!fo:cs localed al 5505 Curporntc Dr. Suite .100, Troy 
ivl l 48098 (hereinafter "Optionee''), 

Recitals: 

WI 11:RFAS. Optionor is thl' owner ol' 1,:criai11 properly locatt::d at S Sanford Sr. Pontiac .. 
M khiga11 4-8342. being Props:rty ID # 14-28 .. 455-00 L more p:micularly tkscrihcd on the auadwd 
Exhibit A incorporated herein by rcforcncc (the ''Property"); 

WllFRL!\S. Op1ionce dcsirl:s to obtain n11 cxdusiv1} option tu purchase (he Prupcrty from 
Opttonur and Optinnor is prepnn:d to grunt t,1 Optiu11t:\e such option. al! ns hen:inartcr defined. 

NOW, Tl IERCFORC for ~111d in cunsidcrntio11 or the mutual covcnanH cu11taincd in this 
i\grce111c11L nnd l<H' other good and valuubk i,;onsideration, till~ reci:ipt and suffkkncy of which 
nn: hen:by ncknowlcdgecl. the parties hcrclo agree ,i:,; !'ul lo'\\s; 

1. Gnint; Tenn of Option. Optionor i~rnnts l(.1 Optionce tlK· cxclthivc option tn purch;1,;c 
the Property (the "Option'') for the Purchase Price described below, subject to the terms and 
conditions hereof, This Option is effective from the date above set forth ("ElTectivc Date"') until 
5:00 p.111. on the 31st dny of fvlarch, 2023 (the "Term"), In the event Optionee docs not timely and 
properly exen.:ise the Option prior tn the expiration oftht Term. lhis i\g1\:c111..:nt shall uutmnatil'ally 
tcnninale without notice l\l Opth)ncc and tl11-·n:alkr slrnll be uf' no forct or clTe1:t. In addition. ii' 
Opiiu11ce cxercist'S the Option rirndy nnd properly hut fai Is tn timely consurnmatr the purd1,.1s"~ of 
the Property in neeordancc with the l0r111s or this Agreement through no C:nilt of Optionor. 
Optioncc · s rights hereunder sh al I hr or no furt h<:.r l'or1,.:t) and e !Teet nnd ii' such Li i I ure eonsti tut cs n 
dcfmtlt by Optionec hen:undcr, Opliornir ma,v pursu1; t!ithe remedies nvnilahk t\l ()p!ionnr as nn.: 
pruvid ... ·d hs:rcin. al lmv ,)r in ,.:quity. Any exercise of the Option shull he strktly in accordirncc ,vilh 
tile terms licrcul'. 

2. Initial Earnest Deposit/Option Pavnicnt. \Vithin !Ive (5) business duys ur the Lflcctivc 
Dute, the OplionCL' shall pay lo the Oplionor an initial dqmsit m1HHlnl ol' Five Thousand and 00/100 
Dollars ($5/)00,00) (the "Op!ion l\1ymc111''). In the event the Opti\Jfl Pay1n,:11t is 11ut rcc(·ived hy 
the Optinnor wh~'n spccilfod, the Optionor may terminate this r\gn:cmcn\ and U1L' parties shall han:: 
no f'mther oh ligations licrcundcr. Tile Opti\111 Payment ,viii lH.'c1m1c 11n11-reft1mJahlc when Optiuncc 



ubtnins ,1 rcscrvathin or ion lnx cnxlib frnm thtc.: Michig,111 Slnte Housing 
lkvclopmc111 Authority ( MS! ID;\) or May 15. 2022, whichever occurs cnr!icst 

3. Scco11d Earnest Deposit. Within 5 day:, n!'lhc Oplioncc 11btui11i11g a n:scnuliun ol Scdion 
42 tax credits from MS! !Ui\ or May l 5. 2022, whichever llCcurs earliest the Optioncc shall pay 
to the Optionnr a11 additiuirnl Erirncst Deposit amount ol'Tcn Thousand and 00/l 00 Dullms 

I OJJ00.00) (!he "Second Earnest D0posit''). F:xccpL nl sd hxth in this ;\gr1:c1ncm lhc '.'il'l'.U11d 
1::nrnest Deposit \Viii become n1HHCltmdnhk upon the Optionor's re~:i:ipt. ln the event the 
Second Earnest Deposit is !lilt rcceiv1)d by till: spct·ilil'd l\1111:, lhe f)ptionor nrny Lcnnirwk this 
1\gt·cc1nc111. ,rnd the parties sh,111 have ,iu !\1rthcl' 1)hlignlinn:'i IK'l'cu11dcr. 

4, Option Extension. The Optioncc ,;hall have the right t<) extend the Tc,rm or this Option 
upnn \\Tllli:11 nntitkatinn to !ht: Optionor f(H' 01k' ( l l (tdditio1rnl peri{)d of sL\t) (60) days. ln 
cxltind. the Optionct· sllall n11Lil'y !he Optinnol' (1l'this ckction i11 Viriling at knst 10 dnys prinr tu 
the cxpirnllon nf this Option. 

5. lVleHrnd of Exercising Option. Tu exercise this Option. tile OptirnH.'C shall notify (he 
Optionor in ,\riling thrtt i~, it cxc,·cising the ()ption and such nolicc shall h: received by t!it· 

Optkinor on or be fr ire tht' explrntion or the Tcrrn or this Optin11. 

6. Purdrnst' Price. The tlllal purchas(; price ("Pun:hnse Price'') of the real property upon 
t:.\ercise nf1his Option :\gn:.:llh.:nt shnll ht an (1111oun1 l:qual to SL\ llundn:d Thuusand Dollars rrnd 
/,eni Cents ($600.()00). 

7. Title. Vv'ilhin 30 days or the Effective Dute. Optinnec shall tl!'ch.:r :1 Titk Cnmrni11rn.•11l !'or 
an Owner's Pnlky of title lnsuram:c naming the Optionec as the proposed insured v,ith coverage 
in the nmount or the Pur~hasc Price ur $(J00,000. Within th i l'iy (30 l cnlcndm days ur receipt or the 
l'itlc Commitrncnt, lilt: Optinnte shnll 11oti!) the Optionor in writing of any restrictions. 
reservations, limitations, c[1scnwnts, liens, and other conditions of record (the ·'Title Defocts"), 
discl,)scd i11 the Title t'omrnitmcnt that v\\)tild unrensonahly intt:r!i:rc with the Optioncc'r; propnst:d 
use nf' the Property, Should I.he Optio11c1:: notify tlK: Oplin111w o!"_ nny such Title lkl,~cts. the 
Optionor shn 11 have thirty (30) en lcndnl' days tn cure ot· n:mme same, I 1· such rcns(111nblc objccti1lD'., 
are not 1.,:ured ,vithin such thirty (JO) clay pcrind, the Optiorn:e 11wy .. at the Oplioncc's option, 
tcrn1irntlc this i\gr~x·nw11L or altenrnlhely set a date with the Optionor to extend the time period tn 
cure the Tl!l1,; Defects. In the evcnl such l\'.<lS<mnbh: objc<.:tions arc nut cured within sui;h thirty (.\0) 
dny pcrio\.L or any ~':-.:tenskll1 the1·cDI', and th<.: Option(•c ekch 11ol to wai\:t"' it:-: title objt'.ctioiH, !he 
Uptio11ce 111:iy krrnlnatc this Agrccrnent. lhi.: Option Payment and ult Fan11;.•sl !),;posits shall he 
!\;turned, nnd 11e it her pnny shall lw h' any h1rtht'I' rcsponsi hi i ity ur I inbi Ii ly I 1er1:;t111der the 
1\greemc11L 

8, Survey, Within thirty (JO) days nr the Lflectivc Dnt..;. Optionec rnny (hut .:;hall have n1., 
ohlignlion to) order a Property surv1:y (''Survey"). Optione1:: shall provide the rcs1dts of any :..;urvcy 
tu Oplionnr withi11 three (3) days o!'recciving smnc. Optioncc shnll lw\e thirt:v (JO) days to nutil:v 
Oplionor in,, riling ul' any 1lh,iccrin11s lo the Survey tlwt will. in its rca);u11nhlc judgement. hinder 
its i ntt::nded use or the Property. Opt k)rh.:c slw I l be dccn11.:d h) Im vc· accepted Ill,: Property w ilh 
t\~spccl to till rnnltcrs within the S11rvcy 111 th,; ahscnc,: of a ti1m:ly :rnd pi-op1.~r nhjcctio11. Optionor 
,,hall h-ivi.: thirty 00) dny::. al'ter receiving \,rittcn nnticc 01· Dtl) objcdi()IIS w cure ihc objcctiorh. 
if it ch()(J'.,c:, to d\l so. I I' OptionPI' dnc~, not cure th:: \)hjcctin11s, OptimK·c may cith1.:r: ( i) ncCL'Pl the 



Properly as set fi11th in the survey withnul reduction in pmch:isc price, or (ii) terminate the 
Agn:cn1c11L receive a refund n!' Lhe Oplio11 Payment and all Enrncsl Lkposib. and neither Optionnr 
nor Optionc(.: shrill have any t11rthcr obligati1)IJ:i u11,kr this i\grccmcnt Ir Optionec obtains :1 

Survey, with the parties· mutual consent, the legal description contained in such Survey may be 
used for all do._:umcn!s !'elated \o this trnri:;a<;tion. 

1J, Right to Enter Propcrtv. From and HIier the E!Tcdivc Date, Oplinnor agrees tha! 
Optioncc and its agents and representatives slinlL subject tn arranging nil 011sitc visits wi1h 
Optirn1,w. be entitkd to l111lcr upnn the Prnpcrty for i11spection, snll tests. e;,a111inulion. lund-use 
plmmlng and for any due diligence investigation relating to Optionee's proposed ownership of the 
PropL'l'ly. J\s lo any such investigfllinn. Oplionec shn!I reston) the Prup~\rty tn the smne condilio11 
ns existed prior to any such investigation (,vhkh obligation shall survive: th,:: !l::rn1inalinn 11(:rtof}. 
and sha II not: (i) perform any invasive tests \.Vithout Optionor's prior consent or (ii) interfere with 
lhc puss0ssory rights of Optio11or. ()ptionee :-,hall indcnmify and hold hmm less Oplionnr frnm and 
against. ,md to reimburse Oplionor with resp1:'.Ct tu any and all daims. ckmimds. causes of action. 
loss, damage, liabilities, costs and expenses (including rcasonahle attnrncys' foes and 
disbun;cmcms) asserted ag,iinsl or incmn:d by ( >ptionor by reason of or at'isin[.: uut or any such 
on-silo inv1:stigalio11. it being acknovvkdged that nil such obligations shall survive Closing or the 
t0nninnliu11 of this Agreement. Upon request. Oplioncc shall provi<k evid1.'ncc ol' linhility 
insurnncc which shall supplcmtn! Optioncc's indernnity obligation. 

I 0. Due Diligence Period. The Oplio11c1:: shall ltS<J the Term of Option to cunduct such 
investigations a;:; lhi.:'. Opti11nec deems neccssary in 01lkr tu determine whether th..: Propt:rty is 
suitable !'or the Uptioncc's intended use. Such due diligence rnny incluck, but shall not bt: limited 
to: 

(a) 

(h) 

lnvcstiu:utin!.l, rhe availabilitv n!' utilitv services. includinu: hut thH limikd to. ~{as, 
\,_ .,__. ~ •' ~ '•, -

water. eknricit>. sanitary sewer, stor1n sewer and tclcphnnc service, with 'illifickm 
capacity to meet the Optioncc's requirements for such utility services; 

Investigating ull npplicnbk /oning ordinances. rcgulntions, building codes and 
rcs\rktions tu determine ,1,,hclhcr sut.:h ,,ill permit use uf tl11:: Properly frir the 
Optionee's intended use; 

!\•laking soil lcsts. bnrings and othel' c11vinHrn1<-:ntal. cnginccring and an.:hi1c·cU1rnl 
tests to <1sccrL1in that the Property is suitable ror conslru1_·ti1)1) o!' the irnpnlvcrncnh 
contcrnplmcd by th0 Opt iuncc: 

Lktcrmining wh0lht5r th,: City ol' l\lnliac will uppruvc a site plan nnd issue a 
building permit lilr thi.'. focility or project the Optionce desires lo construct Pll th,i 
Property: 

Lktern1ini11g \vht:ther the ( 'ity or Pnnli,ic \viii nppl'O\L' a Pay1111211t In Lieu ol Ta\L's 

OrJi11.1ncc fnr the !)l'ojcct th\., Optio11ec desires to construct nn the Prupcrty; 

Receipt ol' u Cornmitmctll :111dhlr R,:sc1·vathln nr Scctio11 42 ta;,; credits l'roin lhv 
i'vlkhigan S!ntc I lousing [kvclopincm ,\uthudt:-, in an clllWtml ·,atisl'aclory to 
Optionce: 



(g) Receipt 1)f a Commilinc11t for a mortgage !oc111 111 an ,1rnoun! satisrm:!oi-y lo 
Opti011cc: 

(h) 1\ current apprnisal suppnning !he h1rdwsc f>ricc; 

That the Optionc(· has t1hlni11ed the c1ppnwal o!' all pan 
cnntcmpbtcd by this Agreement. 

rnr the trnmrnction 

I .!p(lll th; exercise or lh1;: ( )ption. Op1io11t:1:' shall he dct.:rn1:d Ill lwvc sntislied and 
\Vaivcd the contingencies set i(Jrlh in this Section<). 

11. Property Maintenance. Oplio11cc ngrcc:; tn pcd1H·m lmvn 11rnintcnance n11d snow rcml1v<1I 
on the Proptrty urn! nssunw 11nancial responsibility fr)r eompcns<1li11g p:irtks ln compk:tc this 
vvork. rrom tlK· date the 1\grecment is fully cxeeuted llffough C ng. Oplionor agrc\..·s that all 
propcny 11rninlctHt11cc expenses incrnT,:d b) the Optim1,ii.c during the tcrn1 of tli;.: ugr"·ernent ·,viii be 
cn;ditcd tr, the Optkit1ec ut Closing, 

l ) Conditions to the Optionee's Obligation to Close, 111 addition (u all other cnndition.s SCl 

fiirth in this Agrcc1m\11L the \lbligalitin o!' the Optiorn:c to cnnsummati: the pun:hthL:lsak 
cuntcmplatvd hereunder shall be contingent upon the r11llmving: 

(a) Optionor's representations and warranties contained herein shull h,; true mid con:ccl 
in all material n,spccts a::; nr the date ()r this ;\grcerncnl ,md till' Closing I ):1t1:: 

(b) ;\s ol'the Ck1sing D,1ll'. Optiom,r shall huvc pcrfi1nmxl its obligations hereunder in 
nil mntt:rlnl t\!Spt:,:ls and nll d,:livt.:rk·, to he nind<..· at Cln•;ing by Ortiti11nr shnl! huvc 
been tendered: 

(c) ;\s of'thc Closing Date. there shall exist no pending action. suit ur pro~:c\:ding with 
respect to (Jptiornir hcltir-: ur by any court or adrninislrati\C :igency ,vhich seeks tn 
restn.dn or prohibit, or to obtain darnagt:s or a di:,eovcry order \Vilh respect lo. lhh 
1\grcc1ncnt or the cnnsumrnmin11 ot'tlw trnnsaetion contemplated hcn.:hy. 

I 3, Assig111111:nt. Oplinnec shall lrnvc lhe right tn assign this Optin11 i\greclllt:lll tu crnmullcd 
entities lo he formed by providing written nnticc lo Optionnr. 

14. Closi11g, Prior (o the Closing ol'the s,dc, it shall hi;,' till'. respnn,,ihility or the Optioncc lu 
(i) med the npplkahle deadlines (ii) procure ll1,: ncc(:Ssmy approv:ds ,tnd ( iii) ;.:ausc tile npprnpriatc 
closing docrnm:nts tri bs:: pl'q,nrcd. The C!nsii1g of tile· sale shall occur by tht: pnyrncn!. or the 
Pmdrnsc Price hy the Optinncc. less any 111\:Yinusly paid Opt inn Pa:, nh:lll nnd Lamest D(.'posih, 
and by the c:,;ccution and 1.klivcry ni'a Warranty Deed hy th;: Optionor. lhls :,,ah; :ilrnll ht~ clns~:d 
Iw later than Septcrnl1L't', 2023. Posscssio11 sh,d! he delivcn:d nt tilt:'. ti111t: DI' C!nsing. unlc:;s 
dclivcn:d prior Lo Clusi11g by lhe mutual cuI1scI1t ol'b,Jth pnnies, 

15. Notices. All notices. demands nnd \ither ... ·mmrn111icatiu11s hctTtmder shall h\..' i11 \Hiting m1d 
shall be dl:c111cd ttl lnive bcc11 dul." given when pliy:;kally iklivcrcd nr th1·ce Ul day:; alter lrnving 
hcett de1xlsited in the U11ik'd States 011:til. ,HJdn:'>scd tn 11,c n:.;ipicnt as 1'1Jllm\s: 



I!' Lu Oplionor: 

City u!' i>onti,lC 
4 7450 Wo\iLh\ard !\ VL' 

Pontiac, fv11 48342 

Michelle Brinkmann 
Vice Prcsidt:nl n!' Ren! l>,tatv 
Community Huusing NdWlll'lc Inc. 

5 Corpnrnlc Di-. Su 300 
Truy. ivl I 48098 

! 6. Successors and Assigns. 'l lfr;; Op!ion agrccrncn( slrnll inmc lo the bcncfil n!' the pmtk~;· 
sul'..ccssors and assigns. 

17. Due Diligence Hems, :\s :,t1\1n as rcn:,nriably possible following tlh~ 1-Jli::ctive Date, the 
Hl!lmving items (collectively. the "Due Dilig..:ncl' ltcms") shall he obtained hy and/or delivered to 
the Optio11cc: 

(a) Optin1111r shall dt:livcr tn Opti\rn,:c a Cllpy of any cxisli11g cnvironlllL'lllnl rcpurh of 
th1: Propcl'ly, if nny, in Optionor1s possession. 

Optioncc ncknow!cdgcs nnd agrees that cxcc·p! fnr such it...·ms ,vhkh :ire in the puhlic 
records, !IK: lhw Diligence Items me prnprktmy nnd conlidcntiul i11 nature :md have hi:en 01· will 
1,c made ,1vnilabl0 to Oplin111.:c ~l)kly to assist Opti,rnc~· in deh.:rmining lilt: rcnsihilit>' ol'purchasinv 
the Property, Optinncc agrees nut tu di:,clo~:c tht Dt.1c Diligence Items or n11y oi' the provisions, 
terms or conditions thereof to ~iny party outside of Optionee · s 1)rgani1,alion except: (i J n:; tu 
Optioncc's ac<.:ounlants, attorneys, lcndci's. prospective lenders. investors nnd/or prospective; 
investors (co!lectivdy, the '·Permitted Outside Partk:s''). (ii) contractors oht::dncd lo provide new 
or updated rcp,ll'ls regarding th1s: Property. and (iii) as nrny be n:quin:d by !;1,v. ln pcrmitti11g 
Opti<.HK'c nml the Pcrmiucd Outskk Parties tu revie\\· Lhc Due Diligcnn' lkms to assist Optioncc. 
Opl iunor has nut waived nny prh i lcgc or clai rn or cnn !!dent ial ity \\ i1 h respect lhcrdo nnd no third 
party bc.:ndits or nny kind. either expressed or irnpli1;:d, h:iv,; been ulTc.red, intended nr crcakd hy 
Optionur aml nny such clai111s arc expressly rejected by Optiunor rn1d \Vil!H'.(l by Optio11cc. 

Optinncc slrnll return lo Optinnnr all ur the Dw:: Diligcncc lk~nis nnd nny n11d nll cupi..::s 
Optionce has made o!' thc Due Diligcnc,; Items nl :,uch time as 1l11<, /\grcc11w11t is tcnninated. 
Optioncc's obligations under this Set;tion 1(1 shall survive the t<.:nnina!iun n!'tlfr, i\gr,:cn1cnt. 

Optionec acknowkdgcs thut the Due Diligence Items may lrnvc been p1·epmed by third 
pnnies other than Optinnnr. Optionee t'urther ,.tcknmvkJges at1d ugrccs llwt ,:;;(:t:pl ns sp~'.cil'ic,dly 
ickntilfod or nlllcrwi:;,: stt !'ot'1h hcr::i11: (i) ricither Opti11nor nor ;111y of its olTit:crs, ng~:nts. 
ernployl·cs or <:Olllrnctors lrnvc mudc lltlY \\'<trrn1ny 1>r representation 1\·gardi1112 tlw lrttlh. ac,:mucy 
or compklcncss of the l )u1;• Dilige1Kl: !terns or th(: sources thereof 1.H1d Uptioncl: has not rclkd on 
llK· (nllh or cornplct0m:ss o!' the Due Dilig1.)llCl' ltcms n11d (ii) Optinnor h:.1s 11<1! u11<knakc11 any 
i11dcpL~mk11t inH'Sl ign!ion as lo !he truth. a1:cur;1cy :rnd cnrnpkk:11(:ss of the Due I Jili;1l:1wc Items 
and b providing the Due Diligcnc1: llcrm, ur ni:1ki11t;. tlw !Jue l)iligcnn'. 111:ms av,lilnhk lP Op! ionc~: 
S(llcly us ,111 <1cc<11r11nodati(lli lo ( )pti1->lh:t.'. 

18, Permitted Kxt~cptions, Uptionur shall l'1111 Lht: Pn)11crl~ tn Op!irnH:l' subject lo (i) 

cascnwnts, use restric1ions, and dghh of publk utili1i(:s .is evidenced by llw Titk Co111mitmc1n 
and math~rs which ,vould he disclosed b:,, an accttnitc -;urvl'y or 1hc Pn•pcrty, (ii) C\l\i}t1:111ts, 



conditions. prinHc c<ist'.111cn1s and rcstrktions. (iii) r,:al cstak taxes and assessments fur th1;.• tl1{.:n 
nHTt.'nt ycur as an.: not due and paynh!t: a:; ul' the date of C'lllsing. and (iv) encumbrances m 
exceptions (\\ title sh()\\'11 on the Title Con1mitmcm :md/u1· Survc1 tci which Optiu11ec d,1cs 110( 

obj,icl nr \vhicli with Optioncc's crm~,cnl arc waived and acccptcd or insured. 

Optionor's Obligations at the Closing. i\t the Clnsing, ( )ptionor shall: 

(n) exccmc nnd delircr tq Opllom:c the Wnrrnnly Deed C(\11vcying the Prnperty: 

(b) execute n11d deliver lo Optiurn.:L' a Nnn"r:orcig11 Pc1·sons i\ ffidnvit in the fnr111 
allached ht:1\:lo as Exhibit B: 

(c) cxccute nnd deliver tu Uplioncc su1:h oll11.:r chlcumcnl::; ur in:,trnrncnls ns nrny ht, 
required under this Agreement. or as otherwise r1;;q11ircd in Optionee·s n::a:,1111ahk 
opinion to err·cctuatc thi: Closing. 

20. Closin£ Costs. i\t the Clnsing, Optinncc slrnll pay to Clptionor tl1t: net Pun:;h,be Price, 
Optionor and Optin1wc ~:hnll he equally rcsponsibk for nil title curnp:.u1y costs to clo;;i.\ c:,_ccpt that 
( )p!iunor slrnll ht; sohily respnnslbk for nil premiums and fees rclakd to the Title Policy. including 
cmlnrscmcnt pl'cmiurns ill' an)1 charges fl'll' extended CPverngc endorsements mid ail trnnsfcr laXC'., 
due upnn recording (>f th,'. Deed. if a11y. and (Jption..:c sh<ill be sokly respo1biblc r,)r rccnrdi11µ: [1;.•es 
and ,my escrow i:lwrges. l(nch party shal I pay their own attorneys· fees, 

2 ! . Prorations. Real cstali: t.uxi.:s. watc1· und sewer rcnh und !;hmgcs on the\ PnlJKTly. ins.:ludin1:, 
special assessments th:it arc due nnd puyahlt: us n!' th~: Closing, :-;hall be pnid hy Optionor. Real 
cstalc taxes nnd special asscs),nv:nts due in the )\:ar o!'Closlng slwll h,: pron1tcd nm! udjust1:.'d as 11f' 
the Closing with llv.; Optionor responsible for sums Jue to tlh2 date 1li' Closing und Optiunvc 
rcsponsibk frir sums due on the datt· or Closing nnd thcreal'tcr. (>ptit)ncc slrnll b1: rcspon;:;ible to 
pay nny and nil charges. taxes, special a::is('ssments nr 1llher payrni::nh due Hlr the Property after 
thi.· dak or Clo,,ing. 

22. Posst'ssion. Optionor shall deliver exclusive posscssinn or the Property tu Opti1llll'e nl 

Clo:,ing. 

2,3. J)eflttdt hv ()ptionor. In the event that ()plionor should lail tu t:unsu1nn1ntc the 
pun:hasdsale eontcmplnkd by this Ag1\:enwnl !'or any rt.:ason follo\ving the cxncise ur tilt: Option. 
cxcqJt as pcrniilted in this ;\grcemcnt, except as is the l'l:sull or Optione,c's dcfou!I, and/or except 
lt1r the failure of any of the 0011<.!Hions to Optionor's obligations hcri:;under to be satisl1ed or 
waived. nnd such foilurc cu11U11ues !'or !he (5) business days following reccip! o!' wrilll.:n ll()tice 
frnm Oplinnee ot'such (kfoult. Opt1u11ur shall bv in dcl'ault. \Vh\:n Opli1rnor is in ckfoulL Option~·c 
nwy krrninate this ;\gn.:crncnt by gh, i11g prompt 1\l'il.kn nntic,: then:or L11 Opti,mur ,md 1·ccch e ll1c: 
Option Pay1nc11t nnd F:C1rncst Dt·p,bits hack !hm1 Optiu1mr, 1\r 11w:1 :-ipccifica!ly cnfun:c this 
J\gn::cnH.:nl. 

24. Defa u Ii bv Optiom:l'. In th\..' l:V\..'lll Opt iont'(: slw1 tld foi I to n 1nsum 11 talc till: purcliasclsn k 
contc1npl~1tcd herein fhr any n:nsoI1. cxcrpt dcfoult hy Opti\)llOI'. Optionor 111ny rctHin the Oplio11 
Payment and nny previously paid hmn,:::st Deposits und terrnitwk this 1\grcc111cnt hy giving prornp! 

written notice th,;rcn r to Opt i1Jnee. 



Brokcrnue Commissions. Fach party represents that nn broker has h<)\.'11 i11rnlvcd in this 
transac\inn. Optionnr und Optluncc ugrz:c that ii' an:, other claims for brokerage co111rni:.;skrn:, me 
ever made agui11s1 Optionur nr Optionec in uirnh:.'ciin11 \Villi thi:; trnnsactio11. nil claims shall he 
handkd and paid by the pmty \Vllosc actions or nlkgcd cornmitrnc11ts !'onn the ba:,is ur :mch cl:drn. 

26. Risk of Loss. A 11 risk n!' hlss or d:1mnge to i.he l'ropcrty priorto Closing. including. withrn1t 
I irnltation, lnss by fire, windstorm. or 11th1;,•r cusual1y, and except ns cm1scd or nl low,;d hy Optionec, 

slrnll rest with Optionor. IL prior to the Closing. the Propcny is darnagl'd as a result ur fire or Nhcr 
cnsualty, <)ptionor shall give C>pt.iunee \\•rilkn notice thcrco!'und cith1.;r puny ::;hnll have the npU011. 

excrcisahk· by written 110Licc to the olhL~r party within thirty (30) d,.1ys nlli.:l' the \)ccurrc11cc ol' such 
dm11age nr casualty. to tcnninntc this ;\grccrncnt. i11 which ('Vi.:nt neither Optionor nnr Optiorwc 
shall have any further oblig<1tk1ns unch:r this Agreement m1d the Optionte shall receive the prnmpl 
return ()f the Option Puyintnt and l:an1esl Lkposits, H' neith1:•r party kl'rninmcs this ngreerns::n( 

,vilhin such period. the transaction will proceed lh contemplated herein. without an adjustn1cnt tu 
the Purchase Price, and, at Closing, the Optionor shall assign to the Optionec all of Optionor's 
riubl. title and inlercsl in anv in~;urnncc clairnc; relative to the castwltv. 

'- ,,1 ,., 

27. Gon?rning Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, nnd conslrucd 111 ,Kcnrdancc with. 
the laws o!' the: State rd· iVlichigan. without giving effect to prin1.:ipa!s ot' conllicts ol' !av,. 

28. Modification. This t\grcl'ml.'n! 11rny only be modilicd or ntlwrvvisc amended hy :\ written 
instrnrrn:nt exccurcd hy duly nuthorin:d repn::scntativcs o!'Optiu11or and OptimKie, 

JO, Co1mtcnrnrts, This ;\grecmenl may bt: executed in one \)I' murc counl.crporb. each (if' 

whkh shall constitute an original. and all of which tngcthcl' s!rnll constituk (Hll' am! the s,llrh,' 

ins1ru111c11L Agreed and :tl'.ceptt:d as nl' th<;; dntc lirst set forth Hhon:. 

UPTlONOR: 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

I ts: 

COUNTY OF 0,1\KLi\ND 

The foregoing i11stru1m:nt was ack1h1wlcdgt:'d hci'orc me this <h1 ol' June. 20-': I, b) 
. n:-; lhc ____ . oftlw City oi'Po1Him:. 

,\!ohlf}' />11h/ic 
___ Coumy. __ _ 

7 



O!YJ'l()NFF; 

C01\ti\ll iNI lY I IOl1SlNG NET\\ ORK. IN(. 

B:l;J/iU~ ... 
f\fo.:helk Brinkmnnn 

Its: Vice Presrd<:nt or Real Estate 

ST J\l E OF MICHIGAN 

COllN fY OF OAKL\ND 

Acting in ----···· Count.:,. 
ivly CPmrnission b:pin.'s: 

!'\;SI Rl ;MIST DRMTFD RY: 
.lcffr,.,) S. l~ragt. hq, 
I.aw Ot'liccs ol'h•ITrcy S, Krag\. l'l LC 
410 \\', l niH?.rsit} Dr" Stt. 20tl 
Rochester. \ 11 4830 7 
2•!8-<i.18-4%0 

\\Ill\; RECOIU)! I). r~Fn R:,,_; TO· 
Jc !Yrcy S. I~ rngt. Fsq. 
Lnv, Offlc0s 1.if.kl'lh:~ S ~rag1, Pl IC 
-11 () \\. l oivcrsit) Dr . Stt', '.;00 
Ro<.:he~!t:'f'. lvl! ,18107 
248-Qlg .. \<;(l() 



Tn~( Id Numhcr(s): l-1-28-455-00 I 

EXHIBIT A 

PARCEL 

TJN. RI OF. Sl:C ARDMOIU: t\N i\DDI IION LOT 67 TO 86 I 'L & V;\C 1\IJJ_'): 
;\l)J ALSO CITIZENS DEV. COS ADD, LOTS 1()7 TO 210 INCi. & LO I'S l'O 22() 
INCL&. V ;\(' POR OF ARDMORE ST I. YIN<, ADJ1\CTNT. 



EXHIBIT B 

S;:di,m I 4,i5 of the lnl('l'!l,ll Revenut: Cmk prn1, kks thn! ,1 tr,1nsfer,ie i pnrclrn:-cl'J ,,r al initcd State,, re,il p1\1pcrty 
iut<:r,:sl 111l!Sl ,,i!hhold tax if the li'clllolel'or (~clkn is; ll f'tireign !)t;'l:,\)11, This al iida,i! is ln 1nforn1 i111,'1\:,h:d 

p<1rtics that withholding or ta;x is 1101 required upon ilw dbposition or n l Jnitcd Slate:; rcal property 
inkrest by City Of Pontiac ("Transferor"), the undersigned ecrtltfos the following on behalf nfTninsforor: 

I. Tran~krnr is nnt a for(;ign .:nrpnr;1ti1m, for,iign parrn,:p;hip, l'urdgn tnht. or 1,weig11 cstme (a~ tlwse 
1s:rn1S an: dd'tm:d in the Internal Rcvcnui: Code: and !111.:onH.' Tax Regulations): 

2. Transferor's United Stutes i.'mploy0r itkniifieation number is _____ _ 

3. Trnnsfomr's office ,1ddrcss is ___ _ 

Trnnsli:ror unJcrs!ands thnt this c.:r(itkation n1ay be Ji:,doscd tn !he: Internal Rcve\111e Se1\1,x b> Transl't:rce 
and !lint any false ,tat"rnent c,in!alncd herein c:rntld be punished by line, imprisonment. (l1 bnth. 

l)nd.:r prnultks ofpe1JU1}, I dedare that l haw c:w111ll11,d thi,; cNti!icntio1ni11d tu tlw best ofmy kll\)1vkdgc 
and hclk!' it i~ true. correct, ,,nd complete, and I fortl1L·1· dee Ian: that I have :H1tlwrity to ~ig,11 thb dncument 01\ bchal I' 
nf Trnnsleror. 

By: 

/'rim \ame. 





AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENT IN LIEU OFT AXES 

between 

COMMUNITY HOUSING NETWORK, a Michigan Non-Profit Corporation 

and 

The City of Pontiac 

Dated 2021 _____ _, 



AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENT IN LIEU OFT AXES 

THIS AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENT IN LIEU OF TAXES (this "Agreement") is made 
and entered into as of the __ day of ____ , 2021, by and between COMMUNITY 
HOUSING NETWORK, a Michigan Non-Profit corporation (Developer), and the CITY OF 
PONTIAC, a municipal corporation (City). (Developer and the City are collectively referred to in 
this Agreement as the Parties and are individually referred to as a Party.) 

WHEREAS, the Developer is a developer as evidenced in provided formation documents 
of a limited dividend housing association limited partnership, formed in Michigan, to own the 
Project and is typically eligible to be exempt from paying applicable property taxes; 

WHEREAS, the Developer, upon being issued all applicable land use entitlements from 
the City, proposes to develop the real property located at 25 S Sanford, Pontiac, Michigan (Parcel 
Number: 14-28-455-001 (Property), and plans to build 76 residential units at the former Perdue 
School, with associated site improvements (Project), as shown on the plans attached hereto as 
Exhibit A; 

WHEREAS, it is the intention of the Parties that the Developer make annual payments to 
the City for the term of this Agreement, in lieu of payment of real property taxes on the Property 
when the Project is completed, that would have otherwise been received by the City and placed 
into the City's General Fund, but for the Developer's exemption from payment of real property 
taxes (Exemption); 

WHEREAS, because both the Developer and the City believe it is in their mutual best 
interests to enter into this Agreement establishing and stabilizing the payments that will be made 
in lieu of the Exemption for the term of this Agreement to compensate the City for General Fund 
revenue losses resulting from the Exemption; 

WHEREAS, the payments made hereunder in lieu of the Exemption over the life of this 
Agreement are the real property tax payments payable to the City that would otherwise be required 
based upon the full and fair cash valuation of the Property with the Project completed; 

WHEREAS, in consideration of the recitations set forth above, the City has been authorized 
by its City Council to enter into this Agreement with the Developer, by adoption of an Ordinance 
entitled "City of Pontiac Tax Exemption Ordinance for Perdue Place" pursuant to the authority 
granted under the State Housing Authority Act of 1966 (1966PA346, as amended, MCL125.1401 
et seq); and 

WHEREAS, the Parties have reached this Agreement after good faith negotiations. 

NOW THEREFORE, in exchange for the mutual commitments set forth herein and other 
good and valuable consideration, the parties agree as follows: 

1) PILOT Term. The term of this Agreement shall continue in accordance with the 
City of Pontiac Ordinance for Perdue Place, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 



Notwithstanding anything contrary in this Agreement, If Developer does not purchase the Property 
on or before December 31, 2023, then this Agreement shall be automatically terminated. 

2) Payment in Lieu of Property Taxes. As set forth in the City of Pontiac Ordinance 
for Perdue Place, this Agreement shall be effective from and after the commencement of 
construction or rehabilitation, evidenced by a Notice of Commencement. 

a) During the PILOT Term, the Developer agrees to pay to the City and the 
City agrees to accept from Developer, annual payments calculated in the following manner; 

4% of the Annual Shelter Rents actually collected by the Project during each operating 
year. Annual Shelter Rents mean the total collections during an agreed annual period from 
or paid on behalf of all occupants of a housing project representing rent or occupancy 
charges, exclusive of Utilities. Utilities mean charges for gas, electric, water, sanitary 
sewer and other utilities furnished to the occupants that are paid by the Project. 

Annual payments are in lieu of real property taxes that would otherwise be payable to the City 
from real property taxes that would have been attributable to the Property with the completed 
Project but for the Exemption (the Payments in Lieu of Taxes). Annual Payments in Lieu of Taxes 
shall be made in advance of the beginning of the City's fiscal year for which the payment applies. 
In accordance with the City of Pontiac Ordinance for Perdue Place, each Payment In Lieu of Taxes 
to be paid by the Developer to the City hereunder will be payable to the City on June 30 of each 
respective year for the previous fiscal year during the Term of this Agreement (the Due Date). In 
addition, if the Developer fails to make the payment by the applicable Due Date, then a penalty of 
ten percent of the amount due plus interest at the annual rate of seven percent per annum shall 
accrue daily on the amount due ( excluding any penalties) until the payment (plus penalties and 
interest) has been paid in full, such penalty assessed and charged without further notice. 

b) In the initial year of this Agreement, the Payment in Lieu of Taxes amount 
shall be pro-rated based on the remaining term of the first year of this Agreement compared with 
the beginning of the following City fiscal year. The initial pro-rated Payment in Lieu of Tax 
payment will be due on June 30 of the year following the partial initial year. If the Developer fails 
to make the payment by the applicable Due Date, then a penalty of ten percent of the amount due 
plus interest at the annual rate of seven percent per annum shall accrue daily on the amount due 
( excluding any penalties) until the payment (plus penalties and interest) has been paid in full, such 
penalty assessed and charged without further notice. 

c) The City agrees, during the term of this Agreement, this Agreement will 
exclusively govern the payments of all real and applicable personal property taxes the Developer 
would have been obligated to make but for the Exemption; provided, however, that this Agreement 
is not intended to affect, and will not preclude, other assessments of general applicability by the 
City for services provided by the City to the Project, including, but not limited to, water, solid 
waste and wastewater services, if any. The City agrees the City will not assess any real property 
taxes to the Developer regarding the Project or the Property other than the Payments In Lieu of 
Taxes described in this Agreement. If the Developer at any time is required to pay real property 
taxes, then the Payment In Lieu of Taxes shall be reduced by the amount of those real property 



taxes received by the City. 

d) Unless otherwise provided for specifically herein, this Agreement shall 
not be deemed to waive, preempt or make unnecessary any applicable municipal or governmental 
processes. This includes, but is not limited to zoning, variances, brownfield and economic 
incentives, assessments or fees and that Owners and/or Users are required to submit and participate 
for any appropriate process as provided in the City's ordinances, City Charter, including any 
applicable City Commission(s) and City Council matters and processes. 

3) Developer Conditions and Obligations. As express conditions precedent to this 
Agreement, and as ongoing obligations, the Developer agrees to the following during the term of 
this Agreement: 

a) Contracted Trades. For all construction activity on the site, during construction and 
as part of the Project's perpetual maintenance, Developer shall use its best efforts 
to contract, hire and utilize contractors and sub-contractors having their principal 
place of business in Pontiac or individual trade laborers residing in the City. 

b) Worliforce Development. Developer shall use its best efforts to hire Pontiac 
residents for work and positions within the operations of the Project, both during 
construction and after. 

For conditions 3(a) and 3(b), Developer shall submit a report annually showing the 
sources of job postings, the number of Pontiac residents interviewed, and at least 
one local job services center or resource used to assist in screening for hire Pontiac 
residents. The report shall also include the total number of employees at the Project, 
and the total number of Pontiac residents employed. 

c) Security Plan. In lieu of providing a staffed security guard, Developer's Security 
Plan includes security cameras throughout the Project, secured property entries, 
professionally designed exterior site lighting and relationship building with local 
law enforcement. Developer shall be responsible for and provide ongoing 
maintenance and support for all security equipment and confirm the then working 
condition and training of management on its use in the annual reporting described 
in 3( e )(iii), below. As a condition of waiving a staffed security guard, the Developer 
shall submit a report to the City, not less than quarterly, indicating that the security 
cameras, and monitoring equipment, are in working order, and that all staff have 
been trained in their maintenance and operation. 

d) Affordability. Developer shall rent the units of the Project to Low Income Persons 
and Families in accordance with and as required by Section 42 of the Code, for so 
long as required by Section 42 of the Code. 

e) Management and Maintenance. Day to Day management and maintenance of the 
Project is of significant importance and condition to the ongoing authority of this 
Agreement and the exemption grated herein. As such; 



(i) The Developer shall provide the City and the Building Official with the 
name and address of the Management Company and the name and direct 
contact information (phone and email) of the Management Company's 
primary Manager. This information shall be updated at all times and notice 
of any changes provided to the City within thirty (30) days of any change. 

(ii) The City may inspect the Project annually for ordinance, code or other 
lawful purposes. The Developer shall promptly repair or correct any noticed 
violations as directed by the City's Building Official. In the event the 
Project receives three or more noticed violations for the same issue, this 
Agreement and the exemptions granted herein shall be subject to review as 
set forth in Sections 4 and 5 below. 

(iii)The Developer shall provide an annual report to the City setting forth, at a 
mm1mum: 

1. Vacancy data and rate of retention and re-leasing; 

2. Security incidents, including number of law enforcement 
call/reports; 

3. Any improvements greater than $10,000 to the Project, 
whether by permit or otherwise, that occur from and after the 
date of the Certificate of Occupancy or when all unit has 
been offered for lease, whichever is sooner. 

4. A report showing that all security equipment and measures 
are in working order and that Management has been trained 
on their operation and use, such report being a summary 
report of all quarterly reports. 

±) Programming and Access. That portion of the Project consisting of a community 
center for the residents of the Development shall also be made available, subject to 
scheduling and programing, to the City's youth recreation and senior programing 
departments to be used as a satellite for enrichment and growth opportunities. Such 
access shall be pursuant to all necessary terms of liability and insurance for the 
protection of both parties and shall not adversely affect the day to day operation 
and use of the Project. There shall be no charge to the City for access, provided the 
City is responsible for any and all third-party costs. 

4) Notice of Non-Compliance. If either Party determines there is noncompliance 
with this Agreement, said Party must provide the other Party written notice of such noncompliance, 
which shall specify in reasonable detail the grounds therefor and all facts demonstrating such 
noncompliance or failure, so the other Party may address the issues raised in the notice of 
noncompliance or failure on a point-by-point basis. 

5) Response to Notice of Noncompliance. Within thirty (30) days of receipt of the 
notice of noncompliance, the Party receiving such notice shall respond in writing to the issue raised 



in the notice of noncompliance on a point-by-point basis. If the noticing Party agrees with and 
accepts the other Party's response, no further action shall be required. If the noticing Party does 
not agree with the response, then it shall provide to the other Party written notice of the 
commencement of the Meet and Confer/Mediation Process within thirty (30) days of the receipt 
of the response. 

a) Meet and Confer/Mediation Process. Within thirty days (30) days of receipt of a 
meet and confer notice, the Parties shall initiate a Meet and Confer/Mediation 
Process pursuant to which the Parties shall meet and confer in good faith in order 
to determine a resolution acceptable to both Parties of the bases upon which either 
Party has determined that the other Party has not demonstrated good faith 
substantial compliance with the material terms of this Agreement. 

b) Hearing Before City Council to Determine Compliance. If after the Meet and 
Confer/Mediation Process, there still remain outstanding noncompliance issues, the 
City Council shall conduct a noticed public hearing pursuant to determine the good 
faith substantial compliance by Developer with the material terms of this 
Agreement. At least ten (10) days prior to such hearing, the Building Official shall 
provide to the City Council, Developer, and to all other interested Persons 
requesting the same, copies of the City Council agenda report, agenda related 
materials and other information regarding Developer's good faith substantial 
compliance with the material terms of this Agreement and the conclusions 
supporting a finding of non-compliance. The results and recommendations of the 
Meet and Confer/Mediation Process shall be presented to the City Council for 
review and consideration. At such hearing, Developer and any other interested 
Person shall be entitled to submit evidence, orally or in writing, and address all the 
issues raised in the staff report on, or with respect or germane to, the issue of 
Developer's good faith substantial compliance with the material terms of this 
Agreement. 

If, after receipt of any written or oral response of Developer, and/or results and 
recommendations from the Meet and Confer/Mediation Process that may have 
occurred, and after considering all of the evidence at such public hearing, or a 
further public hearing, the City Council finds and determines, on the basis of 
substantial evidence, that Developer has not substantially complied in good faith 
with the material terms of this Agreement, the City Council shall specify to 
Developer the respects in which Developer has failed to comply, and shall also 
specify a reasonable time for Developer to meet the terms of compliance that shall 
reasonably reflect the time necessary to adequately bring Developer's performance 
into good faith substantial compliance with the material terms of this Agreement. 
If the areas of noncompliance specified by the City Council are not corrected within 
the time limits prescribed by the City Council hereunder, and the time for 
perfmmance is not extended, the City Council may by subsequent noticed hearing 
terminate or modify this Agreement. 

c) Remedies. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, each Party shall have the 



right, in addition to all other rights and remedies available under this Agreement, 
to (a) bring any proceeding in the nature of specific performance, injunctive relief 
or mandamus, and/or (b) bring any action at law or in equity as may be permitted 
by Laws or this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, neither Party 
shall ever be liable to the other Party for any consequential or punitive damages on 
account of the occurrence of an Event of Default (including claims for lost profits, 
loss of opportunity, lost revenues, or similar consequential damage claims), and the 
Parties hereby waive and relinquish any claims for punitive damages on account of 
an Event of Default, which waiver and relinquishment the Parties acknowledge has 
been made after full and complete disclosure and advice regarding the 
consequences of such waiver and relinquishment by counsel to each Party. 

In the event the City requires court action to enforce the above terms, the prevailing 
party shall be entitled recovery of all costs and fees incurred, at the discretion of the Court. 

6) Successors and Assigns; Recording. This Agreement will be binding upon, and 
shall be assigned to, the successors and assigns of the Developer and its related party affiliates; 
provided, that such successor or assign is an eligible counterparty to this Agreement and the 
obligations created hereunder will run with the Property and the Project. If Developer sells, 
transfers, leases or assigns the Property all or substantially all its interest in the Project, then this 
Agreement will, thereafter, be assigned to and shall be binding on the purchaser, transferee or 
assignee; provided, that such party is an eligible counterparty to this Agreement. 

7) Statement of Good Faith. The Parties agree the payment obligations established 
by this Agreement were negotiated in good faith in recognition of and with due consideration of 
the full and fair cash value of the Project, to the extent such value is determinable as of the date of 
this Agreement. Each Party was represented by counsel in negotiation and preparation of this 
Agreement and has entered into this Agreement after full and due consideration and with the advice 
of its counsel and its independent consultants. The Pm.iies further acknowledge this Agreement is 
fair and mutually beneficial to them because it fixes and maintains mutually acceptable, reasonable 
and accurate payments in lieu of taxes for the Project that are appropriate and serve their respective 
interests. The City acknowledges this Agreement is beneficial to it because it will result in mutually 
acceptable, steady, predictable, accurate and reasonable payments in lieu of taxes for the Project. 

8) Additional Documentation and Actions. Each Party will, from time to time 
hereafter, execute and deliver or cause to be executed and delivered, such additional instruments, 
certificates and documents, and take all such actions, as the other Party reasonably requests for the 
purpose of implementing or effectuating the provisions of this Agreement and, upon the exercise 
by a Party of any power, right, privilege or remedy pursuant to this Agreement that requires any 
consent, approval, registration, qualification or authorization of any third party, each Party will 
execute and deliver all applications, certifications, instruments and other documents and papers 
that the exercising Party may be so required to obtain. 

9) Invalidity. If, for any reason, it is ever determined by the state of Michigan, or by 
any other court of competent jurisdiction, that any material provision of this Agreement is 
unlawful, invalid or unenforceable, then the Parties shall (i) undertake best efforts to amend and 



or reauthorize this Agreement so as to render all material provisions lawful, valid and enforceable, 
and (ii) if such efforts are unsuccessful, undertake reasonable efforts, including without limitation, 
seeking all necessary approvals, to replicate the benefits and burdens of this Agreement in the form 
of an amended agreement. 

10) Notices. All notices, consents, requests, or other communications provided for or 
permitted to be given hereunder by a Party must be in writing and will be deemed to have been 
properly given or served upon the personal delivery thereof, via nationally recognized overnight 
courier delivery service. Such notices shall be addressed or delivered to the Parties at their 
respective addresses shown below. 

To Developer: 
Perdue Place 
c/o Community Housing Network 
Attn: ---------
5505 Corporate Dr, Suite 300 
Troy,MI 48098 

To the City: 

Office of the Mayor 
47450 Woodward 
Pontiac, MI 48342 

Delivery of the Payment In Lieu of Taxes to the City: 
City of Pontiac 
Attn: Finance Division 
47450 Woodward 
Pontiac, MI 48342 

Any such addresses for the giving of notices may be changed by either Party by giving 
written notice as provided above to the other Party. Notice given by counsel to a Party shall be 
effective as notice from such Party. 

11) Good Faith. The City and the Developer shall act in good faith to carry out and 
implement this Agreement. 

12) Covenants of Developer. During the term of this Agreement, the Developer will 
not voluntarily do any of the following: 

a) Seek to invalidate this Agreement except as expressly provided herein; 
b) Fail to pay the City all amounts due hereunder when due in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement. 

13) Covenants of the City. During the term of this Agreement, the City will not do any 
of the following: 



a) Seek to invalidate this Agreement; 
b) Seek to collect from the Developer any property tax upon the Property or 
the improvements thereon in addition to the amounts established herein; 
c) Impose any lien or other encumbrance upon the Property or the 
improvements thereon except as is expressly authorized by law; or 
d) Take any affirmative action in support of the bifurcation of the taxation 
ofreal and personal property. 
e) The City shall provide the Municipal Services consistent with services 
then provided to similar multiple family residential housing developments 
within the City. The nature, extent and delivery of such services shall be in the 
final, sole and absolute discretion of the City. This Agreement shall not be 
construed to impose any additional obligations upon the City to provide such 
services than otherwise required by law. 

14) Representations of City. The City represents and warrants to the Developer (i) it 
has secured all approvals necessary to duly authorize the execution, delivery and performance of 
this Agreement and its obligations hereunder, including the valid and enforceable passage of the 
City of Pontiac Ordinance for Purdue Place, and (ii) it is not prohibited from entering into this 
Agreement and discharging and performing all covenants and obligations on its part to be 
performed under and pursuant to this Agreement by the terms, conditions or provisions of any law, 
any order of any court or other agency or authority of government, or any agreement or instrument 
to which the City is a party or by which the City is bound, and (iii) this Agreement and the City 
of Pontiac Ordinance for Perdue Place are the legal, valid and binding obligation of the City and 
is enforceable in accordance with their respective terms. 

15) Representations of Developer. The Developer represents and warrants to the City 
(i) it is duly organized and is authorized to conduct business in the State of Michigan, and (ii) it is 
authorized and has the power under the laws of the State of Michigan to enter into this Agreement 
and the transactions contemplated hereby, and to perform and carry out all covenants and 
obligations on its part to be performed under and pursuant to this Agreement and the City of Pontiac 
Ordinance for Perdue Place, and (iii) the performance of its obligations hereunder or under the City 
of Pontiac Ordinance for Perdue Place will not violate, result in a breach of, or constitute a default 
under, any agreement or instrument to which Developer is a party or by which Developer is bound, 
and this Agreement is a legal, valid and binding obligation of Developer enforceable in accordance 
with its terms. 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE JS LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

[Signatures on the Next Page.] 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day 
and year first above written. 

DEVELOPER: 

COMMUNITY HOUSING NETWORK, a 
Michigan Non Profit Corporation 

By: Michelle Brinkmann 
Its: Vice President of Real Estate 

By: 
Its: 

CITY OF PONTIAC: 

Mayor Deirdre Waterman 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

City Attorney 





CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

Executive Branch 

TO: Honorable City Council President Kermit Williams, and City Council 
Members 

FROM: Honorable Mayor Deirdre Waterman 

CC: Linnette Phillips, Economic Development Director 
Michael J. Wilson, Building and Safety 

DATE: September 21, 2021 

RE: Resolution to Consider Approval of Asbestos Abatement Services 
Contract Consideration for CDBG Batch 17 Demolition Properties 
- Rightway Remediation, LLC 

The City of Pontiac has a sub- recipient contract with Oakland County to provide 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) projects for Program Year 2019. 
Within the scope of programs and projects Clearance and Demolition is one of the 
approved projects. To date, there is approximately $781,099.87 in Clearance and 
Demolition funds. 

Two Requests for Proposals were posted (see attachments - Exhibit 1) on both 
the City of Pontiac's website and BldNet, our procurement portal to solicit bids for 
both demolition and asbestos abatement. In summary, there were four (4) 
demolition proposals and two (2) asbestos proposals. In both cases, the sealed 
bids were reviewed and the lowest bidders were selected. (see attachment -
Exhibit 2). 

This resolution is requesting approval to move forward with Rightway 
Remediation, LLC to provide Asbestos Abatement services for CDBG Clearance 
and Demolition of Batch 17 properties. (see Attachment - Exhibit 3). The bid 
amount is $93,300. 

Resolution Following 



WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac is a sub-recipient to Oakland County for 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Programs; and; 

WHEREAS, Clearance and Demolition is one of the programs for Program 
Years 2018 and 2019; with a combined balance of approximately $781,099.87 in 
remaining funds, avaUable for Batch 17 properties; and; 

WHEREAS, Requests for Proposals for both Demolition and Asbestos 
Abatement were posted on both the City of Pontiac (COP) website and BidNet 
portal for prospective bidders to bid; and 

WHEREAS, Rightway Abatement, LLC was the lowest of two (2) proposals 
submitted, for $93,300 for the properties; and 

NOW THEREFORE be resolved that the City Council in solidarity with the 
Mayor hereby authorizes and accepts the proposal to provide Asbestos 
Abatement services. 

Attachments: 
(1) Request for Proposal 
(2) Bid Proposal Results 
(3) Rightway Abatement, LLC Bid Proposal 
(4) Recommendation Letter from OCR Services and Construction, Inc. 



APPENDIX A 

City of Pontiac CDBG wDemolition Program 

> CDBO Asbestos Bid Ba.t.cl1 17 < 
Bidding Contractor: 
Company Name: R ,.9 b+u-)o..'I Be m ie:J., w :\Jo n I.- L.. C.. 
Representative: Sc.o¼:t E.. \L..s,½S•• e f k:.A,.. 
Address: l{l(O ~ C.GNTB'!L Sf@.B"an- City: SIi t: l'N'"1 IA) Zip: 1/tf!Jo t/ 
Office#: Cf'.$?9 - &:>oo- 005'=> Fax#: 9'8'\ - Y,0 I - SsS~ 
Cell#: ':\i(-7 r? ;" 54 Email: c,fQu; .. ~ V: \j \,,..•h..Jo..'1 @ 5~,\ . l'. 0 rv" 
License#: (!_ ij 2. _ _!> _ 
Conb·acto1· will p1·ovlde all labor & material for the following se1•vice work: The Co11tacto1· is responsible for paying all fees 
associated with demolition permits, sewer caps Including Water and Sewer Services. 

Asbestos Surveys Batch 17 for the properties can be found here: 
httQs://www.dropbox.com/ sh/fsuekdd k8crqg75/AAAMOzXv7 BNCln F045UOuU 3 la ?dl=O 

Bid Price per Residential Property: 

64-14-21-352•043 ":) t>O 

529 N Perry $ .;:,OD. .. 
001 

Cost In Words for 529 N Perry Ttte.er~ iju.r-!>b2.~1> 'be,t..t..A-~!-1 ~ fl oo -

64-14-21-352-042 
50. t>,2 Lot N Perry $ ____ _ 

Cost in Words for Lot N Perry hFTy J:?ou .. ;:ql! • .S + 00/,oo -
64-19-04-102·001 flo,of:m, JVt>r 1Nel«11,1 IA.,.1J4/:'it -1-o '484TE' 

195 S Blvd W $ 2G,., ~ 50, 'iR e,o 
Cost in Words for 195 S Blvd W Twtt'!OTif S•~ l:bo\,\SClnJ Sevrnb\A!\~r:l!'J~,fb, +' /fDIJ 

64-14-28-436-019 

497 E Pike (Garage Only) $ "300 • o_g 
Cost in Words 497 E Pike Three h1.1."'d-v-111J 1>"'\t"'vs. -4- 00

/, o e> -

64-14-30-477•010 

68 Mark $ /200 · O..E 
Cost In Words for 68 Mark ptJ«r; T½o !:\ sea V\J 'fwo bu.ft\J "'eJ gp lla.\rS f-- 0 0 J, oc -

64-19-04-151-006 

567 Franklin $ 
Cost in Words for 567 Frankl-in____ /,/() SU r V ~ Y __________ ..,._,... __________ _ 

64-14•21-254-007 
554 E Kennett $ ____ _ 
Cost in Words for 554 E Kennett. _____ JJ_o_S_tA_v_V_t .... f _________ _ 

64-14-21·331-016 

124 Oliver 

CDBG Asbestos Bid Batch 17 Page 10 of23 



Cost In Words for 124 Oliver 

64-14·22-351-011 (Two Duplex's 7781 782, 786 & 790) 

778 University $ 2 l.1 t.oo • ~ 
Cost in Words for 778 University Tw~~n+'I Two fhov..~M ~,)(.htA.-nch•t!'...\ + 

00
/, oo -

64-14-33-102-013 

129 Judson $_____ • 1 .J 
Cost In Words for 129 Judson ______ N_o_.s_u._12_t_e:_., _________ _ 

64-19-04-134-016 

200 Cedardale $ /2.oo · ~ 
Cost in Words for 200 Cedardale 4'Y\I!? Th~v\'9.!(YI.J -;-,,.A.W "- ~vJr-eJA "'-

00
/ to O -

64-14-20-452-011 

64-14"28-459-035 

415 Auburn $ I ot!) • "-" 
Cost in Words for 415 Auburn pV'le t+u.v-J"'"°" -Jo l\t1.v-$. r '"' /, o o -

64-14-28-331-010 

Grand Total $ q 3, 3 OO ' '!-
0 

Grant Total Cost in Words 

The City reserves the right to remove any of the homes listed above and have the contractor hold 
the price for the remaining homes listed. 

CDBG Asbestos Bid Batch 17 Page 11 of23 



Il()ternet,~orul ufn:;;\tttctlon Cnmpa~ 
~ 0 lo ·o, d f:)oncl prt:)V J'clacl 

--Jt; l '16 
1 
000. OD LO'\'\! i3ID'ti< 

v·1n-Con Incore9rnlccl 
5(j/o icl 5oncl Vro~l'cleoL 

: -\$ ?~05, totdo, 00 

¥ l\dcLm:s 6mLtf~ . 
· rs <'f o lb1cl 001d P roJ \ cltcl 

!i·otoO, Cfi5, 00 

• ·1:, LLL.Q, ~:tetr Toe., 
~u1o l:>\d ~d -:Pro~\decl 
~ '32,lo) 482 . oo 

\_,l.QLA -r-·, eci l\\ocJvte, Nlent- 5e,.r v I lQ,S -r net. 
':)

0
/ 0 \:)',d ~anclvro~\CltQl 

~ \ lo~·, lr;)')J) t co 

·* :-·-:p'\Ji9n--\-1NcL~J ·~CLrnecl\ 0J1on LLC, 
· 6°Jo l?), d enncl ~~\f\d-e_d 
i \-~ D\7J) 7JCO . 00 

·* o\c\+-o..b 
VV\l\ bJ2., 

Smt. 

LOW b I Ol:/? 



September 3, 2021 

Ms. Linnette Phillips 
Director, Economic and Community Development 
City of Pontiac 
47450 Woodward Avenue 
Pontiac, Ml 48342 

RE: BATCH 17 ASBESTOS CONTRACTOR RECOMMENDATION 

Dear Linnette: 

2200 Hunt Street, Suite 487 
Detroit, Ml 48207 

www.dcr-services.com 
(313) 297-6544 

I have reviewed the bid submission for demolition proposals for the Asbestos Abatement 
Contract Comprising Batch 17. 

Rightway Remediation, LLC, is the low bidder and I have investigated their past 
performance references, and conducted due-diligence of each bid. Based on my 

, information, I recommend award of the contract to Rightway Remediation, LLC. 

TOTAL AWARD $93,300.00 

If you have any questions or require any clarification, please contact me. 

Best Regards and Stay Safe, 

Dwight Belyue, CEO 

• DUNS: 933344694 • SBA HUBZone Certified • Small Economically Disadvantaged Business 
, CAGE CODE: 6AFP7 • SBA B(A) Certified • National Minority Supplier Development Council (NMSDC)- Minority Certified 



CITY OF PONTIAC BLIGHT ELIMINATION 
BATCH 17-ASBESTOS ABATEMENT BID SUMMARY 

#OF 
ADDRESS Qualified Rightway 

Comments 
HOMES Abatement Remediation 

1 529 N Perry $800.00 $300.00 

2 529 N Perry-Back Lot $500.00 $50.00 

3 195 South Blvd W $44,000.00 $26,750.00 

4 497 E Pike $2,200.00 $300.00 

5 68 Mark $2,900.00 $1,200.00 

6 567 Franklin no bid no bid No Survey 

7 554 E. Kennett no bid no bid No Survey 

8 124 Oliver $7,500.00 $3,400.00 

9 778 University (4) $29,000.00 $22,600.00 

10 129 Judson no bid no bid No Survey 

11 200 Cedardale $3,800.00 $1,200.00 

12 79 Home $3,800.00 $1,500.00 

13 415 Auburn $500.00 $100.00 

14 104 N Jessie $28,700.00 $16,300.00 

15 104 Union $39,820.00 $19,600.00 

Total $163,520.00 $93,300.00 





CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

Executive Branch 

TO: Honorable City Council President Kermit Williams, and City Council 
Members 

FROM: Honorable Mayor Deirdre Waterman 

CC: Linnette Phillips, Economic Development Director 
Michael J. Wilson, Building and Safety 

DATE: September 21, 2021 

RE: Resolution to Consider Approval of Demolition Services Contract 
Consideration for CDBG Batch 17 Demolition Properties -
International Construction, Inc. 

The City of Pontiac has a sub- recipient contract with Oakland County to provide 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) projects for Program Year 2019. 
Within the scope of programs and projects Clearance and Demolition is one of the 
approved projects. To date, there is approximately $781,099.87 in Clearance and 
Demolition funds. 

Two Requests for Proposals were posted (see attachments - Exhibit 1) on both 
the City of Pontiac's website and BldNet, our procurement portal to solicit bids for 
both demolition and asbestos abatement. In summary, there were four (4) 
demolition proposals and two (2) asbestos proposals. In both cases, the sealed 
bids were reviewed and the lowest bidders were selected. (see attachment -
Exhibit 2). 

This resolution is requesting approval to move forward with International 
Construction to provide Demolition services for CDBG Clearance and Demolition 
of Batch 17 properties. (see Attachment - Exhibit 3). The bid amount is 
$175,000. 

Resolution Following 



WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac is a sub-recipient to Oakland County for 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Programs; and; 

WHEREAS, Clearance and Demolition is one of the programs for Program 
Years 2018 and 2019; with a combined balance of approximately $781,099.87 in 
remaining funds, available for Batch 17 properties; and; 

WHEREAS, Requests for Proposals for both Demolition and Asbestos 
Abatement were posted on both the City of Pontiac (COP) website and BidNet 
portal for prospective bidders to bid; and 

WHEREAS, International Construction was the lowest of four (4) proposals 
submitted, for $175,000 for the properties; and 

NOW THEREFORE be resolved that the City Council in solidarity with the 
Mayor hereby authorizes and accepts the proposal to provide Demolition services. 

Attachments: 
(1) Request for Proposal 
(2) Bid Proposal Results 
(3) International Construction Bid Proposal 
(4) Recommendation Letter from OCR Services and Construction, Inc. 



REQUEST TO SUBMIT BIDS 
FOR 

CDBG DEMOLITION (Batch 17) 
FOR THE 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

The City of Pontiac, Michigan (The City) is requesting bids for providing Home Demolition services 
for the City of Pontiac. 

Sealed bids will be received at the City of Pontiac Clerk's Office at 47450 Woodward Avenue, 1st 

Floor, Pontiac, Ml 48342 plainly marked with "CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17" " until 3:00 p.m. 
EDT, Thursday, August 26, 2021, at which time they will be publicly opened. 

It is sole responsibility of the individual, and/or entity submitting the bid, to ensure that their bid is 
physically deposited to the Clerk's Office prior to the time and date specified. Late bids will not be 
opened and will be rejected and unopened regardless of the degree of lateness or the reason thereto, 
including causes beyond the control of the person and/or entity submitting the bid. (NOTE: Electronic 
or faxed submissions will not be accepted) 

Bids, including all City-provided forms that shall be completed, and signed as indicated herein, are to 
be submitted in a sealed envelope plainly marked with the Bids title. Two (2) complete copies/sets of 
the bid shall be submitted. An original copy so marked, shall be signed with the firm's name and bear 
its corporate seal or logo and the hand written signature of an officer or employee having authority to 
bind the company to a contract by his or her signature. 

The City of Pontiac reserves the right to accept or reject any or all bids, either in part or in whole to 
waive any formalities and to accept the bid which it believes to be in the best interest of the City. 

All prospective bidders need to send an e-mail response to lphillips@pontiac.mi.us the 
following information Firm name, Project Name, Contact Person, Telephone Number and E
Mail Address. 

Any interpretation, correction, or change of this document will be made only by written addendum 
hereto. Any interpretation, correction, or change made in any other manner will not be binding on the 
City and proposers shall not rely thereon. All inquiries are to be made in writing to Linnette Phillips 
and be received no later than five working days prior to the scheduled opening (these may be hand
delivered, mailed, or faxed to (248) 758-3029 or emailed to lphillips@pontiac.mi.us. A written 
response, if provided, will be in the form of an addendum to the Bid and will be sent to all document 
holders on file with the Purchasing Office. 

As shown below, any addendums issued will be located on the City of Pontiac's website: 

http://www.pontiac.mi.us/departments/finance/purchasing.php. 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 1 of23 



Its receipt must be duly acknowledged with any submission. Please refer to the website for any 
addenda that may be issued. Bidders who submit bids before the deadline are advised to continue to 
monitor the website for any addenda that may be issued. Bid packages will also be available upon 
request through the Purchasing Office located at 47450 Woodward Avenue, 2nd Floor, Pontiac, Ml 
48342 

The selected firm shall agree to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City of Pontiac, its officers, 
agents, and employees from and against all claims, losses, costs or damages caused by his acts or 
those of his agents, or anyone for whom he may be responsible. The City disclaims any responsibility 
for injury to proposers, their agents, or to others while examining the work site or at any other time. 

With regard to Home Demolition, the successful proposer shall agree to indemnify and hold the City 
harmless from any and all claims whatsoever arising out of, or occurring during, the performance of 
the services and occasioned directly or indirectly by its error or omission, negligence, or fault. 

Prior to the City's entering into a contract, the successful proposer shall produce evidence satisfactory 
to the City of insurance coverage in types and amounts defined in Appendix D, and naming the City 
of Pontiac, Michigan as an additional insured thereon. 

All work performed by the contractor and subcontractors shall comply with the pertinent OSHA (as 
stated above), local, state, and federal government regulations. 

The winning bidder cannot be debarred by the federal government. 

This is a Federally Funded project. The contractor and subcontractors on this project must comply 
with HUD contract provisions 24CFR part 85.36(i), Nondiscrimination, Equal Employment 
Opportunity, Affirmative Action, Section 3 requirements, Anti-Kickback Act, Federal Occupational 
Safety and Health Act and Department of Labor Standards and Regulations as set forth in the 
Contract Documents. This municipality is an Equal Opportunity Employer. Businesses owned by 
women or minorities are strongly encouraged to bid. 

BIDS DUE: THURSDAY, AUGUST 26, 2021 AT 3:00 PM EDT 

NUMBER OF COPIES TO SUBMIT: TWO (2): One (1) Original and One (1) Copy 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 2 of23 



I. PURPOSE 

The City of Pontiac is soliciting bids from qualified individuals for the purpose of Home Demolition, 
for sub-standard vacant residential structures for the City of Pontiac. Each of these structures 
shall be demolished by qualified contractors. Individuals or firms shall have proper credentials, 
certifications and licenses required by the City, County, State, and Federal Government. 

II. BACKGROUND 

The City of Pontiac has been allocated federal funds through the Community Development Block 
Grant ("CDBG"). These funds shall be used to provide asbestos survey, asbestos remediation, 
and demolition activities ensuring the City of Pontiac Federal Programs can offer stability, 
security, and remove blight for the City of Pontiac residents. 

Ill. SCOPE OF WORK: Demolition and Disposal 

A. The following scope of work and technical specifications shall apply to each and every home 
site to be demolished individually, and to the entire project. 

The work in general consists of: 

1. Demolition of the house, any accessory structures, garage or shed, basement walls and 
floors, foundations, footings, slabs, driveways up to curb line (excluding approach and public 
sidewalk), sidewalks on the private property up to the City sidewalks, and removal and disposal 
of landscaping (trees, shrubs & ornamentals), and removal and disposal of all building debris and 
any other debris on the site, such as junk vehicles and fences. All existing rubbish, trash, and 
junk apart from that of the demolished structures shall be removed and the entire site shall be left 
clear of such material. All items removed from the property shall be properly disposed of at a 
licensed public landfill. 

a. The demolition contractor shall provide a waste manifest for the construction debris from 
each demolished dwelling/structure. 

2. Backfilling Requirements; 

a. Prior to backfilling, the Contractor must request a building inspection of the site and allow 
the inspector access to take any necessary photos, check for debris removal, and floor 
removal. The contractor must also provide for inspection of the sewer capping. In addition, 
a Building and Safety Department representative must be present prior to beginning of the 
backfilling process to ensure the requirements are met to their fullest. 

b. Backfill material is to consist of sandy loam soil; no blue clay soil shall be used for any 
portion of the backfill; material used is to be entirely free of all foreign materials that include, 
but are not limited to clay, organic material vegetation, or site debris. 

c. The contractor must compact the backfill in no more than 12-inch layers to not less than 
90 percent unit weight; if sand is used in backfill material, the top 12-inches of fill 

may be clean fill dirt as described above. The contractor shall provide for a minimum depth 
of four inches of topsoil over the excavated area. 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 3 of23 



d. The contractor must grade the site to provide surface water drainage to minimize the 
pooling/collection of surface water and not create issues or problems to adjacent 
properties. 

e. The contractor must seed and straw the entire lot with perennial Blue Grass, or have a 
hydro-seed product installed after completion of finish grading before calling for a final 
inspection. Seeding shall be placed after April 15 and before October 1. A retainage 
amount of $1,000 (one thousand dollars) per house will be held until final inspection is 
approved. 

f. The contractor must provide an affidavit, or sworn statement indicating the origin 
of the backfill to be used. If contractor has purchased the backfill to be used, please 
provide a proof of purchase/acquisition. 

g. Section 106 National Historic Preservation act of 1966 as amended: If at any time 
during the demolition process historic artifacts or places of significate interest are 
discovered, work must be stopped and the Community & Economic Development Director, 
Linnette Phillips, contacted at 248-758-3029. It shall be the responsibility of the City to 
contact the Oakland County Community & Home Improvement Division regarding the 
SHPO findings. 

Historic archeological discoveries may include the following: 
• Evidence of human activity 
• Bones, burial sites or funerary 
• Pottery, beads, tools, arrowheads, weapons 
• Sculptures, monuments, fountains, boundary markers 
• Ceremonial areas, religious or sacred materials 
• Plant & animal communities 

3. Provide and install traffic control signs, barricades, canopies, and flagmen when necessary 
and directed by Pontiac City Field Representative. A daily schedule of demolition needs to be 
submitted to the Community & Economic Development Director, Linnette Phillips at 
lphillips@pontiac.mi.us, so we can advise authorities of possible, temporary road closures. 

4. The demolition contractor will furnish the City of Pontiac with project schedule within seven 
working days of receipt of contract. 

5. Project must be completed within thirty days (30) days after signing demolition contract. The 
City's Project Engineering firm OCR Services and Construction has obtained all utility clearances 
for each property. (See item 8 below for water/sewer services) 

6. Post advance notice of construction at each property location where the dwelling/structure 
is scheduled to be demolished a minimum of three (3) days before commencing work. 

7. The Contractor is responsible for any damage to the existing adjacent City curbs/sidewalks 
that are caused by the demolition contractor's equipment. The demolition contractor shall provide 
wood planking or other protective measures to prevent damage/cracking of the existing city 
sidewalk/curbs/aprons by the demolition dozers, back hoe, etc. 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 4 of23 



8. The Contactor is responsible for paying all fees associated with demolition permits, sewer 
caps including Water and Sewer Services. 

9. The Contractor must secure a demolition and right-of-way permit from the City of Pontiac. 

10. The Contractor must notify the occupants of adjacent properties (in writing) when the 
demolition will take place a minimum of 24 hours prior to demolition. 

11. Each property location with an open hole, must have four feet (4') of plastic snow fencing 
(tied and staked down) at the perimeter of the Site excavation to minimize unauthorized site entry, 
or follow MIOSHA guidelines for open-hole barricades, if complete backfilling is not finished 
before the end of a workday unless approved otherwise by the Building Inspector. Open 
excavations shall not be left unsecured overnight. 

B. WORK LOCATION 

1 The work takes place at various locations throughout the City of Pontiac. See Proposal 
form for the listing of addresses. 

2 Contractor must obtain firsthand information concerning any probable interference and the 
available facilities for transporting, handling, and storing construction equipment and 
materials, and concerning other conditions which may affect their work. 

C. WORK SCHEDULE 

1 All work shall be scheduled in advance with the City of Pontiac. 

2 Contractor shall satisfactorily complete all work under this Contract within thirty (30) days. 

3 Provide a timeline of when straw and grass seed work will be performed at the sites of the 
demolished properties. 

D. CONFORMITY TO PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, AND CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

1. All work shall conform to the plans, specifications, and contract documents 
submitted by the bidder and authorized by the City. 

E. TEMPORARY FACILITIES 

1. Implementation of temporary facilities in this section shall be coordinated with and 
subject to approval by the County Representative. 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 5 of23 



2. Electrical Power for Construction: All temporary electrical connections and 
equipment shall be provided by the contractor and maintained by him in accordance 
with the National Electrical Code as well as state and local rules and regulations. All 
temporary electrical work shall be removed by the contractor upon completion of the 
project. 

3. Extra Work: All extra work that may be required by the Contractor will be estimated 
and paid for under provision of the General Conditions, contained within this document, 
which govern such work. 

F. DISPOSAL 

All rubbish, debris and other waste materials whatsoever, found on the work site, whether created 
by the demolition activities or otherwise, throughout the duration of the contract shall be removed 
and legally disposed of by the Contractor, at no additional cost to the City of Pontiac. 

IV. REQUEST 

In addition to the required form "Home Demolition Bid Batch 17" provided here as Appendix A, all 
firms or individuals responding to this Bid must submit complete responses to the information 
requested in this section, and must note any exceptions to any information contained in the Bid. 
Bids will be evaluated based upon the requested criteria and be awarded to the lowest 
responsible bidder. Bids should present information in a clear and concise manner, following the 
format indicated below. Responses to this section shall be typewritten in a font not smaller than 
11 point and may be double or single sided on standard 8½ "x 11" paper. There is no limit to 
pages submitted for complete response to this section: 

Statement of Qualifications: Contractor shall supply all company contact information, Current 
License(s), Staffing, Certifications, Copy of Current Liability Insurance, along with Contractor's 
qualifications and ability to successfully provide the services requested. 

a) Name, telephone number, address, e-mail, and fax number of the individual designated 
to receive all official correspondence relating to the project. 

b) Describe the Contractor's qualifications and ability to successfully provide the services 
requested, including a description of prior experience. 

c) Provide copy of State of Michigan License for the corporation or company and an 
individual license. 

d) Provide certified copies of Articles of Incorporation or Articles of Organization of the firm 
(if applicable). 

e) Provide current Good Standing Certificate for the firm (if applicable). 

f) Provide organizational documents for the firm such as bylaws and operating agreement 
(If applicable), 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 6 of23 



g) Provide a list of which staff members will be responsible for the project, include brief 
resumes and proof of appropriate training and relevant certificates and licenses for each. 

h) Provide a list of board of directors and officers of firm (if applicable). 

i) Provide insurance as required in Appendix "D" 

j) Provide contact names and telephone numbers for at least three (3) individuals, 
municipalities or companies for which you have contracted similar work in the past year. 

k) Provide a detailed description of any litigation resulting from use of the firm's services. 

I) Provide a statement on the notification time necessary to begin execution of the desired 
services 

m) Provide bid and performance bond as outlined in section "IX. BONDING 
REQUIREMENTS" 

The City of Pontiac Michigan reserves the right to validate proposer's qualifications, capability to 
perform, availability, past performance record and to verify that the proposer is current in its 
obligations to the City. 

The City reserves the right to waive any informality in bids, to accept any bid, and to reject any 
and all bids, should it be deemed in the best interest of the City to do so. 

The City reserves the right to request clarification of and/or solicit additional information of any 
proposer, and/or to negotiate with any proposer regarding any terms of their bid including, but not 
limited to; the cost and/or scope of services, with the intent to achieve the best bid that shall result 
in a contract that is deemed by the City to be in the City's best interests. Any such negotiations 
will use the selected bid as a basis to reach a final agreement, if possible. 

The City reserves the right to include in the contract for services other terms and conditions not 
specifically set forth herein. 

V. PROPOSED FEE 

Provide a fee for the services requested in the Scope of Services of work in the attached "CDBG 
Demolition Bid Batch 17" in Appendix A. 

It is the City's intention to utilize the successful proposer's services as soon as awarded. All 
services shall be performed according to the Agreement, as well as the submitted bid. 

VI. AGREEMENT 

Contract work on behalf of the City of Pontiac will be awarded to the l_owest responsible bidder. 
These structures are vacant, and will be demolished under separate contract. 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 7 of23 



The Agreement with the contractor will detail the payment procedures and documentation needed 
for the services rendered. The billing submitted by the contractor must provide a written 
description of the work completed and include any necessary justification as/if necessary. 

Billing will be required to have ALL the following listed below after services have been rendered, including 
but not limited to: 

• Vendor Registration Packet (including Ethnic Ownership report, Contractor Certification, and Prime 
Contractor Agreement) with Oakland County; 

• 1 O Day Notifications to State of Michigan; 

• Copies of signed receipts from the approved permitted landfill operator of receipt of material at the 
permitted landfill; 

• Supplement the Waste Shipment Record with a list of all activities that contributed to each specific 
load of waste; 

• Project specific documentation which shall include, but not be limited to: a copy of the complete 
project design including drawings, pre and post work site photos, and other reports as needed; 

• Demolition Permit issued by City of Pontiac Building Safety Department; 

• Right-of-Way Permit issued by City of Pontiac Department of Public Works 

• Sewer Cap Disconnect Permit issued by Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner; 

• Line-Item Invoice; and 

• Waiver of Liens for all subcontractors. 

All payments will be made by electronic deposits from Oakland County to the contractor 
bank account. Note: There will not be any prepayments or deposits for any demolition 
work. 

VII. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: 

The funding used for this program comes from the CDBG program, pursuant to the Housing and 
Community Development Act of 197 4, as amended (the "Act"). This federal program has stringent 
requirements that the City and its Contractor's must adhere to in order to receive monetary 
reimbursement. Please review the requirements listed below and state in your bid your ability to 
fulfill these requirements. If you have any questions regarding federal requirements please 
contact Linnette Phillips at (248) 758-3029. If contractor is not in possession of a Pontiac Business 
license then contractor shall procure said license once awarded. 

• Agree to Section 3 Clause (Appendix "B") 

• Debarment-Service provider has not been suspended from federal benefits as listed on 
www.epls.gov 

• Conflict of Interest regulations found in 24CFR 570.611 (Appendix "C") 

• The selected service provider will not use funds for lobbying, and will disclose any lobbying 
activities 

• Other Applicable State and Local Laws 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 8 of23 



VIII. SUBMISSIONS 

All submissions (and original and one copy) must be hand delivered or mailed in a sealed envelope 
(NOTE: Electronic or faxed submissions will not be accepted) with "Home Demolition Bid Batch 16" 
clearly marked on the front to Thursday, August 26, 2021 at 3:00 P.M. EDT to the following: 

City of Pontiac Clerk's Office, 47 450 Woodward Avenue, 1st Floor, Pontiac, Ml 48342 

The City of Pontiac reserves the right to accept or reject any or all bids, either in part or in whole to waive 
any formalities and to accept the Bid. 

IX. BONDING REQUIREMENTS 

a) A bid guarantee is required from each bidder equivalent to 5% of the bid price. The "bid guarantee" 
shall consist of a firm commitment such as a bid bond or certified check accompanying a bid as assurance 
that the bidder will, upon acceptance of his bid, execute such contractual documents as may be required 
within the time specified. Bid bond to be included with bid. 

NOTE: If the Contracts or Subcontracts exceed $50,000.00 you will need b} & c) 

b) A performance bond shall be delivered to the Agency when the contract is executed on the part of the 
contractor for 100% of the contract price. A "performance bond" is on executed in connection with a 
contract to secure fulfillment of all the contractor's obligations under such contract. 

c) A payment bond (labor & material bond) shall be delivered to the Agency when the contract is 
executed on the part of the contractor for 100% of the contract price. A "payment bond" is one executed 
in connection with a contract to assure payment as required by law of all persons supplying labor and 
material in the execution of the work provided for in the contract. 

If a contractor fails to deliver the required bonds, the bid will be rejected. The City of Pontiac reserves the 
right to reject a bid if the contractor can't provide a performance and payment bond within 5 days of a 
signed contract. 

X. INCOME TAXES 

Contractor agrees to contact City of Pontiac Income Tax Division, Audit and Compliance Section, 47450 
Woodward, Pontiac, Michigan, 48342, telephone (248) 758-3092, to establish reporting and withholding 
obligations under the City of Pontiac Income Tax Ordinance. Contractor will require the same of all 
subcontractors employing labor under this contract. 

Contractor is required to withhold City of Pontiac income tax from wages paid to: 

(1) Pontiac resident employees regardless of where they work for the employer; and 

(2) Nonresident employees for work performed in the City. 

(3) Contractor is also required to file City of Pontiac income tax returns reporting and paying 
income tax on any net profits earned in the City. 

Web page URL: http://www.pontiac.mi.us/departments/income tax/index.php 

Tax fonns URL: http://www.pontiac.mi.us/departments/income tax/tax forms.php 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 9 of23 



APPENDIX A 

City of Pontiac CDBG -Demolition Program 

) CDBG Demolition Biel Batch 17 < 
Bidding Contractor: 
Company Name: _____________________________ _ 
Representative: _____________________________ _ 
Address: _______________ City: ___________ Zip: ___ _ 
Office#: Fax#: _______________ _ 
Cell#: Email: _______________ _ 
License#: _______________________________ _ 
Contractor will provide all labor & material for the following service work: The Contactor is responsible for paying all fees 
associated with demolition permits, sewer caps including Water and Sewer Services. 

Asbestos Surveys Batch 17 for the properties can be found here: 
https://www.dropbox.com/sh/fsuekddk8crqg75/AAAMOzXv7BNClnF045UOuU3la?dl=O 

Bid Price per Residential Property: 

64-14-21-352-043 
529 N Perry $ ____ _ 
Cost in Words for 529 N Perry ________________________ _ 

64-14-21-352-042 

Lot N Perry $ ____ _ 
Cost in Words for Lot N Perry ________________________ _ 

64-19-04-102-001 

195 S Blvd W $ ____ _ 
Cost in Words for 195 S Blvd W ------------------------

64-14-28-436-019 

497 E Pike (Garage Only) $ ____ _ 
Cost in Words 497 E Pike ---------------------------

64-14-30-477-010 

68 Mark $ ____ _ 

Cost in Words for 68 Mark --------------------------
64-19-04-151-006 

567 Franklin $ -----
Cost in Words for 567 Franklin -------------------------

64-14-21-254-007 

554 E Kennett $ ____ _ 
Cost in Words for 554 E Kennett ------------------------

64-14-21-331-016 

124 Oliver $ ____ _ 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 10 of23 



Cost in Words for 124 Oliver 

64-14-22-351-011 (Two Duplex's 778, 782, 786 & 790) 

778 University $ ____ _ 
Cost in Words for 778 University ______________________ _ 

64-14-33-102-013 

129Judson $ -----
Cost in Words for 129 Judson -----------------------

64-19-04-134-016 

200 Cedardale $ -----
Cost in Words for 200 Cedardale ----------------------

64-14-20-452-011 

79 Home $ -----
Cost in Words for 79 Home ------------------------

64-14-28-459-035 

415 Auburn $ -----
Cost in Words for 415 Auburn ------------------------

64-14-28-331-010 

104 N Jessie $ -----
Cost in Words for 104 N Jessie -----------------------

64-14-28-303-001 

104 Union $ -----
Cost in Words for 104 Union ------------------------

Grand Total $ ------
Grant Total Cost in Words ------------------------

The City reserves the right to remove any of the homes listed above and have the contractor hold 
the price for the remaining homes listed. 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 11 of23 



Please Note: Contractor will have a maximum of 30 days from the 
time the contract is signed to complete the project. 

Company Name: 

Representative Signature: Date: 

Print Name: 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 12 of23 



Site Specifications: DCR Batch 17 

Batch Parcel ID Address Street Name Type Sq. Year Stories Basement Garage 
Ft. Built Sq. Ft. Sq. Ft 

17 14-21-352-043 529 N Perry Comm. 631 1920 1 
17 14-21-352-042 Lot N Perry Comm. Lot 1 
17 19-04-102-001 195 South Blvd W Comm. 3982 1910 1 
17 14-28-436-019 497 E Pike Garaqe 1956 360 
17 14-30-477-010 68 Mark SFR 1588 1931 2 890 333 
17 19-04-151-006 567 Franklin Duplex 2354 1956 1 
17 14-21-254-007 554 E Kennett SFR 763 1920 1 763 293 
17 14-21-331-016 124 Oliver SFR 1032 1920 2 543 360 
17 14-22-351- 778/782 University Duplex 1198 1942 1 1198 

011 
14-22-351- 786/790 University Duplex 1198 1942 1 1198 

011 
17 14-33-102-013 129 E Judson SFR 1502 1910 2 720 
17 19-04-134-016 200 Cedardale SFR 928 1929 1 754 373 
17 14-20-452-011 79 Home SFR 892 1910 1.75 510 260 
17 14-28-459-035 415 Auburn Comm. 4178 1921 1 
17 14-28-331-010 104 N Jessie Comm. 1416 1940 1 
17 14-28-303-001 104 Union Comm. 3968 1920 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 13 of23 



The Undersigned hereby declares that he/she or they are the only person(s), firm or corporation interested 
in this bid as principal, and that it is made without any connection with any other person(s), firm or 
corporation submitting a bid for the same. 

The Undersigned hereby declares that they have read and understand all conditions are outlined in the 
Request for Bids and that the bid is made in accordance with same. 

The Undersigned hereby declares that any person(s) employed by the City of Pontiac Michigan who has 
direct or indirect personal or financial interest in this bid or in any portion of the profits that may be derived 
therefrom has been identified and the interest disclosed by separate attachment. (Please include in your 
disclosure any interest which you know of. An example of a direct interest would be a City employee who 
would be paid to perform services under this bid. An example of an indirect interest would be a City 
employee who is related to any officers, employees, principal or shareholders of your firm or to you. If in 
doubt as to status or interest, please disclose to the extent known). 

The proposer acknowledges the receipt of Addenda numbered ________ _ 

Note: Bids must bear the handwritten signature of a duly authorized member or employee of the 
organization submitting a bid. 

Company Name: ____________________________ _ 

Address: --------------------------------

Representative Signature: ________________________ _ 

Print Name: -------------------------------

Title: Date: --------------- --------------

Office# -------------- Cell# _____________ _ 

FAX# Email --------- ------------------

Website: Federal Tax I.D. #: -------------- ----------

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 14 of23 



APPENDIX B 
Section 3 clause 135.38 
All section 3 covered contracts shall include the following clause (referred to as the section 3 clause): 

A. The work to be performed under this contract is subject to the requirements of section 3 of the 
Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended, 12 U.S.C. 1701u (section 3). The 
purpose of section 3 is to ensure that employment and other economic opportunities generated 
by HUD assistance or HUD-assisted projects covered by section 3, shall, to the greatest extent 
feasible, be directed to low- and very low-income persons, particularly persons who are 
recipients of HUD assistance for housing. 

B. The parties to this contract agree to comply with HU D's regulations in 24 CFR part 135, which 
implement section 3. As evidenced by their execution of this contract, the parties to this 
contract certify that they are under no contractual or other impediment that would prevent them 
from complying with the part 135 regulations. 

C. The contractor agrees to send to each labor organization or representative of workers with 
which the contractor has a collective bargaining agreement or other understanding, if any, a 
notice advising the labor organization or workers' representative of the contractor's 
commitments under this section 3 clause, and will post copies of the notice in conspicuous 
places at the work site where both employees and applicants for training and employment 
positions can see the notice. The notice shall describe the section 3 preference, shall set forth 
minimum number and job titles subject to hire, availability of apprenticeship and training 
positions, the qualifications for each; and the name and location of the person(s) taking 
applications for each of the positions; and the anticipated date the work shall begin. 

D. The contractor agrees to include this section 3 clause in every subcontract subject to 
compliance with regulations in 24 CFR part 135, and agrees to take appropriate action, as 
provided in an applicable provision of the subcontract or in this section 3 clause, upon a finding 
that the subcontractor is in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR part 135. The contractor will 
not subcontract with any subcontractor where the contractor has notice or knowledge that the 
subcontractor has been found in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR part 135. 

E. The contractor will certify that any vacant employment positions, including training positions, 
that are filled (1) after the contractor is selected but before the contract is executed, and (2) 
with persons other than those to whom the regulations of 24 CFR part 135 require employment 
opportunities to be directed, were not filled to circumvent the contractor's obligations under 24 
CFR part 135. 

F. Noncompliance with HU D's regulations in 24 CFR part 135 may result in sanctions, termination 
of this contract for default, and debarment or suspension from future HUD assisted contracts. 

G. With respect to work performed in connection with section 3 covered Indian housing 
assistance, section ?(b) of the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act (25 
U.S.C. 450e) also applies to the work to be performed under this contract. Section ?(b) requires 
that to the greatest extent feasible (i) preference and opportunities for training and employment 
shall be given to Indians, and (ii) preference in the award of contracts and subcontracts shall 
be given to Indian organizations and Indian-owned Economic Enterprises. Parties to this 
contract that are subject to the provisions of section 3 and section ?(b) agree to comply with 
section 3. 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 15 of23 



APPENDIXC 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT 

"Code of Standards of Conduct," 24 CFR Part 85.36 (b) (3): (Applicable to Community 
Development Block Grant Expenditures) 

(3) Grantees and sub-grantees will maintain a written code of standards of conduct 
governing the performance of their employees engaged in the award and administration of 
contracts. No employee, officer or agent of the grantee or sub-grantee shall participate in 
selection, or in the award or administration of a contract supported by Federal funds if a conflict of 
interest, real or apparent, would be involved. Such a conflict would arise when: 

Date: 

(i) The employee, officer or agent, 
(ii) Any member of his immediate family, 
(iii) His or her partner, or 
(iv) An organization which employs, or is about to employ, any of the above, has a 

financial or other interest in the firm selected for award. The grantee's or sub 
grantee's officers, employees or agents will neither solicit nor accept gratuities, 
favors or anything of monetary value from contractors, potential contractors, or 
parties to sub agreements. Grantee and sub grantees may set minimum rules 
where the financial interest is not substantial or the gift is an unsolicited item of 
nominal intrinsic value. To the extent permitted by State or local law or regulations, 
such standards of conduct will provide for penalties, sanctions, or other disciplinary 
actions for violations of such standards by the grantee's and sub grantee's officers, 
employees, or agents, or by contractors or their agents. The awarding agency may 
in regulation provide additional prohibitions relative to real, apparent, or potential 
conflicts of interest. 

Signature: 

Printed name: --------------------

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 16 of23 



APPENDIX D INSURANCE 

1. INSURANCE 

The Contractor shall provide to protect the City of Pontiac as outlined below. 

2. LIMITS OF INSURANCE (See also Section 1 of the General Conditions) 

The contractor, or any of their subcontractors, shall not commence work under this contract until they have 
obtained the insurance required under this paragraph, and shall keep such insurance in force during the 
entire life of this contract. All coverage shall be with insurance companies licensed and admitted to do 
business in the State of Michigan and acceptable to the City of Pontiac. The requirements below should 
not be interpreted to limit the liability of the Contractor. All deductibles and SIR's are the responsibility of 
the Contractor. 

1) Workers' Compensation Insurance The Contractor shall procure and maintain during the life of 
this contract, Workers' Insurance, including Employers Liability Coverage, in accordance with all 
applicable statutes of the State of Michigan with a minimum limit of $100,000 each accident for any 
employee 

2) Commercial General Liability Insurance The Contractor shall procure and maintain during the life 
of this contract, Commercial General Liability Insurance on an "Occurrence Basis" with limits of 
liability not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence and aggregate for Personal Injury, Bodily Injury 
and Property Damage, coverage shall include the following extensions: (A) Contractual Liability; 
(B) Products and Completed Operations; (C) Independent Contractors Coverage; (D) Broad Form 
General Liability Extensions or equivalent: (E) Deletion of all Explosion, Collapse and Underground 
(XCU) Exclusions, if applicable; (F) Per project aggregate. 

3) Motor Vehicle Liability The Contractor shall procure and maintain during the life of this contract 
Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance, including Michigan No-Fault Coverage, with limits of liability of 
not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit for Bodily Injury and Property 
Damage. Coverage shall include all owned vehicles, all non-owned vehicles, and all hired vehicles. 

4) Additional Insured: Commercial General Liability and Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance, as 
described above, shall include an endorsement stating the following shall be Additionally Insured~ 
The City of Pontiac, all elected and appointed officials, all employees and volunteers, all boards, 
commissions, and/or authorities and board members, including employees and volunteers. It is 
understood and agreed by naming The City of Pontiac as additional insured, coverage afforded is 
considered to be primary and any other insurance The City of Pontiac may have in effect shall be 
considered secondary and/or excess. 

5) Cancellation Notice: All policies, as described above, shall include an endorsement stating that 
is it understood and agreed Thirty (30) days, Ten (10) days for non-payment of premium, Advance 
Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, Reduction, and/or Material Change shall be sent to: 
Linnette Phillips, City of Pontiac 47450 Woodward Ave. Pontiac, Ml 48342' 

6) Proof of Insurance Coverage: The Contractor shall provide The City of Pontiac at the time that 
the contracts are returned by him/her for execution, two' (2) copies of Certificates of Insurance as 
well as the required endorsements. 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 17 of23 



7) Expiration of Policies: If any of the above coverage expires during term of this contract, the 
Contractor shall deliver renewal certificates and/or policies to the City of Pontiac at least ten (10) 
days prior to the expiration date. 

3. INDEMNIFICATION CLAUSE 

The Contractor shall indemnify and save harmless the City of Pontiac for and from all claims, demands, 
payments, suits, actions, recoveries, and judgments; of every name and description, brought or recovered 
against them or to property received or sustained by any person or persons whomsoever by reason of any 
action or omission of the said Contractor, his agents, servants, or his Contractors in the performance of 
said Work, or by or in consequence of any negligence or carelessness in connection with the same or on 
account of the death of or injuries to persons who shall be engaged in or about the work to be performed 
under this Contract; and on account of liability or obligation imposed directly or indirectly upon the City of 
Pontiac by reasons of any law of the State or the United States, now existing or which shall hereafter be 
enacted, imposing any liability or obligation, or providing for compensation to any person or persons on 
account of or arising from the death of, or injuries to employees. Said Contractor shall pay, settle, 
compromise and procure the discharge of any and all such claims and all such losses, damages, 
expenses, liabilities, and obligations, and shall defend at his own cost and expense any and all claims, 
demands, suits and actions made or brought against the City of Pontiac, and all Additional Named 
Assured, for or upon any such claim. In case the said Contractor shall fail, neglect, or refuse to comply 
with any of the provisions of this paragraph, the City of Pontiac may, in order to protect itself, and all 
Additional Named Assured, from liability, defend any such claim, demand, suits or action and pay, settle, 
compromise, and procure the discharge thereof, in which case the said Contractor shall repay the City of 
Pontiac any and all such loss, damage and expense, including attorney's fees paid, suffered or incurred 
by the City of Pontiac, and all Additional Named Assured, in so doing. So much of the monies due, or to 
become due, to said Contractor under this agreement as shall be deemed necessary by the City of Pontiac, 
shall or may be retained by the City of Pontiac until every and all such claims, demands, suits, actions, 
recoveries, judgments, liabilities and obligations have been settled and discharged and evidence to that 
effect furnished the City of Pontiac, or the City of Pontiac may collect the same in whole or in part in any 
lawful manner from said Contractor. The Contractor shall provide adequate insurance until his work is 
completed, with a reasonable insurance company which meets with the approval of the City of Pontiac, 
covering liability to the public for loss resulting from injury to persons or damage to property arising out of 
or caused by his operations, acts, or omissions, or those of his subcontractors, agents, or employees in 
procuring work for the City of Pontiac. Such insurance coverage shall be in such amounts as are provided 
in public liability and property damage section herein, provided, however, that such insurance coverage 
shall include an endorsement providing that the contractual exclusion shall be removed or in the 
alternative, contractual insurance shall be afforded. If the former, such endorsement shall contain specific 
language as follows: 

"It is hereby agreed that the contractual exclusion does not apply to the contract entered into between the 
insured and the City of Pontiac, and each Additional Named Assured as their interest may appear for the 
project work. Such insurance coverage shall also contain an endorsement guaranteeing that thirty (30) 
days' notice to the City of Pontiac and each Additional Named Assured, shall be given in writing prior to 
the cancellation of, or change in any such insurance." 

4. EXTRAS 

No claim for extra compensation because of either decrease or increase in quantities will be allowed. 
Contractor and Owner mutually agree that in the event the Contractor is to perform services beyond, or at 
variance with the Scope and total price of this Contract, such services must be mutually agreed to, in 
advance, in writing, with agreed upon price included. Accordingly, claims for the payment of 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 18 of23 



Extra Services must be substantiated by the Contractor with a written order signed by Owner or his 
authorized agent. 

5. EMERGENCY PHONE NUMBERS 

The Contractor must submit Emergency (24 Hours) phone numbers on the company letterhead when 
submitting contracts. 

6. INCLUDED WORK 

All items of work noted on the Plans or in the Specifications that are not specifically noted in the bid, shall 
be considered as included with the contract and shall be completed at no extra cost to the Owner. 

7. SUB-CONTRACTS 

The Contractor shall not execute an Agreement with any Sub-Contractor or sub-subcontractor or permit 
any Sub-Contractor or sub-subcontractor to perform any work included in this Contract without the prior 
written consent of Owner. 

Certified by: _____________________ _ 

Its; 

Signature: 

Printed Name: 

Date: 

---------------------

------------------------

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 19 of23 



APPENDIX E 
STANDARD FEDERAL EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACT SPECIFICATIONS (EXECUTIVE ORDER 11246) 

a) The equal opportunity clause published at 41 CFR 60-1.4(a) of this chapter is required to be included 
in, and is part of, all nonexempt Federal contracts and subcontracts, including construction 
contracts and subcontracts. The equal opportunity clause published at 41 CFR 60-1.4(b) is 
required to be included in, and is a part of, all nonexempt federally assisted construction contracts 
and subcontracts. In addition to the clauses described above, all Federal contracting officers, all 
applicants and all non-construction contractors, as applicable, shall include the specifications set 
forth in this section in all Federal and federally assisted construction contracts in excess of $10,000 
to be performed in geographical areas designated by the Director pursuant to Sec. 60-4.6 of this 
part and in construction subcontracts in excess of $10,000 necessary in whole or in part to the 
performance of non-construction Federal contracts and subcontracts covered under the Executive 
order. 

Standard Federal Equal Employment Opportunity Construction Contract Specifications (Executive 
Order 11246) 

1 As used in these specifications: 

a. "Covered area" means the geographical area described in the solicitation from which this contract 
resulted; 

b. "Director" means Director, Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, United States 
Department of Labor, or any person to whom the Director delegates authority; 

c. "Employer identification number" means the Federal Social Security number used on the Employer's 
Quarterly Federal Tax Return, U.S. Treasury Department Form 941. 

d. "Minority" includes: 
(i) Black (all persons having origins in any of the Black African racial groups not of Hispanic origin); 
(ii) Hispanic (all persons of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban, Central or South American or other Spanish 
Culture or origin, regardless of race); 
(iii) Asian and Pacific Islander (all persons having origins in any of the original peoples of the Far East, 
Southeast Asia, the Indian 
Subcontinent, or the Pacific Islands); and 
(iv) American Indian or Alaskan Native (all persons having origins in any of the original peoples of North 
America and maintaining identifiable tribal affiliations through membership and participation or community 
identification). 

2. Whenever the Contractor, or any Subcontractor at any tier, subcontracts a portion of the work involving 
any construction trade, it shall physically include in each subcontract in excess of $10,000 the provisions 
of these specifications and the Notice which contains the applicable goals for minority and female 
participation and which is set forth in the solicitations from which this contract resulted. 
3. If the Contractor is participating (pursuant to 41 CFR 60-4.5) in a Hometown Plan approved by the 
U.S. Department of Labor in the covered area either individually or through an association, its affirmative 
action obligations on all work in the Plan area (including goals and timetables) shall be in accordance with 
that Plan for those trades which have unions participating in the Plan. Contractors must be able to 
demonstrate their participation in and compliance with the provisions of any such Hometown Plan. Each 
Contractor or Subcontractor participating in an approved Plan is individually required to comply with its 
obligations under the EEO clause, and to make a good faith effort to achieve each goal under the Plan in 
each trade in which it has employees. 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 20 of23 



The overall good faith performance by other Contractors or Subcontractors toward a goal in an approved 
Plan does not excuse any covered Contractor's or Subcontractor's failure to take good faith efforts to 
achieve the Plan goals and timetables. 

4. The Contractor shall implement the specific affirmative action standards provided in paragraphs 7 a 
through p of these specifications. The goals set forth in the solicitation from which this contract resulted 
are expressed as percentages of the total hours of employment and training of minority and female 
utilization the Contractor should reasonably be able to achieve in each construction trade in which it has 
employees in the covered area. Covered Construction contractors performing construction work in 
geographical areas where they do not have a Federal or federally assisted construction contract shall 
apply the minority and female goals established for the geographical area where the work is being 
performed. Goals are published periodically in the Federal Register in notice form, and such notices may 
be obtained from any Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs office or from Federal procurement 
contracting officers. The Contractor is expected to make substantially uniform progress in meeting its goals 
in each craft during the period specified. 

5. Neither the provisions of any collective bargaining agreement, nor the failure by a union with whom the 
Contractor has a collective bargaining agreement, to refer either minorities or women shall excuse the 
Contractor's obligations under these specifications, Executive Order 11246, or the regulations 
promulgated pursuant thereto. 

6. In order for the nonworking training hours of apprentices and trainees to be counted in meeting the 
goals, such apprentices and trainees must be employed by the Contractor during the training period, and 
the Contractor must have made a commitment to employ the apprentices and trainees at the completion 
of their training, subject to the availability of employment opportunities. Trainees must be trained pursuant 
to training programs approved by the U.S. Department of Labor. 

7. The Contractor shall take specific affirmative actions to ensure equal employment opportunity. The 
evaluation of the Contractor's compliance with these specifications shall be based upon its effort to achieve 
maximum results from its actions. The Contractor shall document these efforts fully, and shall implement 
affirmative action steps at least as extensive as the following: 

a. Ensure and maintain a working environment free of harassment, intimidation, and coercion at all sites, 
and in all facilities at which the Contractor's employees are assigned to work. The Contractor, where 
possible, will assign two or more women to each construction project. The Contractor shall specifically 
ensure that all foremen, superintendents, and other on-site supervisory personnel are aware of and carry 
out the Contractor's obligation to maintain such a working environment, with specific attention to minority 
or female individuals working at such sites or in such facilities. 

b. Establish and maintain a current list of minority and female recruitment sources, provide written 
notification to minority and female recruitment sources and to community organizations when the 
Contractor or its unions have employment opportunities available, and maintain a record of the 
organizations' responses. 

c. Maintain a current file of the names, addresses and telephone numbers of each minority and female 
off-the-street applicant and minority or female referral from a union, a recruitment source or community 
organization and of what action was taken with respect to each such individual. If such individual was sent 
to the union hiring hall for referral and was not referred back to the Contractor by the union or, if referred, 
not employed by the Contractor, this shall be documented in the file with the reason therefor, along with 
whatever additional actions the Contractor may have taken. 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 21 of23 



d. Provide immediate written notification to the Director when the union or unions with which the Contractor 
has a collective bargaining agreement has not referred to the Contractor a minority person or woman sent 
by the Contractor, or when the Contractor has other information that the union referral process has 
impeded the Contractor's efforts to meet its obligations. 

e. Develop on-the-job training opportunities and/or participate in training programs for the area which 
expressly include minorities and women, including upgrading programs and apprenticeship and trainee 
programs relevant to the Contractor's employment needs, especially those programs funded or approved 
by the Department of Labor. The Contractor shall provide notice of these programs to the sources compiled 
under 7b above. 

f. Disseminate the Contractor's EEO policy by providing notice of the policy to unions and training 
programs and requesting their cooperation in assisting the Contractor in meeting its EEO obligations; by 
including it in any policy manual and collective bargaining agreement; by publicizing it in the company 
newspaper, annual report, 
etc.; by specific review of the policy with all management personnel and with all minority and female 
employees at least once a year; and by posting the company EEO policy on bulletin boards accessible to 
all employees at each location where construction work is performed. 

g. Review, at least annually,· the company's EEO policy and affirmative action obligations under these 
specifications with all employees having any responsibility for hiring, assignment, layoff, termination or 
other employment decisions including specific review of these items with onsite supervisory personnel 
such as Superintendents, General Foremen, etc., prior to the initiation of construction work at any job site. 
A written record shall be made and maintained identifying the time and place of these meetings, persons 
attending, subject matter discussed, and disposition of the subject matter. 

h. Disseminate the Contractor's EEO policy externally by including it in any advertising in the news media, 
specifically including minority and female news media, and providing written notification to and discussing 
the Contractor's EEO policy with other Contractors and Subcontractors with whom the Contractor does or 
anticipates doing business. 

i. Direct its recruitment efforts, both oral and written, to minority, female and communityorganizations, to 
schools with minority and female students and to minority and female recruitment and training 
organizations serving the Contractor's recruitment area and employment needs. Not later than one month 
prior to the date for the acceptance of applications for apprenticeship or other training by any recruitment 
source, the Contractor shall send written notification to organizations such as the above, describing the 
openings, screening procedures, and tests to be used in the selection process. 

j. Encourage present minority and female employees to recruit other minority persons and women and, 
where reasonable, provide after school, summer and vacation employment to minority and female youth 
both on the site and in other areas of a Contractor's work force. 

k. Validate all tests and other selection requirements where there is an obligation to do so under41 CFR 
Part 60-3. 

I. Conduct, at least annually, an inventory and evaluation at least of all minority and female personnel for 
promotional opportunities and encourage these employees to seek or to prepare for, through appropriate 
training, etc., such opportunities. 

m. Ensure that seniority practices, job classifications, work assignments and other personnel practices, 
do not have a discriminatory effect by continually monitoring all personnel and employment related 
activities to ensure that the EEO policy and the Contractor's obligations under these specifications are 
being carried out. 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 22 of23 



n. Ensure that all facilities and company activities are nonsegregated except that separate or single- user 
toilet and necessary changing facilities shall be provided to assure privacy between the sexes. 

o. Document and maintain a record of all solicitations of offers for subcontracts from minority and female 
construction contractors and suppliers, including circulation of solicitations to minority and female 
contractor associations and other business associations. 

p. Conduct a review, at least annually, of all supervisors' adherence to and performance under the 
Contractor's EEO policies and affirmative action obligations. 

8. Contractors are encouraged to participate in voluntary associations which assist in fulfilling one or more 
of their affirmative action obligations (7a through p). The efforts of a contractor association, joint contractor
union, contractor-community, or other similar group of which the contractor is a member and participant, 
may be asserted as fulfilling any one or more of its obligations under 7a through p of these Specifications 
provided that the contractor actively participates in the group, makes every effort to assure that the group 
has a positive impact on the employment of minorities and women in the industry, ensures that the 
concrete benefits of the program are reflected in the Contractor's minority and female workforce 
participation, makes a good faith effort to meet its individual goals and timetables, and can provide access 
to documentation which demonstrates the effectiveness of actions taken on behalf of the Contractor. The 
obligation to comply, however, is the Contractor's and failure of such a group to fulfill an obligation shall 
not be a defense for the Contractor's noncompliance. 

9. A single goal for minorities and a separate single goal for women have been established. The 
Contractor, however, is required to provide equal employment opportunity and to take affirmative action 
for all minority groups, both male and female, and all women, both minority and non-minority. 
Consequently, the Contractor may be in violation of the Executive Order if a particular group is employed 
in a substantially disparate manner (for example, even though the Contractor has achieved its goals for 
women generally, the Contractor may be in violation of the Executive Order if a specific minority group of 
women is underutilized). 

10. The Contractor shall not use the goals and timetables or affirmative action standards to discriminate 
against any person because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

11. The Contractor shall not enter into any Subcontract with any person or firm debarred from Government 
contracts pursuant to Executive Order 11246. 

12. The Contractor shall carry out such sanctions and penalties for violation of these specifications and of 
the Equal Opportunity Clause, including suspension, termination and cancellation of existing subcontracts 
as may be imposed or ordered pursuant to Executive Order 11246, as amended, and its implementing 
regulations, by the Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs. Any Contractor who fails to carry out 
such sanctions and penalties shall be in violation of these specifications and Executive Order 11246, as 
amended. 

13. The Contractor, in fulfilling its obligations under these specifications, shall implement specific 
affirmative action steps, at least as extensive as those standards prescribed in paragraph 7 of these 
specifications, so as to achieve maximum results from its efforts to ensure equal employment opportunity. 
If the Contractor fails to comply with the requirements of the Executive Order, the implementing 
regulations, or these specifications, the Director shall proceed in accordance with 41 CFR 60-4.8. 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 23 of23 



14. The Contractor shall designate a responsible official to monitor all employment related activity to 
ensure that the company EEO policy is being carried out, to submit reports relating to the provisions hereof 
as may be required by the Government and to keep records. Records shall at least include for each 
employee the name, address, telephone numbers, construction trade, union affiliation if any, employee 
identification number when assigned, social security number, race, sex, status (e.g., mechanic, apprentice 
trainee, helper, or laborer), dates of changes in status, hours worked per week in the indicated trade, rate 
of pay, and locations at which the work was performed. Records shall be maintained in an easily 
understandable and retrievable form; however, to the degree that existing records satisfy this requirement, 
contractors shall not be required to maintain separate records. 

15. Nothing herein provided shall be construed as a limitation upon the application of other laws which 
establish different standards of compliance or upon the application of requirements for the hiring of local 
or other area residents (e.g., those under the Public Works Employment Act of 1977 and the Community 
Development Block Grant Program). 

a. The notice set forth in 41 CFR 60-4.2 and the specifications set forth in 41 CFR 60-4.3 replace the 
New Form for Federal Equal Employment Opportunity Bid Conditions for Federal and Federally 
Assisted Construction published at-41 FR 32482 and commonly known as the Model Federal EEO 
Bid Conditions, and the New Form shall not be used after the regulations in 41 CFR Part 60-4 
become effective. [43 FR 49254, Oct. 20, 1978; 43 FR 51401, Nov. 3, 1978, as amended at 45 FR 
65978, Oct. 3, 1980] 

CDBG Demolition Bid Batch 17 Page 24 of23 



September 3, 2021 

Ms. Linnette Phillips 
Director, Economic and Community Development 
City of Pontiac 
47450 Woodward Avenue 
Pontiac, Ml 48342 

2200 Hunt Street, Suite 487 
Detroit, Ml 48207 

www.dcr-services.com 
(313) 297-6544 

RE: BATCH 17 DEMOLITION CONTRACTOR RECOMMENDATION 

Dear Linnette: 

I have reviewed the bid submission for demolition proposals for the Demolition Contract 
Comprising Batch 17. 

International Construction Inc., is the low bidder and I have investigated their past 
', performance references, and conducted due-diligence of each bid. Based on my 
· information, I recommend award of the contract to International Construction, Inc. 

TOTAL AWARD $175,000.00 

If you have any questions or require any clarification, please contact me. 

Best Regards and Stay Safe, 

Dwight E. Belyue, CEO 

• DUNS: 933344694 , SBA HUBZone Certified • Small Economically Disadvantaged Business 
, CAGE CODE: 6AFP7 , SBA 8(A) Certified • National Minority Supplier Development Council (NMSDC)- Minority Certified 



CITY OF PONTIAC BLIGHT ELIMINATION 

BATCH 17- DEMOLITION BID SUMMARY 
#OF 

ADDRESS Intemational The Adams Group Vin Con Inc Blue Starr Comments HOMES 

1 529 N Perry $5,530.00 $19,050.00 $6,580.00 $11,957.00 
2 529 N Perry-Back Lot $3,700.00 $10,125.00 $1,960.00 $6,710.00 
3 195 South Blvd W $25,417.00 $35,010.00 $31,059.00 $37,993.00 
4 497 E Pike $1,200.00 $5,250.00 $2,800.00 $11,231.00 
5 68 Mark $11,931.00 $23,485.00 $14,560.00 $20,967.00 
6 567 Franklin $15,871.00 $22,995.00 $17,655.00 $21,674.00 No Survey 

7 554 E. Kennett $6,781.00 $14,555.00 $6,040.00 $15,428.00 No Survey 

8 124 Oliver $8,592.00 $11,560.00 $11,640.00 $17,117.00 
9 778 University (4) $17,540.00 $40,680.00 $17,790.00 $28,191.00 

10 129 Judson $10,643.00 $17,780.00 $11,782.00 $18,129.00 No Survey 

11 200 Cedardale $8,053.00 $16,440.00 $7,960.00 $15,950.00 
12 79 Home $7,536.00 $13,300.00 $8,490.00 $17,560.00 
13 415 Auburn $19,061.00 $42,055.00 $27,130.00 $30,456.00 
14 104 N Jessie $7,460.00 $11,280.00 $11,800.00 $19,163.00 
15 104 Union $25,685.00 $77,380.00 $28,420.00 $53,956.00 

Total $175,000.00 $360,945.00 $205,666.00 $326,482.00 





CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

Executive Branch 

TO: Honorable Mayor, Council President and City Council Members 

FROM: Abdul H. Siddiqui, City Engineer 

DATE: September 7, 2021 

RE: 2021 Local Street Improvement Project - Asphalt Specialists, Inc. 

The City of Pontiac received and publicly opened bids for the referenced improvement 
project on Thursday, August 26, 2021. The project consists of four paiis: 

• Part A: Local Streets Rehabilitation: Asphalt mill and fill of multiple local 

streets throughout the City. Local Street Fund (Construction Account) 

• Part B: West Columbia Rehabilitation: Asphalt overlay of W Columbia from 

Baldwin to Starlite. Major Street Fund (Construction Account) 

• Part C: Woodward Avenue Pavement Repair: Asphalt mill and fill of small 

section of new pavement damaged by 2019 Roadkill Nights activities. This is 

required by MOOT and will be reimbursed by the organizers of Roadkill Nights. 

• Part D: Local Streets Pavement Repair: Asphalt repair of short segments of 

multiple local streets. Local Street Fund (Maintenance Account) 

A total of seven (7) bids were received for the project in the amounts as follows: 

1. Asphalt Specialists, Inc. (ASI) $2,096,286.00 

2. Florence Cement $2,319,581.00 

3. Hutch Paving $2,369,729.30 

4. Pro-Line Asphalt $2,414,284.31 

5. Cadillac Asphalt, LLC. $2,446,862.87 

6. Ajax $2,718,342.53 

7. Pamar Enterprises $2,762,127.96 

The Engineering Division has reviewed the proposals and references submitted by all 
contractors and based on the attached is recommending the award to the low bidder, ASL 

Construction is anticipated to staii in late September and continue until end of July 2022. 

Funding for the project has been identified in the 21-22 Local Street Fund and 21-22 Major 
Street Fund. 

Based upon the above information, it is recommendation of the Department of Public 
Works that the 2021 Local Street Improvement Project be awarded to ASI, in the amount 
of $2,096,286.00. 



WHEREAS, 

WHEREAS, 

WHEREAS, 

NOW, THEREFORE, 

the City of Pontiac has advertised and received responses to a 
Request For Proposal for the 2021 Local Street Improvement Project 
on August 26, 2021, and publically opened bids; and 

a bid tabulation was prepared and reviewed, and; 

the City identified the low bidder as Asphalt Specialists, Inc. (ASI), 
and references of the low bidder checked and found acceptable, and; 

BE IT RESOLVED, The Pontiac City Council authorizes the Mayor to enter into a 
contract with ASI for $2,096,286.00 for the 2021 Local Street 
Improvement Project. 



AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT, made this ____ day of ________ , 20_, by and 

between the City of Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan, party of the first part, hereafter 

called the City, and Asphalt Specialists, Inc. 

hereinafter called the Contractor: 

, party of the second part, 

WITNESSETH: That for and in consideration of the payments and agreements hereinafter 
mentioned: 

1. The CONTRACTOR shall commence and complete the construction of: 

2021 Local Street Improvement Project 

in full conformance with the Contract Documents as enumerated in Atticle 6 of this Agreement. 

2. The CONTRACTOR shall furnish all of the material, supplies, tools, equipment, labor 
and other services necessary for the construction and completion of the PROJECT described 
herein, excepting those things which are specifically stipulated in the contract documents to be 
furnished or done by the City. 

3. The CONTRACTOR shall commence the work required by the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS on or before the date stipulated in the NOTICE TO PROCEED and will complete 
the same on or before July 31, 2022. Time shall be considered to be of the essence of this 
Contract. 

4. The CONTRACTOR agrees to perform all of the WORK described in the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS and comply with the terms therein for the contract price of: 

$ 2,096,286.00 

unless the contract price is duly changed by the contract documents. 

5. The CITY shall pay to the CONTRACTOR in the manner and at such times as set forth 
in the General Conditions such amounts as required by the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 

6. The term "CONTRACT DOCUMENTS" means and includes the following: 

A. AGREEMENT 

B. BIDBOND 

C. PERFORMANCEBOND 

D. LABOR AND MATERIAL BOND 

24 Agreement 
Page I of4 



E. MAINTENANCE BOND 

F. CHANGE ORDER (Pursuant to General Conditions, Section 9) 

G. ADDENDA: 

No. __ , dated" ______ , 20 __ . 

No. __ , dated. ______ , 20 __ . 

No. __ , dated" ______ , 20 __ . 

H. ADVERTISEMENT 

I. INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

J. BIDDER'S PROPOSAL (Incl. final Compliance Plan as accepted by OWNER) 

K. GENERAL CONDITIONS (Incl. SUPPLEMENT AL GENERAL CONDITIONS 
and SPECIAL CONDITIONS (if any)) 

L. SPECIFICATIONS (Incl. SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS and SPECIAL 
PROVISIONS (if any)) 

M. PLANS (As listed in Schedule of Drawings) 

N. NOTICE OF AWARD 

0. NOTICE TO PROCEED 

This agreement, together with other documents enumerated in this ARTICLE 6, which 
said other documents are as fully a part of the Contract as if hereto attached or herein repeated, 
forms the Contract between the parties hereto. In the event that any provision in any component 
part of this Contract conflicts with any provision of any other component part, the provision of 
the component part first enumerated in this ARTICLE 6 shall govern, except as otherwise 
specifically stated. 

7. This Agreement shall be binding upon all parties hereto and their respective heirs, 
executors, administrators, successors, and assigns. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed, or caused to be executed by their 
duly authorized officials, this Agreement in four ( 4) copies, each of which shall be deemed an 
original, on the date first above written. 

25 Agreement 
Page 2 of4 



CONTRACT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF PONTIAC 
AND CONTRACTOR 

2021 LOCAL STREET IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 

CONTRACTOR: ASPHALT SPECIALISTS, INC. 

In witness whereof, the parties have executed this agreement the day and year last written below. 

WITNESSES: 

1) 

2) 

By: ____________ _ 

Its:. _____________ _ 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

WITNESSES: 

1) 

2) 

WITNESSES: 

1) 

2) 

WITNESSES: 

1) 

2) 

WITNESSES: 

1) 

2) 

Approved as to form: 

By:--------------
______ , City Attorney 

26 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

By: ____________ _ 

Allen Cooley 
Its: Acting Director 

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE 

Date 

By: ____________ _ 

Darin Carrington 
Its: Finance Director 

RISK MANAGEMENT DIVISION 

Date 

By: ____________ _ 

Date 
Its: Risk Management Administrator 

OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 

By: ____________ _ 

Dierdre Waterman 
Its: Mayor 

Date 

Agreement 
Page 3 of4 



SPECIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

FOR 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
ENGINEERING DIVISION 

2021 LOCAL STREET IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 

BIDS DUE: 
Thursday, August 26, 2021 
2:00 pm. 
City Clerks Office 
Pontiac City Hall 
47450 Woodward Avenue 
Pontiac, MI 48342 

ENGINEER 

PRE-BID MEETING: 

Meeting details will be issued 
in Addendum 1 

NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS 
46777 WOODWARD A VENUE 

PONTIAC, MI 48342 
(248) 332-7931 

NFE Job No. M143 



CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
2021 LOCAL STREET IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Advertisement 

Instructions to Bidder 
1. Proposals to be Received 
2. Location of the Work 
3. Inspection of the Site 
4. Conformity to Plans, Specifications and other Contract Documents 
5. Basis on which Proposals are Solicited 
6. Form of Proposals 
7. Legal Status of Bidder 
8. Agency 
9. Bid Deposit 
10. INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
11. Statement of Bidder's Qualifications 
12. Payments 
13. Time of Completion 
14. Right to Accept, to Reject and to Waive Defects 
15. A ward of Contract 
16. Obligation to Execute Contract 
17. Bonds 
18. Indemnification and Insurance 
19. City Income Tax 
20. Pre-Bid Meeting 
21. City of Pontiac - Purchasing Ordinance 

Sample Insurance Certificate 

Bid Forms 
1. Form of Proposal (7 Pages) 
2. INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

Agreement and Bonds 
1. Bid Bond (Form) (2 Pages) 
2. Agreement (Form) (4 Pages) 
3. Bond for Faithful Performance (Form) 
4. Labor and Materials Bond to the City of Pontiac, Michigan (Form) 
5. Maintenance Bond (Form) 

PAGE 

1 

3 
3 
3 
3 
4 

4-5 
6 
6 
6 

6,7 
7 
7 
8 
8 
8 
8 
8 
9 

9,10 
10, 11 

11 
11 

12 

13-16 
17-18a 

19,20 . 
21-24 
25,26 
27,28 
29,30 



TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued) 

General Conditions 
1. Definitions 
2. Plans and Specifications 
3. Shop Drawings 
4. Materials and Workmanship 
5. Superintendence by Contractor 
6. Engineering Supervision 
7. City's Right to Complete; Suspension or Termination 
8. Assignment of Contract 
9. Extra Work and Modification 
10. Disputed Claims for Extra Compensation 
11. Extension of Time 
12. Liquidated Damages 
13. Payments to the Contractor 
14. Warranty Maintenance 
15. Michigan Non-Discrimination Statute 
16. Labor Laws and Ordinances; Affirmative Action 
17. Patents, Patent Rights and Trademarks 
18. Work within Railroad, Private, State or County Right-of-Way 
19. Protection and Safety 
20. Cleaning Up 
21. Progress Schedule 
22. Contractor's Declaration 
23. Contractor's Affidavit 

Notices to Bidders, Specifications and Special Provisions, Log of Test Bores 

ii 

PAGE 

31-52 
32-34 
34,35 

35 
36 

37,38 
38,39 

39 
39,40 
40,41 

41 
41,42 

42 
42-44 
44,45 

45 
45 
45 
45 

46-49 
49 

49,50 
51 
52 

74 Pages 



Notice to Contractors 

CITY OF PONTIAC 
ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS 

Sealed proposals will be received at the office of the City Clerk, City Hall, 47450 Woodward Avenue, 
Pontiac, Michigan 48342, until 2:00 p.m., local time, Thursday, August 26, 2021, at which time the 
bids will be publicly opened and read by the Clerk and the amounts of the bids noted for the: 

2021 Local Street Improvement Project 

The estimated quantities involved in this work consist principally of the following: 

Description 
HMA Surface, Rem 
Cold Milling Cone Pavt 
Subgrade Undercutting, 21AA 
Aggregate Base, 8 inch 
HMA, 5E3 
HMA,4E3 
Pavt Repr, Nonreinf Cone, 8 inch 
Curb and Gutter, Det F4 
Sidewalk, Cone, 4 inch 
Driveway, Nonreinf Cone, 6 inch 
Dr Structure, Adj, Case 1 
Hand Patching 

38,450 SYD 
6,900 SYD 
1,949 CYD 
3,940 SYD 
7,720 TON 
882 TON 
3,275 SYD 
1,279 LF 
2,619 SFT 
292 SYD 
146 EA 
1,400 TON 

A mandatory pre-bid meeting will be scheduled through Addendum 1. Contract requirements and 
technical specifications will be discussed in said meeting and it is mandatory that all prospective bidders 
attend. 

A ce1tified check or a satisfactory surety bid bond for a sum not less than five (5) percent of the amount 
of the proposal will be required with each proposal as a guarantee of good faith and same to be subject to 
the conditions stipulated in the Instructions to Bidders. 

The bidder will be required to comply with Michigan statutory prohibitions against discrimination in 
employment and with employment opportunities for City of Pontiac residents. 

No proposal once submitted may be withdrawn for at least 90 days after the actual opening of the bids. 
The right to accept any proposal, to reject any or all proposals, and to waive defects in proposals, is 
reserved by the City. 

BY THE ORDER OF: 
DIERDRE WATERMAN, MAYOR 
CITY OF PONTIAC 

DAN RINGO, DPW ADMINISTRATOR 
CITY OF PONTIAC 

1 



INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

INDEX 

Article 

1. Proposal to be Received 

2. Location of the Work 

3. Inspection of the Site 

4. Conformity to Plans, Specifications and Other Contract Documents 

5. Basis on which Proposals are Solicited 

6. Foi·m of Proposal 

7. Legal Status of Bidder 

8. Agency 

9. Bid Deposit 

10. INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

11. Statement of Bidder's Qualifications 

12. Payments 

13. Time of Completion 

14. Right to Accept, to Reject, and to Waive Defects 

15. Award of Contract 

16. Obligation to Execute Contract 

17. Bonds 

18. Insurance 

19. City Taxes 

20. Pre-Bid Meeting 

21. Purchasing Ordinance 

22. Non-Discrimination Provision 

2 



INSTRUCTION TO BIDDERS 

1. PROPOSALS TO BE RECEIVED 

Sealed Bids or proposals for the: 

2021 Local Street Improvement Project 

will be received at the office of the City Clerk of the City of Pontiac, Michigan until 2:00 
p.m., local time, Thursday, August 26, 2021 and immediately thereafter will be publicly 
opened and read. 

Each BID must be submitted in a sealed envelope, addressed to the City Clerk of the City 
of Pontiac. Each sealed envelope containing a BID must be plainly marked on the outside as: 

2021 Local Street Improvement Project 

and the envelope should bear on the outside the name of the BIDDER, his address, his 
license number (if applicable) and the name of the project for which the BID is submitted. If 
forwarded by mail, the sealed envelope containing the BID must be enclosed in another 
envelope addressed to the City Clerk, City of Pontiac, 47450 Woodward Ave., Pontiac, MI 
48342. 

Bids will be received during regular business hours at the place and up to the time stated 
in the Advertisement or up to the time extended by official notification. Bids may be 
delivered in person or mailed, but their delivery is the bidder's entire responsibility. Any bid 
received after the stated hour, even through the mail, will be returned unopened to the bidder. 

No bidder may withdraw a bid within 90 days after the actual date of the opening 
thereof. Should there be reason why the contract cannot be awarded within the specified 
period, the time may be extended by mutual agreement between the City of Pontiac, herein 
after also referred to as the City, and the BIDDER. 

2. LOCATION OF THE WORK 

Cherry Hill Drive, Fairmount Avenue, Starlight Lane, Woodward Avenue (BL-75), 
Grandville Court, Bynan Lane / Gambrell Drive, Omar Street, Granada Drive, Russell I 
Whittemore Street Intersection, S. Merrimac Street, St. Clair Street, and W. Columbia 
Avenue in the City of Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan 

3. INSPECTION OF THE SITE 

It is expected that each bidder will make a personal examination of the entire site of the 
proposed work and of its surroundings. It will be assumed that each bidder, before offering 
their proposal, has obtained :firsthand information concerning any probable interference and 
the available facilities for transporting, handling, and storing construction equipment and 
materials, and concerning other conditions which may affect his work. 

3 



4. CONFORMITY TO PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

Proposals must be made in full conformity to all the conditions as set forth in the Plans, 
Specifications, and any Addendum for the work now on file in the office of the City 
Engineer. The CONTRACT DOCUMENTS contain the provisions required for the 
construction of the PROJECT. Information obtained from an officer, agent, or employee of 
the City or any other person shall not affect the risks or obligations assumed by the 
CONTRACTOR or relieve him from fulfilling any of the conditions of the contract. 

Each BIDDER is responsible for inspecting the site and for reading and being thoroughly 
familiar with the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. The failure or omission of any BIDDER to 
do any of the foregoing shall in no way relieve any BIDDER from any obligation in respect 
to his BID. 

5. BASIS ON WHICH PROPOSALS ARE SOLICITED 

A. PROPOSAL SOLICITATION 

Proposals may be solicited on the basis of unit prices, lump sum, or a combination of 
both. The proposal will clearly state which basis is used. 

The lump sum price, when applied to the project, or the unit prices, when applied to the 
several demolition or salvage items, are to make up the total price for the entire work, 
exclusive of those things which are to be done or furnished by the City, finished and 
complete in every particular, according to the Plans and Specifications appertaining to such 
work, which have been approved by the City Council and are now on file in the office of the 
City Engineer. 

Where Proposals are solicited on the basis of unit prices for ce1iain construction units, 
which are clearly set forth in the Form of Proposal, the Bidder shall state a unit price for each 
and every item listed in the Proposal and such prices shall be extended and totaled. If during 
the review of the Proposals, the City finds any errors in any extension or total, the City will 
make the necessary c01Tections and award the Contract on the basis of such corrections, since 
the unit prices shall govern. Any proposal which does not contain a unit price for each item 
listed will be deemed incomplete and will not be considered in the award of the Contract. 

The unit price for each of the several items in the Proposal shall be such that the whole of 
the unit prices will represent a balanced bid. Any Proposal, in which the unit prices bid for 
any of the several items are deemed by the City to be manifestly unbalanced, will be subject 
to instant rejection. 

B. STATEMENT OF QUANTITIES 

The quantities indicated in the proposal show the Engineer's estimate of the construction 
quantities involved in the job, and bids will be computed, tested, and compared by the 
quantities given in the proposal. Although estimated carefully an.d with as much accuracy as 
is practicable beforehand, these quantities are not to be taken as defining or limiting the 
amount of work to be done under the Contract, but rather as information furnished to bidders 
concerning the approximate extent of the several items and as a basis for comparing bids. 

4 



The City may increase or decrease the original contract price without renegotiation of the 
Unit Prices. 

C. MATERIALS TO BE FURNISHED BY THE CITY 

The City will furnish to the Contractor, delivered at the site: NONE . The Contractor 
will receive and be responsible for all these materials from the time of their delivery to him 
until the time when they are received back by the City as part of the completed and accepted 
structure. 

D. EXTRA WORK 

All extra work that may be required of the Contractor will be estimated and paid for 
under provisions of the General Conditions, contained within this document, which govern 
such work. 

E. ALTERNATES 

When the Proposal so provides, a price shall be stated for each listed alternate. 
Unsolicited alternates are not to be submitted and, if so, will not be considered in the award 
of the Contract and may cause the entire bid to be rejected. 

Selection of whether to award the Contract on the basis of the Base Bid or utilizing one 
or more of the Alternates will be made on the basis of value engineering and the City's need 
to keep project costs within the project budget. The City reserves full right to make this 
selection. After making such selection, the award shall be made on the basis of the lowest 
responsive bid utilizing the Alternates selected, and evaluated in accordance with the 
provisions of the Purchasing Ordinance of the City, in accordance with Article 15 of the 
Instructions to Bidders. 

F. LEGAL CONDITIONS 

All applicable laws, ordinances, and the rules and regulations of all authorities having 
jurisdiction over construction of the Project shall apply to the contract throughout. 

G. PERMITS AND LICENSES 

Permits and licenses of a temporary nature necessary for the prosecution of the WORK 
shall be secured and paid for by the CONTRACTOR unless otherwise stated in the 
SUPPLEMENTAL GENERAL CONDITIONS. 

H. UTILITIES 

Unless otherwise provided in these Specifications, the Contractor shall make his own 
arrangements for electricity, gas, water and sewer services for use during the construction of 
the work and shall pay for all connections, extensions,_and services. 

5 



6. FORM OF PROPOSALS (Pages 13 through 18a ) 

All proposals must be made in the form attached hereto, and without removal from the bound 
pamphlet. Additional copies of this proposal form for the bidder's files may be obtained on 
request at the office of the City of Pontiac Water & Sewer Maintenance Division. 

All prices stated in the Proposal must be plainly expressed in figures only, and in the 
proper space or spaces provided. Prices shall be filled in, in ink or typewritten. Any 
corrections shall be initialed by the Bidder. 

All information called for on the Proposal must be furnished to enable a fair comparison 
of the bids to be made. (Also see Instructions to Bidders, Section 10.) 

The place of residence and phone number of each bidder, or the official address and 
phone number in the case of a firm or company, with County and State, must be given with 
the signature. 

When bidder's drawings and/or specifications are required to be submitted, they shall be 
in sufficient detail to fully and distinctly show and describe the equipment which the bidder 
proposes to furnish, including the kind and quality of the material and workmanship that will 
be used in the various parts. If any general drawings, specifications, catalogs or any other 
literature are submitted which contain information or data not pertaining to the patticular 
equipment proposed to be furnished, appropriate notations to that effect must be made. 

Any stipulation or qualification contrary to the Contract requirements made by the bidder 
in or accompanying his proposal as a condition for the acceptance of the Contract will not be 
considered in the award of the Contract and may cause the rejection of the entire Proposal. 

7. LEGAL STATUS OF BIDDER 

The legal status of the bidder, that is, as a corporation, a pattnership, or an individual, 
must be stated in the proposal. A corporation bidder must name the state in which its atticles 
of incorporation are held, and must give the title of the official having authority under the by
laws to sign contracts. A partnership bidder must give the full names and addresses of all 
partners. 

8. AGENCY 

Anyone signing a proposal as agent of another or others must submit with the proposal 
legal evidence of his or her authority to do so. 

9. BID DEPOSIT 

When the Adve1tisement states that security is required with the Proposal to ensure the 
acceptance and execution of the Contract and Bonds, no bid will be considered co_mplete 
unless so guaranteed. 

Each proposal must be accompanied by a certified check of guaranty or a bid bond in an 
amount not less than five percent (5%) of the total price, drawn upon a solvent bank to the 
order of the City Treasurer of the City of Pontiac, or if a bond, executed by a surety company 

6 



acceptable to the City, as a guarantee of good faith on the part of the bidder and subject to the 
conditions stipulated in the proposal form. 

A single certified check or guaranty (bidder's) bond may serve to cover two or more 
alternative proposals when such alternative proposals are submitted by the same bidder. 

10. INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

11. STATEMENT OF BIDDER'S QUALIFICATIONS 

It is the intention of the City to award the Contract for this job to a Contractor whose 
construction skill and financial resources are fully equal to the task of prosecuting the work 
in a satisfactory manner and of bringing it to completion within the time limit specified. 
With this end in view, the Form of Proposal calls for a statement of bidder's experience and 
ability in this particular class of work, and for references concerning his/her business 
standing and capacity. Contractor shall list the names, addresses and phone numbers of 
references. The mere ability to offer bonds will not be taken as sufficient evidence of 
responsibility on the part of the bidder. If Contract is awarded to a foreign company, a 
certificate of authority to do business in this State must accompany the executed Contract. 

The low BIDDER shall supply the names, addresses and phone numbers of major 
material SUPPLIERS and SUBCONTRACTORS when requested to do so by the CITY. 

7 



12. PAYMENTS 

Partial payments will be made to the Contractor during the satisfactory progress of the 
work, calculated at the rate of ninety percent (90%) of the dollar amount of the work 
completed, until fifty percent (50%) of the established contract amount is in place. After 
fifty percent (50%) of the work is in place, additional retainage shall not be withheld unless 
the Contractor's progress is unsatisfactory, all in accordance with Article 13 of the General 
Conditions hereof and Act 524 of 1980. 

13. TIME OF COMPLETION 

This work to be done under the proposed Contract is to begin on or before the date stipulated 
in the Notice to Proceed and must be completed on or before the completion dates provided in the 
PROGRESS SCHEDULE. Time shall be considered to be of the essence of this Contract. 

14. RIGHT TO ACCEPT, TO REJECT, AND TO WAIVE DEFECTS 

The City reserves the right to accept any proposal, to reject any or all proposals, and to 
waive any defect or irregularity in any proposal if it appears advantageous to the City to do 
so. In particular, any alteration, erasure, or interlineation in the Form of Contract in the 
Specifications which are attached hereto and made a part, specifically, of these Instructions, 
or of the Form of Proposal, shall render the accompanying proposal irregular and subject to 
rejection by the City. In case any explanations, additions or alterations are to be offered, they 
shall be indicated on separate sheets attached to the proposal and referred to therein. 
Proposals which are clearly unbalanced will also be considered as irregular, and will be 
subject to instant rejection by the City. 

15. AW ARD OF CONTRACT 

The Contract will be awarded to the qualified Bidder submitting the lowest responsive 
Bid complying with the conditions of the Invitation for Bids and Pontiac Purchasing 
Ordinance. This Purchasing Ordinance provides a "benefit" for bids of Pontiac-based 
persons and is referred to as the "equalization percentage credit" (See Article 21 of the 
Instruction to Bidders). The Bidder's qualification and responsiveness shall be determined by 
the City of Pontiac. The Bidder to whom the award is made will be notified at the earliest 
possible date. The City reserves the right to reject all bids and not award the Contract, at its 
sole discretion. 

16. OBLIGATION TO EXECUTE CONTRACT 

The Bidder whose proposal is accepted will be required to execute the Contract, in the 
form attached hereto, and to furnish sureties as hereafter specified, within ten days (Sundays 
and legal holidays excepted), after receiving notice of acceptance of bid and preparation 
Contract forms is completed, and in case of the successful bidder's refusal or failure to do so, 
shall be considered to have abandoned all their rights and interests in the award, and their 
certified check or guaranty (bidder's) bond may be declared to be forfeited to the City as 
liquidated damages and not a penalty, and the Contract may be awarded to another. 

8 



17. BONDS 

The successful bidder will be required to execute surety bonds, with sureties acceptable 
to the City. One such bond shall be a Performance Bond in the amount of 100 percent of the 
Contract Price on the form attached as pages 25 and 26 of the specifications. Another such 
bond shall be a Labor and Material Bond in the amount of 100 percent of the Contract Price 
on the form attached as pages 27 and 28 of the specifications. The Contractor shall also 
provide a Maintenance Bond in the amount of 100 percent of the Contract Price on the form 
attached as pages 29 and 30 of the specifications. 

18. INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the successful bidder agrees to defend, pay on 
behalf of, indemnify, and hold harmless the CITY OF PONTIAC, it's elected and appointed 
officials, employees and volunteers and others working on behalf of the CITY OF 
PONTIAC, against any and all claims, demands, suits, or loss, including all costs connected 
therewith, and for any damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from 
the CITY OF PONTIAC, it's elected and appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others 
working on behalf of the CITY OF PONTIAC, by reason of personal injury, including 
bodily injury and death, and/or property damage, including loss of use thereof, which arises 
out of or is in any way connected or associated with this contract. 

The successful bidder shall purchase and maintain in a company or companies licensed to 
do business in the State of Michigan, such insurance as will protect him from claims set forth 
below which may arise out of or result from the contractor's operations under the contract, 
whether such operations be by himself or any subcontractor or by anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them, or by anyone whose acts are associated with the project 
by any of them, may be liable. 

a. Workers Compensation Insurance: The contractor shall procure and maintain 
during the life of the contract, Workers Compensation Insurance, including Employer's 
Liability Coverage, in accordance with all applicable statutes of the State of Michigan. 

b. Commercial General Liability Insurance: The contractor shall procure and maintain 
during the life of this contract, Commercial General Liability Insurance on an "Occurrence 
Basis" with the limits of liability not less than $2,000,000, per occurrence and/or aggregate 
combined single limit, Personal Injury, Bodily Injury and Property Damage. Coverage shall 
include the following extensions: (1) Contractual Liability; (2) Products and Completed 
Operations; (3) Independent Contractors Coverage; (4) Broad Form General Liability 
Extensions or equivalent; and (5) Deletion of all Explosion, Collapse and Underground 
(XCU) Exclusions. if applicable. 

c. Motor Vehicle Liability: The contractor shall procure and maintain during the life 
of the contract, Motor Vehicles Liability Insurance, including Michigan No-Fault coverage, 
with limits of not less than $1,000,000, per occurrence combined single limit Bodily Injury 
and Property Damage. Coverage shall include all owned vehicles, all non- owned vehicles 
and all hired vehicles. 

9 



d. Additional Insured: Commercial General Liability and Motor Vehicle Liability 
Insurance, as described above, shall include an endorsement stating the following shall be 
"Additional Insured". "THE CITY OF PONTIAC, INCLUDING ALL ELECTED AND 
APPOINTED OFFICIALS, ALL EMPLOYEES AND VOLUNTEERS, ALL BOARDS, 
COMMISSIONS AND/OR AUTHORITIES AND THEIR BOARD MEMBERS, EMPLOYEES 
AND VOLUNTEERS" AND NOWAK & FRA US ENGINEERS, the project consultant. (This 
coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insured, and not contributing with any other 
insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, whether said other 
available coverage be primary, contributing or excess.) 

e. Cancellation Notice: Workers Compensation Insurance, Commercial General 
Liability Insurance, and Motor Vehicle Insurance, as described above, shall include an 
endorsement stating the following: "IT IS UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED THAT THIRTY 
(30) DAYS ADVANCE WRITTEN NOTICE OF CANCELLATION, NON-RENEWAL, 
REDUCTION AND/OR MATERIAL CHANGE SHALL BE SENT TO: CITY OF 
PONTIAC, RISK MANAGEMENT DIVISION, 47450 WOODWARD AVE., PONTIAC, 
MICHIGAN, 48342". 

f. Owner's and Contractor's Protective Liability: The contractor shall procure and 
maintain during the life of this contract, a separate Owner's and Contractor's Protective 
Liability insurance coverage of not less than $2,000,000, per occurrence and/or aggregate, 
combined single limit, Personal Liability, Bodily Injury, and Property Damage. The City of 
Pontiac shall be "Named Insured" on said coverage. Thirty (30) days Notice of Cancellation 
shall apply to this policy. 

The successful bidder shall not commence work until he has obtained the insurance 
required under this section, nor shall the successful bidder permit any subcontractor to 
commence work on his subcontract until the insurance required of the subcontractor has been 
obtained. 

Certificates of Insurance, along with copies of original policies where applicable, 
acceptable to the City, shall be filed with the City of Pontiac, Risk Management Division, ten 
( 10) days prior to commencement of the contract. A sample certificate is included on page 
12 for reference. 

19. CITY INCOME TAX 

a. Contractor agrees to contact City of Pontiac Income Tax Division, Audit and 
Compliance Section, 47450 Woodward Avenue, Pontiac, Michigan, 48342, telephone (248) 
758-3236, to establish reporting and withholding obligations under the City of Pontiac 
Income Tax Ordinance. Contractor will require the same of all subcontractors employing 
labor under this contract. 

b. Normally, the Contractor will be required to withhold City of Pontiac income tax if 
either of the following applies: 

(1) Performance under this contract (together with any other contracts in the City during 
the calendar year) will last 13 weeks or more. 



(2) Contractor employs one or more Pontiac residents for the performance of this 
contract. 

c. Contractor agrees to pay any personal propetty taxes required by the City Assessor. 

20. PRE-BID MEETING 

A mandatory pre-bid meeting will be scheduled by Addendum 1 with meeting 
instructions. 

21. CITY OF PONTIAC PURCHASING ORDINANCE (Chapter 2, Article VI, Division 
2) Municipal Code, City of Pontiac, Michigan, adopted March 21, 1996 and effective March 
31, 1996. 

Bidders are advised of the following provisions of the Purchasing Ordinance: 

a. PUBLIC BIDS -EQUALIZATION PERCENTAGE CREDIT 

An "equalization percentage credit" will be allowed for bids of Pontiac-based bidders. 
This means that bids by Pontiac-based bidders will be coin pared as if they were two percent 
(2%) less than their actual amount. The equalization percentage credit will be one percent 
(1 %) if the lowest bid is $100,000 or above. Not applicable to emergency purchases. 
Successful Pontiac - based bidder awarded on this basis may not sublet to non-Pontiac-based 
business. 

b. CONTRACTOR OR VENDOR IN DEF AULT OR INDEBTED TO THE CITY 

No bid shall be accepted from or contract awarded to any contractor or vendor who is in 
arrears to the City upon debt or contract including payments of real property taxes or an 
income tax obligation of any kind, or who is in default as to security or otherwise upon an 
obligation to the City. 

c. VIOLATIONS-MISREPRESENTATION 

Any material misrepresentation to the City of Pontiac by a bidder or prospective bidder, 
contractor or vendor in any documentation or paperwork submitted in a bid or proposal or 
otherwise in connection with an attempt to obtain a contract or engage in a business 
transaction shall be a violation, and may be considered sufficient basis to disqualify the 
contractor or vendor from eligibility for the award of a City contract. 

22. NON-DISCRIMINATION PROVISION 

Pursuant to the requirements of 1976, P.A. 453 (Michigan Civil Rights Act) and 1976, 
P.A. 220 (Michigan Handicapped Rights Act), the bidder and any subcontractors agree not to 
discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment with respect to hire, tenure, 
terms, conditions, or privileges of employment or a matter directly or indirectly related to 
employment, because of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, height, weight, marital 
status, or due to a handicap that is unrelated to the person's ability to perform the duties of a 
pmticular job or position. The Bidder must include this provision in any subcontracts 
associated with the project work. 

11 



CONTRACTOR: 

FORM OF PROPOSAL 

To the Honorable Mayor/ City Council 
City of Pontiac, Michigan 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Date: 

--------------

--------------

Having carefully examined the site of the proposed work, and being fully informed in regard to the 
conditions to be met in the prosecution and completion of the work, and having read and examined the 
Instructions to Bidders, Agreement, Bonds, General Conditions, Plans and Specifications pe1iaining to 
this work, and agreeing to be bound accordingly, the undersigned proposes to furnish all the materials, 
labor, tools, power, transpo1iation and construction equipment necessary for the satisfactory and complete 
construction of the 2021 Local Street Improvement Project in full accordance with and conformity to 
the specifications for this work now on file in the office of the City Engineer at and for the following 
named prices, to wit: 

Contractor acknowledges receipt of the following Addendum(s): 

Addendum No.: Dated: ----- -----

Addendum No.: _____ Dated: ____ _ 

Addendum No.: _____ Dated: ____ _ 

13a Form of Proposal 
Page I of7 



Part A - Local Streets Rehabilitation 

ITEM 

1 Mobilization, Max. 10% 

2 HMA Surface, Rem 

3 Excavation, Earth 

4 Curb and Gutter, Rem 

5 Sidewalk, Rem 

6 Pavt, Rem 

7 Subqrade Undercuttinq, 21AA 

8 Aqqregate Base, 8 Inch 

9 HMA, 5E3 

10 Curb and Gutter, Cone, Det F4 

11 Curb and Gutter, Cone, Det M 

12 Sidewalk, Cone, 4 Inch 

13 Sidewalk, Cone, 6 Inch 

14 Driveway, Nonreinf Cone, 6 Inch 

15. Driveway, Nonreinf Cone, 8 Inch 

16 Dr Structure Cover, Adi, Add Depth 

17 Dr Structure Cover, Adj, Case 1 

18 Dr Structure, Temp Lowering 

19 Dr Structure Cover, Type K 

20 Dr Structure Cover, Pontiac, Sanitary 

21 Dr Structure Cover, Pontiac, Water 

22 Dr Structure Cover, Pontiac, Storm 

23 Hand Patching 

24 Sign, Type B, Temp, Prismatic, Furn 

25 Sign, Type B, Temp, Prismatic, Oper 

26 Erosion Control, Inlet Protection, Inlet Filter 

27 Clearing 

28 Restoration 

29 Minor Traf Devices 

30 Traffic Requlator Control 

13b 

QUANTITY 

1 LSUM 

28,973 SYD 

2,327 CYD 

1,555 FT 

310 SYD 

388 SYD 

1,492 CYD 

2,825 SYD 

3,821 TON 

1,129 FT 

426 FT 

2,547 SFT 

240 SFT 

267 SYD 

67 SYD 

212 FT 

106 EA 

74 EA 

28 EA 

38 EA 

5 EA 

31 EA 

1,150 TON 

560 SFT 

560 SFT 

72 EA 

330 FT 

1 LSUM 

1 LSUM 

1 LSUM 
Subtotal Part A: 

UNIT PRICE AMOUNT 

Form of Proposal 
Page 2 of7 



Part B - West Columbia Rehabilitation 

ITEM 

31 Mobilization, Max. 10%, Columbia 

32 HMA Surface, Rem, Columbia 

33 Cold Milling Cone Pavt 

34 Curb and Gutter, Rem, Columbia 

35 Pavt, Rem, Columbia 

36 Pavt Repr, Rem, Columbia 

37 Subgrade Undercutting, 21AA, Columbia 

38 Aqqregate Base, 8 inch, Columbia 

39 Pavt Repr, Nonreinf Cone, 8 inch 

40 Lane Tie, Epoxy Anchored 

41 HMA, 5E3, Columbia 

42 HMA, 4E3, Columbia 

43 Curb and Gutter, Cone, Det F4, Columbia 

44 Driveway, Nonreinf Cone, 6 Inch, Columbia 

45 Dr Structure Cover, Adi, Add Depth, Columbia 

46 Dr Structure Cover, Adi, Case 1, Columbia 

47 Dr Structure, Temp Lowerinq, Columbia 

48 Dr Structure Cover, Type K, Columbia 

49 Dr Structure Cover, Pontiac, Sanitarv, Columbia 

50 Dr Structure Cover, Pontiac, Storm, Columbia 

51 Pavt Mrkq, Polyurea, 4 inch, White 

52 Pavt Mrkg, Polyurea, 4 inch, Yellow 

53 Pavt Mrkq, Polyurea, Only 

54 Pavt Mrkg, Polvurea, Lt Turn Arrow Svm 

55 Pavt Mrkq, Polyurea, 24 inch, Stop Bar 

56 Hand PatchinQ, Columbia 

57 Erosion Control, Inlet Protection, Inlet Filter, Columbia 

58 Siqn, Type B, Temp, Prismatic, Furn, Columbia 

59 Sign, Type B, Temp, Prismatic, Oper, Columbia 

60 Restoration, Columbia 

61 Minor Traf Devices, Columbia 

62 Traffic ReQulator Control, Columbia 

13c 

QUANTITY 

1 LSUM 

5,135 SY 

6,900 SY 

150 LF 

25 SY 

3,275 SY 

250 CYD 

500 SY 

3,275 SY 

250 EA 

3,756 TON 

648 TON 

150 LF 

25 SYD 

62 FT 

31 EA 

31 EA 

13 EA 

16 EA 

15 EA 

42 FT 

8,400 FT 

1 EA 

1 EA 

21 FT 

250 TON 

58 EA 

256.5 SFT 

256.5 SFT 

1 LSUM 

1 LSUM 

1 LSUM 

Subtotal Part B: 

UNIT 
PRICE AMOUNT 

Form of Proposal 
Page 3 of7 



Part C - Woodward Avenue Pavement Repair 

ITEM 

63 Mobilization, Max. 10%, Woodward 

64 HMA Surface, Rem, Woodward 

65 Sidewalk, Rem, Woodward 

66 HMA, 5E3, HiQh Stress 

67 Sidewalk, Cone, 4 Inch, Woodward 

68 LiQhted Arrow, Type B, Furn, Woodward 

69 LiQhted Arrow, Type 8, Oper, Woodward 

70 ChannelizinQ Device, 42 inch, Furn, Woodward 

71 Channelizing Device, 42 inch, Oper, Woodward 

72 SiQn, Type 8, Temp, Prismatic, Furn, Woodward 

73 SiQn, Type 8, Temp, Prismatic, Oper, Woodward 

74 Pavt Mrkg, Polyurea, 4 inch, White, Woodward 

75 Restoration, Woodward 

76 Minor Traf Devices, Woodward 

77 Traffic ReQulator Control, Woodward 

Part D - Local Streets Pave~ent Repair 

ITEM 

78 Mobilization, Max. 10%, Street Repair 

79 HMA Surface, Rem, Street Repair 

80 Dr Structure Cover, Adi, Case 1, Street Repair 

81 Dr Structure, Temp LowerinQ, Street Repair 

82 Dr Structure Cover, Pontiac Sanitary, Street Repair 

83 Dr Structure Cover, Pontiac Storm, Street Repair 

84 Water Shutoff, Adi, Case 1 

85 Underdrain, Subgrade, 6 inch 

86 HMA, 5E3, Street Repair 

87 HMA, 4E3, Street Repair 

88 AaareQate Base, 8 inch, Street Repair 

89 Subgrade Undercutting, 21AA, Street Repair 

90 Restoration, Street Repair 

91 Minor Traf Devices, Street Repair 

92 Traffic ReQulator Control, Street Repair 

13d 

QUANTITY 

1 LSUM 

397 SY 

8 SY 

35 TON 

72 SF 

2 EA 

2 EA 

75 EA 

75 EA 

252 SF 

252 SF 

50 FT 

1 LSUM 

1 LSUM 

1 LSUM 
Subtotal Part C: 

QUANTITY 

1 LSUM 

1240 SY 

5 EA 

7 EA 

2 EA 

3 EA 

2 EA 

370 FT 

108 TON 

234 TON 

195 SY 

67 CYD 

1 LSUM 

1 LSUM 

1 LSUM 

Subtotal Part D: 

TOTAL: 

UNIT PRICE 

UNIT PRICE 

AMOUNT 

AMOUNT 

Form of Proposal 
Page 4 of7 



The Contractor acknowledges that he has not received nor relied upon any representations or warranties 
of any nature whatsoever from the City of Pontiac, its officers, employees or agents and that if he is 
awarded this contract, he shall enter into this Contract solely as the result of his own independent business 
judgment. 

The undersigned acknowledges that he has made his own independent investigation and has satisfied 
himself as to the conditions of the work, including soil and subsurface conditions. 

The undersigned agrees that, in case any additions or deductions in the amount of work contemplated 
are made, the above named unit prices for the various classes of work shall be used to allow for such 
additions or deductions. 

The undersigned hereby agrees that if this Proposal shall be accepted by the said City, he will, within 
ten days after receiving notice of such acceptance and delive1y of Contract forms thereof at the address 
given below (Sundays and legal holidays excepted), enter into contract, in the attached form, to construct 
the said work according to said plans and specifications and to furnish therefor all necessaty equipment, 
tools and building appliances, materials, labor, power and transportation as aforesaid at and for the prices 
named in the foregoing paragraph; to furnish to the said City and to the State of Michigan such sureties 
for the faithful performance of such Contract and for the payment of all materials used therein and for all 
labor expended thereon as shall be approved and accepted by the said City; and to furnish to the said City 
of Pontiac a Maintenance Bond. 

The undersigned attaches hereto a ( certified check), (bidder's bond), in the sum of: 

Dollars($ ) 
as required in the Instructions to Bidders. And the undersigned hereby agrees that, in case he 
shall fail to fulfill his obligations under the foregoing proposal and agreement, the said City may, 
at its option, determine that the undersigned has abandoned his rights and interests in such 
contract and that the certified check or bidder's bond accompanying this proposal has been 
forfeited to the said City as liquidated damages and not as a penalty; but, otherwise 

14 Form of Proposal 
Page 5 of7 



The undersigned states that he currently owns or intends to rent the following equipment that 
will be used in work covered by this proposal: 

List of Equipment Owned 

List of Intended Rental Equipment 

The undersigned states that he has done work similar in character to that covered by this proposal 
at the following named times and places, to wit: 

The undersigned refers the said City to the following named parties for information concerning 
his experience, skill and business standing: 

NAME, ADDRESS AND PHONE NUMBER: 

Dated and signed at ____ ......,..,,,-,---,-------' MI on------=,---,.------
(City) (Date) 

Name of Bidder: ------------------------------

Address of Bidder: -----------------------------

By:----------------

Title: -----------------

Telephone#: _____ Fax#: ______ _ 

Federal Tax I.D. Number( ________ ) 

15 Form of Proposal 
Page 6 of7 



CERTIFICATIONS 

IF A CORPORATION 

I, __________ , certify that I am the ____________ of 

the corporation named as Contractor herein; that ____________ _,who 

signed this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor, was then of 

said corporation; that said Agreement was duly signed for and in behalf of said 

corporation by authority of its governing body, and is within the scope of its corporate 

powers. 

Corporate Seal Signature 

IF AP ARTNERSIDP 

I, ________________________ , certify that I 

am a partner in the partnership named as Contractor herein, and that I have authority to 

sign for and on behalf of this partnership consisting of the following partners: 

NAME AND ADDRESS: 

Signature 

IF A SOLE PROPRIETORSHIP 

I, ----------------------

sole owner and proprietor. 

Signature 

16 

, certify that I am the 

Form of Proposal 
Page 7 of7 



INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

17 Page I of3 



INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

18 Page 2 of3 



INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

18a Page 3 of3 



BID BOND 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, the undersigned, ____ _ 

____________________________ as Principal, 

and _________________________ as Surety, are 

hereby held and firmly bound unto the City of Pontiac, Michigan, as OWNER in the 

penal sum of: 

Dollars ($ ) 

for the payment of which, well and truly to be made, we hereby jointly and severally bind 

ourselves, successors and assigns. Signed, this ___ day of ____ ~ 20 __ _ 

The Condition of the above obligation is such that whereas the Principal has 
submitted to the City of Pontiac, Michigan, a certain BID, attached hereto and hereby 
made a part hereof to enter into a contract in writing, for .the 

NOW, THEREFORE, 

(a) If said BID shall be rejected, or 

(b) If said BID shall be accepted and the Principal shall execute and deliver a 
contract in the Form of Contract attached hereto (properly completed in 
accordance with said BID) and shall furnish a BOND for his faithful performance 
of said contract, and for the payment of all persons performing labor or furnishing 
materials in connection therewith, and shall in all respects perform the agreement 
created by the acceptance of said BID, then this obligation shall be void, 
otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect; it being expressly understood 
and agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all claims hereunder shall, in 
no event, exceed the penal amount of this obligation as herein stated. 

19 



The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said 
Surety and its BOND shall be in no way impaired or affected by any extension of the 
time within which the OWNER may accept such BID; and said Surety does hereby waive 
notice of any such extension. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and the Surety have hereunto set their hands and 
seals, and such of them as are corporations have caused their corporate seals to be hereto 
affixed and these presents to be signed by their proper officers, the day and year first set 
forth above. 

___________ (L.S) 
Principal 

----------- (L.S.) 
Surety 

By: ___________ _ 

IMPORTANT- Surety companies executing BONDS must appear on the Treasury 
Department's most current list (Circular 540 as amended) and be authorized to transact 
business in the State of Michigan. 

20 



AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT, made this ____ day of _______ ~ 20_, by and 

between the City of Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan, party of the first part, hereafter called 

the City, and _______________ ....., Michigan, party of the second part, 

hereinafter called the Contractor: 

WITNESSETH: That for and in consideration of the payments and agreements hereinafter 
mentioned: 

1. The CONTRACTOR shall commence and complete the construction of: 

in full conformance with the Contract Documents as enumerated in Article 6 of this Agreement. 

2. The CONTRACTOR shall furnish all of the material, supplies, tools, equipment, labor 
and other services necessaiy for the construction and completion of the PROJECT described 
herein, excepting those things which are specifically stipulated in the contract documents to be 
furnished or done by the City. 

3. The CONTRACTOR shall commence the work required by the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS on or before the date stipulated in the NOTICE TO PROCEED and will complete 
the project based on the dates established in the PROGRESS CLAUSE special provision, unless 
the date for completion is extended otherwise by the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. Time shall be 
considered to be of the essence of this Contract. 

4. The CONTRACTOR agrees to perform all of the WORK described in the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS and comply with the terms therein for the contract price of: 

unless the contract price is duly changed by the contract documents. 

5. The CITY shall pay to the CONTRACTOR in the manner and at such times as set forth 
in the General Conditions such amounts as required by the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 

6. The term "CONTRACT DOCUMENTS" means and includes the following: 

A. AGREEMENT 

B. BIDBOND 

C. PERFORMANCE BOND 

D. LABOR AND MATERIAL BOND 

21 Agreement 
Page I of4 



E. MAINTENANCE BOND 

F. CHANGE ORDER (Pursuant to General Conditions, Section 9) 

G. ADDENDA: 

No. __ , dated 20 --
No. __ , dated 20 --
No. __ , dated 20 --

H. ADVERTISEMENT 

I. INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

J. BIDDER'S PROPOSAL (Incl. final Compliance Plan as accepted by OWNER) 

K. GENERAL CONDITIONS (Incl. SUPPLEMENTAL GENERAL CONDITIONS and 
SPECIAL CONDITIONS (if any)) 

L. SPECIFICATIONS (Incl. SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS and SPECIAL 
PROVISIONS (if any)) 

M. PLANS (As listed in Schedule of Drawings) 

N. NOTICE OF AW ARD 

0. NOTICE TO PROCEED 

This agreement, together with other documents enumerated in this ARTICLE 6, which said other 
documents are as fully a part of the Contract as if hereto attached or herein repeated, forms the Contract 
between the parties hereto. In the event that any provision in any component pati of this Contract conflicts 
with any provision of any other component part, the provision of the component pati first enumerated in 
this ARTICLE 6 shall govern, except as otherwise specifically stated. 

7. This Agreement shall be binding upon all parties hereto and their respective heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors, and assigns. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the patiies hereto have executed, or caused to be executed by their duly 
authorized officials, this Agreement in four ( 4) copies, each of which shall be deemed an original, on the 
date first above written. 

22 Agreement 
Page 2 of4 



CONTRACT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF PONTIAC 
AND CONTRACTOR 

2021 Local Street Improvement Project 

CONTRACTOR: 

In witness whereof, the parties have executed this agreement the day and year last written below. 

WITNESSES: 

1) By:. _____________ _ 

2) Its: _____________ _ 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

WITNESSES: 

1) 

2) 

WITNESSES: 

1) 

2) 

WITNESSES: 

1) 

2) 

Approved as to form: 

By:---------------
______ , City Attorney 

23 

DEPTARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

By: _____________ _ 
Date 

Its: DPW Administrator 

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE 

By: _____________ _ 

Darin Carrington 
Its: Director 

OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 

Date 

By: _____________ _ 

Dierdre Waterman 
Its: Mayor 

Date 

Agreement 
Page 3 of4 



CERTIFICATIONS 

IF A CORPORATION 

I, __________ , certify that I am the ____________ of 

the corporation named as Contractor herein; that ____________ _,who 

signed this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor, was then of 

said corporation; that said Agreement was duly signed for and in behalf of said 

corporation by authority of its governing body, and is within the scope of its corporate 

powers.* 

Corporate Seal Signature 

* Attach copy of corporate resolution verifying authorization of individuals named above. 

IF AP ARTNERSHIP 

I, _________________________ , certify that I 

am a partner in the partnership named as Contractor herein, and that I have authority to 

sign for and on behalf of this patinership consisting of the following partners: 

NAME AND ADDRESS: 

Signature 

IF A SOLE PROPRIETORSHIP 

I, ______________________ , ce1iify that I am the 

sole owner and proprietor. 

Signature 

24 Agreement 
Page 4 of4 



BOND FOR FAITHFUL PERFORMANCE 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That __________ _ 

___________________________ as principal, and 

_____________________ _, as surety, are held and 

firmly bound unto the City of Pontiac, Michigan, a Municipal Corporation, in the sum of: 

good and lawful money of the United States of America, to be paid to said City of 
Pontiac, its legal representatives and assigns, for which payment well and truly to be 
made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns, 
and each and every one of them, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. 

Sealed with our Seals and dated .this ___ day of _____ A.D. 20 

WHEREAS, the above named principal has entered into a certain written contract 

with the City of Pontiac, dated this ___ day of _____ A.D. 20 __ _ 

wherein the said principal covenanted and agreed as follows, to-wit: 

TO COMMENCE AND COMPLETE the: 

2021 Local Street Improvement Project 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS such that if 
the above named principal or their legal representatives or successors, shall in all things 
well and truly keep and perform the covenants, conditions, and agreements in the manner 
and form and at the time agreed upon to be kept and performed as provided by said 
contract, and plans, drawings, and specifications, referred to in said contract, and as may 
be required by the changes, alterations, and modifications thereof, as provided in said 
contract, then the above obligation shall be void; otherwise to remain in full force and 
effect. 

25 Bond for Faithful Performance 
Page I of2 



This bond is given upon the express condition that any changes, alterations, or 
modifications that may be hereafter ordered or made in the construction and complete 
installation of the work herein referred to, or the placing of an inspector or superintendent 
thereon by the City of Pontiac shall not operate to discharge or release the surety or 
sureties thereon. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be 

executed by their respective authorized officers this ___ day of ______ AD. 

20 __ _ 

Signed, Sealed and Delivered in the Presence of: 

26 

_________ (L.S.) 

_________ (L.S.) 

_________ (L.S.) 

Bond for Faithful Performance 
Page 2 of2 



LABOR AND MATERIAL BOND TO THE 
CITY OF PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That __________ _ 

________________________ as principal, and __ 

--------------------------~ as surety, are 

held and firm bound unto the City of Pontiac, Michigan, a Municipal Corporation, in the 

sum of: 

good and lawful money of the United States of America, pursuant to Michigan State 
Public Act 213 of 1963, to be paid to the City of Pontiac, Michigan, for the use and 
benefit of all subcontractors, and persons, firms and corporations who shall furnish 
materials, supplies and perform labor entering into the work of: 

2021 Local Street Improvement Project 

for which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns, and each and every one of them jointly and 
severally, firmly by these presents. 

Sealed with our Seals and dated this ___ day of _____ A.D. 20 __ . 

WHEREAS, the above named principal has entered into a certain written contract 

with the City of Pontiac, dated this ___ day of _____ A.D. 20 __ , 

wherein the said principal covenanted and agreed as follows, to wit: 

TO COMMENCE AND COMPLETE the: 

2021 Local Street Improvement Project 

27 Labor & Material Bond 
Page 1 of2 



NOW, THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH, that if 
the above named principal, legal representatives, or successors shall pay or cause to be 
paid to all subcontractors, persons, firms, and corporation, as the same may become due 
and payable, all indebtedness which may arise from said principal to a subcontractor or 
party performing labor or furnishing materials and supplies, or any subcontractor to any 
person, firm or corporation on account of any labor performed or materials and supplies 
furnished in connection with the contract, construction and work herein referred to, then 
this obligation shall be void; otherwise to remain in full force and effect. 

This bond is given upon the express condition that any changes, alterations, or 
modifications that may be hereafter ordered or made in the construction and complete 
installation of the work herein referred to, or the placing of an inspector or superintendent 
thereon by the City of Pontiac shall not operate to discharge or release the surety or 
sureties thereon. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the patiies hereto have caused this instrument to be 

executed by their respective authorized officers this ___ day of ______ A.D. 

20 __ 

Signed, Sealed and Delivered in the Presence of: 

28 

_________ (L.S.) 

_________ (L.S.) 

_________ (L.S.) 

Labor & Material Bond 
Page 2 of2 



MAINTENANCE BOND 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That. ___________ _ 

_______________________ as principal, and ____ _ 

-------------------------~ as surety, are held 

and film bound unto the City of Pontiac, Michigan, a Municipal Corporation, in the sum of: 

good and lawful money of the United States of America, pursuant to Michigan State Public 
Act 213 of 1963, to be paid to the City of Pontiac, Michigan, for the use and benefit of all 
subcontractors, and persons, firms and corporations who shall furnish materials, supplies and 
perform labor entering into the work of: 

2021 Local Street Improvement Project 

for which payment well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns, and each and every one of them jointly and severally, 
firmly by these presents. 

Sealed with our Seals and dated this ____ day of ___ A.D. 20 __ 

WHEREAS, the above named principal has entered into a certain written contract with 

the City of Pontiac, dated this ___ day of ___ A.D. 20 __ , wherein the said 

principal covenanted and agreed as follows, to wit: 

TO COMMENCE AND COMPLETE construction of:. 

2021 Local Street Improvement Project 

29 Maintenance Bond 
Page I of2 



NOW, THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH, that by 
and under said contract, the above named principal has agreed with the City of Pontiac that 
for a period of ONE year(s) from the date of payment of Final Estimate, to keep in good 
order and repair all the work, done under said contract, excepting only such part or patis of 
said work as may have been disturbed without the consent or approval of the principal after 
the final acceptance of the work, and that whenever directed so to do by the City Engineer of 
the City of Pontiac by notice served in writing, either personally or by mail, on the principal 
at: 

or ---------------------------- -----

legal representative, or successors, or on the surety at: _____________ _ 

________________ WILL PROCEED at once to make such 

repairs as directed by said City Engineer; and in case of failure so to do within one week 
from the date of service of such notice, or within reasonable time not less than one week, as 
shall be fixed in said notice, then the City of Pontiac shall have the right to purchase such 
materials and employ such labor and equipment as may be necessaty for the purpose, and to 
undetiake, do and make such repairs, and charge the expense thereof to, and receive same 
from said principal or surety. If any repair is necessaty to be made at once to protect life 
and prope1iy, then and in that case, the City may take immediate steps to repair or barricade 
such defects without notice to the contractor. In such accounting the City shall not be held 
to obtain the lowest figures for the doing of the work or any pati thereof, but all sums 
actually paid therefore shall be charged to the principal or surety. In this connection the 
judgment of the City Engineer is final and conclusive. If the said principal for a period of 
ONE year(s) from the date of payment of Final Estimate, shall keep said work so 
constructed under said contract in good order and repair, excepting only such pati or patis of 
said work which may have been disturbed without the consent or approval of said principal 
after the final acceptance of the same, and shall, whenever notice is given as hereinbefore 
specified, at once proceed to make repair as in said notice directed, or shall reimburse said 
City of Pontiac for any expense incurred by making such repairs, should the principal or 
their surety do so as hereinbefore specified, then the above obligation shall be void, 
othe1wise to remain in full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be 

executed by their respective authorized officers this ___ day of ______ A.D. 

20 __ _ 

Signed, Sealed and Delivered in the Presence of: 

30 

__________ (L.S.) 

__________ (L.S.) 

__________ (L.S.) 

Maintenance Bond 
Page 2 of2 



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

The following general conditions are agreed to as defining certain relationships which shall be taken to exist between 
the parties hereto and as setting fo1ih ce1iain conditions under which the Contract is to be fulfilled. 

INDEX 

Article 

1. Definitions 

2. Plans and Specifications 

3. Shop Drawings 

4. Materials and Workmanship 

5. Superintendence by Contractor 

6. Engineering Supervision 

7. City's Right to Complete, Suspension or Termination 

8. Assignment of Contract 

9. Extra Work and Modification 

10. Disputed Claims for Extra Compensation 

11. Extension of Time 

12. Liquidated Damages 

13 Payment to the Contractor 

14. Warranty Maintenance 

15. Michigan Non-Discrimination Statute 

16. Labor Laws and Ordinances 

17. Patents and Patent Rights 

18. Work within Railroad, Private, State or County Rights-of-way 

19. Protection and Safety 

20. Cleaning Up 

21. Progress Schedule 

31 



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

Article 1 - DEFINITIONS 

1.1 Wherever used in the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS, the following terms shall have the 
meanings indicated which shall be applicable to both the singular and plural thereof: 

1.2 ADDENDA - Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the execution of the Agreement 
which modify or interpret the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS by additions, deletions, 
clarifications or corrections. 

1.3 BID - The offer or proposal of the BIDDER submitted on the prescribed form setting forth 
the prices for the WORK to be performed. (See 1.8) 

1.4 BIDDER - Any person, firm or corporation submitting a BID for the WORK. 

1.5 BONDS - Bid, Performance, Labor and Material, and Maintenance Bonds and other 
instruments of security, furnished by the CONTRACTOR and his surety in accordance with 
the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 

1.6 CHANGE ORDER - A written order to the CONTRACTOR authorizing an addition, 
deletion or revision in the WORK within the general scope of the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS, or authorizing an adjustment in the CONTRACT PRICE or CONTRACT 
TIME. 

1. 7 CITY - The City of Pontiac, Michigan, or its properly authorized representatives; and 
whenever the term "City Council", "Mayor", "City Clerk", "Director of Finance", "City 
Engineer", or "Engineer", is used, it shall be understood to mean the Council, Mayor, Clerk, 
Director of Finance, or Engineer of the said City. 

1.8 PARTICIPATION PLAN -The participation document required to accompany each 
proposal, as finally accepted by the City, including any revisions up to the time of 
acceptance. 

1.9 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS - The Contract, including ADVERTISEMENT, 
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS, FORM OF PROPOSAL, BID BOND, AGREEMENT, 
LABOR & MATERIAL BOND, PERFORMANCE BOND, MAINTENANCE BOND, 
GENERAL CONDITIONS, SUPPLEMENTAL GENERAL CONDITIONS, NOTICE OF 
AW ARD, NOTICE TO PROCEED, CHANGE ORDER, PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, 
ADDENDA, and the PARTICIPATION PLAN, and any other documents specifically set 
forth in the Agreement. 

1.10 CONTRACT PRICE - The total monies payable to the CONTRACTOR under the terms and 
conditions of the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 

32 



1.11 CONTRACT TIME - The number of calendar days stated in the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS for the completion of the WORK on each street; or the number of calendar 
days from the date established in the NOTICE TO PROCEED to the DATE stated in the 
CONTRACT DOCUMENTS for the completion of all of the WORK of the TOTAL 
CONTRACT; or both. 

1.12 CONTRACTOR- The person, firm or corporation with whom the CITY has executed the 
Agreement, or its legal representatives. 

1.13 ENGINEER- The City Engineer and/or the person, firm or corporation named as such in the 
CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 

1.14 FIELD ORDER - A written order effecting a change in the WORK not involving an 
adjustment in the CONTRACT PRICE or an extension of the CONTRACT TIME, issued by 
the ENGINEER to the CONTRACTOR during construction. 

1.15 NOTICE OF AWARD - The written notice of the acceptance of the BID from the CITY to 
the successful BIDDER. 

1.16 NOTICE TO PROCEED - Written communication issued by the CITY to the 
CONTRACTOR authorizing him to proceed with the WORK and establishing the date of 
commencement of the WORK. 

1.17 OPEN TO TRAFFIC - That date as certified by the ENGINEER, when the WORI( 
(PROJECT) or any section thereof is in a suitable condition for safe travel. The term 
"SUITABLE CONDITION FOR SAFE TRAVEL" shall be construed to mean that all work, 
INCLUDING the Leveling Course of Bituminous Material and all Concrete Work are 
complete. The PROJECT, or any portion thereof may be designated as "Accepted for · 
Traffic" prior to completion of the whole project, and shall be opened to traffic as may be 
directed by the ENGINEER. In general, the term "OPEN TO TRAFFIC" shall be in 
accordance with Section 107.21 of the MDOT 2012 Standard Specifications for 
Construction. 

1.18 PLANS - The part of the CONTRA CT DOCUMENTS which show the characteristics and 
scope of the WORI( to be performed and which have been prepared or approved by the 
ENGINEER. 

1.19 PROJECT - The undertaking to be performed as provided in the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS. 

1.20 RESIDENT PROJECT REPRESENTATIVE-The authorized representative of the CITY 
who is assigned to the PROJECT site or any part thereof. 

1.21 SHOP DRAWINGS - All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, brochures, schedules and other 

33 



data which are prepared by the CONTRACTOR, a SUBCONTRACTOR, manufacturer, 
SUPPLIER or distributor, which illustrate how specific portions of the WORK shall be 
fabricated or installed. 

1.22 SPECIFICATIONS -A part of the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS consisting of written 
descriptions of a technical nature of materials, equipment, construction systems, standards 
and workmanship (may include SUPPLEMENT AL SPECIFICATIONS AND/OR SPECIAL 
PROVISIONS). 

1.23 SUBCONTRACTOR - An individual, firm or corporation having a direct contract with the 
CONTRACTOR or with any other SUBCONTRACTOR for the performance of a part of the 
WORK at the site. 

1.24 SUPPLIER - Any person or organization who supplies materials or equipment for the 
WORK, including that fabricated to a special design, but who does not perform labor at the 
site. 

1.25 WORK - All labor necessary to produce the construction required by the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS, and all materials and equipment incorporated or to be incorporated in the 
PROJECT. 

1.26 WORK ORDER - A written order to the CONTRACTOR causing a change in WORK 
involving the authorization to undetiake additional work at existing contract unit prices or at 
new contract unit prices for new items of work. 

1.27 WRITTEN NOTICE - Any notice to any party of the Agreement relative to any pati of this 
Agreement in writing and considered delivered and the service thereof completed, when 
posted by certified or registered mail to the said party at his last given address, or delivered in 
person to said party or his authorized representative on the WORK. 

Article 2-PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 

The location of the structures and improvements which are to be built or made under this Contract, 
and the character, form and dimensions of their various parts, are shown in the accompanying drawings, 
specifications and details in the Contract Document entitled: 

2021 Local Street Improvement Project 

These drawings constitute the Plans according to which the work of this Contract is to be done. 
Additional drawings may be prepared by the City Engineer and supplied to the Contractor during the 
progress of the work, as he may deem to be necessary or expedient. All such additional drawings, made 
in elaboration or explanation of the original drawings, are to be considered as part and parcel of the 
Plans and shall be respected and followed as such by the Contractor. 

34 



The Plans are supplemented and explained by a set of technical specifications, which are appended 
hereto, and which describe and define the quality of materials and the character of workmanship which 
are to enter into the work of this Contract. These are the Specifications which are referred to in Article 
1, and elsewhere in this Contract. Additional specifications in further elaboration or explanation of the 
work to be done may be prepared by the City Engineer and supplied to the Contractor during the 
progress of the work, as he may deem to be necessary or expedient. Such additional specifications are to 
be considered as part and parcel of the specifications under this Contract, and shall be respected and 
followed as such by the Contractor. 

Both Plans and Specifications are considered as essential parts of this Contract, and are intended to 
be cooperative. They shall be construed as supplementary each to the other, and any work called for in 
the Plans and not patiicularly mentioned in the Specifications, or described in the Specifications and not 
specially shown on the Plans, is to be regarded as included under this Contract the same as if fully set 
forth in the Specifications and exhibited on the Plans. Wherever figures or definite dimensions are 
given on the Plans or in the Specifications, these shall have precedence over dimensions taken by 
scaling. 

In case any inconsistency, omission, or conflict shall be discovered in the Specifications or Plans, or 
if in any place the meaning of either or both shall be obscure or unce1iain or in dispute, the City 
Engineer shall decide as to the true intent and his decision shall be final and binding. Any such 
inconsistencies, omissions, or conflict noted should be called to the attention of the Engineer, and a 
decision on the same obtained in advance. 

Article 3 - SHOP DRAWINGS 

3.1 The CONTRACTOR shall provide SHOP DRAWINGS as may be necessary for the 
prosecution of the WORK as required by the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. The 
ENGINEER shall promptly review all SHOP DRAWINGS. The ENGINEER's approval of 
any SHOP DRAWINGS shall not release the CONTRACTOR from responsibility for 
deviations from the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. The approval of any SHOP DRAWING 
which substantially deviates from the requirement of the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS shall 
be evidenced by a CHANGE ORDER. 

3.2 When submitted for the ENGINEER'S review, SHOP DRAWINGS shall bear the 
CONTRACTOR'S ce1iification that he has reviewed, checked and approved the SHOP 
DRAWINGS and that they are in conformance with the requirements of the CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS. 

3.3 P01iions of the WORK requiring a SHOP DRAWING or sample submission shall not begin 
until the SHOP DRAWING or submission has been approved by the ENGINEER. A copy of 
each approved SHOP DRAWING and each approved sample shall be kept in good order by 
the CONTRACTOR at the site and shall be available to the ENGINEER. 

35 



Article 4 - MATERIALS AND WORKMANSHIP 

It is mutually understood that all materials and workmanship furnished under this Contract shall be of 
the highest quality, to the end that a good and substantial and workmanlike job may be produced. The 
Contractor shall bring only first class materials to the work, and he shall furnish suitable tools and 
equipment and shall employ competent labor to perform the work to be done. Any materials or labor or 
tools or equipment that shall not, in the judgment of the Engineer, be suitable or competent to produce the 
desired result, may be ordered from the work by the Engineer, and such materials or labor or tools or 
equipment shall be promptly substituted therefor by the Contractor as will meet with the approval of the 
Engineer. Wherever a brand or name is given, it is for the purpose of defining or establishing a type or 
quality of material only. 

4.1 Defective Materials 

Any materials or fabricated articles furnished by the Contractor to be used in this work which 
shall not, in the judgment of the Engineer, be equal to the requirements of the Plans and 
Specifications, may be rejected by the Engineer; and such rejected materials or articles shall 
not be used, but shall be immediately removed by the Contractor from the site of the work. 

4.2 Stored Materials 

Materials and equipment distributed, stored or placed upon or near the site of the work shall be 
at all times so disposed as not to interfere with work being prosecuted directly by the City or 
by other Contractors in the City's employ or with access thereto, and not to hinder any more 
than may be necessary the ordinary pedestrian and vehicular traffic of the streets. 

4.3 Property Rights in Surplus Materials 

All excess materials excavated during the progress of the work and not required for 
backfilling, all timber except tree stumps cut from the right-of-way, and all other materials 
which have been encountered and handled during construction operations, and which 
constitute a disposable surplus at the end of the construction period, shall be the property of 
the Contractor, unless otherwise directed by the City or its Engineer. Such materials shall be 
hauled and neatly piled, or hauled and dumped at the places designated by the Engineer, at no 
extra compensation. 

4.4 Water Supply 

Water for construction purposes may be taken from the City mains subject to the rules of the 
Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner's office. 

36 



Article 5 - SUPERINTENDENCE BY CONTRACTOR 

5 .1 Except where the Contractor is an individual and gives his personal superintendence to the 
work, the Contractor shall provide a competent superintendent, satisfactory to the City and 
the Engineer, on the work at all times during working hours with full authority to act for the 
Contractor. Any orders by the Engineer given to and received by said superintendent shall 
be deemed to have been given to and received by the Contractor. The Contractor shall also 
provide an adequate staff for the proper coordination and expediting of his work. The 
Contractor shall maintain a complete set of plans and specifications at the site. 

5 .2 The Contractor may set up and establish an office on or near the site. On certain large 
projects, the Engineer may direct the Contractor to set up an office. 

5 .3 The Contractor shall lay out his own work and he shall be responsible for all work executed 
by him under the Contract. He shall verify all figures and elevations before proceeding 
with the work and will be held responsible for any error resulting from his failure to do so. 

5 .4 Disorderly Employees 

Disorderly, intemperate, or incompetent persons must not be employed, retained, or 
allowed upon the work site. Any foreman or workman who refuses or neglects to comply 
with the directions of the Engineer in the matter of personal conduct shall, at the request of 
the Engineer, be promptly discharged and shall not thereafter be re-employed without the 
consent of the Engineer. 

5.5 Relation to Other Contractors 

The Contractor shall so conduct his operations as not to interfere with or injure the work of 
other Contractors or workmen employed by the City on adjoining or related work, and he 
shall promptly make good any injury or damage which may be done to such work by him or 
his employees or agents. Should a contract for adjoining work be awarded to another 
Contractor, and should the work on any one of these contracts interfere with that of the other, 
the Engineer shall decide which Contractor shall cease work for the time being and which 
shall continue or whether the work on both contracts shall continue at the same time and in 
what manner. In case the territory of one contract should be the necessary means of access to 
another contract, the Engineer shall have power to grant reasonable privileges with respect to 
the transportation or movement of men, animals, appliances or materials as he may adjudge 
to be necessary or expedient and in the best interests of the City. Any decision which the 
Engineer may make as to the method and time of conducting work or the use of territory 
shall not be made the basis of any claim for damages, but an extension of time may be 
claimed, if justified by the circumstances, the same as in the case of other delays caused by 
the acts of the City. Any difference of opinion or conflict of interest which may arise 
between this Contractor and other Contractors or workmen of the City in regard to adjoining 
work shall be determined and adjusted by the Engineer. 

37 



5 .6 Time and Sequence of Work 

In general, it is the intention and understanding that the Contractor shall have control over the 
sequence or order of execution of the several parts of the work to be done under this 
Contract, and over the methods of accomplishing the required results, except as some 
particular sequence or method may be distinctly demanded by the Plans and Specifications or 
by the express provisions of this Contract; the Engineer may, however, make such 
reasonable requirements as may, in his judgement, be necessary for the proper and effective 
protection of work paitially or wholly completed, and to these requirements, the Contractor 
shall strictly conform. 

5.7 Sunday and Night Work 

No Sunday work shall be done except in case of emergency or to protect from damage or 
injury any work that has already been done, and then only with the written consent of the 
Engineer, and only to such an extent as he may judge to be necessary. 

Ordinarily, no night work shall be carried on which will require the presence of the Engineer 
or an inspector, except with the written permission of the Engineer. Night work is 
permissible in an emergency to the extent required to meet the emergency, but the Contractor 
shall notify the Engineer, as far as possible in advance, of his intentions to carry on such 
emergency work and of the time and place of doing it. 

Article 6 - ENGINEERING SUPERVISION 

The work covered by this Contract will be executed under the engineering supervision of the City 
Engineer, who shall have authority to inspect all materials and workmanship entering into the work, to 
furnish all instructions and information regarding the Plans and Specifications that may be necessary, to 
supply supplementary or additional plans or specifications as he may deem expedient, and to point out to 
the Contractor any disregard of any of the provisions of the Contract; but the right of final acceptance or 
condemnation of the work will not be waived at any time during its progress. 

The Engineer will set suitable stakes and marks showing the locations and elevations of various patis 
of the work and the Contractor shall provide such labor and assistance as the said Engineer may require 
in setting the same. The Contractor shall take due and proper precautions for the preservation of these 
stakes and marks, and shall see to it that the work at all times proceeds in accordance therewith. The 
Engineer may provide for the inspection of any or all materials or workmanship used or intended to be 
used under this Contract, by assistants under his direction or otherwise, as he may deem to be advisable 
or expedient; but no inspection shall relieve the Contractor of his fundamental obligation to fully respect 
all the requirements of his Contract. Such inspection may cover any or all parts of the work, and may 
extend to and include the preparation or manufacture of any materials or fabricated atiicles intended to 
be incorporated in the work. The Contractor shall furnish, upon request therefor by the Engineer, such 
samples for examination or testing as the Engineer may prescribe. The Contractor shall furnish such 
labor and assistance as may be necessary for the proper handling of materials in all inspections and tests 
that may be required. 

38 



The Engineer and his duly authorized agents and employees may, at any time and for any purpose, 
enter upon the work and upon the premises occupied by the Contractor, and the Contractor shall provide 
proper and safe facilities by which the Engineer may have access to such parts of the work as may be 
required. 

Article 7-CITY'S RIGHT TO COMPLETE; SUSPENSION OR TERMINATION 

It is agreed that the City has the right, when it shall become satisfied that the work provided for in 
this Contract will not be completed within the time limit, to furnish additional labor and material if 
necessaty and render such other assistance as it may deem advisable, for the completion of said 
Contract, at the expense of the Contractor, and may retain the same out of the Contract price, or recover 
the same by legal proceedings. 

It is agreed that the Mayor has the right to determine finally all questions as to proper performance 
of this Contract, or any patt or portion thereof, and in case of improper, dilatory or imperfect 
performance thereof, to suspend the work at any time and to order the partial or entire reconstruction of 
the same, and if at any time the said Contractor shall abandon the work of this Contract or become 
habitually negligent of his obligations under it, or shall fail to prosecute the work with reasonable 
diligence, so that the time of final completion of the work shall be unnecessarily and intolerably delayed, 
or if he shall violate any of the provisions of the Contract, then and in such case the Mayor may declare 
this Contract forfeited and may, at address given in the proposal, notify him to discontinue all work 
under this Contract, or any patt thereof, and thereupon he shall discontinue such work, or such patt 
thereof, and shall cease to have any right to the possession of the ground; and the City shall thereupon 
have the right to complete the work or any part thereof by Contract or otherwise, as it may elect, and for 
that purpose to take possession and make use of such materials, tools, building appliances, and 
equipment as may be found upon the work, and to charge the expense thereof to the Contractor. Power 
is hereby given the Mayor to determine all such questions under this Contract, according to the true 
intent and meaning thereof. 

All expenses charged under this provision shall be deducted and paid by the City of Pontiac out of 
any monies then due to the Contractor under this Contract, or any part thereof, and in such accounting 
the City of Pontiac shall not be held to obtain the lowest figures for the work of completing the contract, 
or any patt thereof, or for insuring its proper completion, but all sums actually paid therefor shall be 
charged to the Contractor. In case the expenses to be charged are less than the sum which would have 
been payable under this contract if the same had been completed by the Contractor, the Contractor shall 
be entitled to receive the difference; and in case such expenses shall exceed the said sums, the 
Contractor shall pay the amount of the excess to the City of Pontiac. 

39 



Article 8 - ASSIGNMENT OF CONTRACT 

It is agreed that the Contractor shall not assign or transfer this Contract, or subcontract any part of 
the work embraced in it, except with the written consent of the Mayor to do so. 

It is further agreed that all parts of the work which may be performed by a subcontractor shall 
conform to the Plans and Specifications and be subject to all provisions of this Contract exactly as if 
performed by the Contractor and his immediate employees and workmen. No such letting of the work 
shall, in any way, diminish or weaken the responsibility of the Contractor for all parts of the work or 
lessen his obligation under this Contract. 

It is likewise agreed that the Contractor shall not assign, either legally or equitably, any of the 
monies payable to him under this Contract, or his claim thereto, except with the written consent of the 
Mayor. 

Article 9 - EXTRA WORK AND MODIFICATION 

It is agreed that the said Contractor shall do such incidental or extra work in connection with this 
Contract as the Mayor may especially order in writing. If such extra work or any part thereof be of such 
character that it may be definitely covered by construction items for which unit prices are named in the 
proposal of this Contract, then and in that case the City will pay, and the Contractor will accept as full 
compensation for such extra work, or such part thereof, the amount computed by applying the unit prices 
to the quantities of extra work falling under the several items. Also, such extra work may be paid for at 
prices mutually agreed upon at the time by the City and the Contractor. But if such extra work, or any 
part thereof, be of a kind which may not be definitely covered by the regular pay items of this contract, 
and if no price therefor has been mutually agreed upon in advance, or if the work is of such a nature that 
it cannot be estimated with fair exactness in advance, then the City will pay, and the Contractor will 
accept as full compensation for such, an amount equal to the actual and necessary net cost in money to 
the Contractor for labor and materials actually used therein or expended thereon, plus fifteen percent 
(15%) of such net cost for superintendence, power, the use of tools, and plant, liability insurance, and all 
overhead and incidental expenses. 

During the progress of any extra work which is to be paid for on the basis of net cost plus fifteen 
percent (15%), the Contractor will furnish to the City Engineer, at the end of each day, suitable time slips 
showing the name of and the number of hours worked by each workman employed thereon, the nature of 
work performed by him, and his rate of pay, together with suitable and adequate memoranda of the 
materials used therein, showing the character and amount of each such material, the source from which 
it was purchased, and the price paid or to be paid therefor. 

The City may, at its discretion, furnish to the Contractor any materials or supplies or transpo1iation 
required for extra work, and the Contractor shall not be entitled to any allowance or percentage on 
account of materials or supplies or transportation so furnished. 

It is agreed that all extra work that may be ordered and performed under the provisions of this article 
shall be done by the Contractor in an effective and workmanlike manner, and shall be subject to the 
same restrictions and liabilities as those which apply to the general work of this Contract; and the 
Contractor will be responsible for the maintenance and protection of such extra work until the time of 
the final acceptance of the entire job by the City. 

40 



And it is further agreed that no claim against the City on account of extra work shall be valid unless 
such extra work has been previously ordered in writing by the Mayor, and unless such claim has been 
presented for payment as soon as practicable after the completion of such extra work and before the 
making up of the final estimate. 

When it becomes necessary in the prosecution of any work or improvement under contract to make 
minor alterations or modifications of such contract or the plans and specifications thereof, such 
alterations, changes or modifications shall be made only on the written order of the Mayor. 

No such order shall be made until the price to be paid for the work or material or both and the 
credits, if any, to be allowed by the City under the altered and modified Contract shall have been 
agreed upon in writing and signed by the Contractor and by the Mayor. 

Article 10 - DISPUTED CLAIMS FOR EXTRA COMPENSATION 

If any inconsistency, omission, or conflict is discovered in either the plans or the specifications, or 
if in any place the meaning of either the plans or the specifications, or both, is obscure, or uncertain, or 
in dispute, the Engineer will decide as to the true intent. 

In case the Contractor deems extra compensation is due for work or materials not clearly covered in 
the contract, or not ordered by the Engineer as extra work, or due to changed or altered conditions, the 
Contractor shall notify the Engineer in writing of the Contractor's intention to make claim for such extra 
compensation before beginning work on which the Contractor intends to base a claim and shall afford 
the Engineer every facility for keeping actual cost of the work. The Contractor and the Engineer shall 
compare records and bring them into agreement at the end of each day. Failure on the pati of the 
Contractor to give such notification or to afford the Engineer proper facilities for keeping strict aGcount 
of actual cost will constitute a waiver of the claim for such extra compensation except that consideration 
will be given to claims to the extent that they are substantiated by City records. The determination of 
extra compensation made by the City, where the Contractor has failed to give proper notice of his claim 
for extra compensation as provided herein or has failed to afford the Engineer proper facilities for 
keeping strict account of actual costs, shall be final and binding on the Contractor. The filing of such 
notice by the Contractor and the monitoring of cost by the Engineer for said notice of claim, shall not in 
any way be construed to establish the validity of the claim. When the extra work in question has been 
completed, the Contractor shall file the claim for extra compensation with the Engineer .. 

Such claims shall be filed with the Engineer in a timely manner but no later than 10 days after the 
contract is completed. A written decision will be given to the Contractor in a timely manner, regarding 
the approval, patiial approval, or disapproval of the Contractor's claim for extra compensation. The City 
will determine procedures for reviewing the Contractor's claim. 

Article 11-EXTENSION OF TIME 

It is agreed that if the Contractor shall be unavoidably delayed in beginning or fulfilling this Contract 
by reason of excessive storms or floods, or by acts of Providence, or by general strikes, or by court 
injunction, or by stopping of the work by the City because of any emergency or public necessity, or by 
reason of extra work ordered by the City Engineer, or by any act, neglect, delay, or default on the part of 

41 



the City, the Contractor shall have no valid claim for damages on account of any such cause or 
delay, but he shall be, in such case, entitled to such extensions or advancement of the time period 
specified in the Agreement as the City Engineer shall adjudge to be just and reasonable; 
provided, however, that formal claim for such extension shall be made in writing by the 
Contractor within a week after the date upon which such alleged cause of delay shall have 
occurred. The closing down of the work during the winter season on account of cold weather 
shall not be taken as entitling the Contractor to any extension of time within the meaning of this 
Article. 

In case the Contractor shall be delayed in the fulfillment of his obligations under this 
Contract, from any cause whatsoever, and in case the City shall acquiesce in the Contractor's 
prosecution and completion of the work, or any part of it, after the date at which it should have 
been finished, such acquiescence shall not operate as a waiver of any of the City's rights under 
this Contract, nor shall it invalidate or in any way weaken the Contractor's bonds. 

Article 12 - LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

It is expressly covenanted and agreed by and between the parties hereto that time is and shall 
be considered as of the essence of the Contract, and in the event that said Contractor shall fail in 
the due performance of the entire work to be performed under this Contract, by and at the time 
herein mentioned and referred to in the Agreement, or within some other certain date subsequent 
to this to which the time limit for completion of the work may have been advanced under 
provisions of Article 11, the said Contractor shall pay unto the City as and for liquidated 
damages, and not as a penalty, the sum of Thirteen Hundred Fifty Dollars($ 1,350.00) for each 
and every calendar day that the said Contractor shall be in default. 

Said sum of Thirteen Hundred Fifty Dollars($ 1,350.00) per day, in view of the difficulty 
of estimating such damages with exactness, is agreed upon as the damages which will be 
suffered by the City by reason of such default. It is also understood and agreed by the parties to 
this Contract that the liquidated damages herein before mentioned are in lieu of the actual 
damages arising from such breach of this Contract; which said sum the City shall have the right 
to deduct from any monies in its possession, otherwise due, or to become due to said Contractor, 
or to sue for and recover compensation for damages for non-performance of this Contract at the 
time stipulated herein and provided for. (See also any Special Provisions for Liquidated 
Damages.) 

Said liquidated damages are in addition to any actual damages which the City may recover under 
the provisions of the contract. 

Article 13 - PAYMENTS TO THE CONTRACTOR 

13 .1 Contractor's Obligation Prior to Payment 

It is agreed that before the Contractor shall demand partial or final estimates or 
payments, the City may require him to furnish the City satisfactory evidence that all 
persons that have supplied labor or materials for the work embraced under this 

42 



Contract have been fully paid for the same; and that in case such evidence be not 
furnished as aforesaid, such sums as the City may deem necessary to meet the lawful 
claims of the persons aforesaid be retained by the City from any monies that may be 
due or become due to him under this Contract until such liabilities shall be fully 
discharged and evidence thereof be furnished to the City. The Contractor agrees to 
make prompt settlement for all repair expenses made by the City as a result of the 
Contractor's work. Consent of the Contractor's surety will be required prior to final 
payment. 

13.2 City's Obligation to Pay 

It is agreed that, in consideration of the faithful and entire performance by the 
Contractor of his obligations under this Contract, the City shall pay to him, at the 
times and in the manner stipulated, the total sum as determined by calculations from 
the unit prices in the proposal, but diminished by such amount as the City may 
lawfully retain as liquidated damages under the provisions of Article 12 herein; and 
the Contractor shall accept the payment of such sum as full compensation for his 
work under this Contract. 

13.3 Progress Estimates and Payments 

Progress payments shall comply with Act No. 524 Public Acts of 1980. At about the 
first of each month, during which satisfactory progress has been made toward the 
final completion of the work, the Engineer will make up an estimate of the amount 
and value of the work which has been done under this Contract since the date of the 
last preceding estimate, and will report such estimate in writing to the City Director 
of Finance. Such estimates shall not be required to be made by strict measurements, 
or with exactness, but may be made either wholly or in part by appraisement or 
estimation or by a consideration of accounts for labor and materials, and it shall be 
sufficient if it is approximate only. Any error or inaccuracy which may occur in any 
progress estimate may be allowed for or corrected in any subsequent estimate. 

Following the rendering of such estimate by the Engineer, and as soon as practicable 
thereafter, the City will pay to the Contractor on account a sum equal to ninety 
percent (90%) of the Contract price of such work. The remaining ten percent ( 10%) 
will be retained until work is fifty percent (50%) in place. After the work is fifty 
percent (50%) in place, additional retainage shall not be withheld unless the City 
determines that the Contractor is not making satisfactory progress, or for other 
specific cause relating to the Contractor's performance under the Contract. If the City 
so determines, the City may retain not more than ten percent ( 10%) of the dollar value 
of work more than fifty percent (50%) in place. 

The Director of Finance may require the Contractor, before the payment of any 
estimate, to file an affidavit showing the unpaid bills for materials or supplies of any 
kind furnished for this work. 

43 



Any time after 94% of the work is in place, the Contractor may request release of all 
of the retainage. The City shall be required to release the retainage plus interest to 
the Contractor in such case only if the Contractor provides to the City an irrevocable 
letter of credit in the amount of the retainage plus interest, issued by a bank 
authorized to do business in this State, and containing terms mutually acceptable to 
the Contractor and the City. 
The progress estimates and payments thus provided for will include all extra work 
which may be done under the provisions of this Contract on the same basis as other 
work is included, all such extra work being regarded herein as essentially a part of 
this Contract, and not merely supplementary to it. 

Disputes under this provision may be submitted to the decision of an agent, at the 
option of the City, pursuant to Section 4 of Act 524 of 1980. (MCLA 125.1564). 

13 .4 Measurement 

Due and proper measurements will be taken by the Engineer during the progress of 
the work, and his estimates, based upon such measurements, shall be final and 
conclusive evidence of the amount of work performed under this Contract. 

13.5 Final Estimate and Payment 

As soon as practicable after the satisfactory completion of all the work included 
under this Contract, the Engineer will make final inspection of all the work and will 
make up a final estimate of the amount due to the Contractor under the terms of this 
Contract. At this time the Contractor shall file with the Director of Finance an 
affidavit stating that all bills have been paid in full for all materials, supplies and 
labor of every kind that have been furnished for this work, or stating the balance due 
for such materials, supplies and labor (See sample on Page 52). The Contractor 
shall file with the City Engineer the Contractor's Declaration found on Page 51, 
stating that all claims for extra payments have been satisfactorily settled and there 
will be no further claims. A final certificate relative to compliance of Affirmative 
Action Plan also will be required as a condition of payment. Consent of the 
Contractor's surety shall also be filed. The Engineer will then certify this estimate to 
the City Director of Finance and the Contractor will be paid the amount of said 
estimate, less the amounts previously paid; excepting that the City may, at its 
option, reserve such amount as it may deem necessary to meet the undischarged 
obligations of the Contractor for materials or labor expended upon this work until 
such obligation shall have been paid. 

Article 14-WARRANTY MAINTENANCE 

If, at any time during a one-year period from the date of payment of the final estimate, the 
need of any repair or replacement becomes apparent, the City will at once notify the Contractor 
in writing, either personally or by mail at the address given in the proposal; and if within one 
week after such notification the Contractor has not made the necessary repairs, the City may 
proceed to do the required work and to charge the cost thereof against the Contractor, excepting 

44 



that in the case of a repair necessary to be made at once to protect life and property, then and in 
that case the City may take immediate steps to repair or barricade such defects without notice to 
the Contractor. 

Following the performance of any such repair work by the City, and as soon as practicable 
thereafter, an itemized statement of the cost of such work will be sent to the Contractor by the 
City. In such accounting the City shall not be held to obtain the lowest figures for the doing of 
the work or any part thereof, but all sums actually paid therefor shall be charged to the 
Contractor. 

Article 15 - MICHIGAN NON-DISCRIMINATION STATUTE 

It is agreed that the Contractor and his subcontractors will not discriminate against an 
employee or applicant for employment with respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions or 
privileges of employment, or a matter directly or indirectly related to employment, because of 
race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, height, weight, or marital status; or because of a 
handicap that is unrelated to the individual's ability to perform the duties of a patticular job or 
position. Breach of this covenant may be regarded as a material breach of the Contract. 

Article 16 - LABOR LAWS AND ORDINANCES 

The Contractor shall obey and abide by all laws of the State of Michigan relating to the 
employment of labor on public work, and all the chatter provisions and ordinances of the City of 
Pontiac regulating or in respect to public improvements. 

Article 17 - PATENTS, PATENT RIGHTS, AND TRADEMARKS 

The Contractor shall indemnify, protect, defend and save the City of Pontiac, including all 
elected and appointed officials, all employees and volunteers, all boards, commissions and/or 
authorities and their board members, employees, volunteers and others working on behalf of the 
City, harmless against all claims or actions brought against the City by reason of any actual or 
alleged infringement upon patent, trademark or service mark right in any article, material, 
process, machine or appliance used by him in this work. 

Article 18 - WORK WITHIN RAILROAD, PRIVATE, STATE OR COUNTY RIGHTS-OF
WAY 

All construction work within railroad, private, State or County highway rights-of-way shall be 
performed by the Contractor in accordance with the requirements of the rights-of-way agreement 
and of the railroad or highway department having jurisdiction; including procedures of excavating, 
backfilling, removing and replacing pavement, maintaining and safeguarding traffic, inspection 
procedures of jacking pipes and encasing pipes under railroads and highways, etc. All required 
construction permits and surety bonds shall be furnished by the Contractor before commencing 
work. At the conclusion of the work, the Contractor shall furnish a written statement from the 
railroads and highway departments that work in rights-of-way under their jurisdiction has been 
completed to their satisfaction. 

45 



Article 19 - PROTECTION AND SAFETY 

19 .1 Protection Against Accident 

The Contractor shall put up and shall maintain during the continuance of the work 
such barriers, lights and other protective devices and watchmen, when necessary, as 
will effectively prevent any accident in consequence of his work, and he shall be 
liable for all accidents and damages occasioned in any way by his acts or neglect, or 
by the acts or neglect of his agents, employees, or workmen. 

19 .2 Responsibility for Damage to Work 

The Contractor shall assume full responsibility for loss or damage to the work during 
the entire construction period resulting from caving earth and from storms, floods, 
frosts, and other adverse weather conditions, and from all other causes whatsoever not 
directly due to the acts or neglect of the City, and shall turn the finished work over to 
the City in good condition and repair at the time of the final estimate. This 
responsibility of the Contractor shall cover all these elements included as extra work 
under this Contract in exactly the same manner as the regular work is covered. 

19 .3 Responsibility for Adjoining Structures 

The Contractor shall have full responsibility for the protection of all property, 
driveways, buildings, fences, and other structures, and their foundations, along ( or 
near) the line of the work, and shall indemnify, defend and save harmless the City of 
Pontiac, including all elected and appointed officials, all employees and volunteers, 
all boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board members, employees, 
volunteers and others working on behalf of the City, against all damages or alleged 
damages to any such structure arising out of his work. 

No driveway shall be entirely closed to travel, even temporarily, except with the 
written consent of the Engineer, previously obtained. Highways must be suitably 
posted during the period in which construction work is in progress in them, and the 
Contractor shall be responsible for this precaution. Suitable bridges must be built 
across trenches at highway crossings to facilitate travel, and this same requirement 
shall apply likewise to private roadways. 

19.4 Responsibility for Water Courses 

The Contractor shall maintain in continuous and effective service all drains and 
water courses touched during the progress of the work. If it should become 
necessary, temporarily, to divert or obstruct the flow of any such water course or 
drain, written consent must first be obtained from the Engineer, and the Contractor 
shall assume full responsibility for the consequences. 

46 



19.5 Responsibility for Utilities 

Certain underground structures and utilities have been shown as an aid to the 
Contractor, but the City does not guarantee their location or that other underground 
structures or utilities may not be encountered. It shall be the responsibility of the 
Contractor to make all arrangements with the owners of the respective utilities for the 
establishment of their location, prior to beginning the construction. 

The Contractor shall assume full responsibility for the protection of all utilities, water, 
sewer, gas, telephone, or any other, either public or private, along or near the line of 
work, and will be held responsible for any damages to such utilities arising from his 
operations. If for the Contractor's convenience he desires that any po1iion of the 
utilities be moved to facilitate his operations, he shall make all necessary 
arrangements with the owner of the respective utilities, and pay all costs resulting 
from this work. 

In cases where utilities, water, sewer, gas, telephone or any other, either public or 
private, are directly in the line of the structures being constructed, such as those being 
within the permissible limits of a sewer excavation or pavement excavation, and the 
City deems it necessary that the said utility be moved, the said company or 
companies, agents or superintendents will be notified by the City Engineer to remove 
the same within a specified time. The Contractor shall not interfere with said utility 
or any p01iion thereof until the expiration of the time specified in said notice. The 
Contractor will not be held responsible for any costs resulting from this work. 

In all cases where there is a dispute between the Contractor and the owner of the 
respective utility as to necessity of moving or repairing same within City-owned right 
of way, the City Engineer shall make the final decision in the matter, which decision 
shall be binding on the respective parties, and order the respective pa1iies to proceed 
accordingly. 

19 .6 Protection of Trees and Shrubbery 

The Contractor shall take ample precautions to protect all trees and ornamental 
shrubbery from injury by workmen, teams, or other agencies connected with his 
work. Such trees or shrubbery shall be surrounded by protective posts or fencing 
before construction work begins if, in the judgment of the Engineer, such precautions 
are necessary. 

19.7 Protection of Reference Points 

The Contractor shall carefully preserve monuments, bench marks, reference points 
and stakes and, in case of willful or careless destruction, he shall be charged with the 
resulting expense and shall be responsible for any mistakes that may be caused by 
their unnecessary loss or disturbance. 

47 



19.8 Removal of Water 

The Contractor shall provide all necessary pumps, pipes, drains, ditches, dikes, and 
other means for adequately protecting the work from damage by water, and he shall 
so protect it during the entire construction period. No direct payment will be made to 
the Contractor for removing or pumping water, or for any of the means employed in 
protecting the work against damage by water, but compensation therefor shall be 
considered as being included in the unit prices fixed in this Contract for the several 
structures. 

Water pumped or delivered from trenches and excavations shall be disposed of in 
such manner as will not injure the public health, nor damage public or private 
property, nor injure any work complete or in progress. 

19.9 Dust Control 

The Contractor shall apply water or dust palliative, or both, for the alleviation or 
prevention of dust nuisance caused by his operations. Dust control operations shall 
be performed by the Contractor at the time ordered by the Engineer, but failure of the 
Engineer to issue such order will not relieve the Contractor of his responsibility. 

Such dust control materials shall be applied as often as is necessary to control the 
dust. The use of road oils and waste oils to control dust is prohibited unless 
authorized by the Engineer. 

No direct payment will be made for any such work performed or material used to 
control dust under this Contract. 

19.10 Control ofNoise 

The Contractor shall eliminate noise to as great an extent as possible at all times. Air 
compressors shall be equipped with silencers, and the exhaust of all gasoline motors 
and other power equipment shall be provided with mufflers. In the vicinity of 
hospitals, libraries and schools, special precautions shall be taken to avoid noise and 
other nuisance, and the Contractor shall require strict observances of all pertinent 
ordinances and regulations. Any blasting permitted in such locations shall be done 
with reduced charges. 

19.11 Erosion Control 

The Contractor shall comply with the Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Act, 
Act 347 of 1972, as amended by Act 197, Public Acts of 1974 and local City or 
County soil erosion control programs. Also, should the local agency determine that 
the construction operation is in violation of the act and cites the City, the Contractor 
shall take immediate action, as directed by the City, to insure compliance with the 
Act. 

48 



19.12 First Aid 

The Contractor shall at all times provide a satisfactory first aid kit at the job site. 
Emergency phone numbers for police, doctors, and emergency vehicles shall also be 
kept in the first aid kit. 

19 .13 Ventilation and Safety in Gas 

Positive and approved means shall be provided by the Contractor for the detection of 
gas in existing sewers. If gas is encountered and cannot be removed by natural 
ventilation, then ventilating equipment of sufficient capacity and suitable type to 
adequately and quickly dilute the gas shall be promptly installed and operated. In all 
work where gas is present, no flame or other open light shall be used on the work. 
The Contractor shall be required to enforce a "no smoking" ban on all workmen 
present. 

19 .14 Sanitary Regulations 

The Contractor shall provide for his employees an abundant and convenient supply of 
drinking water, taken from the City mains or from some other safe and wholesome 
source, and shall give orders against the use for drinking purposes of any other water 
in the neighborhood known to be prejudicial to the health of the workers. 

The Contractor shall provide at convenient points, properly secluded from 
observation, a sufficient number of sanitary conveniences, and shall maintain them 
strictly without nuisance and without offense to the public or to residents in the 
vicinity of the work. The number, location, character and conditions of maintenance 
of these utilities must at all times be such as will meet the approval of the Engineer. 

Article 20 - CLEANING UP 

Upon completion of the actual work of construction, the Contractor shall clean up and leave 
in neat condition all the premises which he has occupied during the construction period. Before 
the time of the final estimate, the Contractor shall remove from the premises all surplus 
excavation, debris, and rubbish, and all unused materials, together with all tools and equipment, 
or shall deposit them at such points and in such manner as the Engineer may require. 

Before leaving the grounds, he shall replace or put in good repair all fences, telephone poles 
and lines, roadways, and other property that may have been damaged by him during the progress 
of the work. Damage to crops within the limits of the right-of-way or street will be paid by the 
City, but the Contractor must assume responsibility for all damages outside of this right-of-way. 

49 



Article 21 - PROGRESS SCHEDULE 

The CONTRACTOR shall submit a Progress Schedule to the City for review and approval 
within ten ( 10) days of receipt of the "NOTICE OF AW ARD". The Contractor shall address the 
following items in the proposed schedule. 

21.1 All work on Part C and Part D streets (Woodward A venue (BL-75), Russell I 
Whittemore Street Intersection, S. Merrimac Street, and St. Clair Street) shall be 
completed on or before November 12, 2021. 

21.2 All work on Pati A and Part B streets (Cherry Hill Drive, Fairmount A venue, 
Starlight Lane, Grandville Court, Bynan Lane / Gambrell Drive, Omar Street, Granada 
Drive, and W. Columbia Avenue) shall be completed on or before July 30, 2022. 

50 



CONTRACTOR'S DECLARATION 

I hereby declare that I have not, during the period of ______________ _ 

to ________________ A.D., 20 __ , performed any work, furnished 

any material, sustained any loss, damage or delay for any reason, including soil conditions 

encountered or created, or otherwise done anything for which I shall ask, demand, sue for, or 

claim compensation from the City of Pontiac or his agents, in addition to the regular items set 

fotth in the contract named or numbered 2021 Local Street Improvement Project and dated _ 

________ A.D., 20 __ , for ___________________ _ 

executed between myself and the City of Pontiac, and in the Change Orders for work issued by 

the City in writing as provided thereunder, except as I hereby make claim for additional 

compensation and/or extension of time as set forth on the itemized statement attached hereto. 

There (is) (is not) an itemized statement attached. 

Date: ________________ _ 

By:, _____________ _ 

Title: -----------------

51 



CONTRACTOR'S AFFIDAVIT 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

COUNTY OF 

) 
)SS 
) 

The undersigned ______________________ _, hereby 

represents that on , he (it) was awarded a contract by the City of Pontiac, 

hereinafter called the Owner, to _______________________ _ 

in accordance with the terms and conditions of Contract 2021 Local Street Improvement 
Project and the undersigned further represents that the subject work has now been accomplished 
and the said contract has now been completed. 

The undersigned hereby warrants and certifies that all of his (its) indebtedness arising by 
reason of the said contract has been fully paid or satisfactorily secured; and that all claims from 
subcontractors and others for labor and material used in accomplishing the said project, as well 
as all other claims arising from the performance of the said contract, have been fully paid or 
satisfactorily settled. The undersigned further agrees that, if any such claim should hereafter 
arise he (it) shall assume responsibility for the same immediately upon request to do so by the 
Owner. 

The undersigned, for a valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, 
does further hereby waive, release and relinquish any and all claims or right of lien which the 
undersigned now has or may hereafter acquire upon the subject premises for labor and material 
used in accomplishing said project owned by the Owner. 

This affidavit is freely and voluntarily given with full knowledge of the facts, on this __ _ 
day of _______ A.D. 20 

Contractor: _________________ _ 

By: _______________ _ 

Title: __________________ _ 

Subscribed and sworn and to before me, a Notary Public in and for ___ County, Michigan, 

on this ____ day of _____ A.D. 20 

Notary Public 
My Commission expires: ____________ _ 

52 



NOTICES TO BIDDERS, 
SPECIFICATIONS 

AND 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

53 



NFE: JCK 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
1 of 1 

2021-04-28 

All work shall be done in accordance with the City of Pontiac Standard Details and the Michigan 
Department of Transportation 2012 Standard Specifications for Construction and the latest 
revisions to the Standard Details as published by MOOT except as specifically modified in the 
Contract Documents 

54 



NFE: JCK 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 

JOB SITE SAFETY 
1 of 1 

2021-04-26 

Neither the professional activities of the Engineer, nor the presence of the Engineer or its 
employees and consultants at, shall relieve the Contractor and any other entity of their obligations, 
duties and responsibilities including, but not limited to, construction means, methods, sequence, 
techniques or procedures necessary for performing, superintending or coordinating all portions of 
the work of construction in accordance with the Contract Documents and any health or safety 
precautions required by any regulatory agencies. The Engineer and its personnel have no 
authority to exercise any control over any construction Contractor or other entity or their employees 
in connection with their work or any health or safety precautions. The Contractor agrees that the 
Contractor is solely responsible for job site safety. The Contractor also agrees, to the extent 
permitted by law, that the Owner, Engineer and Engineer's consultants shall be indemnified by the 
Contractor for claims, demands, damages, judgements, losses, interest, attorney's fees, litigation 
costs and expenses of any kind, at any time, for bodily injury and or property damage, arising out 
of or in any way connected to the Contractor's work or acts related to the Project. The Contractor 
also agrees that the Owner, Engineer and Engineer's consultants shall be made additional 
insureds under the Contractor's general liability insurance policy. 



NFE: JCK 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 

81-WEEKL Y PROGRESS MEETING 
1 of 1 

2021-04-26 

Bidders are advised that after the commencement of construction activities, the Contractor will be 
required to attend a bi-weekly progress meeting with the Engineer and any other interested parties. 
Dates will be selected at the beginning of the project and the meeting will be held at the office of 
the Engineer, or as otherwise arranged. The Contractor's project representative along with 
representatives from all critical subcontractors, as requested by the Engineer, shall be present at 
the meeting to discuss the status of the project and to coordinate the work for the following two (2) 
weeks. 



NFE: JCK 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 

PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 
1 of 1 

Bidders are advised that the following permits are required for construction of this project: 

2021-04-27 

MOOT Right-of-Way Permit: A permit to perform work or place traffic control devices within 
the Michigan Department of Transportation right-of-way shall 
be provided to the contractor. The Contractor shall be 
responsible for meeting all of the requirements outlined in the 
permit. 

Canadian National Railroad: A permit to perform work in the right-of-way of the Canadian 
National Railroad at Woodward Ave. shall be provided to the 
contractor. The Contractor shall be responsible for meeting all 
of the requirements outlined in the permit. 

Water Use Permit: A permit will be required to access City fire hydrants to obtain 
water for construction, cleaning, dust control, etc. The 
Contractor must obtain this permit from the Oakland County 
Water Resources Commissioner. As a part of this permit a 
meter will be provided by the County to measure the usage of 
water. Backflow prevention must be maintained at all times. 
Payment for any fees or for water usage will be the 
responsibility of the Contractor. 

Structure Adjustments: A permit from the Oakland County Water Resources 
Commissioner for adjusting sanitary and water structures 
covers in the right-of-way will be provided to the contractor. 
The contractor shall be responsible for all fees associated 
with said permit, and shall be responsible for meeting all of 
the requirements outlined in the permit. 



NFE: JCK 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISON 
FOR 

PROGRESS CLAUSE 
1 of 1 

2021-07-30 

The Contractor shall begin work within ten (10) calendar days after receiving the "Notice to 
Proceed" or on or before the date designated as the starting date in the detailed Progress 
Schedule. The completion dates for this project shall be as follows: 

• All work on Part C and Part D streets (Woodward Avenue (BL-75), Russell/ 
Whittemore Street Intersection, S. Merrimac Street, and St. Clair Street) shall be 
completed on or before November 12, 2021. 

• All work on Part A and Part B streets (Cherry Hill Drive, Fairmount Avenue, Starlight 
Lane, Grandville Court, Synan Lane/ Gambrell Drive, Omar Street, Granada Drive , 
and W. Columbia Avenue) shall be completed on or before July 30, 2022. 

The Contractor shall perform all work in accordance with the traffic control plans provided in 
the construction drawings. Temporary traffic and detours shall be maintained at all times. 
The Contractor shall complete all restoration work and pavement markings as specified in 
the construction drawings and as directed by the Engineer. 

Failure by the Contractor to meet the above requirements and dates will result in the 
Contractor being assessed liquidated damages in accordance with the Special Provision for 
Schedule of Liquidated Damages for Oversight. 

The Contractor shall also be assessed liquidated damages in accordance with the Special 
Provision for Schedule of Liquidated Damages for Oversight for any days exceeding ten (10) 
between the placement of the leveling and wearing courses of HMA on any street. The City 
Engineer will consider all requests for extensions of time based on weather or extenuating 
circumstances that prevent HMA paving operations. 

The low bidder for the work covered by this proposal will be required to attend a 
preconstruction meeting and to submit a detailed progress schedule for approval by the 
Engineer. The progress schedule shall include, as a minimum, the starting and completion 
dates of all items of work, as well as the date the project is to be completed. The Contractor 
shall schedule their work such that no more than three (3) business days will elapse between 
major items of work. It is the intent of this provision that a continuous flow of operations will 
be maintained from start to finish. 



NFE: JCK 

Description 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 

UTILITY COORDINATION 
1 of 1 

2021-04-26 

The Contractor shall cooperate and coordinate construction activities with the owners of utilities as 
stated in Section 104. 07 of the 2012 MOOT Standard Specifications for Construction. In addition, 
for the protection of underground utilities, the Contractor shall follow the requirements in Section 
107.12 of the 2012 MOOT Standard Specifications for Construction. Contractor delay claims, 
resulting from a utility, will be determined based upon Section 109.03 of the 2012 MOOT Standard 
Specifications for Construction. 

The following public utilities have facilities located within the right-of-way: 

Electric - Distribution: 
DTE Energy 
1530 Trombly Street 
Detroit, MI 48211 
Contact: Laura Toporowski 630-336-2020 

Gas: 
Consumers Energy 
4600 Coolidge Hwy 
RoyalOak,Ml48073 
Contact: Ernie Martyniuk 248-433-5868 

Sanitary Sewer: 
Oakland County W.R.C. 
1 Public Works Dr 
Waterford, MI 48328 
Contact: Rick DeVisch 248-858-4939 

Water Main 
Oakland County W.R.C. 
1 Public Works Dr 
Waterford, Ml 48328 
Contact: Amy Ploof 248-452-2271 

Telephone: 

AT&T 
54 N. Mill Street 
Pontiac, Ml 48342 
Contact: Matt Silwa 248-877-0762 

Cable Television: 
Comcast Cable 
25626 Telegraph Rd 
Southfield, Ml 48033 
Contact: Michael Marlow 248-809-2765 

Electric - Community Lighting: 
DTE Energy 
15600 19 Mile Rd 
Clinton Twp, Ml 48038 
Contact: Reggie Brown 586-412-3207 

City of Pontiac - Street Lighting and Storm Drain 
City of Pontiac - Engineering Department 
47450 Woodward Ave. 
Pontiac, Ml 48342 
Contact: Abdul Siddiqui 248-758-3615 

Storm drain, water main and street lighting improvements shall be constructed as identified in the 
construction plans or specifications. 

On all projects: "Three Working Days before you Dig - Call MISS DIG (800)482-7171" 

Existing service facilities, which are located within grading or structure limits, will be moved or 
adjusted by the owners to locations or elevations designated by the Engineer or will be removed 
entirely from the right of way. Owners of public utilities will not be required by the City to move 
additional poles or structures in order to facilitate the operation of construction equipment unless it 
is determined by the Engineer that such poles or structures constitute a hazard to the public or are 
extraordinarily dangerous to the Contractor's operations. 



NFE: JCK 

Description 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 

USE OF CITY WATER 
1 of 1 

2021-04-26 

Water from the City of Pontiac water distribution system is available for use by the Contractor. The 
Contractor MUST apply for and have a permit for water use in the possession of the individual 
taking the water from the City system. Unauthorized use will not be permitted. The Oakland 
County Sheriffs Department has been instructed to halt any unauthorized use of City water. 

As a part of this permit, a meter will be provided by the Oakland County Water Resources 
Commissioner to measure the usage of water. Backflow prevention must be maintained at all 
times. A permit fee will be due upon issuance of the permit. A usage fee will be due upon the 
return of the provided meter. 

The Contractor is advised to contact Amy Ploof at 248-858-0958 or ploofa@oakgov.com to 
ascertain the procedures for obtaining a permit and for paying the required fees for such use. 

Measurement and Basis of Payment 

The cost of the permit fee and metered use of the City's water supply is the responsibility of the 
Contractor and shall be considered incidental to the project and shall not be paid for separately. 



NFE: JCK 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 

STAGING OF CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES 
1 of 1 

2021-04-27 

Bidders are advised that if they intend on staging their activities outside of the public right-of-way, 
approval for a variance from the City of Pontiac Zoning Board of Appeals is required. It shall be the 
responsibility of the Contractor to make application to the City of Pontiac's Office of Land Use and 
Strategic Planning. The procedure for making this application includes: 

1. Obtain and complete the property application forms and pay fees. 
2. File the forms with the Office of Land Use and Strategic Planning and include the 

following items: 
a. A fully dimensioned and scaled plot plan showing property lines and locations of all 

buildings. 
b. A clear description of any proposed change of use to include present use and a 

detailed accounting of the new use. 
c. Any additional information required by the Office of Land Use and Strategic 

Planning, for proper processing of the application. 
3. The request will be placed on the agenda of the Zoning Board of Appeals as soon as 

possible. 
4. The applicant will be notified by mail of the hearing time and date. 
5. A variance, if granted, will be void six (6) months after date of approval if not acted 

upon the applicant. 
6. A variance, if granted, does not constitute permission to proceed without first obtaining 

the necessary permits to complete the required work. 

Furthermore, if City of Pontiac property is to be used for staging activities, an agreement between 
the Contractor and the City, allowing the Contractor the use of the property, shall be approved by 
the City prior to the Contractor accessing the property. 

The costs associated with the Contractor obtaining approval from the City of Pontiac Zoning Board 
of Appeals shall not be paid for separately. 



NFE: JCK 

Description 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 
FOR 

DRIVEWAY ACCESS, TEMPORARY 
1 of 1 

2021-04-29 

Maintain access to all driveways during construction except that each drive may be closed 
for no more than 3 days to pour and cure the concrete drive, sidewalk behind the drive, and 
portion of the driveway behind the sidewalk. The Contractor shall notify each resident three 
working days prior to closing a drive. Temporary materials approved of by the Engineer, 
such as maintenance gravel may be used, but must be used in a manner that ensures the 
material does not infiltrate the underlying material to remain in place. This work will NOT be 
paid for separately but considered incidental to adjacent pay items. 



NFE: JCK 

Description 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

SWEEPING 
1 of 1 

2021-04-27 

This work shall consist of sweeping pavements, as often as necessary, in the construction area, as 
directed by the Engineer. 

A final cleaning shall be completed within five (5) working days prior to the opening of the roadway. 

Equipment 

The machine that is used shall be self-propelled or towed street sweeper, equipped with pickup 
attachments and curb brushes. 

Measurement and Basis of Payment 

The completed work for Sweeping shall not be paid for separately, but shall be considered included 
in other items of work on the project. 



NFE: JCK 

Description 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

DUST CONTROL 
1 of 1 

2021-04-26 

The Contractor shall take such precautions and do such work so as to effectively control dust 
caused by his operations on all streets that are affected by the construction of the project. 

During each seven (7) day period that the street is under construction, the Contractor shall supply 
and apply water to the grade in such amounts that dust will be kept to a minimum. The water shall 
be applied to the grade at least once during each seven (7) day period and at such other times and 
places as the Engineer may direct. The Contractor shall schedule the application of water to be 
done on the Thursday of each week. The rate of application shall be 0.5 gallons per square yard. 

In the event that the ground is already sufficiently wet from natural causes, the Contractor may not 
be required to apply water to the grade. The Contractor's equipment and labor to apply the water 
to the grade shall be on site every Thursday ready and equipped to apply water. The Engineer 
shall have sole direction as to whether or not water is required and the Engineer's decision shall be 
final. 

Measurement and Basis of Payment 

The completed work for Dust Control shall not be paid for separately. 

In the event that the City deems it necessary to perform this work for the Contractor, the City shall 
have the work done and charge the cost thereof against any monies that may be due or may 
become due to the Contractor. 



NFE: JCK 

Description 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

PROOF ROLLING 
1 of 1 

2021-04-27 

This work shall be done in accordance with the Michigan Department of Transportation 2012 
Standard Specifications for Construction, except as follows:. 

Construction Methods 

After pavement removal and/or excavation the Engineer will inspect the condition of an existing 
aggregate base course or underlying subgrade. If in the opinion of the Engineer an area of the 
roadway appears unsuitable for paving they may order the Contractor to proof roll the area to 
identify unstable areas. Proof rolling must be scheduled so as not to delay the time of completion 
for opening the roadway to traffic, and be mutually convenient for the Engineer and the Contractor. 
The Engineer must be present to observe the proof rolling activity. 

After any require proof rolling is completed then the Engineer may order subgrade undercutting, 
manipulation, or other methods to improve the pavement subgrade and identify the limits of work. 

Any required subgrade improvements ordered by the Engineer will not be a basis to extend the 
time of completion, unless in the opinion of the Engineer an extension of time is warranted. 

Measurement and Basis of Payment 

The work of proof rolling will not be measured separately and shall be considered incidental to the 
project. 



MICHIGAN 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

12SP-501 J-05 

ACCEPTANCE OF HOT MIX ASPHALT MIXTURE ON LOCAL AGENCY PROJECTS 

CFS:KPK 1 of 7 APPR:CJB:JWB:07-05-16 
FHWA:APPR:07-05-16 

a. Description. This special provision provides sampling and testing requirements for local 
agency projects using the roller method and the nuclear density gauge testing. Provide the hot 
mix asphalt (HMA) mixture in accordance with the requirements of the standard specifications, 
except where modified herein. 

b. Materials. Provide aggregates, mineral filler (if required), and asphalt binder to produce 
a mixture proportioned within the master gradation limits shown in the contract, and meeting the 
uniformity tolerance limits in Table 1. 

Table 1: Uniformity Tolerance Limits for HMA Mixtures 
Parameter Top and Leveling Course Base Course 

Number Description Range 1 (a) Range 2 Range 1 (a) Range 2 

1 % Binder Content -0.30 to +0.40 ±0.50 -0.30 to +0.40 ±0.50 

0) # 8 and Larger Sieves ±5.0 ±8.0 ±7.0 ±9.0 
C 
'ui 

2 (/) # 30 Sieve ±4.0 ±6.0 ±6.0 ±9.0 ro 
0. 
::R. 0 # 200 Sieve ±1.0 ±2.0 ±2.0 ±3.0 

3 Crushed Particle Content (b) Below 10% Below 15% Below 10% Below 15% 

a. This range allows for normal mixture and testing variations. The mixture must be proportioned to 
test as closely as possible to the Job-Mix-Formula (JMF). 

b. Deviation from JMF. 

Parameter number 2 as shown in Table 1 is aggregate gradation. Each sieve will be evaluated 
on one of the three gradation tolerance categories. If more than one sieve is exceeding Range 1 
or Range 2 tolerances, only the one with the largest exceedance will be counted as the gradation 
parameter. 

The master gradation should be maintained throughout production; however, price adjustments 
will be based on Table 1. Aggregates which are to be used in plant-mixed HMA mixtures must 
not contain topsoil, clay, or loam. 

c. Construction. Submit a Mix Design and a JMF to the Engineer. Do not begin production 
and placement of the HMA until receipt of the Engineer's approval of the JMF. Maintain the binder 
content, aggregate gradation, and the crushed particle content of the HMA mixture within the 
Range 1 uniformity tolerance limits in Table 1. For mixtures meeting the definition of top or 
leveling course, field regress air void content to 3.5 percent with liquid asphalt cement unless 



CFS:KPK 2 of 7 
12SP-501J-05 

07-05-16 

specified otherwise on HMA application estimate. For mixtures meeting the definition of base 
course, field regress air void content to 3.0 percent with liquid asphalt cement unless specified 
otherwise on HMA application estimate. 

Ensure all persons performing Quality Control (QC) and Quality Assurance (QA) HMA field 
sampling are "Local Agency HMA Sampling Qualified" samplers. At the Pre-Production or Pre
Construction meeting, the Engineer will determine the method of sampling to be used. Ensure all 
sampling is done in accordance with MTM 313 (Sampling HMA Paving Mixtures) or MTM 324 
(Sampling HMA Paving Mixtures Behind the Paver). Samples are to be taken from separate 
hauling loads. 

For production/mainline type paving, obtain a minimum of two samples, each being 20,000 grams, 
each day of production, for each mix type. The Engineer will sample and maintain possession of 
the sample. Sampling from the paver hopper is prohibited. Each sample will be divided into two 
10,000 gram parts with one part being for initial testing and the other part being held for possible 
dispute resolution testing. Obtain a minimum of three samples for each mix type regardless of 
the number of days of production. 

Obtain samples that are representative of the day's paving. Sample collection is to be spaced 
throughout the planned tonnage. One sample will be obtained in the first half of the tonnage and 
the second sample will be obtained in the second half of the tonnage. If planned paving is reduced 
or suspended, when paving resumes, the remaining sampling must be representative of the 
original intended sampling timing. 

Ensure all persons performing testing are Bit Level One certified or Bit QNQC Technician 
certified. 

Ensure daily test samples are obtained, except, if the first test results show that the HMA mixture 
is in specification, the Engineer has the option of not testing additional samples from that day. 

At the Pre-Production or Pre-Construction meeting, the Engineer and Contractor will collectively 
determine the test method for measuring asphalt content (AC) using MTM 319 (Determination of 
Asphalt Content from Asphalt Paving Mixtures by the Ignition Method) or MTM 325 (Quantitative 
Extraction of Bitumen from HMA Paving Mixtures). Back calculation will not be allowed for 
determining asphalt content. 

Ensure all labs performing local agency acceptance testing are qualified labs per the HMA 
Production Manual and participate in the MOOT round robin process, or they must be AASHTO 
Materials Reference Laboratory (AMRL) accredited for AASHTO T 30 or T 27, and AASHTO T 
164 or T 308. Ensure on non-National Highway System (NHS) routes, Contractor labs are made 
available, and may be used, but they must be qualified labs as previously stated. Contractor labs 
may not be used on NHS routes. Material acceptance testing will be completed by the Engineer 
within 14 calendar days, except holidays and Sundays, for projects with less than 5,000 tons (plan 
quantity) of HMA and within 7 calendars days, except holidays and Sundays, for projects with 
5,000 tons (plan quantity) or more of HMA, after the Engineer has obtained the samples. QA test 
results will be provided to the Contractor after the Engineer receives the QC test results. Failure 
on the part of the Engineer or the laboratori to provide Quality Assurance test results within the 
specified time frame does not relieve the Contractor of their responsibility to provide an asphalt 
mix within specifications. 



CFS:KPK 3 of 7 
12SP-501 J-05 

07-05-16 

The correlation procedure for ignition oven will be established as follows. Asphalt binder content 
based on ignition method from MTM 319. Gradation (ASTM D 5444) and Crushed particle content 
(MTM 117) based on aggregate from MTM 319. The incineration temperature will be established 
at the Pre-Production Meeting. The Contractor will provide a laboratory mixture sample to the 
acceptance laboratory to establish the correction factor for each mix. Ensure this sample is 
provided to the Engineer a minimum of 14 calendar days prior to production. 

For production/mainline type paving, the mixture may be accepted by visual inspection up to a 
quantity of 500 tons per mixture type, per project (not per day). For non-production type paving 
defined as driveways, approaches, and patching, visual inspection may be allowed regardless of 
the tonnage. 

The mixture will be considered out-of-specification, as determined by the acceptance tests, if for 
any one mixture, two consecutive tests per parameter, (for Parameter 2, two consecutive 
aggregate gradations on one sieve) are outside Range 1 or Range 2 tolerance limits. If a 
parameter is outside of Range 1 tolerance limits and the second consecutive test shows that the 
parameter is outside of Range 2, then it will be considered to be a Range 1 out-of-specification. 
Consecutive refers to the production order and not necessarily the testing order. Out-of
specification mixtures are subject to a price adjustment per the Measurement and Payment 
section of this special provision. 

Contractor operations will be suspended when the mixture is determined to be out-of
specification, but contract time will continue to run. The Engineer may issue a Notice of Non
Compliance with Contract Requirements (Form 1165), if the Contractor has not suspended 
operations and taken corrective action. Submit a revised JMF or proposed alterations to the plant 
and/or materials to achieve the JMF to the Engineer. Effects on the Aggregate Wear Index (AWi) 
and mix design properties will be taken into consideration. Production and placement cannot 
resume until receipt of the Engineer's approval to proceed. 

Pavement in-place density will be measured using one of two approved methods. The method 
used for measuring in-place density will be agreed upon at a pre-production or pre-construction 
meeting. 

Pavement in-place density tests will be completed by the Engineer during paving operations and 
prior to traffic staging changes. Pavement in-place density acceptance testing will be completed 
by the Engineer prior to paving of subsequent lifts and being open to traffic. 

Option 1 - Direct Density Method 

Use of a nuclear density gauge requires measuring the pavement density using the Gmm from 
the JMF for the density control target. The required in-place density of the HMA mixture must be 
92.0 to 98.0 percent of the density control target. Nuclear density testing and frequency will be 
in accordance with the MOOT Density Testing and Inspection Manual. 

Option 2 - Roller Method 

The Engineer may use the Roller Method with a nuclear or non-nuclear density gauge to 
document achieving optimal density as discussed below. 



CFS:KPK 4 of 7 
12SP-501 J-05 

07-05-16 

Use of the density gauge requires establishing a rolling pattern that will achieve the required in
place density. The Engineer will measure pavement density with a density gauge using the Gmm 
from the JMF for the density control target. 

Use of the Roller Method requires developing and establishing density frequency curves, and 
meeting the requirements of Table 2. A density frequency curve is defined as the measurement 
and documentation of each pass of the finished roller until the in-place density results indicate a 
decrease in value. The previous recording will be deemed the optimal density. The Contractor 
is responsible for establishing and documenting an initial or QC rolling pattern that achieves the 
optimal in-place density. When the density frequency curve is used, the Engineer will run and 
document the density frequency curve for each half day of production to determine the number of 
passes to achieve the maximum density. Table 5, located at the end of this special provision, can 
be used as an aid in developing the density frequency curve. The Engineer will perform density 
tests using an approved nuclear or non-nuclear gauge per the manufacturer's recommended 
procedures. 

Table 2: Minimum Number of Rollers Recommended Based on Placement Rate 

Average Laydown Rate, Number of Rollers Required (a) 

Square Yards per Hour Compaction Finish 

Less than 600 1 1 (b) 

601 - 1200 1 1 

1201 - 2400 2 1 

2401 - 3600 3 1 

3601 and More 4 1 

a. Number of rollers may increase based on density frequency curve. 
b. The compaction roller may be used as the finish roller also. 

After placement, roll the HMA mixture as soon after placement as the roller is able to bear without 
undue displacement or cracking. Start rolling longitudinally at the sides of the lanes and proceed 
toward the center of the pavement, overlapping on successive trips by at least half the width of 
the drum. Ensure each required roller is 8 tons minimum in weight unless otherwise approved by 
the Engineer. 

Ensure the initial breakdown roller is capable of vibratory compaction and is a maximum of 500 
feet behind the paving operations. The maximum allowable speed of each roller is 3 miles per 
hour (mph) or 4.5 feet per second. Ensure all compaction rollers complete a minimum of two 
complete rolling cycles prior to the mat temperature cooling to 180 degrees Fahrenheit (F). 
Continue finish rolling until all roller marks are eliminated and no further compaction is possible. 
The Engineer will verify and document that the roller pattern has been adhered to. The Engineer 
can stop production when the roller pattern is not adhered to. 

d. Measurement and Payment. The completed work, as described, will be measured and 
paid for using applicable pay items as described in subsection 501.04 of the Standard 
Specifications for Construction, or the contract, except as modified below. 



CFS:KPK 5 of 7 
12SP-501 J-05 

07-05-16 

Base Price. Price established by the Department to be used in calculating incentives and 
adjustments to pay items and shown in the contract. 

If acceptance tests, as described in section c. of this special provision, show that a Table 1 mixture 
parameter exceeds the Range 1, but not the Range 2, tolerance limits, that mixture parameter 
will be subject to a 1 O percent penalty. The 1 O percent penalty will be assessed based on the 
acceptance tests only unless the Contractor requests that the 10,000 gram sample part retained 
for possible dispute resolution testing be tested. The Contractor has 4 calendar days from receipt 
of the acceptance test results to notify the Engineer, in writing, that dispute resolution testing is 
requested. The Contractors QC test results for the corresponding QA test results must result in 
an overall payment greater than QA test results otherwise the QA tests will not be allowed to be 
disputed. The Engineer has 4 calendar days to send the dispute resolution sample to the lab 
once dispute resolution testing is requested. The dispute resolution sample will be sent to an 
independent lab selected by the Local Agency, and the resultant dispute test results will be used 
to determine the penalty per parameter, if any. Ensure the independent lab is a MOOT QA/QC 
qualified lab or an AMRL HMA qualified lab. The independent lab must not have conflicts of 
interest with the Contractor or Local Agency. If the dispute testing results show that the mixture 
parameter is out-of-specification, the Contractor will pay for the cost of the dispute resolution 
testing and the contract base price for the material will be adjusted, based on all test result 
parameters from the dispute tests, as shown in Table 3 and Table 4. If the dispute test results do 
not confirm the mixture parameter is out-of-specification, then the Local Agency will pay for the 
cost of the dispute resolution testing and no price adjustment is required. 

If acceptance tests, as described in section c. of this special provision, show that a Table 1 mixture 
parameter exceeds the Range 2 tolerance limits, the 10,000 gram sample part retained for 
possible dispute resolution testing will be sent, within 4 calendar days, to the MOOT Central 
Laboratory for further testing. The MOOT Central Laboratory's test results will be used to 
determine the penalty per mixture parameter, if any. If the MOOT Central Laboratory's results do 
not confirm the mixture parameter is out-of-specification, then no price adjustment is required. If 
the MOOT Central Laboratory's results show that the mixture is out-of-specification and the 
Engineer approves leaving the out-of-specification mixture in place, the contract base price for 
the material will be adjusted, based on all parameters, as shown in Table 3 and Table 4. 

In the case that the Contractor disputes the results of the test of the second sample obtained for 
a particular day of production, the test turn-around time frames given would apply to the second 
test and there would be no time frame on the first test. 

The laboratory (MOOT Central Laboratory or independent lab) will complete all Dispute 
Resolution testing and return test results to the Engineer, who will provide them to the Contractor, 
within 13 calendar days upon receiving the Dispute Resolution samples. 

In all cases, when penalties are assessed, the penalty applies to each parameter, up to two 
parameters, that is out of specification. 



CFS:KPK 6 of 7 

a e T bl 3 P ena tv er It P P 
Mixture Parameter out- Mixture Parameter out-of-

t arame er 

12SP-501 J-05 
07-05-16 

of-Specification per Specification per Dispute Resolution Price Adjustment per Parameter 
Acceptance Tests Test Lab 

NO N/A None 

NO None 

YES 
Outside Range 1 but not Range 2: 

YES 
decrease by 10% 

Outside Range 2: decrease by 25% 

The quantity of material receiving a price adjustment is defined as the material produced from the 
time the first out-of-specification sample was taken until the time the sample leading to the first 
in-specification test was taken. 

Each parameter of Table 1 is evaluated with the total price adjustment applied to the contract 
base price based on a sum of the two parameter penalties resulting in the highest total price 
adjustment as per Table 4. For example, if three parameters are out-of-specification, with two 
parameters outside Range 1 of Table 1 tolerance limits, but within Range 2 of Table 1 limits and 
one parameter outside of Range 2 of Table 1 tolerance limits and the Engineer approves leaving 
the mixture in place, the total price adjustment for that quantity of material is 35 percent. 

Table 4: Calculating Total Price Adjustment 
Cost Adjustment as a Sum of the Two Highest Parameter Penalties 

Number of Parameters Range(s) Outside of Tolerance 
Total Price Adjustment 

Out-of-Specification Limits of Table 1 per Parameter 

One 
Range 1 10% 

Range 2 25% 

Range 1 & Range 1 20% 

Two Range 1 & Range 2 35% 

Range 2 & Range 2 50% 

Range 1, Range 1 & Range 1 20% 

Three 
Range 1, Range 1 & Range 2 35% 

Range 1, Range 2 & Range 2 50% 

Range 2, Range 2 & Range 2 50% 



CFS:KPK 

Tested by: 

Route/Location: 

7 of 7 

Table 5: Density Frequency Curve Development 

12SP-501 J-05 
07-05-16 

Date/Time: _________ _ 

Air Temp: 
Control Section/Job Number: Weather: 
MixTvoe: I Tonnaqe: Gauqe: 
Producer: I Depth: Gmm: 

Roller #1 T rpe: 
Pass No. Density Temperature Comments 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 

Optimum 

R II # T o er 2 '/pe: 
Pass No. Density Temperature Comments 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 

Optimum 

R II #3 T o er vpe: 
Pass No. Density Temperature Comments 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 

Optimum 

Summary: 



MICHIGAN 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

12SP-604A-10 

QUALITY CONTROL AND ACCEPTANCE OF PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE 
(FOR LOCAL AGENCY PROJECTS ONLY) 

CFS:JFS 1 of 21 APPR:TES:DBP:06-14-19 
FHWA:APPR:06-14-19 

a. Description. The Contractor must administer quality control (QC) and the Department 
will administer quality assurance (QA) procedures that will be used for acceptance of and 
payment for all Portland cement concrete (PCC) for the project. Except as explicitly modified by 
this special provision, all materials, test methods, and PCC mixture requirements of the standard 
specifications and the contract apply. 

Do not place concrete until the Engineer's daily startup testing verifies that the fresh concrete 
properties have been met, in accordance with subsection d.2 of this special provision. 

Provide the Engineer a minimum 24 hours notification prior to each concrete placement. 

1. Terminology. 

Air Content of Fresh Concrete. The recorded total air content of fresh concrete sampled and 
tested according to this special provision. 

Air Content Test Results. The recorded air content of fresh concrete corresponding to the 
strength test specimens that were molded for acceptance. 

Alkali-Silica Reactivity (ASR). A chemical reaction which occurs over time within concrete 
between high alkaline cement paste and reactive forms of silica found in some aggregates. 
In the presence of moisture, an expansive ASR gel is formed which can exert pressure within 
the concrete, causing random cracking and premature deterioration of the concrete. See 
subsection c.5.A of this special provision. 

Base Price. Price established by the Department to be used in calculating incentives or 
adjustments to pay items and shown in the contract. 

Concrete Mix Design. The process, by which the concrete mixture performance characteristics 
are defined, based on selected materials, performance requirements, environmental 
exposure considerations, placement methods, and other factors that control the plastic and 
hardened properties of the concrete in efforts to produce an economical and durable product. 

Job Mix Formula (JMF). The actual batch quantities (mixture proportions) of each constituent 
included in the concrete mixture, based on adjustments to the target weights attained from 
the mix design process, necessary to optimize the concrete mixture properties. 

Pay Factor (PF). The factor that is determined according to subsections d.3 of this special 
provision, used to calculate the price adjustment for a discrete quantity of concrete relative 



CFS:JFS 2 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

to its respective level of quality. Pay factor will not exceed 1.00. Therefore, there will never 
be a positive pay adjustment. 

Price Adjustment (ADJ). The price adjustment applied to the quantity of concrete represented 
by the respective quality index analysis described in subsections d.3 of this special provision. 

Production Lot. A discrete cubic yard quantity of concrete containing the same JMF and used 
for the same application, as described in subsection d.2 of this special provision. 

Quality Assurance (QA). Activities administered by the Engineer dealing with acceptance of 
the product, including, but not limited to, materials selection, sampling, testing, construction 
inspection, and review of Contractor QC documentation. All concrete QA sampling and 
testing will be administered by the Department. Department administered QA is described 
in section d of this special provision. 

Quality Control (QC). All activities administered by the Contractor to monitor, assess, and 
adjust production and placement processes to ensure the final product will meet the 
specified levels of quality, including, but not limited to, training, materials selection, sampling, 
testing, project oversight and documentation. Contractor administered QC is described in 
section c of this special provision. 

QC Action Limits. A range of values established by the Contractor in the QC plan that, if 
exceeded, requires that corrective action be taken by the Contractor to restore the continuity 
and uniformity of the mixture and methods in conformance with specification requirements. 
The QC action limits must not exceed the QC suspension limits. 

QC Plan. The project-specific plan developed by the Contractor describing, in detail, all aspects 
of production and construction for the project to ensure consistent control of quality to meet 
specification requirements. 

QC Plan Administrator. An employee of, or consultant engaged by the Contractor, responsible 
for developing and overseeing all aspects of QC for the project. This includes, but is not 
limited to preparing the QC plan, managing the Contractor QC personnel, communicating 
routinely with the production personnel to ensure quality, initiating corrective action and 
suspending operations when the process is found to be producing non-conforming materials, 
and preparing and submitting all necessary QC documentation to the Engineer within the 
specified time period. 

QC Suspension Limits. A range of values defined in Table 1 that, if exceeded on a single QC 
test, requires that the Contractor suspend operations and determine, correct, and document 
the deficiencies before resuming production. The QC suspension limit must not exceed 
specification requirement thresholds. 

Sample. A representative quantity of concrete taken during production which is used to 
measure the quality characteristics for the concrete. 

Sampling Rate. The number of times the fresh concrete is sampled, as described in subsection 
d.2 of this special provision. 

Small Incidental Quantity. A single day's placement of less than 20 cubic yards of concrete 
used for non-structural or non-pavement related applications, including, but not limited to: 



CFS:JFS 3 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

curb and gutter, sidewalks and sidewalk ramps (excluding driveways and driveway ramps), 
installing sign or fence posts, guard rail or cable rail foundations (excluding end anchorage 
foundations), or other contract items where the small quantity of concrete is not paid for 
separately, as approved by the Engineer. Requirements for small incidental quantity 
consideration are described in subsections c.5.G, d.2.B and d.3 of this special provision. 
The corresponding weekly QA test results must meet specification limits defined in Table 3. 

Specification Limits. The threshold values placed on a quality characteristic used to evaluate 
the quality of the material. 

Strength Sample Test Result. The average of the two companion 28-day compressive 
strength test specimens taken from the same sample of concrete is considered a strength 
sample test result. 

Strength Test Specimen. A strength test specimen is an individual 6-inch by 12-inch strength 
test cylinder or 4-inch by 8-inch strength test cylinder molded and cured according to 
AASHTO T23/ASTM C 31 and tested according to AASHTO T22/ASTM C 39. All respective 
QC or QA strength test specimens must be the same nominal size. Strength test specimen 
cylinder size of 4-inch by 8-inch is permitted only if the nominal maximum coarse aggregate 
particle size, as specified for the coarse aggregate in the concrete mixture, is 1-inch, or less. 

Sublot. A portion of a production lot, represented by a complete set of QA tests, as described 
in subsection d.2.A of this special provision. The Engineer and the Contractor may agree to 
reduce the typical sublot size based on project staging or other project conditions. 

Supplementary Cementitious Materials (SCM). A mineral admixture (slag cement, fly ash) 
used to replace a portion of the Portland cement, either individually or as a blended cement, 
in the concrete mixture. SCM requirements are described in subsection c.5 of this special 
provision. 

b. Materials. Mixture requirements must be in accordance with the contract. 

c. Contractor Administered Quality Control (QC). 

1. Contractor Quality Control Plan (QC plan). Prepare, implement, and maintain a QC 
plan specific to the project for concrete that will provide quality oversight for production, 
testing, and control of construction processes. The QC plan must be in conformance with 
the contract and must identify all procedures used to control production and placement 
including when to initiate corrective action necessary to maintain the quality and uniformity 
of the work. 

Develop concrete mix designs and JMFs, as specified, and conduct QC sampling, testing, 
and inspection during all phases of the concrete work at the minimum frequency, or at an 
increased frequency sufficient to ensure that the work conforms to specification 
requirements. 

Project-specific items required in the QC plan include (where applicable), but are not limited 
to the following: 

A. Organization chart. 



CFS:JFS 4 of 21 

8. QC Plan Administrator and contact information. 

C. The name(s) and credentials of the QC staff. 

12SP-604A-10 
06-14-19 

D. Methods for interaction between production and QC personnel to engage timely 
corrective action, including suspension of work. 

E. Coordination of activities. 

F. Documentation, procedures, and submittals. 

G. Project and plant specifics. 

H. Concrete production facilities inspections and certifications. 

I. Current testing equipment calibration documentation including calibration factor. 

J. Testing and initial field curing facilities for QC and QA strength test specimens 
(AASHTO T23/ASTM C 31). 

K. Stockpile management plan. 

L. Corrective action plan. 

M. Mixing time and transportation, including time from batching to completion of 
delivery and batch placement rate (batches per hour), along with the manufacturer's 
documentation relative to the batching equipment's capabilities in terms of maximum 
mixing capacity and minimum mixing time (ASTM C 94). 

N. Placement and consolidation methods including monitoring of vibration, depth 
checks, and verification of pavement dowel bar alignment. 

0. Process for monitoring stability of air content of fresh concrete during concrete 
production and placement. 

P. Hot and cold weather protection considerations and methods. 

Q. Control charts with action and suspension limits. 

R. Verification for non-deleterious alkali-silica reactivity (see subsection c.5.A of this 
special provision). 

S. Mix design and JMFs. 

T. Proposed production lot size and location for use of each JMF on the project. 

U. The frequency of sampling, testing, and yield verification. 

V. Handling, protection, initial curing, and transporting of strength test specimens 
(AASHTO T23/ASTM C31). 



CFS:JFS 5 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

W. Methods to monitor construction equipment loading and open-to-traffic strengths. 

X. Finishing and curing procedure. 

Y. Ride quality control. 

Z. List of QC records to be submitted to the Engineer in accordance with subsection 
c.2 of this special provision. 

Submit the QC plan, for the appropriate items of work, to the Engineer for review a minimum 
of 10 working days before the start of related work. The Engineer will notify the Contractor 
of any objections relative to the content of the QC plan within 5 working days of receipt of 
the QC plan. Do not begin concrete placement before acceptance of the QC plan by the 
Engineer. If the approved QC plan fails to provide acceptable work, or acceptable control of 
the work, the Engineer may require the Contractor to revise the QC plan. Revisions to the 
QC plan must be approved by the Engineer prior to resuming work. 

2. QC Records. Maintain complete records of all QC tests and inspections. Document 
what action was taken to correct deficiencies. Include sufficient information to allow the test 
results to be correlated with the items of work represented. 

Furnish one copy of all QC records, including test reports for the fresh concrete placement, 
to the Engineer within 24 hours after the date covered by the record in a format acceptable 
to the Engineer. The Engineer will withhold acceptance of the concrete for failure to provide 
properly documented and timely QC records and reports. 

If the Engineer is performing QA sampling and testing at the same time the Contractor is 
performing QC sampling and testing, all associated QC records must include the appropriate 
production lot identification number that correlates with the Department's QA production lot 
identification number. 

3. Personnel Requirements. The QC Plan Administrator must have full authority and . 
responsibility to take all actions necessary for the successful implementation of the QC plan, 
including but not limited to, the following: 

A. Monitoring and utilizing QC tests, control charts, and other QC practices to 
ensure that delivered materials and proportioning meets specification requirements. 

B. Monitoring materials shipped to the project, prior to their use, to ensure their 
continued compatibility toward producing consistent quality. 

C. Periodically inspecting all equipment utilized in transporting, proportioning, 
mixing, placing, consolidating, finishing, and curing to ensure proper operation. 

D. Monitoring materials stockpile management, concrete batching, m1x1ng, 
transporting, placement, consolidation, finishing, and curing to ensure conformance with 
specification requirements. 

E. Maintaining and submitting all QC records and reports. 

F. Directing the necessary corrective action to ensure continual conformance within 



CFS:JFS 

the QC action limits. 

6 of 21 
12SP-604A-10. 

06-14-19 

G. Suspending production for the project when suspension limits are exceeded. 

H. Conducting or monitoring adjustments to the JMF. 

Individuals performing QC tests must demonstrate that they are proficient and capable 
of sampling and testing concrete or aggregate, where applicable, in accordance with the 
associated test procedures and Department requirements prior to commencement of 
related work. Any adjustments to the JMF must be made by a certified concrete 
technician (Michigan Concrete Association (MCA) Michigan Level II). 

4. QC Laboratory Requirements. Laboratories, including field laboratories and all 
associated testing equipment that prepare concrete mixes or perform QC testing, must 
demonstrate to the Engineer that they are equipped, staffed, calibrated, and managed so as 
to be capable of batching, and testing PCC in accordance with the applicable test methods 
and procedures. Mix designs and their accompanying JMFs must include a statement, 
signed by a certified concrete technician (MCA Michigan Level II), that all applicable 
standard test methods have been followed in verifying the mix design and JMF. 

5. Mix Design and Documentation. Design concrete mixtures meeting the requirements 
specified in Table 1. Provide the grade of concrete for the section number reference 
application specified in Table 1, or as specified in the contract. Request variance in writing 
when proposing a mix design that exhibits temperature, slump or air content other than those 
specified. Include the proposed mix design, JMF, and associated trial batch verification test 
data. Do not use a grade of concrete with a lower specification limit (LSL) 28-day 
compressive strength greater than what is designated for the application. 

Blended cement meeting the requirements of ASTM C 595 Type IL is permitted. 

Ensure supplementary cementitious materials are from an MOOT Approved Manufacturer. 
Slag cement must meet the requirements of subsection 901.06 of the Standard 
Specifications for Construction. Fly ash must meet the requirements of subsection 901.07 
of the Standard Specifications for Construction. 

Secure prior approval from the Engineer to use concrete intended for early opening to traffic 
to facilitate driveway gaps or other features necessary for required local access. 

Unless otherwise specified in the contract, set accelerating admixtures are prohibited. 

Optimized aggregate gradation is required for high performance concrete and concrete 
mixtures that are placed using a pump. Concrete mixtures for tremie and drilled shaft 
applications do not require optimized aggregate gradation. The physical requirements for 
coarse and intermediate aggregates specified in subsection 902.03.C of the Standard 
Specifications for Construction apply to high performance concrete pavement mixtures. The 
physical requirements for aggregates used in concrete mixtures for all other applications will 
be according to the contract. 

Unless otherwise specified in the contract, provide either concrete Grade P1 or Grade D for 
bridge approach slab applications. 



CFS:JFS 7 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

Unless otherwise specified in the contract, do not exceed 40 percent replacement of the 
Portland cement in the concrete mixture with a supplementary cementitious material. Do 
not exceed 40 percent total replacement of the Portland cement if more than one 
supplementary cementitious material is used in the concrete mixture. 

Use the combined weight of all cementitious materials to determine compliance with the 
maximum water-cementitious ratio and cementitious material content requirements specified 
in Table 1. 

For night casting, where applicable, a water-reducing admixture may be used in lieu of a 
water-reducing and retarding admixture, provided the concrete can be placed and finished 
in the sequence specified on the plans prior to initial set, is not subjected to residual vibration, 
or is not within the areas influenced by dead load deflections as a result of adjacent concrete 
placement operations. When the maximum air temperature is not forecast to exceed 60 
degrees F for the day, the Contractor may use a water-reducing admixture or a water
reducing retarding admixture. 



CFS:JFS 

T ab e 1 M" . m1mum 
Mix Design Parameter 

P1M 
(a,b,e) 

Lower Specification Limit (LSL) 
3500 

(28-day compressive, psi) 
Rejection Limit for an Individual 

3000 
Strength Sample Test Result 

Maximum Water/Cementitious Ratio 
(lb/lb) (c) 

Cementitious Material Content 
470-564 

(lb/vd3) (d) 
Air Content (percent) (f) 
Slump (inch) (max.) 
Section Number Reference (h) 602,603 

M" D IX 

8 of 21 

R esian eau1rements f C or t oncre e 
Grade of Concrete 

P1 D,DM 
T 

S1 
(a,b) (a,b,e) (a) 

3500 4500 3500 4000 

3000 4000 3000 3500 

0.45 

517-611 517-658 517-611 517-611 

5.5-8.5 
(g) 

602,603, 706, 711, 706,718 705 
801, 802, 712 
803,810 

12SP-604A-10 
06-14-19 

S2,S2M S3/P2 
(a,b,e) (a) 

3500 3000 

3000 2500 

517-611 489-517 

401, 706, 402,403, 
712, 713, 602,803, 
718,801, 804,806, 
802,803, 808,810, 
810,819 813,814 

a. If the local average minimum temperature in the next 1 O consecutive days is forecast to be below 40 degrees F, submit a revised QC plan for 
the Engineer's approval, addressing in detail changes in materials, concrete batching and mixing processes, construction methods, curing, 
and protection of the in situ concrete to ensure that the necessary quality characteristics of the hardened concrete product will not be 
compromised as a result of the cold weather. The revised QC plan must be approved by the Engineer prior to cold weather concrete placement. 
Do not remove supplementary cementitious material from the concrete mixture. 

b. Use aggregates from only geologically natural sources for pavement, shoulder, miscellaneous pavement (including ramps), concrete pavement 
overlay, bridge approach slab, structural concrete, drilled shaft, bridge railing, and bridge sidewalk applications. 

c. Use admixtures as listed in the Qualified Products Lists to reduce mixing water. Ensure concrete in concrete diaphragms contains a water-
reducing admixture, or a water-reducing retarding admixture. 

d. Type Ill cement is not permitted. 
e. For grades of concrete requiring optimized gradation, aggregates must meet the physical requirements specified in subsection 902.03.C of the 

Standard Specifications for Construction. 
f. For action, suspension, and specification limits, see Tables 2 and 3, where applicable. 
g. The maximum slump for Grades P1, P1 M, and P2 concrete is 3 inches or as documented on the approved JMF. All other grades of concrete 

will be accordinq to Table 701-1 of the Standard Specifications for Construction. 
h. Section Number Reference: 402 Storm Sewers 

401 Pipe Culverts 602 Concrete Pavement Construction 
403 Drainage Structures 705 Foundation Piling 
603 Concrete Pavement Restoration 711 Bridge Railings 
706 Structural Concrete Construction 713 Bridge Rehabilitation-Steel 
712 Bridge Rehabilitation-Concrete 801 Concrete Driveways 
718 Drilled Shafts 803 Concrete Sidewalk, Sidewalk Ramps, and Steps 
802 Concrete Curb, Gutter and Dividers 806 Shared Use Paths 
804 Concrete Barriers and Glare Screens 810 Permanent Traffic Signs and Supports 
808 Fencing 814 Paved Ditches 
813 Slope Protection 
819 Electrical and Lighting 



CFS:JFS 9 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

A. Alkali-Silica Reactivity. Provide documentation to the Engineer that the concrete 
mixture does not present the potential for deleterious expansion caused by alkali-silica 
reactivity (ASR). Provide current ASR test results (valid for 2 years from completion of 
testing), for the fine aggregate that is proposed to be used in the concrete, from an 
independent testing laboratory proficient in ASR testing. The independent testing 
laboratory must certify in writing, including a signed statement that all testing was 
conducted in accordance with the designated standard test procedures, described 
herein. Test results must conform to the specified criterion for one of the following 
standard test methods. ASR testing is not required for concrete pavement repairs and 
temporary concrete pavements. Use the Rounding Method described in ASTM E 29 
when determining significant digits for reporting expansion test results. 

(1) Method 1. ASTM C 1293. Concrete Prism Test. If the expansion of concrete 
prisms is not greater than 0.040 percent (rounded to the nearest 0.001 percent) 
after 1 year, the fine aggregate is considered non-deleterious to ASR and may 
be used in the JMF. 

(2) Method 2. ASTM C 1567. Mortar Bar Test. If no previous test data are 
available for the fine aggregate that shows it is resistant to ASR using Method 1, 
above, replace 25 to 40 percent of the Portland cement in the concrete mixture with 
a supplementary cementitious material. A blended cement meeting the requirements 
of ASTM C 595 containing the above Portland cement and supplementary 
cementitious material proportions may also be used. 

Demonstrate the ability of the supplementary cementitious material to control the 
deleterious expansion caused by ASR by molding and testing mortar bars according 
to the standard test method described in ASTM C 1567 using the mix proportions 
and constituent sources for both the aggregates and the cementitious materials that 
will be used for the project. Make at least three test specimens for each cementitious 
materials-aggregate combination. If the average of three mortar bars for a given 
cementitious materials-aggregate combination produces an expansion less than 
0.10 percent (rounded to the nearest 0.01 percent) at 14 days of immersion, the JMF 
associated with that combination will be considered non-deleterious to ASR. If the 
average expansion is 0.10 percent (rounded to the nearest 0.01 percent) or greater, 
the JMF associated with that combination will be considered not sufficient to control 
the deleterious expansion caused by ASR and the JMF will be rejected. 

(3) Method 3. ASTM C 1260. Mortar Bar Test. If the expansion of the mortar 
bars is less than 0.10 percent (rounded to the nearest 0.01 percent) at 14 days of 
immersion, the fine aggregate is considered non-deleterious to ASR and may be 
used in the concrete without the need for ASR mitigation. 

The Engineer will not approve the use of the JMF if the expansion exceeds the 
respective threshold limits for the respective ASTM test method used. 

B. Contractor Provided Mixes. Provide mix design and accompanying JMFs using 
the methods of verification included in this special provision. Include sufficient 
information on constituent materials and admixtures along with trial batch verified 
physical properties of the fresh concrete, mix proportions per cubic yard for all 
constituents and compressive strength test results necessary to allow the Engineer to 



CFS:JFS 10 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

fully evaluate the expected performance of the concrete mixture. 

(1) Mix Documentation. Prepare mix designs for each grade of concrete required 
on the project. Submit JMF for each mix design, including all required 
documentation, to the Engineer for review 1 O working days before the anticipated 
date of placement. The Engineer will notify the Contractor of any objections within 5 
working days of receipt of the mix documentation. Number or otherwise identify each 
JMF and reference all accompanying documentation to this identification. Reference 
each JMF to the appropriate method of verification. Mix design and JMF submittals 
that do not include all required documentation will be considered incomplete and the 
Engineer will return them without review. 

Mix documentation is valid for 2 years provided the material characteristics have not 
deviated beyond the requirements specified in the contract. 

All mix designs and accompanying JMFs must be traceable to a laboratory meeting 
the requirements of this special provision. 

Submit mix design and JMF on the MOOT Job Mix Formula (JMF) Concrete Field 
Communication form (MOOT Form Number 1976); include accompanying 
documentation. List the source of materials, bulk density (unit weight) of coarse 
aggregate (rodding procedure or shoveling procedure), absorption of aggregates, 
relative density (specific gravity) of aggregates, aggregate correction factors, batch 
weights, and project specific or historical laboratory test data. Include the recorded 
air content of fresh concrete using the same admixture and cementitious material 
sources to be used in the production of the concrete for the project. A JMF will be 
approved only if all of the minimum mix design requirements specified in the contract 
have been met. 

(2) Job Mix Formula (JMF). Select proportions for concrete mixtures according 
to AC/ Standard 211.1. The volume (oven-dry-rodded) of coarse aggregate per unit 
volume of concrete must be 65 percent, minimum. 

Four methods of verification of proposed JMF are acceptable. 

(a) Method 1. Trial Batches. Verification of JMF is based on trial batches 
with the same materials and proportions proposed for use on the project. Prepare 
at least one trial batch for each mix design in sufficient time before starting 
concrete placement to allow for review according to subsection c.5.B.(1) of this 
special provision. Provide the results of temperature, slump, density (unit 
weight), air content of fresh concrete, 28-day compressive strength, and age of 
concrete at the time of strength testing, for a minimum of three independent 
samples. All samples may be taken from a single trial batch for a mix design 
provided the trial batch is at least four cubic yards in volume. For JMF trial batch 
verification purposes only, 7-day compressive strength test results which report 
at least 70 percent of the specified 28-day lower specification limit (LSL) will be 
sufficient documentation in lieu of 28-day compressive strengths. The average 
of at least two strength test specimens represents one compressive strength 
sample test result for each independent sample. Provide ·the necessary ASR 
documentation as described in subsection c.5.A of this special provision. 



CFS:JFS 11 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

(b) Method 2. Same Mix. Verification of JMF is based on the concrete 
producer's experience with the same mix design, JMF, and the same materials. 
Provide the results of temperature, slump, density (unit weight), air content of 
fresh concrete, 28-day compressive strength, and age of concrete at the time of 
strength testing, for a minimum of three independent samples. The average of 
at least two strength test specimens represents one compressive strength 
sample test result for each independent sample. Do not substitute material types 
or sources, including admixtures or cementitious materials, nor change mix 
proportions in the JMF. Provide the necessary ASR documentation as described 
in subsection c.5.A of this special provision. 

(c) Method 3. Similar Mix. Verification of JMF is based on requirements 
described in Method 2, in subsection c.5.B.(2).(b) of this special provision. 
Substitution of coarse aggregate source is permitted if the new source is of the 
same geologic type as the original aggregate, and conforms to the specification 
requirements for the application. Substitution of fine aggregate is permitted only 
if the new source has been tested for ASR. Provide the necessary ASR 
documentation as described in subsection c.5.A of this special provision. 

Provide the supporting laboratory trial batch documentation and accompanying 
calculations showing how the mix proportions in the JMF were adjusted, based 
on the documented differences in relative density (specific gravity), bulk density 
(unit weight) and absorption of the substituted aggregate sources, to produce a 
theoretical yield of 100 percent and the required fresh concrete properties. 

(d) Method 4. Annual Verification. At the Engineer's option, verification may 
be accepted annually for a concrete producer rather than on a project basis 
provided the sources and proportions of the constituent materials, including 
cementitious materials and source and types admixtures, do not change. If the 
project is the continuation of work in progress during the previous construction 
season and written certification is submitted to the Engineer that materials from 
the same source and with the same mixture properties are to be used, the 
Engineer may waive the requirement for annual renewal verification of the JMF 
for the project. Provide the necessary ASR documentation as described in 
subsection c.5.A of this special provision. 

C. Department Provided Mixes. Unless otherwise specified in the contract or 
approved by the Engineer, the Engineer will provide the concrete JMF for the following 
types of concrete regardless of the total quantity for the project. 

( 1) Structural concrete patching mixtures, mortar and grout. 

(2) Bridge deck overlay concrete mixtures. 

(3) Project-specific concrete mixtures and grades not defined in Table 1. 

Provide all other mix designs and accompanying JMF's according to subsection c.5.B 
of this special provision. 

The ASR documentation for the fine aggregate described in subsection c.5.A of this 
special provision must accompany the Contractor's request for the concrete JMF. 



CFS:JFS 12 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

D. Changes in Materials and Proportions. Any changing from one approved JMF to 
another for the same grade of concrete must have prior approval by the Engineer. 

Prior to batching, verify that the proposed JMF changes will not affect the properties of 
the fresh concrete (slump, temperature, air content, density (unit weight), workability), 
nor result in deleterious mortar bar expansion as a result of ASR, as described in 
subsection c.5.A of this special provision. 

Record all changes to JMF in the QC records along with the rationale for the change. 

E. QC Sampling and Testing. Conduct startup sampling and testing for 
temperature, slump, density (unit weight), and air content on the first load. Do not pl9ce 
concrete until testing verifies that the fresh concrete properties have not exceeded the 
QC action and suspension limit thresholds specified in Table 2 and the testing correlation 
requirements of subsection d.1.B of this special provision have been met. Continue 
testing subsequent loads as described in the QC plan, for each grade of concrete 
delivered to the work site each day. The QC sampling and testing must be random and 
independent from the Agencies QA sampling and testing. 

Provide the curing facilities in accordance with subsection d.2.C of this special provision 
prior to start of concrete production. 

Perform QC sampling and testing for air content of fresh concrete that is either slipformed 
or pumped, as described in the QC plan. Sample and test a representative haul unit of 
concrete immediately after its discharge but before the slipform paver or pump hopper, 
where applicable. Sample and test the concrete representing the same haul unit, again, 
after the slipform paver or after discharge from the pump (without interruption or 
alteration of the pumping operation), where applicable. If the difference in measured air 
content between the two test locations for the same concrete is greater than 1.5 percent 
air by volume of concrete, suspend operations and administer corrective action. Resume 
concrete placement only after taking the necessary corrective action to reduce the loss 
in air content of fresh concrete between the two test locations, as approved by the 
Engineer. Document the corrective action to be taken in the QC records and make the 
necessary changes to the QC plan, where applicable. 

Concrete exceeding the maximum specification limits for slump or temperature must be 
rejected regardless of the total mixing time at the time of arrival to the project. 

The Engineer may require the Contractor to administer additional QC sampling and 
testing if the Engineer determines the Contractor's current QC sampling and testing 
methodology is shown to be insufficient to ensure continual control of the quality of the 
concrete. 

Take the appropriate corrective action, as described in the QC plan, when QC testing 
shows the QC action limits for any quality characteristic are exceeded. Suspend 
production if any of the QC suspension limits are exceeded or if the corrective action is 
not sufficient to restore the quality to acceptable levels. 

Resume production only after making all necessary adjustments to bring the mixture into 
conformance with all applicable specifications and receiving approval to resume work 



CFS:JFS 13 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

from the Engineer. Document these adjustments in the QC records. 
T bl 2 QC A f d S . L. ·t a e c 10n an us pension 1m1s 

Quality Characteristic Action Limits Suspension Limits 
Air Content (percent) See Note Below < 5.0 or > 9.0 

Air Content Loss (percent) Greater than 1.5 
Cone. Temp. (DeQ. Fl As Defined in the < 45 or > 90 at time of placement 
Slump (max.) (inch) Contractor QC plan See Table 1, footnote (a) 
Density (unit weiQht) N/A 

Note: Action limits must be defined in the Contractor QC plan and cannot be< 5.5 or> 8.5. 
Suspend work if air content is < 5.0 or> 9.0 percent after pump or paver, regardless of the air 
content loss. 

F. Work Progress Test Specimens. Determine the strength of concrete for opening 
to construction traffic or regular traffic, for removing shoring and forms, or for similar 
purposes in accordance with subsections 104.11, 601.03.H and 701.03.D of the Standard 
Specifications for Construction, and as approved by the Engineer. Cure work progress 
test specimens in the same manner as the in-situ concrete. Allow the Engineer to witness 
testing of work progress test specimens. 

The maturity method may be used to determine the in-place, opening-to-traffic flexural 
strength, provided the necessary preliminary flexural strength versus time-temperature 
factor correlation, using the same materials and JMF, is established according to 
Department procedures and approved by the Engineer before placing the concrete. 

G. Reduced QC for Small Incidental Quantities. If approved by the Engineer, reduced 
levels of on-site QC testing for concrete may be considered for small incidental quantities 
defined in subsection a.1 of this special provision. 

Unless approved by the Engineer, multiple small incidental quantities, including ones that 
are consecutively placed throughout the project on the same day, are not eligible for 
reduced QC consideration if the total plan quantity of concrete for the item exceeds 100 
cubic yards in volume. Include details for reduced QC testing and oversight in the 
approved QC plan, and in accordance with following: 

(1) The small incidental quantity of concrete will be limited to a single day's 
concrete placement of a maximum 20 cubic yards in volume. 

(2) The small incidental quantity of concrete is not an integral part of a structural 
load bearing element. 

(3) The Engineer received written certification from the Contractor that the 
concrete supplier has a current QC plan in place and available for review upon request 
by the Engineer. 

(4) The concrete supplier employs a certified concrete technician (MCA Michigan 
Level II) available at the plant or on call during concrete placement to validate and 
authorize modifications to the concrete JMF, as necessary. 

(5) Prior to the first concreting operation, concrete representing the JMF for the 
small incidental quantity has been sampled and tested by a certified concrete 
technician (MCA Michigan Level I or II) to verify that, historically, the JMF produced a 



CFS:JFS 14 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

concrete mixture meeting the minimum requirements for density (unit weight), slump, 
air content, and strength. Annual verification may be acceptable provided there are 
no changes to the material types or sources, including the cementitious materials and 
admixtures. 

(6) The Engineer verified that the temperature, slump, and air content conform to 
specification requirements at the start of the day's concreting operation associated 
with the small incidental quantity. 

(7) The Engineer is notified and provided sufficient opportunity to witness concrete 
placement. 

d. Department Administered Quality Assurance (Acceptance). 

1. Department Quality Assurance Plan (QA plan). The Engineer will be responsible for 
administering the quality-based acceptance and will institute any actions necessary toward its 
successful implementation. 

Acceptance of concrete pavement repair mixtures and concrete mixtures not included in Table 
1 will be in accordance with the contract. 

The Engineer will develop and follow a QA plan. The Engineer will provide the QA plan to the 
QC Plan Administrator a minimum of 5 working days prior to the pre-production meeting. The 
QA plan will be reviewed at the pre-production meeting and any proposed changes will be 
documented. 

The nominal QA strength test specimen size, defined in subsection a.1 of this special provision 
will be noted in the QA plan. 

A. Personnel Requirements. The personnel responsible for field inspection and for 
obtaining QA samples will possess the required qualifications to collect QA samples. 
Sampling will be performed by a certified concrete technician (MCA Michigan Level I or II) 
or (MCAT) certified aggregate technician, where applicable. 

B. Testing Correlation. Prior to initial concrete placement, the testing personnel for 
both the Engineer's QA and Contractor's QC will use the equipment they have assigned 
to the project to conduct side by side correlation testing of the same concrete used on the 
project to verify correlation of both the Department's and the Contractor's test results for 
temperature and air content of fresh concrete. Additional side by side correlation testing 
will be conducted whenever there is a change in QC or QA equipment and/or testing 
personnel for the project, or as directed by the Engineer. The temperature measuring 
devices used for QC and QA must correlate with each other within 2 degrees F. If the air 
content results of the side by side tests conducted by the QC and QA testers and 
equipment differ by more than 0.8 percent air by volume of concrete, a referee air content 
test of fresh concrete must be conducted by a third party, designated by the Engineer but 
independent of the project, prior to commencement or continuation of concrete placement 
in efforts to resolve issues associated with non-correlation. 

C. Laboratory Facilities. The testing laboratory with responsibility for acceptance 
testing on this project is the Department testing laboratory, or a qualified facility under the 
authority of the Engineer. 



CFS:JFS 15 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

2. QA Sampling and Testing. The Engineer will verify the Contractor's daily startup 
sampling and testing of temperature, slump, and air content of fresh concrete on the first load; 
conduct QA sampling and testing; monitor Contractor adherence to the QC plan; and inspect 
field placed materials in such a manner as to ensure that all concrete for the project is 
represented. The testing correlation requirements of subsection d.1.B of this special provision 
must be met prior to concrete placement. 

The following ASTM test methods will apply. The Department's established procedures for 
sampling and testing are acceptable alternatives. 

C 31 Practice for Making and Curing Concrete Test Specimens in the Field 

C 39 Test Method for Compressive Strength of Cylindrical Concrete Specimens 

C 78 Test Method for Flexural Strength of Concrete (Using Simple Beam with Third-Point 
Loading) 

C 138 Test Method for Density (Unit Weight), Yield and Air Content (Gravimetric) of Concrete 

C 143 Test Method for Slump of Hydraulic-Cement Concrete 

C 172 Practice for Sampling Freshly Mixed Concrete 

C 173 Test Method for Air Content of Freshly Mixed Concrete by the Volumetric Method 

C 231 Test Method for Air Content of Freshly Mixed Concrete by the Pressure Method 

C 293 Test Method for Flexural Strength of Concrete (Using Simple Beam with Center-Point 
Loading) 

A. Lot Size and Make Up. A production lot will not include more than one grade of 
concrete, concrete of the same grade having different specified slump or air content, or 
concrete of the same grade having different mix designs, or JMFs. Lot size and makeup 
will be determined by the Engineer, based on site conditions. A production lot may consist 
of a single day's production, individual concrete structural elements (eg. footing, column, 
pier cap, deck, bridge approach slab), or any combination thereof, provided they are of 
the same JMF. Each production lot will be divided into sublots of approximately equal 
size, as determined by the Engineer. The minimum number of sublots will be one per 
production lot, with the maximum number of sublots based on the anticipated total quantity 
of concrete to be placed and site conditions. A minimum of one sublot will be required for 
each day of production. 

B. Sampling. QA sampling and testing will be conducted by the Engineer during 
concrete placement. Where practical, the random number method (as described in the 
"Random Sampling for Quality Control/Quality Assurance Projects" section of the 
Materials Quality Assurance Procedures Manual) will be used to determine the sampling 
locations. The sampling rate will be determined by the Engineer, based on the anticipated 
total quantity of concrete to be placed and site conditions, with a minimum of one sampling 
for each day of production. 



CFS:JFS 16 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

At the option of the Engineer, small incidental quantities as defined in subsection a.1 of 
this special provision may be accepted (visually inspected and noted on the Inspector's 
Daily Report) without daily 28-day compressive strength QA test specimens provided 
there is a current acceptable strength test history of the JMF for the project prior to 
placement of the small incidental quantity. One set of compressive strength QA test 
specimens will then be molded for each small incidental quantity JMF at least once per 
week during production, thereafter, as determined by the Engineer (note the test results 
or identification number for the corresponding weekly QA compressive strength test result 
on the Inspector's Daily Report for each small incidental quantity). Quality control testing 
and daily QA testing for temperature, slump, and air content of fresh concrete are still 
required. Reduced QC for small incidental quantities, as described in subsection c.5.G of 
this special provision, may be considered. 

The QA sampling rate and sample location will be based on cubic yard quantities. 

Samples for acceptance will be taken at the point of discharge from the haul unit, at 
approximately the middle one-third of the load. Mix adjustments to the concrete contained 
within the haul unit selected for QA sampling and testing (beyond normal QC) will not be 
permitted prior to QA sampling and testing. QA sampling will be random and without prior 
notification. 

The Engineer will perform QA sampling and testing for air content loss of fresh concrete 
that is either slipformed or pumped, (1) at least once during each day of production, (2) 
whenever the concrete pump is relocated, where applicable, or (3) whenever there is a 
significant change in the boom configuration or operation of the concrete pump, or there 
is a significant change in the characteristics of the paving operation during concrete 
placement. Concrete will be sampled from a representative haul unit immediately after its 
discharge but before the slipform paver or pump hopper, where applicable. The concrete 
representing the same haul unit will then be sampled and tested after the slipform paver 
or after discharge from the pump (without interruption or alteration of the pumping 
operation), where applicable. If the difference in measured air content between the two 
test locations for the same concrete is greater than 1.5 percent air by volume of concrete, 
the Engineer will issue a Notice of Non-Compliance with Contract Requirements (Form 
1165), as described in subsection d.2.D of this special provision. The Contractor may 
resume concrete placement only after the necessary corrective action is taken to reduce 
the loss in air content of fresh concrete between the two test locations, as approved by 
the Engineer. Document the corrective action that was taken by the Contractor. 

C. Testing. The location(s) within the project limits for QA testing of the fresh concrete 
and placement of curing facilities for initial curing of the 28-day compressive strength QA 
test cylinders will be determined by the Engineer in conformance with the following criteria: 

(1) The elapsed time between obtaining the first and the final portion of the 
composite sample must not exceed 15 minutes. 

(2) Testing for slump, temperature, and air content of fresh concrete must begin 
within 5 minutes after obtaining the final portion of the composite sample. 

(3) Molding of the 28-day compressive strength QA test cylinders must begin 
within 15 minutes after obtaining the final portion of the composite sample. 



CFS:JFS 17 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

(4) The concrete sample must be protected from the sun, wind, and other sources 
of rapid evaporation, and from contamination. 

Two QA concrete strength test specimens per sample will be molded for 28-day 
compressive strength QA testing. 

The Contractor will provide curing facilities equipped to ensure the proper environment for 
the Agencies QA concrete strength test specimens during initial cure. Each initial cure 
facility must provide ventilation or insulation, where applicable, to ensure the ambient 
temperature surrounding the specimens is maintained according to AASHTO T23/ASTM 
C 31. Failure by the Contractor to maintain the proper curing environment during initial 
cure will not be basis for rejection of samples or claims against th~ Department. Each 
initial curing facility must be capable of being locked, using an Department provided 
padlock. The Contractor will ensure that all initial curing facilities are accounted for at all 
time, and protected against theft and damage. The Contractor will place and secure each 
initial cure facility throughout the project limits in such a manner so as to minimize 
excessive transport of the test specimens prior to initial cure, as follows: 

(5) Immediately after finishing molded specimens, the Engineer will move the QA 
concrete strength test specimens to the closest initial cure facility provided by the 
Contractor. 

(6) Immediately after all QA concrete strength test specimens are placed into the 
cure facility and the proper initial curing conditions have been established, the 
Engineer will secure the facility using the Department provided padlock. Access to the 
QA concrete strength test specimens, thereafter, must be coordinated with the 
Engineer and will only be permitted in the presence of the Engineer. 

(7) The Engineer will transport the QA concrete strength test specimens within 48 
hours after molding, but not prior to 8 hours after final set of the concrete, from the 
initial curing facility to the Department's designated testing laboratory for final curing 
and strength testing. The specimens will be protected with a suitable cushioning 
material to prevent damage from jarring during transport. The total transportation time 
must not exceed 4 hours prior to commencement of final curing. 

D. QA Stop Production Criteria. The Engineer will issue a Notice of Non-Compliance 
with Contract Requirements (Form 1165) and concrete production must stop when one or 
more of the following are observed. 

(1) The QA testing shows that one or more of the suspension limits for quality 
characteristics defined in Table 2 are in non-compliance. 

(2) The QC plan is not being followed. 

(3) Segregation, excessive slumping of unsupported slipformed edges, or other 
notable changes in the fresh concrete properties is observed that may prevent proper 
placement, consolidation and finishing, or compromise the performance or long-term 
durability of the finished product. 

(4) The required curing system is not being applied in a timely manner, as 
specified by the contract. 



CFS:JFS 18 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

(5) If the measured air content loss between the two testing locations for the same 
concrete is greater than 1.5 percent air by volume of concrete as described in 
subsections c.5.E and d.2.B of this special provision. 

(6) If the air content of fresh concrete is less than 5.0 or greater than 9.0 percent 
after pump or paver, regardless of the recorded QC or QA air content loss through the 
pump or paver. 

The Engineer will issue a Notice to Resume Work (Form 1165) only after all necessary 
adjustments are made to restore conformance with all applicable specifications, and the 
appropriate documentation is made in the QC records. 

E. QA Records. The Engineer will maintain a complete record of all QA tests and 
inspections. The records will contain, as a minimum, signed originals of all QA test results 
and raw data, random numbers used (where applicable) and resulting calculations. The 
QA test results will not be provided to the Contractor until the corresponding QC test 
results are received by the Engineer. 

3. Quality Index Analysis. The Engineer's QA test results will be used to determine the 
pay factor (PF) and price adjustment (ADJ). The Contractor's QC test results will not be used 
for pay factor and price adjustment analysis. The Engineer will complete pay factor and price 
adjustment analysis within 7 working days after completion of all 28-day compressive strength 
testing for the representative production lot or quantity of concrete. The quality index 
parameter specification limits are defined in Table 3. Unless otherwise specified in the 
contract, concrete not conforming to the requirements specified in Table 3 is rejectable and 
subject to further evaluation. All values of PF and OLPF in these formulae are decimal, not 
percent. All values of PF and OLPF are rounded to two decimal places. 

Price adjustment for 28-day compressive strength deficiencies will be based on test results 
for the corresponding weekly QA test specimens and the pay factor (PFs) calculated 
according to the formula defined in subsection d.3.A. The price adjustment (ADJ) = (PFs -
1 )(Price). 

Table 3: Qualit Index Parameter S ecification Limits 

Rejection Limit -
28-da Com ressive Stren th 

See Table 1 

A. Pay Factor for 28-Day Compressive Strength (PFs). 

Where: 

Tested Strength 
PFs = 

LSL 



CFS:JFS 19 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

PFs = Pay Factor for 28-day compressive strength (not to exceed 1.00) 

Tested Strength= QA 28-day compressive strength sample test result 

LSL = Lower specification limit (see Table 1) 

If the tested strength does not meet the rejection limit specified in Table 1, the Engineer 
will require additional evaluation as described in subsection d.4 of this special provision. 

B. Pay Factor for Air Content of Fresh Concrete (PFac). The pay factor for air content 
of fresh concrete (PFac) will be according to Table 4. 

Table 4: Air Content of Fresh Concrete Pay Factor i PFac) 
Air Content of Fresh Pay Factor (PFac) 
Concrete (percent) 

5.5 - 8.5 1.00 
5.0-5.4 0.50 
Below 5.0 Rejection 
8.6 - 9.0 0.75 

Above 9.0 Rejection 

If the air content of fresh concrete is below 5.0 or above 9.0 percent, the Engineer will 
elect to do one of the following. 

(1) Require removal and replacement of the entire quantity of concrete 
represented by the test with new testing conducted on the replacement concrete and 
repeat the evaluation procedure. 

(2) Allow submittal of a corrective action plan for the Engineer's approval. If the 
Engineer does not approve the plan for corrective action, subsection d.3.B.(1) of this 
special provision will be applied. All costs associated with plan submittal and 
corrective action under this subsection will be borne by the Contractor. 

C. Overall Lot Pay Factor (OLPF). The following formulae are used to calculate the 
OLPF and ADJ. The OLPF will not exceed 1.00. 

OLPF = (0.60 x PFs) + (0.40 x PFac) 

ADJ= (OLPF - 1)(Price) 

ADJ = Price adjustment per pay unit to be applied to the quantity represented by 
the QA test 

Price = Base price established for the pay item 

4. Evaluation of Rejectable Concrete. The Engineer will require additional evaluation to 
decide what further action may be warranted, as described below. Acceptance for air content 
of fresh concrete will be based on QA test results reported at the time of concrete placement. 

If the Engineer determines that non-destructive testing (NOT) is appropriate, this work will be 



CFS:JFS 20 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

done by the Contractor in the presence of the Engineer within 45 calendar days from concrete 
placement. All costs associated with this work will be borne by the Contractor. A complete 
set of non-destructive tests must be conducted (in accordance with the respective standard 
test method) at a minimum three randomly selected locations. If NOT is used to estimate the 
in-situ strength, a calibrated relationship between the project JMF under evaluation and the 
NOT apparatus must have been established prior to NOT testing according to its respective 
standard test method. 

If the 28-day compressive strength QA test results show that the rejection limit (as specified 
in Table 1) has not been achieved, the quantity of concrete under evaluation will be rejected 
and the Engineer will require additional evaluation to decide what further action may be 
warranted. 

Propose an evaluation plan and submit it to the Engineer for approval before proceeding. The 
results from NOT will be used only to decide what further action is required. This determination 
will be made by the Engineer, as follows: 

A. For non-structural concrete. If no test result from non-destructive testing falls 
below the lower specification (LSL) 28-day compressive strength, the represented quantity 
of concrete under evaluation will remain in place and a pay factor for 28-day compressive 
strength (PFs) of 1.00 will be applied for overall lot pay factor (OLPF) and price adjustment 
(ADJ) determinations according to subsection d.3 of this special provision. 

B. For structural concrete (including overhead sign foundations). If no test result from 
non-destructive testing falls below the lower specification limit 28-day compressive 
strength, the represented quantity of concrete under evaluation will remain in place and a 
pay factor for 28-day compressive strength (PFs) of 0.85 will be applied for overall lot pay 
factor (OLPF) and price adjustment (ADJ) determinations according to subsection d.3 of 
this special provision. 

C. If one or more of the non-destructive test results fall below the lower specification 
limit (LSL) 28-day compressive strength, the Engineer may elect to do one of the following: 

(1) Require removal and replacement of the entire rejected quantity of concrete, 
including new initial tests for pay factor (PF) determination and price adjustment 
conducted according to subsection d.3 of this special provision. 

(2) Allow the Contractor to submit a plan for corrective action, for the Engineer's 
approval, to address the disposition of the rejected concrete. If the Engineer does not 
approve the plan for corrective action, subsection d.4.C.(1) of this special provision 
will be applied. All costs associated with plan submittal and corrective action under 
this subsection will be borne by the Contractor. 

(3) Allow the in-situ quantity of concrete under evaluation to remain in place and a 
pay factor (PFs) of 0.50 will be applied for overall lot pay factor (OLPF) and price 
adjustment (ADJ) determinations according to subsection d.3 of this special provision. 

e. Measurement and Payment. If a price adjustment is made for reasons included in this 
special provision, that adjustment will be made using the base price established for the specific 
item. If a contract unit price requires adjustment for other reasons not described in this special 
provision, the adjustments will be made using the unit price and the adjustments will be 



CFS:JFS 

cumulative. 

21 of 21 
12SP-604A-10 

06-14-19 

Separate payment will not be made for providing, implementing, and maintaining an effective QC 
program. All costs associated with this work will be included in the applicable unit prices for the 
concrete items. Failure by the Contractor to maintain the proper curing environment during initial 
cure will not be basis for claim against the Department. 

All costs associated with providing, locating, relocating, maintaining, and securing the adequate 
number of portable initial curing facilities for both the QC and QA strength test specimens will be 
included in the applicable unit prices for the concrete items. No additional payment will be 
permitted. The Contractor is responsible for damage, theft, subsequent replacement, and 
removal after completion of the work for each curing facility used on the project. 



NFE: JCK 

Description 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

SUBGRADE UNDERCUTTING, 21AA 
1 of 1 

2021-04-26 

This work shall be done in accordance with the requirements of Section 205 of the Michigan 
Department of Transportation 2012 Standard Specifications for Construction, except as herein 
described: 

After pavement removal, the Engineer will investigate the condition of any existing aggregate base 
course and underlying subbase and subgrade. If in the opinion of the Engineer, an area of the 
roadway appears to be unsuitable for paving, then he may order the Contractor to proof roll and/or . 
undercut the unstable areas. The Engineer must be present to observe the proof rolling and/or 
undercutting activity. 

The Contractor shall also be responsible for the disposal of the material, backfilling and compacting 
of the new material to the proposed pavement subbase elevation. 

Where the subbase or subgrade is determined by the Engineer to be unsuitable to support the 
roadway paving, the Contractor shall perform the necessary undercutting, as directed by the 
Engineer, and backfill such area with 21AA crushed concrete and compact to 95% of its maximum 
unit weight. If free water is present in the undercut area, the Contractor shall install underdrain and 
backfill the areas as directed by the Engineer. 

Equipment 

Equipment used for compacting backfill material shall be approved by the Engineer. 

Measurement and Basis of Payment 

The completed work, as measured, for Subgrade Undercutting, 21AA shall be paid for at the 
contract unit price for the following contract pay item: 

Item Unit 
Subgrade Undercutting, 21AA Cubic Yard 

Proof rolling shall not be paid for separately, but shall be included in the pay item Subgrade 
Undercutting, 21AA. 

The disposal of material, placement and compaction of backfill shall not be paid for separately, but 
shall be included in the pay item Subgrade Undercutting, 21AA. 



NFE: JCK 

Description 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

CURB AND GUTTER, CONC, DET F4 
1 of 1 

This work shall be done in accordance with Sections 802 of the 2012 MOOT Standard 
Specifications for Construction, except as follows: 

Epoxy coated lane ties, per MOOT standard, shall be installed where the new curb and 
gutter meets existing, theses lane ties will not be paid for separately but considered 
incidental to the adjacent pay item. 

2021-04-29 

The completed work to replace concrete curb and gutter shall be measured along the flow 
line of the gutter in linear feet and paid for at the Contract Unit Price per linear foot for Curb 
and Gutter, Cone, Oet F-4. 



NFE: JCK 

Description 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

DRAINAGE STRUCTURE COVERS 
1 of 1 

2021-04-26 

This work shall be done in accordance with the requirements of Section 403 of the Michigan 
Department of Transportation 2012 Standard Specifications for Construction, except as 
herein described: 

The materials shall meet the requirements specified in subsection 403.02 of the 2012 
Michigan Department of Transportation Standard Specifications for Construction, except for: 
Sanitary Sewer Structures: provide 1040A frame with pressure tight cover with City of 
Pontiac logo and "SAN IT ARY" label 
Storm Sewer Structures: provide 1040A frame and cover with City of Pontiac logo and 
"STORM" label 
Gate Valve Structures: provide 1040 bolted frame and cover with City of Pontiac logo and 
"WATER" label. 

Measurement and Basis of Payment 

The completed work shall be paid for at the contract unit price for the following contract pay 
items: 

Item 
Dr Structure Cover, Adj, Case 1 
Dr Structure Cover, Pontiac, Sanitary 
Dr Structure Cover, Pontiac, Storm 
Dr Structure Cover, Pontiac, Water 

Unit 
Each 
Each 
Each 
Each 



NFE: JCK 

Description 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

HAND PATCHING 
1 of 1 

2021-07-29 

This work shall be done in accordance with the requirements of Section 501 of the Michigan 
Department of Transportation 2012 Standard Specifications for Construction, except as 
herein described: 

Materials 

Hand Patching shall have a variable yield and thickness and comprised of HMA, 4E3, when 
being utilized in paving operations within the public right-of-way, and HMA, 5E3 when being 
used as the wedge course on W. Columbia Ave. The AW.I. for the mixture shall be a 
minimum of 220, for top course mix. The performance grade asphalt binder range for the 
mixture shall be PG 64-22. 

Measurement and Basis of Payment 

The completed work shall be paid for at the contract unit price for the following contract pay 
items: 

Item 
Hand Patching 

Unit 
Ton 



NFE: JCK 

Description 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

RESTORATION 
1 of 1 

2021-04-27 

This work shall be done in accordance with the Michigan Department of Transportation 2012 
Standard Specifications for Construction, except as follows:. 

Equipment 

Restoration shall consist of, but not be limited to, providing all labor, materials, and equipment 
necessary for the preparation of the foundation for seeding, fertilizing and mulching all areas to be 
restored and the placement of topsoil, seed, fertilizer, mulch and watering as required. 

Construction Methods 

The Contractor shall scarify and loosen the existing foundation to a depth of 3" to 4", rototill the soil 
to a granular condition, rake the entire area to a smooth condition, remove debris and rocks over 1" 
in diameter brought to the surface by rototilling and raking, and cultipack the entire area to provide 
for a smooth seed bed. Place screened topsoil (2" depth), seed, fertilizer, and mulch at designated 
rates. Thoroughly water entire area upon initial placement. A minimum of two additional waterings 
as directed by the Engineer shall be required. 

In general, restoration will be required in all landscape areas disturbed by the Contractor's 
operations. 

Rates of Application 

In those areas where restoration is required, the following rates of application will apply. 

Topsoil .............. Screened ......................................... 2 inch depth 
Seed ................ TUF Mixture ...................................... 220 #/Ac 
Fertilizer ............ Chemical Fertilizer Nutrient, Class A ..... 228 #/Ac 
Mulch ................ Mulch ............................................. 2 Ton/Ac 

Measurement and Basis of Payment 

Restoration of all areas disturbed by construction activities will not be measured separately. 
Payment for the item of Restoration will be based on the contract lump sum price which shall be 
payment in full for topsoil placement, seeding, mulching, fertilizing and watering required to restore 
disturbed areas to a condition acceptable to the engineer. 



NFE: JCK 

Description 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

CLEARING 
1 of 1 

2021-04-29 

This work shall be done in accordance with Section 201 of the 2012 MOOT Standard 
Specifications for Construction, except as follows: 

This work shall be to clear the public right-of-way of overgrown brush, shrubs, trees, branches, 
debris and garbage. Upon completion of this pay item, cleared area shall be stabilized and 
restored as directed by the Engineer. 

Measurement and Basis of Payment 

Upon completion and acceptance of this work the contractor will be paid for Clearing at the 
Contract Unit Price per lineal foot. 



NFE: JCK 

Description 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

DR STRUCTURE, TEMP LOWERING 
1 of 1 

2021-04-29 

This work shall be done in accordance with the requirements of Section 403.04.E of the Michigan 
Department of Transportation 2012 Standard Specifications for Construction, except as herein 
described: 

Prior to the removal or adjustment of any drainage structure to be temporarily lowered the 
Contractor shall record the locations of drainage structures with GPS equipment, or with a 
minimum of two witness points. A log of the structures and the distances to witness points, or a 
GPS data file, shall be provided to the Engineer. 

Measurement and Basis of Payment 

The completed work for Dr Structure, Temp Lowering shall be paid for at the contract unit price. 



MICHIGAN 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

12SP812(F) 

PAYMENT FOR MINOR TRAFFIC DEVICES AND TRAFFIC REGULATOR CONTROL 

OPR:JJG 1 of 1 C&T:APPR:BJO:DBP:07-19-11 
FHWA:APPR:07-19-11 

Delete Table 812-1 in subsection 812.04.E, on page 625 of the Standard Specifications for 
Construction, in its entirety and replace with the following. 

Table 812-1 Partial Payment Schedule for Minor Traf Devices and Traffic Regulator 
Control 

Percent of Original Contract Amount Earned Total Percent of Unit Price Paid 

First Use 15 
25 30 
50 55 
75 80 
90 100 



DES:DBP 

12SP-812U-01 

MICHIGAN 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

TYPE Ill BARRICADES 

1 of 1 APPR:MWB:CRB:08-07-15 
FHWA:APPR:08-23-15 

Delete the first sentence for the second paragraph in subsection 812.03.D.8 on page 606 
of the Standard Specifications for Construction, and replace with the following: 

Light Type Ill barricades with two, Type C or Type D warning lights, fastened to the 
uprights above the top rail, provided these warning lights each weigh 3.3 pounds or less. 

Delete the following pay items from the list in subsection 812.04 on page 622 of the 
Standard Specifications for Construction. 

Barricade, Type Ill, High Intensity, Furn ..................................................................... Each 
Barricade, Type Ill, High Intensity, Oper .................................................................... Each 
Barricade, Type Ill, High Intensity, Double Sided, Furn ............................................. Each 
Barricade, Type 111, ·High Intensity, Double Sided, Oper ............................................. Each 

Renumber the existing subsection 812.04.A.5 on page 624 of the Standard Specifications 
for Construction, as follows: 

4. The manufacturer's invoiced cost for damaged equipment included in a lump sum pay 
item for maintaining traffic. 



NFE: JCK 

General 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

MAINTAINING TRAFFIC 
1 of 5 

2021-04-27 

Traffic shall be maintained by the Contractor throughout the project in accordance with Section 
104.11 and 812 of the Michigan Department of Transportation 2012 Standard Specifications for 
Construction, the 2011 Michigan Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MMUTCD) (Revised 
September 2013), and any supplemental specifications in this proposal. 

City of Pontiac maintenance crews and/or City contracted forces may perform maintenance work 
within or adjacent to the Construction Influence Area (CIA). This work will be coordinated with the 
Contractor through the Engineer to minimize interference. No additional payment will be made to 
the Contractor for the joint use of the traffic control items. 

The Contractor shall coordinate this work with other Contractors performing work within the 
Construction Influence Area (CIA) or adjoining areas to avoid conflicts in the maintenance of traffic, 
construction signing, and to provide for the orderly progress of contract work. Where possible, this 
special provision will specify upcoming projects in the area. 

The Contractor is to note Section 104.08 of the Michigan Department of Transportation 2012 
Standard Specifications for Construction for the requirements of cooperation with other 
Contractors. 

Notification: The Contractor shall notify the Engineer, local police department, local fire 
department, and other emergency response units at least 72 hours before implementing any road 
closures, bridge closures, ramp closures, lane closures, detours, or major traffic shifts. Contractor 
shall notify MOOT of traffic control placement in MOOT right-of-way as required by permit. 

Traffic Restrictions - General 

No additional lane closures shall be allowed on the following weekends or special events: 
Memorial Day, Fourth of July, "Woodward Dream Cruise", "Motorbella", "Roadkill Nights", Labor 
Day, Thanksgiving, and Christmas. 

The Engineer will determine the duration of each holiday period and/or special event for the 
purpose of prohibiting lane closures, detours, or other traffic disruptions. 



NFE: JCK 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

MAINTAINING TRAFFIC 
2 of 5 

2021-04-27 

Prior to opening any lanes, the Contractor shall remove, by sweeping, all accumulated debris that 
has collected within the closed lane. The cost of sweeping shall be included in the cost of other 
contract pay items. 

Equipment and material stored on site must have prior approval of the Engineer and shall be 
stored beyond the clear zone of the traveled roadway. Any additional signs or devices required to 
protect the motoring public from stored equipment or material will be at the Contractor's expense. 

The Contractor shall implement shoulder closures, lane closures, detours, etc., according to 
applicable MOOT Typical Traffic Control Typicals, the suggested sequence of events and the 2011 
Michigan Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MMUTCD) (Revised September 2013). All 
changes in the traffic control plans, proposed by the Contractor, require prior approval from the 
Engineer to implementation. 

Access for construction vehicles between the travel lanes and work areas will be restricted to 
specific locations. The number of access points and their locations will require the prior approval of 
the Engineer. 

The Contractor shall maintain reasonable access, as defined by the Engineer, to all businesses, 
homes and intersecting streets at all times. Alternating business drives may be closed if a 
business has more than one drive that operates bi-directionally. 

The Contractor shall maintain access to the emergency ambulance entrance of McLaren Oakland 
Hospital at all times during construction . 

. The Engineer has the authority to limit the duration of lane closures based on the Contractor's 
progress. The Contractor shall not be granted compensation or extension of time if the Engineer 
suspends lane closures due to the Contractor's inability to make significant progress during the 
time frame allotted for the lane closures. 

The following typicals M0020a, M0040a, M0140a, M0310a, M0500a shall be used. 

The following special details WZD-100-A and WZD-125-E shall be used. 

Traffic Restrictions - Hours 

Allowable work hours for this project are Monday through Saturday, 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m., unless 
otherwise approved by the Engineer. 

Available work hours may be restricted by local ordinances (i.e. work hours, noise restrictions). It 
is the Contractor's responsibility to be aware of these restrictions and account for them in the work 
schedule. The Contractor may request noise and/or work hour variances from the Local 
Governments. All costs occurred in requesting these variances shall be borne by the Contractor. 
Hourly restrictions are subject to change by the Engineer based on traffic volume. 



NFE: JCK 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

MAINTAINING TRAFFIC 
3 of 5 

2021-04-27 

At non-signalized intersections, the intersecting street may be completely closed during working 
hours providing that adjacent interconnecting streets afford access to the closed street. If no 
alternative access to the street is available, a flagging operation must be used at the intersection. 

At signalized intersections, the work shall be completed as indicated in the Stage Construction 
Plans. With the approval of the Engineer, the Contractor may close the intersecting roads to 
facilitate paving through the intersections, as indicated in the Stage Construction Plans. Traffic 
stoppages shall be limited to 10 minute intervals after which traffic will be allowed to proceed until 
the last vehicle in the queue has passed or after traffic has been allowed to free flow for a period of 
five minutes or longer. 

Permits: The Contractor shall obtain all necessary permits from local governments which require 
them prior to placing construction signing on local roads. The costs associated with obtaining 
these permits shall be the responsibility of the Contractor and will not be paid for separately. 

Traffic Control Devices 

All traffic control devices and their use shall conform to the Michigan Manual of Uniform Traffic 
Control Devices (MMUTCD), 2011 edition, revised September 2013, and as specified herein. 

Quality Standards - All traffic control devices including: signs, barricades, vertical panels, drums, 
warning lights, arrow boards, and changeable message signs shall meet the requirements of 
American Traffic Safety Services Association (ATSSA). 

Traffic control devices moved to facilitate the Contractor's operation shall be reset by the end of the 
work day. The Contractor shall routinely maintain the traffic control devices including but not 
limited to, proper alignment, weighting with ballast, cleaning and replacing damaged devices. 

Signs - All temporary signs that will remain in place shall be installed on driven supports, defined 
in the MOOT Special Detail WZD-100-A, when applicable. The stub length of a driven support, if 
used, shall not extend more than two (2) inches above the surrounding grade. Driven sign 
supports shall be removed at the time the sign is removed. Where temporary signs cannot be 
driven, signs may be installed on portable supports. 

All warning signs shall be fabricated utilizing fluorescent prismatic retro-reflective sheeting in 
accordance with Section 922 of MOOT 2012 Standard Specifications for Construction. 

Advance warning signs (3 foot x 3 foot) shall be placed on all cross streets, freeways, entrance 
ramps, and exit ramps where construction activities may be encountered as directed by the 
Engineer. 

Temporary signs indicating sidewalk closures shall be provided for each sidewalk ramp 
reconstruction. 



NFE: JCK 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

MAINTAINING TRAFFIC 
4 of 5 

2021-04-27 

Temporary warning, regulatory, and guide signs not applicable to the current traffic operation or 
lane closures shall be removed, covered, or laid down with the legs removed as directed by the 
Engineer. Payment for any of these operations will be included in the cost for Temporary Signs. 

Temporary signs damaged by- construction activities shall be replaced at the Contractor's expense. 

When lane closures are in place, the Contractor shall completely cover all conflicting warning, 
regulatory, and guide signs in accordance with the MOOT 2012 Standard Specifications for 
Construction.:. 

Channeling Devices and Barricades - All channelizing devices shall be Plastic Drums with High 
Intensity Sheeting, Lighted from MDOT's Qualified Products List (QPL) of the Materials Sampling 
Guide. 

The spacing of plastic drums shall be as follows: 
25 feet on Tapers and Shifts 
35 feet on Tangents 
25 feet when required for tighter control is required by the Engineer. 

Placement of Type Ill Barricades shall be as directed by the Engineer. 

Lighted Arrows - Lighted Arrows, Type C, shall be used whenever closing a traffic lane or 
shoulder and as called for on the traffic typical plans. 

Existing and Temporary Pavement Marking Removal -Any pavement marking removed as a 
part of this project shall removed by means other than grinding. At no time shall the Contractor 
implement a method that would damage the surface of the roadway pavement. 

Final Pavement Markings and Signing - All permanent signs and pavement markings shall be in 
place prior to reopening the road to traffic. 

The Contractor shall remove, salvage and reinstall, on new supports all signs indicated, on the 
plans or proposal, that are to be salvaged. 

The Contractor shall store salvaged signs as per the sign sheeting manufacturer's 
recommendations. 

All markings, shapes and dimensions shall conform to MOOT Pavement Marking Typicals, unless 
specified otherwise by Special Provision. 

Traffic Control Item Quantities - The Contractor shall setup shoulder and lane closures, detours, 
and any other traffic control according to applicable MOOT Typical Traffic Control Drawings and 
the 2011 Michigan Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MMUTCD) (Revised September 
2013}. All proposed traffic control plans require approval from the Engineer prior to 
implementation. 



NFE: JCK 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

SPECIAL PROVISION 
FOR 

MAINTAINING TRAFFIC 
5 of 5 

2021-04-27 

Measurement and Payment - The estimate of quantities for maintaining traffic on this project is 
based on the suggested sequence of operations contained herein and described in this Special 
Provision and payment for these devices shall be according to Section 812.04 of the MOOT 2012 
Standard Specifications for Construction, unless otherwise specified. 

Items shall be paid for at the contract unit price for the following contract pay item: 

Item 
Sign, Type B, Temp, Prismatic, Furn 
Sign, Type B, Temp, Prismatic, Oper 
Channelizing Device, 42 inch, Furn 
Channelizing Device, 42 inch, Oper 
Lighted Arrow, Type B, Furn 
Lighted Arrow, Type B, Oper 
Traffic Regulator Control 
Minor Traf Devices 

Unit 
Square Feet 
Square Feet 
Each 
Each 
Each 
Each 
Lump Sum 
Lump Sum 



Test Boring Location Plan One legend 



Test Boring Location Plan Two 



Test B:oring Location Plan Three legend 



Test Boring Plan Four Legend 



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-1-N-G 
Fax (248) 588-6232 

Boring No.: 1 Job No.: 61426 
Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers 

Type of Rig: Truck 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth Sample 
N 

Strata 
(ft) Type Change 

.1 / 

.46 

LS 6 .92 

8 
2.5- 8 3 

LS 5 
7 

5.0- 6 

6 
LS 3 

3 7 
7.5- 2 

LS 1/18" 

10.0- 10 

12.5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

r-"' 
r-"' 

f--, 

Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Drilled By: I. Mickle 

Started: 1/8/2021 

Completed: 1/8/2021 

Soil Classification 

-
\ASPHALT (2") 

,_ 
I 

Crushed Asphalt-FILL (3 1/2") 

~Moist Bm"" Saad-FILL (5 112") 

Stiff Moist Variegated CLAY With Some Silt f 
r\Firm Moist Variegated CLAY With Some Silt 

!\Plastic Moist Variegated CLAY With Some Silt 1r 
Very Loose Wet Brown SAND With Trace Of Gravel 

Bottom of Boring at 10' 

w 

12.2 

16.9 

21.3 

13.3 

d 

139 

132 

128 

126 

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS • 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 

w • H20, % of dry weight 
d • Bulk Density, pct 

Water Encountered: 7'0" 

LS - Sectional Liner Sample 
ST • Shelby Tube Sample 
AS • Auger Sample 

qu • Unconfined Compression, tsf 
DP • Direct Push 
RC • Rock Core 

At Completion: 7'0" 

Boring No. 1 

qu 



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-I-N-G 
Fax (248) 588-6232 

Boring No.: 2 Job No.: 61426 Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Type of Rig: Truck Drilled By: I. Mickle 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers Started: 1/8/2021 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth Sample 
N (ft) Type 

LS 5 
8 

2.5- 8 

LS 3 
4 

5.0- 4 

LS 4 
6 

7.5- 7 

LS 4 
7 

10.0- 11 

12.5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS - 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 
LS - Sectional Liner Sample 
ST - Shelby Tube Sample 
AS - Auger Sample 

Completed: 1/8/2021 

Strata 
Soil Classification w d Change 

.54 

rt'PHALT (61/2") l .92 

15.4 134 

3 
Moist Brown Gravelly Medium To Fine Sand With Some Silt & 

[\Clay-FILL (4 112") I 
12.8 129 

Stiff Moist Gray Clay With Some Silt-FILL 

5.5 
~Plastic Moist Dark Gray Clay With Some Silt & Sand 

Seams-FILL r 11.5 139 

8 Firm Moist Brown Oxidized CLAY With Some Silt & Trace Of 
r'\Gravel r 

13.0 137 

10 Stiff Moist Brown Oxidized CLAY With Some Silt & Trace Of 
~Gravel r 

Bottom of Boring at 1 0' 

w - H20, % of dry weight 
d - Bulk Density, pcf 
qu - Unconfined Compression, tsf 
DP - Direct Push 
RC - Rock Core 

Water Encountered: None 

At Completion: None 

Boring No. 2 

qu 



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-1-N-G 
Fax (248) 588-6232 

Boring No.: 3 Job No.: 61426 
Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Type of Rig: Truck Drilled By: I. Mickle 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers Started: 1/8/2021 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth Sample N (ft) Type 

LS 5 
6 

2.5- 7 

LS 5 
6 

5.0- 6 

LS 5 
7 

7.5- 7 

LS 3 
3 

10.0- 3 

12.5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS • 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 
LS • Sectional Liner Sample 
ST • Shelby Tube Sample 
AS - Auger Sample 

Completed: 1/8/2021 

Strata Soil Classification w d Change 

.'LI 

~ , 
.67 

ASPHALT (3 1/4") JT 
12.1 139 

Moist Brown Gravelly Medium To Fine Sand With Some Silt & 
Clay-FILL (4 3/4") 

Firm Moist Brown CLAY With Some Silt & Sand Seams 

14.9 135 

8 

Loose Wet Brown SAND With Trace Of Gravel 21.5 118 

10 

Bottom of Boring at 10' 

w - H20, % of dry weight 
d • Bulk Density, pcf 
qu ~ Unconfined Compression, tsf 
DP - Direct Push 
RC· Rock Core 

Water Encountered: 8'0" 

At Completion: 8'2" 

Boring No. 3 

qu 



Boring No.: 4 

Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-I-N-G 
Fax (248) 588-6232 

Job No.: 61426 
Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers 

Type of Rig: Truck 

Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Drilled By: I. Mickle 

Started: 1/8/2021 

Completed: 1/8/2021 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth Sample N Strata 
(ft) Type Change 

.4;,: 

LS 7 
8 

2.5- 10 3 

LS 3 
3 

5.0- 4 5.5 

LS 2 
3 

7.5- 2 8 

LS 4 
9 

10 10.0- 11 

12.5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

Soil Classification w 

~ASPHALT (5") r 
8.5 

Medium Compact Moist Brown Sand With Clay Layer-FILL 

Plastic Moist Brown CLAY With Some Silt 14.9 

Loose Moist Brown Clayey SAND 10.9 

Stiff Moist Brown CLAY With Some Silt 11.8 

Bottom of Boring at 10' 

d 

142 

126 

130 

139 

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS - 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 
LS - Sectional Liner Sample 
ST - Shelby Tube Sample 
AS - Auger Sample 

w - H20, % of d,y weight 
d - Bulk Density, pct 
qu - Unconfined Compression, tsf 
DP - Direct Push 
RC - Rock Core 

Water Encountered: None 

At Completion: None 

Boring No. 4 

qu 



Boring No.: 5 

Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-I-N-G 
Fax (248) 588-6232 

Job No.: 61426 
Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers 

Type of Rig: Truck 

Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Drilled By: I. Mickle 

Started: 1/8/2021 

Completed: 1/8/2021 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth Sample N Strata 
(ft) Type Change 

.46 

LS 4 
5 

2.5- 6 

LS 3 
5 

5.0- 6 

LS 4 
6 

7.5- 8 

LS 5 
9.5 6 

10.0- 7 10 

12.5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

Soil Classification w 

r\ASPHAL T (5 1/2") r 
9.5 

Medium Compact Wet Brown Clayey Fine SAND With Trace 
Of Gravel 

11.3 

18.7 

15.7 

i\Medium Compact Wet Gray Clayey SAND r 
tiouom or tionng at 1 u· 

d 

140 

137 

129 

132 

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS - 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 

w - H20, % of dry weight 
d - Bulk Density, pcf 

Water Encountered: 6'6" 

LS - Sectional Liner Sample 
ST - Shelby Tube Sample 
AS - Auger Sample 

qu - Unconfined Compression, tsf 
DP - Direct Push 
RC - Rock Core 

At Completion: Caved In 8'7" 

Boring No. 5 

qu 



Boring No.: 6 

Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-1-N-G 
Fax (248) 588-6232 

Job No.: 61426 
Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers 

Type of Rig: Truck 

Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Drilled By: I. Mickle 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth Sample 
N 

Strata 
(ft) Type Change 

.5 

LS 5 
4 

2.5- 3 

LS 2 
4.5 3 

5.0- 2 

LS 1 
1 

7.5- 2 

LS 2 
2 

10 10.0- 2 

12.5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

~ASPHALT (6") 

Started: 1/8/2021 

Completed: 1/8/2021 

Soil Classification 

Loose Moist Brown Medium To Fine SAND With Some Gravel 
&Clay 

Very Loose Wet Brown SAND With Clay Layers 

Bottom of Boring at 1 0' 

w 

r 
5.4 

11.1 

11.7 

9.9 

d 

130 

130 

129 

131 

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS - 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 

w - H20, % of dry weight 
d - Bulk Density, pct 

Water Encountered: 4'6" 

LS - Sectional Liner Sample 
ST - Shelby Tube Sample 
AS - Auger Sample 

qu - Unconfined Compression, tsf 
DP - Direct Push 
RC - Rock Core 

At Completion: Caved In 5'1" 

Boring No. 6 

qu 



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-I-N-G 
Fax (248) 588-6232 

Boring No.: 7 Job No.: 61426 
Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Type of Rig: Truck Drilled By: I. Mickle 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers Started: 1/8/2021 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth Sample N (ft) Type 

LS 5 
8 

2.5- 7 

LS 3 
4 

5.0- 5 

LS 2 
3 

7.5- 3 

LS 3 
5 

10.0- 5 

12.5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS - 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 
LS - Sectional Liner Sample 
ST - Shelby Tube Sample 
AS - Auger Sample 

Completed: 1/8/2021 

Strata Soil Classification w d Change 

.42 

[\ASPHALT (5") ;: 1.2 
11.0 140 

~Moist s- Gcavelly Mediom To Floe SAND With Some Silt f 
& Clay-FILL (9 1/2") 

Firm Moist Gray CLAY With Some Silt & Sand Seams 

5.5 

Plastic Moist Gray CLAY With Some Silt 

8 

Loose Wet Gray SAND With Trace Of Gravel 

10 

Bottom of Boring at 10' 

w - H20, % of dry weight 
d - Bulk Density, pcf 
qu - Unconfined Compression, tsf 
DP - Direct Push 
RC - Rock Core 

8.5 142 

21.3 119 

13.9 127 

Water Encountered: 7'9" 

At Completion: 7'4" 

Boring No. 7 

qu 



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-1-N-G 
Fax (248) 588-6232 

Boring No.: 8 Job No.: 61426 
Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers 

Type of Rig: Truck 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth Sample 
N 

Strata 
(ft) Type Change 

.56 

LS 5 
7 

2.5- 8 
3 

LS 3 
3 

5.0- 2 
5.5 

LS 2 
2 

7.5- 2 
8 

LS 6 
7 

10 10.0- 9 

12.5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Drilled By: I. Mickle 

Started: 1/8/2021 

Completed: 1/8/2021 

Soil Classification 

r\ASPHAL T (6 3/4") r 
Medium Compact Wet Brown Medium To Fine SAND With 

t---... Some Gravel & Clay .,,-

Plastic Moist Brown CLAY With Some Silt 

Soft Moist Gray CLAY With Some Silt 

Medium Compact Moist Brown Clayey SAND With Trace Of 
Gravel 

Bottom of Boring at 1 O' 

w 

10.4 

23.6 

22.6 

23.6 

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS - 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 
LS - Sectional Liner Sample 
ST • Shelby Tube Sample 
AS - Auger Sample 

w - H20, % of dry weight 
d - Bulk Density, pcf 
qu - Unconfined Compression, tsf 
DP - Direct Push 
RC - Rock Core 

Water Encountered: 6" 

At Completion: 8'2" 

Boring No. 8 

d qu 

139 

117 

118 

125 



Boring No.: 9 

Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-I-N-G 
Fax (248) 588-6232 

Job No.: 61426 
Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers 

Type of Rig: Truck 

Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Drilled By: I. Mickle 

Started: 1/12/2021 

Completed: 1/12/2021 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth Sample N Strata 
(ft) Type Change 

.54 

LS 5 
12 

2.5- 9 3 

LS 2 4 
5 

5.0- 6 

6 
LS 6 

10 
7.5- 14 

LS 7 
7 

10 10.0- 10 

12.5-' 

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

Soil Classification w 

\ASPHALT (61/2") r 
11.1 

Medium Compact Moist Brown Silty Fine SAND With Trace Of 
-.._,_ Gravel ,,,-

~Loose Moist Brown SAND r 9.9 

Firm Moist Brown CLAY With Some Silt 

29.8 
Medium Compact Moist Brown SAND With Some Gravel & 
Clay Layers 

Bottom of Boring at 10' 

d 

138 

142 

119 

nN" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS - 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 
LS - Sectional Liner Sample 
ST - Shelby Tube Sample 
AS - Auger Sample 

w - H20, % of dry weight 
d - Bulk Density, pcf 
qu - Unconfined Compression, tsf 
DP - Direct Push 
RC - Rock Core 

Water Encountered: None 

At Completion: None 

Boring No. 9 

qu 



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-I-N-G 
Fax(248)588-6232 

Boring No.: 10 Job No.: 61426 
Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Type of Rig: Truck Drilled By: I. Mickle 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers Started: 1/12/2021 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth Sample N (ft) Type 

LS 7 
9 

2.5- 10 

LS 4 
4 

5.0- 4 

LS 3 
6 

7.5- 10 

LS 5 
10 

10.0- 16 

12.5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS - 2" ),D, Split Spoon Sample 
LS - Sectional Liner Sample 
ST - Shelby Tube Sample 
AS - Auger Sample 

Completed: 1/12/2021 

Strata Soil Classification w d Change 

.L8 

~ASPHALT (3 1/2") f .83 

16.0 132 

3 
Moist Brown Gravelly Medium To Fine SAND With Some Silt 

I\& Clay (6") / 

4.6 122 
Medium Compact Moist Brown SAND With Trace Of Gravel 

6 Loose Moist Brown SAND 

18.4 129 
Medium Compact Moist Brown SAND With Clay Layers 

4.2 139 

10 

Bottom of Boring at 1 O' 

w - H20, % of dry weight 
d - Bulk Density, pct 
qu - Unconfined Compression, tsf 
DP - Direct Push 
RC - Rock Core 

Water Encountered: None 

At Completion: None 

Boring No. 10 

qu 

1480 



Boring No.: 11 

Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-I-N-G 
Fax (248) 588-6232 

Job No.: 61426 
Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers 

Type of Rig: Truck 

Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Drilled By: R. Favor 

Started: 2/3/2021 

Completed: 2/3/2021 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth Sample N Strata 
(ft) Type Change 

.5 

LS 16 
20 2,5 2.5- 24 

LS 5 
7 

5.0- 9 5 

LS 7 
14 

7.5- 17 
8 

LS 5 
14 

10 10.0- 14 

12.5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

Soil Classification w 

i\ASPHAL T (6") ; 
7,6 

,..._,_ Compact Moist Brown Fine SAND With Trace Of Gravel ,,,,-

Medium Compact Moist Brown Fine SAND With Trace Of 11.9 
Gravel 

Compact Moist Brown Fine SAND With Trace Of Gravel 
14.4 

Medium Compact Moist Brown Fine SAND With Trace Of 9.8 
Gravel, Gray Sandy Clay Layers & Some Silt 

Bottom of Boring at 1 0' 

d 

135 

137 

134 

126 

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS - 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 
LS - Sectional Liner Sample 
ST - Shelby Tube Sample 
AS - Auger Sample 

w - H20, % of dry weight 
d • Bulk Density, pcf 
qu - Unconfined Compression, Isl 
DP - Direct Push 
RC - Rock Core 

Water Encountered: None 

At Completion: None 

Boring No. 11 

qu 

1320 



Boring No.: 12 

Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-I-N-G 
Fax(248)588-6232 

Job No.: 61426 
Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers 

Type of Rig: Truck 

Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Drilled By: R. Favor 

Started: 2/3/2021 

Completed: 2/3/2021 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth 
(ft) 

2.5-

5.0-

7.5-

10.0-

12.5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

Sample 
Type 

LS 

LS 

LS 

LS 

N 

16 
9 
9 

6 
10 
12 

6 
13 
21 

10 
17 
21 

Strata 
Change 

.1 

6 

8.5 

10 

Soil Classification 

ASPHALT(11/4") 

Medium Compact Moist Brown Fine SAND With Trace Of 
Gravel & Clay Layers 

Compact Moist Brown Fine SAND With Trace Of Gravel 

Extremely Stiff Moist Brown CLAY With Some Silt & Trace Of 
r---..Gravel r 

Bottom of Boring at 1 O' 

w 

13.8 

20.3 

7.4 

9.9 

d 

123 

127 

135 

142 

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS - 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 
LS - Sectional Liner Sample 
ST - Shelby Tube Sample 
AS - Auger Sample 

w - H20, % of dry weight 
d - Bulk Density, pcf 
qu - Unconfined Compression, tsf 
DP - Direct Push 
RC - Rock Core 

Water Encountered: None 

At Completion: None 

Boring No. 12 

qu 

820 



Boring No.: 13 

Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-I-N-G 
Fax(248)588-6232 

Job No.: 61426 
Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers 

Type of Rig: Truck 

Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Drilled By: R. Favor 

Started: 2/3/2021 

Completed: 2/3/2021 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth Sample N Strata 
(ft) Type Change 

.69 

LS 7 
7 

2.5- 5 

LS 3 
4.5 5 

5.0- 4 

6 
LS 5 

7 
7.5- 9 

8.5 
LS 6 

7 
10 10.0- 8 

12.5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

Soil Classification w 

\CONCRETE (81/4") r 
14.3 

Medium Compact Moist Dark Brown Fine Sand With Trace Of 
Gravel & Clay Layers-FILL 

19.4 

Loose Moist Brown Clayey SAND With Trace Of Gravel 

10.9 
Extremely Stiff Moist Brown CLAY With Some Silt & Trace Of 
Gravel 

14.6 
Firm Moist Brown CLAY With Some Silt & Trace Of Gravel 

Bottom of Boring at 1 O' 

d 

126 

129 

141 

134 

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS - 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 
LS - Sectional Liner Sample 
ST - Shelby Tube Sample 
AS - Auger Sample 

w - H20, % of dry weight 
d - Bulk Density, pcf 
qu ~ Unconfined Compression, tsf 
DP - Direct Push 
RC - Rock Core 

Water Encountered: None 

At Completion: None 

Boring No. 13 

qu 

1900 

8320 

3210 



Boring No.: 14 

Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-I-N-G 
Fax (248) 588-6232 

Job No.: 61426 Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers 

Type of Rig: Truck 

Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Drilled By: R. Favor 

Started: 2/3/2021 

Completed: 2/3/2021 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth Sample 
N Strata 

(ft) Type Change 

:B 
LS 10 

8 
2.5- 6 

LS 5 
7 

5,0- 6 5,5 

LS 4 
5 

7.5- 4 

LS 2 
3 

10 10.0- 3 

12,5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

Soil Classification w 

~SPHALT(13/4') 1 8,0 

CONCRETE (7") 

Medium Compact Moist Brown Gravelly Fine SAND With 11.1 
Some Silt 

Loose Moist Brown Fine SAND With Trace Of Gravel 12.2 

13.0 

Bottom of Boring at 10' 

d 

125 

132 

120 

128 

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS - 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 
LS - Sectional Liner Sample 
ST - Shelby Tube Sample 
AS - Auger Sample 

w • H20, % of dry weight 
d - Bulk Density, pc! 
qu - Unconfined Compression, ts! 
DP - Direct Push 
RC - Rock Core 

Water Encountered: None 

At Completion: None 

Boring No. 14 

qu 



Boring No.: 15 

Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-I-N-G 
Fax (248) 588-6232 

Job No.: 61426 
Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers 

Type of Rig: Truck 

Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Drilled By: R. Favor 

Started: 2/3/2021 

Completed: 2/3/2021 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth 
(ft) 

2.5-

5.0-

7.5-

10.0-

12.5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

Sample 
Type 

LS 

LS 

LS 

LS 

N 

6 
9 
7 

3 
4 
4 

2 
2 
1 

1 
1 
1 

Strata 
Change 

.77 

2.5 

6 

9 

10 

Soil Classification 

r\CONCRETE (91/4") r 
r\Medium Compact Moist Brown Gravelly Fine SAND With r 

Some Silt ~-------~ 

Loose Moist Brown Fine SAND With Trace Of Gravel 

Very Loose Moist Brown Fine SAND With Trace Of Gravel 

h Very Loose Very Moist Brown Very Fine SAND With Trace Of 1 
I \Gravel / 

Bottom of Boring at 10' 

w 

9.9 

12.1 

14.1 

17.5 

d 

125 

120 

126 

130 

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS - 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 
LS - Sectional Liner Sample 
ST - Shelby Tube Sample 
AS - Auger Sample 

w - H20, % of dry weight 
d - Bulk Density, pcf 
qu - Unconfined Compresslon 1 tsf 
DP - Direct Push 
RC - Rock Core 

Water Encountered: None 

At Completion: None 

Boring No. 15 

qu 



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. 
1343 Rochester Road - PO Box 249 - Troy, Michigan - 48099-0249 

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-1-N-G 
Fax (248) 588-6232 

Boring No.: 16 Job No.: 61426 
Project: 2021 Local Street Program 

Client: Nowak & Fraus Engineers Location: Pontiac, Michigan 

Type of Rig: Truck Drilled By: I. Mickle 

Drilling Method: Solid Stem Augers Started: 1/14/2021 

Ground Surface Elevation: 

Depth Sample 
N (ft) Type 

LS 4 
5 

2.5- 6 

LS 7 
6 

5.0- 6 

LS 5 
4 

7.5- 5 

LS 4 
5 

10.0- 7 

12.5-

15.0-

17.5-

20.0-

22.5-

"N" - Standard Penetration Resistance 
SS - 2" ).D. Split Spoon Sample 
LS • Sectional Liner Sample 
ST • Shelby Tube Sample 
AS • Auger Sample 

Completed: 1/14/2021 

Strata Soil Classification Change w d 

,jj 

~ASPHALT {4") t .92 

14.7 135 

Moist Brown Gravelly Fine SAND With Some Silt & Clay-FILL 
(7") . 

9.5 
Firm Moist Brown CLAY With Some Silt & Sand Seams 

140 

5.7 

Plastic Moist Gray CLAY With Some Silt & Sand Seams 
11.3 141 

10.1 142 

10 

Bottom of Boring at 10' 

w - H20, % of dry weight 
d - Bulk Density, pcf 
qu - Unconfined Compression, tsf 
DP - Direct Push 
RC - Rock Core 

Water Encountered: None 

At Completion: None 

Boring No. 16 

qu 

1810 





RESOLUTION TO SUPPORT APPLICATION FOR TRANSPORTATION 
ALTERNATIVES PROGRAM GRANT THROUGH MDOT FOR GILLESPIE A VENUE 

OVER CLINTON RIVER BRIDGE SUPERSTRUCTURE CAPITAL PREVENTIVE 
MAINTENANCE 

On a motion duly made by Council Member ____ seconded by Council Member 
_____ and passed with _ Ayes and _ Nays, it was moved to adopt the following 
resolution: 

WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac Department of Public Works is committed to providing safe 
and convenient roadways for the motoring public; and 

WHEREAS, the condition of the bridge listed below has deteriorated to such an extent that 
preventive maintenance is necessary; and 

WHEREAS, the budget of the City of Pontiac will not allow preventive maintenance of this 
bridge without additional funds from other sources; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac Department of Public Works has identified a possible source of 
funding with MDOT through the Transportation Alternative Program; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac Depatiment of Public Works is preparing applications for 
MDOT Transportation Alternative Program 2022 for the following bridge: 

• Gillespie A venue over Clinton River: Superstructure Capital Preventive Maintenance 

WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac Department of Public Works commits to implementing a 
maintenance plan in perpetuity or causing operations and maintenance to occur; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac Department of Public Works commits to being responsible for 
engineering, permits administration, potential cost overruns and any non-participating items; and 

WHEREAS, a certified resolution of suppoti for the project must accompany the application for 
the Transportation Alternative Program; and 

WHEREAS, the expected level of financial support from the City of Pontiac will be 20% match 
of the Transportation Alternative Program application grant fund; and 

WHEREAS, the match fund from the City of Pontiac will be available for the conditional 
commitment to be upgraded to a grant fund award; and 

WHEREAS, as the match fund is secured, the City of Pontiac will certify in a new City Council 
resolution that the match fund is available and dedicated to the grant project; and 

WHEREAS, Abdul Siddiqui is the authorized official to act as a representative on behalf of the 
City of Pontiac during the project development and to sign a project agreement (contract) upon 
receipt of a grant funding; and 



WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac Department of Public Works will add this project to the Capital 
Improvement Plan for Fiscal Year 2022 if funding is secured. 

NOW THEREFORE, be it: 

RESOLVED, by the City of Pontiac City Council on this_ day of_, 2021 that full support 
of the application for MDOT Transportation Alternative Program funding for superstructure 
capital preventive maintenance of the Gillespie A venue over the Clinton River bridge project is 
granted. 

I hereby certify the above is a true and correct copy of a resolution unanimously adopted by the 
City of Pontiac at a meeting held on ___ _ 

ATTEST: 

Garland Doyle 
Acting City Clerk 

Dated: 

Drafted by: 

Garland Doyle 
City of Pontiac 
47450 Woodward Ave 
Pontiac, MI 48342 

Subscribed and sworn to before me on the above date: 

Notary Public, ________ ., Michigan 
My Commission Expires: _______ _ 



#16 
RESOLUTION 



CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

Executive Branch 

TO: Honorable City Council President Williams and City Council Members 

FROM: Abdul Siddiqui 

DATE: July 20, 2021 

RE: Budget Amendment for Major Streets, Local Streets and General Fund 

With the recently adopted budget for Fiscal Year 2021-22, several cuts were made to the 
Mayor's Recommended Budget in the areas of road construction and engineering services. 
These cuts will greatly hamper the Department's ability to carry out on needed road 
projects for both local and major streets. 

With the current funding levels in the FY22 budget, the city cannot afford to provide 
construction engineering oversight to the construction projects, so they will have to be 
halted or postponed. Design for future projects will also have to be cut back, causing 
projects to be delayed. It is imperative that in order to move forward with much needed 
projects that the City Council re-consider the dollar amounts allocated for FY22 and 
consider a budget amendment. 

Following are some of the impacts to infrastructure projects given the reduced funding 
level in the FY22 Budget: 

• Halting the CDBG Sidewalk Projects that are proposed for Fall 2021 (Districts 1, 2, 
6, 7) and Spring 2022 (Districts 2, 3, 4, 5, 6). Other CDBG projects such as the 
reconstruction of senior center parking lots will also be halted. This is due to lack of 
funds for construction engineering oversight due to the reduction of $250,000 in 
101-447-806.000. Construction engineering and oversight for these projects is 
something that could be brought in-house if staffing is approved. The budget 
proposed by Council for that account is only sufficient for miscellaneous engineering 
tasks. 

• Eliminating the proposed Multi-Road Mill and Fill project from the Major Street Fund 
- 202 due to the reduction of $1.8 Million in 202-463-974.074. This project was 
planned for Spring 2022 to rehabilitate asphalt pavement on multiple roads 
throughout the City. Some of the roads being considered for the project are: 

o Paddock (Districts 1, 6, 7) 
o Giddings (District 5) 
o Franklin Blvd (District 1) 

• Halting almost all major roads projects due to the reduction of $1.2 Million in 
202-463-806.000. There is insufficient funding for construction engineering and 
oversight as well as for design of future projects. Construction projects impacted will 
include the concrete pavement repairs at Walton Blvd (District 4), asphalt overlay 
of W Columbia (Districts 3, 4), modernization of signals on Orchard Lake 



(Districts 1, 2), and reconstruction of Mill St (District 1). Projects under design 
that will be impacted include concrete joint repairs on Baldwin, Telegraph, and 
Elizabeth Lake (Districts 2 and 4) and modernization of signals on Walton Blvd 
(Districts 4, 5). We may be able to do the construction engineering in-house for 
one of these projects if staffing is approved. 

• Reducing the amount of work to be done with the local roads resurfacing project in 
Fall 2021 due to reduction of $120,000 in 203-463-806.000. This will result in 
reduced amount of construction engineering and oversight services. These services 
for this project could be brought in-house if staffing is approved. The following 
streets are being resutfaced with this project and some of them will have to be cut 
from the project as a result of the reduced engineering services budget: 

o Cherry Hill, Starlight, Fairmount (District 3) 
o Bynan, Gambrell, Grandville (District 5) 
o Granada and Omar (District 6) 

• City will likely be penalized by the Michigan Department of Environment, Great 
Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) for failing to repair stormwater drainage channels at the 
Collier Road Landfill due to reductions of $100,000 in 226-528-806.000 and 
$300,000 in 226-528-816.000. There are insufficient construction funds and 
engineering services funds for that work to occur. 

Note the reason the requested engineering services budgets seem so high this year is 
because the budget has been organized differently. Previously, the engineering services 
costs associated with specific projects were rolled into the construction accounts for those 
projects, making it difficult to determine how much the City was spending in engineering 
services. Only miscellaneous engineering costs were accounted for in the engineering 
services accounts. Going forward, we are proposing to separate all engineering services 
costs into their respective engineering services accounts for the sake of transparency. 

Also bear in mind that the major and local street funds (202 and 203) cannot be used for 
anything other than road construction and maintenance. Cutting funding from those funds 
does not provide any benefit, particularly since we are careful to maintain at least a 10% 
fund balance at all times. We are required to use these funds for road projects and delays 
in using the funds timely provides no benefit and can actually cause repair costs to 
increase. 

It is important to realize that removing dollars from the budget significantly impacts 
projects that had been scheduled for the year. I am requesting that the City Council re
consider and increase the funding levels for FY22 so that the above mentioned projects are 
able to go forward. Without this funding, the City is placed at a disadvantage for needed 
repairs and maintenance of the City's road infrastructure. 

Attachment 



Mill St (To be reconstructed) 



Vanguard Dr (To be reconstructed) 



W Columbia (To be resurfaced with asphalt) 



Local Roads: Cherry Hill, Starllte, Synan, Gambrell, Grandville, Granada, Omar (To be resurfaced with 
asphalt) 











CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

Executive Branch 

TO: 

FROM: 

CC: 

DATE: 

RE: 

Honorable City Council President Kermit Williams, and City Council Members 

Darin Carrington, Finance Director 

Honorable Mayor Deirdre Waterman, Abdul Siddiqui, Al Cooley 

July 14, 2021 

Resolution to approve a budget amendment for fiscal year 2021-2022 to allocate 
a total $4,220,000 for construction and engineering services broken out as 
follows: $1.8 million for Major Streets road construction mill and fill projects, 
$1.2 million for Major Streets projects supervision, $120,000 for Local Streets 
rehabilitation projects, $250,000 for general fund CDBG projects, $450,000 for 
contracted construction services to repair downtown sidewalks, $100,000 for Collier 
Road Landfill projects supervision and $300,000 for construction to repair damaged 
stonnwater drainage channels at Collier Road Landfill. 

As such, the following resolution is recommended for your consideration: 

Whereas, the City of Pontiac timely approved the 2021-2022 budget on June 24, 2021 and; 

Whereas, the Administration has reviewed the department of public works requirements for 
construction, preliminary engineering and construction engineering services for the fiscal year 
2021-2022; and 

Whereas, the Administration is proposing to the City Council to increase the appropriations 
for the current fiscal year 2021-2022 for construction, preliminary engineering and construction 
engineering services for Major Streets projects supervision in the amount of $1.2 Million to account 
202-463-806.000, Major Streets road construction for mill and fill projects, in the amount of $1.8 
Million to account 202-463-974.074; Local Streets engineering services for local streets 
rehabilitation projects in the amount of $120,000 to account 203-463-806.000; General Fund 
engineering services for CDBG projects in the amount of $250,000 to account 101-447-806.000; 
and Major Streets contracted services for downtown sidewalks in the amount of $450,000 to 
account 202-443-816.000; Collier Road Landfill projects oversight in the amount of $100,000 to 
account 226-528-806.000; Collier Road Landfill stormwater drainage channels construction in the 
amount of $300,000 to account 226-528-816.000. 

Whereas, the increased appropriations will not cause the fund balance in the Major 
Streets, Local Streets, Sanitation Fund and General Fund funds to go below the policy mandated 
thresholds and; 

NOW THEREFORE be resolved that the City Council hereby approves the appropriation 
amendment for the fiscal year 2021-2022 as requested by the Mayor and Department of Public 
Works for account 202-463-806.000 in the amount of $1.2 million, for account 202-463-974.074 in 
the amount of $1.8 million, for account 203-463-806.000 in the amount of $120,000, for account 
101-447-806.000 in the amount of $250,000, for account 202-443-816.000 in the amount of 
$450,000, for account 226-528-806.000 in the amount of $100,000 and for account 226-528-
816.000 in the amount of $300,000 

This item cannot be approved until after the resolution to authorize the City Clerk to publish 
the notice of the budget amendment has been approved and one week after the publication 
of the notice. It takes 5 votes ta approve a budget amendment. 

1 of2 





CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

Executive Branch 

TO: 

FROM: 

CC: 

DATE: 

RE: 

Honorable City Council President Kermit Williams, and City Council Members 

Darin Carrington, Finance Director 

Honorable Mayor Deirdre Waterman 

September 16, 2021 

Resolution to approve contract amendment with Oakland County Sheriff 

The City Council recently adopted the Fiscal Year 2021-22 budget which included certain 
appropriations for public safety services provided by the Oakland County Sheriff. Included 
in this budget was $988,000 in additional funding to the existing contract between the City 
and Sheriff's office. This additional funding was for the specific purpose of adding seven 
(7) additional Deputy officers to the City's current contracted staffing levels. 

In order to facilitate adding these additional Deputies, the contract between the City and 
the Oakland County Sheriff needs to be amended. The attached amendment provides for 
adding of the seven additional Deputies as has been budgeted in the fiscal year 

As such, the following resolution is recommended for your consideration: 

Whereas, the City of Pontiac timely approved the 2021-2022 budget on June 24, 
2021 and; 

Whereas, the FY 2021-22 budget provided increased funding for public safety 
services from the Oakland County Sheriff in the amount of $988,306; and 

Whereas, the additional funding will allow the City to add seven (7) additional 
Deputies to the current contracted staffing levels; and 

Whereas, to add the additional Deputies the current contract needs to be 
amended; and 

Whereas, the City wants to implement the full increase in as planned in the FY 
2021-22 budget; 

NOW THEREFORE be resolved that the City Council hereby approves the 
attached contract amendment (Amendment 2) with the Oakland County Sheriff for the 
purpose of adding the additional seven (7) Deputies. 



OAKLAND COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE 
2019-2021 LAW ENFORCEMENT SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

Amendment2 

Pursuant to Paragraph 29 of the 2019-2021 Law Enforcement Services Agreement 
between the COUNTY and the CITY OF PONTIAC (the "Contract"), the parties hereby agree to 
amend said Contract to add seven (7) Deputy II (no-fill) positions in accordance with the attached 
Exhibit 1 (Schedule A) beginning on the effective date of this Amendment 2. The attached Exhibit 
1 replaces and supersedes the Schedule A attached to the Contract beginning on the effective 
date of this Amendment 2. 

This Amendment 2 shall take effect on September 25, 2021 and shall continue until the 
Contract expires or is terminated. All other provisions in the Contract not otherwise affected by 
the attached Exhibit 1 remain in full force and effect. 

FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual assurances, promises, acknowledgments, 
set forth in this Amendment 2 and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, the undersigned hereby execute this Amendment 2 
on behalf of the Parties, and by doing so legally obligate and bind the Parties to the terms and 
conditions of this Amendment 2. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Dr. Deirdre Waterman, Mayor of the City of Pontiac, hereby 
acknowledges that she has been authorized by a resolution of the Municipality's governing body 
to execute this Amendment 2 on behalf of the Municipality and hereby accepts and binds the 
Municipality to the terms and conditions of this Amendment 2. 

EXECUTED: 

WITNESSED: 

Dr. Deirdre Waterman 
Mayor 

Garland Doyle 
Interim City Clerk 

DATE: 

DATE: ------

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, David T. Woodward, Chairperson, Oakland County Board of 
Commissioners hereby acknowledges that he has been authorized by a resolution of the Oakland 
County Board of Commissioners, to execute this Amendment 2 on behalf of Oakland County, and 
hereby accepts and binds Oakland County to the terms and conditions of this Amendment. 

EXECUTED: 

WITNESSED: 

David T. Woodward, Chairperson 
Oakland County Board of Commissioners 

-----------
County of Oakland 

DATE: _____ _ 

DATE: _____ _ 



SCHEDULE A 
City of Pontiac 2019-2021 Law Enforcement Services Agreement 

Amendment #2, effective September 25, 2021 

I Exhibit 11 

SHERIFF'S DEPUTIES CONTRACTED FOR AND TO BE ASSIGNED TO MUNICIPALITY 

Biweekly 

Rank of Number of 
Charge for Annual 

Sheriffs Sheriffs 
each Costs 

Sheriffs 2021 
Deputies Deputies 

Deputy to 
Contracted Contracted 

Municipality 
in 2021 

Captain 1 $7,883.02 $204,958 

Lieutenant 3 $6,780.49 $528,878 

Patrol 
8 $6,132.68 $1,275,597 Sergeant 

Detective 1 $6,301.96 $163,851 Seraeant 
Deputy II 

$6,207.41 (w/fill) 
Deputy II 

61 $5,417.93 $8,592,837 (no-fill) 
Deputy II 

(no-fill/no- $5,122.88 
vehicle) 
Patrol 

Investigator 18 $5,652.72 $2,645,473 
(no-fill) 
Deputy I 

$4,996.22 (no-fill) 

Estimated 
$793,211 Overtime 

Front desk 
& building 

PTNE 12 $25.06 per $300,720 
Security hour Estimated 
Deputies 
Technical 

1 $3,416.55 $88,830 Assistant 

PTNE Office 
2 

$20.30 per $40,600 
Assistant II hour Estimated 

TOTAL 107 $14,634,955 

NOTE: For each "Deputy II (w/fill)" identified above, the O.C.S.O. will, at no additional cost to the 
Municipality, provide a substitute Sheriffs Deputy (i.e., a "fill-in") to provide Law Enforcement Services 
to the Municipality whenever a contracted "Deputy II (w/fill)" is absent from the Municipality during any 
80 hour biweekly period for any reason except those reasons enumerated in Paragraph 6.1 above. 
NOTE: The O.C.S.O. will not assign any trainees to pe1fo1m the duties of any Sheriffs Deputy contracted 
for and assigned to perform Law Enforcement Services under this Agreement. 





CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

Executive Branch 

TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

RE: 

Honorable City Council President Kermit Williams, and City Council Members 

Mayor Deirdre Waterman 

September 16, 2021 

Resolution to accept and approve the Oakland County 2021-22 Auto 
theft Prevention (ATPA) Sub-recipient Agreement with the City of 
Pontiac and Authorizes the Administration to execute the Agreement 

The City of Pontiac has been utilizing the Auto Theft Prevention Authority (ATP A) grant 
from the State of Michigan through the Oakland County Sheriffs office since 2013. This 
grant reimburses the municipality half of the Sheriffs deputy's eligible expenditures 
assigned full-time to ATP A related activities. The ATPA grant runs from October 1 to 
September 30 of any given year. 

For the last eight years (2013-2021), Oakland County has been able to apply for the grant 
on our behalf, and we have been reimbursed half the costs for a Sheriff Deputy assigned 
full-time to the auto theft prevention. The State of Michigan requires all municipalities that 
receive the benefit of this grant through the OCSO, sign a sub-recipient agreement with 
Oakland County that delineates the rights and obligations of each party's responsibilities 
and duties regarding the use of the grant. 

The City of Pontiac's responsibility is to provide funding for a Sheriffs Deputy to be 
assigned full-time to the ATP A tasks. Oakland County has entered into a contract with the 
State of Michigan for the grant and will reimburse the City of Pontiac half the costs. We 
received the request to have the agreement signed by the Mayor and request the City 
Council to authorize the Administration through a resolution to sign the sub-recipient 
agreement with Oakland County. 

The following resolution is recommended: 

Whereas, the City of Pontiac has been utilizing the Auto Theft Prevention Authority Grant 
through Oakland County since 2013; and 

Whereas, the previous agreement with the Oakland County Sheriffs Office will expire on 
September 30, 2021; and 

Whereas, the County and City may enter into a sub-recipient agreement by which the 
Oakland County Sheriffs Office would continue to assign a full-time Sheriff Deputy to the 
ATPA activities; and 



Whereas, the Oakland County Sheriff's Office agrees to provide reimbursement to the City 
of Pontiac under the terms and conditions of the agreement up to 50 percent of the eligible 
expenditures; 

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved that the City Council, hereby approves the Oakland 
County 2021-2022 ATPA Sub-Recipient Agreement with the City of Pontiac and authorizes 
the Administration to execute the attached Agreement. 





CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

Executive Branch 

TO: Honorable City Council President Williams and City Council Members 

FROM: Sabrina Kirtz, HR Director 

DATE: September 16, 2021 

RE: Proposed Hazard Pay that will include essential and non
essential workers using funds from the American Rescue Plan 
(ARP) 

Earlier this year the federal government passed the American Rescue Plan C'ARP") 
to help address some of the economic fallout from the COVID_19 pandemic. From 
the ARP, the City of Pontiac has been granted $37.7 million in funding. Under the 
ARP, the funding can be used for a number of allowable purposes. One of these 
allowable purposes is for Hazard Pay for essential workers. 

For the City of Pontiac, the employees who continued to work during the time from 
when the pandemic and emergency was first declared back in March 2020. To help 
compensate these essential employees, the Administration is proposing that a Hazard 
Pay bonus of $2000 be provided to employees. The bonus would be a one-time 
bonus that would cover current employees. For any employee that started after the 
pandemic started, the amount of the bonus would be prorated based on the 
employee's start date. 

WHEREAS, City of Pontiac has been awarded $37.7 million in funding from the 
American Rescue Plan (ARP); AND 

WHEREAS, one of the allowable expenses under the ARP guidelines is for hazard pay 
to essential workers; AND 

WHEREAS, City of Pontiac employees had worked consistently throughout the 
COVID-19 pandemic beginning in March 2020 to June 2021 which had involved 
increased risk due to the pandemic; AND 

WHEREAS, City of Pontiac employees are essential employees and it is the City's 
desire to provide them with hazard pay to provide additional compensation for their 
work during the pandemic; AND 

NOW THERFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Pontiac workers be provided with 
hazard pay from the City's ARP funds to the employees and for the amounts detailed 
in the attached document. 





GMIIGIARMARCO, MULLINS & HORTON, P.C. 
ATTORNEYS AND COUNS·ELORS AT LAW 

TO: 

FROM: 

CC: 

DATE: 

RE: 

ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED MEMORANDUM 

Mayor Deirdre Waterman 
City Council 

George A. Contis, Esq. 

John Clark, Esq. and Anthony Chubb, Esq. 

September 15, 2021 

Hollywood Street- Proposed Conveyance of one-half of Vacated Hollywood Street 
from Racer Trust to the City 

Earlier this year, Rick Zablocki, the Chief Tax Officer and Director of Operations for the 

Racer Trust I Racer Properties LLC 1 met with Councilwoman Mary Pietila, to discuss, among other 

things, the potential conveyance by the Racer Trust its one-half of vacated Hollywood Street back to 

the City. By way of background, a portion of Hollywood Street between Mansfield and Kennett 

Streets abutting Lots 80, 81, 109, 141 and 142 Buena Heights Subdivision (as well as a public alley 

abutting Lots 69-80 (inclusive), 142-146 (inclusive)) were vacated by Council in a resolution 

adopted December 18, 1985 and recorded In Liber 8989, Page 69, Oakland County Records. 2 The 

vacated portion of Hollywood Street are parts of Tax Parcels 14-17-374-003 and 14-20-130-018. 3 

It appears that the Racer Trust is preparing to sell its property in the immediate vicinity and 

would prefer to sell the property to a third party without the vacated portion of Hollywood Street. 

As part of its proposed conveyance of its on-half of the vacated portion of Hollywood Street 

to the City, it provided the City Attorney's office with a proposed quit claim deed for its vacated 

one-half of Hollywood Street, a Title Insurance Commitment and Legal Descriptions4 all of which 

have been.reviewed and approved. 

1 These entities were formed as part of the 2009 General Motors Bankruptcy to take title to General Motors properties 
that were not going to be pait of General Motors' post-bankrnptcy operations. 
2 A copy of the Resolution is attached as Exhibit "A" to this memorandum. 
3 The vacated portions of Hollywood Street are depicted on the attached Exhibit "B." Please note this was an image 
generated by The Racer Trnst HOWEVER, it misidentifies the County as Genesee instead of Oakland. 
4 All of which are attached, respectively, as Exhibits "C," "D," and "E." 



Memorandum 
September 15, 2021 
Page2 

The issue for Council debate and consideration is whether it is beneficial for the City to 

accept the conveyance of the vacated portion of Hollywood Street from the Racer Trust and as an 

accommodation to Racer. I would be pleased to discuss these items with you at the Study Session 

scheduled for Tuesday, September 21 st
. 



CITY OF PONTIAC CITY COUNCIL 

RESOLUTION REGARDING ACCEPTANCE OF QUIT CLAIM DEED FROM 
RACER PROPERTIES LLC FOR ITS HALF OF THE VACATED PORTION OF 

HOLLYWOOD STREET 

AT A REGULAR meeting of the Pontiac City Council of the City of Pontiac, Michigan, 

held at Pontiac City Hall on __________ , 2021, the following resolution was 

offered by __________ and supported by _________ _ 

WHEREAS, in 1984 this Council by Resolution vacated certain portions of Hollywood 
Street with title with the east and west halves of the vacated portion of the street being added to 
the legal descriptions of the immediately adjacent property owners. 

WHEREAS, the east portion of vacated Hollywood Street was added to the legal 
description of property owned by General Motors. 

WHEREAS, the property owned by General Motors were conveyed to racer Properties, 
LLC in 2009 as part of its bankruptcy reorganization with the understanding that these parcels 
were not necessary for General Motors' post-bankruptcy operations 

WHEREAS, .Racer Properties no longer has a need for the vacated portion of Hollywood 
Street and desires to quit claim it back to the City. 

WHEREAS, the Office of the City Attorney was provided with a proposed quit claim 
deed, title insurance commitment and other related documents all of which have been reviewed 
and approved; and 

WHEREAS, it is for the mutual benefit of the City and future owners of Racer Properties 
LLC site to accept the quit claim deed from Racer Properties, LLC. 



NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED as follows: 

1. The City is authorized to accept the quit claim deed from Racer Properties, LLC for its 
vacated portion of Hollywood Street.. 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL, Pontiac, Michigan, this __ day of 
, 2021. ---------

AYES: -------------

NAYS: -------------

I, Garland Doyle, Interim Clerk of the City of Pontiac, hereby certify that the above 
Resolution is a trne copy and accurate copy of the Resolution passed by the City Council of the 
City of Pontiac on __________ , 2021. 

GARLAND DOYLE, Interim City Clerk 

Dated: , 2021 ----------

2 



$1\\TE Qt, l!!ctO!Wll 
ss 

covm oF o,,Kl-\liO 
ti~f of Pont14e 

EXHIBIT "A" 

21 

'85 l'.W 21 16126 

,iJ-- --, 
', r~ 1 • ,_~ .... 

fj 5 

I, fl,tUPETJfil, FU:TCttfJ\; l;lort. of tho f.(w of rantbc, llichl1an, do h•r•br 
~•rtify thnt thu follt>1'i~J h a t:ruo 'capy,.of l\<>•nl4tiao «•• $S?•84, o.dOpted 
hy tho- ~ontJn.; CU:i' Coun¢H' ot ~ R~X\')~r 11:•UnK hd4 To•,~~y Q,~..,bor la, !!UM. 

118y ColJll~llpn,on ~lllatt,, suppo~tbd' by COW\cilpnsan tlillb, 
hn•r•~, t.he Pontiac 1:liy CouncU 1$. ln r•c~l~t of !h<1 Pon•l~c 
Clty l'bm1lng Co=is•iun•s Report And ff•f=••d~tlDiji ~•", 

M,ereu, th~ fo.ntl11c City Ci:11.nt\!U ftnd, elmt th~ Y><•tion oi' ~aid 
pnrtion of HOlly!{oa.l Strnet nnd uhf PubUq All•l' w!U not prey<:nt 
""•••dlillity to tllu ahottlnx propnt:y 01t11cra; and, 

~'horttAI; t.h" C\ty ClJundt find• thnt th" tytc~•••d vocntion DI sdld 
pilt,tic11 of l'.oU)'lll)ad .Stroc nm! said. ~ubllc All•Y wU! n~t confliCJ'. 
with th• i:lt,Y'• ••lb~t•il t:inJ I/••-•• Masti,r 'rho"'ukhf>n 'Vl~n. 

/!o;r, Tho;do/o, ~ It PuolV•d, thoc • roquot to vactil• ••IJ portio,n 
o( l!ollt"••d li<rnt llnd ... Id l'ublic All<)' l«rally dose'tlb~d u being, 

5411) ~•>-tiM o!:'LfJ!i!)l,'QOd StdH hlit\/00 ~11,•fle\d StTdoit dn,,I K~nnHt 
!load, -for. n. ~hun~e ~f .>20 r .. t, abottlng Lots .§.ll...JU, 109, Ml, 
at\~ 14.i olitl Jo.id 10-(,,ot Publ.ic ~lni pnr.>llol to Kennon Rond 
ubuiting I.on 6? thl'\l bU and lors M2 thr,u_J:!!..'!.f.,1\!ollll Vt•u lld'Shu , 
Sobdivhlon, • ., T~tc>.,fod ln .l,jbi!T 14 Of Pl;tts, v•s• ;:; , Cl,:y oi! ,to~J 
ronU•~• a.l<tand o:.um:y, 1!1cln11an,&!lr ,,t/~.17-/J:,,l; ,tJo(:) P,.: 
h ht<reby:Approvod. by the ~ontfac City Coundl on thi• '!Sth l>•Y or 
iloc~l:lber l~M, i:ondni;entc on the £oUo~lng conditions: 

.a •. AU· 83~Di!flt rlghr: !.h:Ji.t Do T~tainod' ro-r fµttJJ"l! m:il~l1':fi3r\~~ 
~f'· utilities. 

b. Thu Applicant sh.ti ~ori•i:ruct • fon~• alone th• •outhdm 
b<lm!daf)' ~f llln,lielJ, Sh:eet t<t prevent v•hir.utar trdfi<: '"'•••ont 
o~tq llan$Udd ~tnet """"' th<> $Ubj~ct $ltu. 

"• ,J\11 inJff•S$ nnd ugran to '111d fro;:, the 0£(-strqn puking 
area sh..i.U. ·be nrt-rk-r-eJ to Kennett 'Ro~d pnd B:11Jwin Avo-nuc:, 

Be It furth•r l«!•olved, th:lt i:h City llf rontiac, P11r•11ant to th 
provhtons .of 5\ .. te Lw· (,\e,:, 188, Public .Acts of 1967, Section 257), 
tor th~ U$~ And ben~flt of th• City ~f Pnnthlc, and .iny Jaw(ul!y 
tr:nn~hhid lltlJHy e<>r>pony olnin& L!l'loni;~ l~ thu City hi\Vln& the 
~l11ht '" u;o v,u\ilk ~Jahts-<lC•wny,, thoill' ,uec""'""'• liconsoo$, 
"" n,sl.go$ ~!Id lh••" •11oou uod ~"'l'l~Y••,, <!~~ l;:~~l)y re,orvo --1, ti/I 
n11 e~;....,11t foT JM>U'- utili~y l"lfl!•~~,. 1:'11r lllo b~o~U~ of tht 

.... 



,.,. 

21 fj 5-
um8989r.u 70 

busin•s~ in· th~ ,!;it)' h~vin; th~ :dtht to u;e pu!lllc tlB~t••of-!1/JY, 
Shina the,. t_h• r[gh~ to con•truct and_ ,..lntnln, •ml tg rop-,i.,, 
r6Mve_, rllpl-?c.o,. j~~~~o, ~ml e-ntiirgo M\i(u1s 1 ~rn(n-,;, or water or 
ps "'1\ll,f 1 ca\JI~•. 11iros1 conJUlts, \!Ph~ a_nd taw•r•, ond Qthor 
~\l!>Vorn, ;ind ~l.l t!io p•cii,,a,y. ~ponen.ncq~ ,tl\qrato, includlnJ 
trocc~. S!>i'~, anchou,, rw,holu and tr<tn,filnoeu, Bn_d i:co ene,ir 
upon. odd ptopnty ;,t.anr t l'l•. for th,; PUi'pilie of con•tlilctlng, 
,._,int~llting, tcj>d1'l111i, t<:IIDYI•&~ repl4olng, ltp11lvlnu

1 
<nhrnln, 

or- tnspr¢H\1!1 t~=•, nod to trlei or ro,wvo any t•••~ or l""lt, thnt 
1:1:iy ic n1>y tl"• intotf~,., wit~ 91, tlltd~••n t~ lotarfµru wltft ,nlJ 
Pul>lk lltHHt ln~t:>!htion. ·~dd ·~••rvea t~•-~1>11t $hull Cl)'{Or 
i\U.o! the nb11V1< vacatod alley. · · 

Ila It furthn ~••olvvd, tlln no h1,1IIJing ·o~ alruuturo. ih>ll he 
t>ln•~d ovoi- or up~i, $.\l_d ~~sec•ni ~lthout th• •~pr•H eons.nt 
ot ,h, C~ty of Nnt.hc' "'1J <iOY bll(vllr tr"'1chhod ud Hty 
<c"P••Y dolnt ·im:J:inus ln tho City having tho right to_ u,e plibllc 
rlght-of•way, ~i- th•ir •w:~ssots, llc~nstts, .o-t o.sslifis, S:irh 
Cbrt•~nt ~r th~ <".tty bf Vonth'lc •MH bo obuin<!d ln writing <?¢1:r 
the Engitieerint llep•rt..,nt .. of' the Cl?.)' Hter $uh~fon •of <:Oll{'leU 
pl.tns !or th~ pr<1po$od conllrruct!nn, .tnd _the 1"•out1"« ol • building 
per.nit for ;my l!µcj\ ~\llldfoil: or stn1oture shulL no~ constitute such 
oonsant, 'Tliq ftOAC,iua Dr, Umit~J U50 or tht, tt•••eht :till,ht by'the 
hci1~ •• ~ ther ... £ Sholl- not prc,rtot later usi: thortof to the full 
<"~tent pt<>i•lded thadrt, 

-B1!, I, Funl>~r ile~olvod, that.a cop)' ot thh ruolution Ji•• rcco'tdcd 
llitb th~ R•zHtu of Duod• for O•klond Cm.uaj aqd son~ to tho St,t• 
·1:cca1ur~i;-. 

S(stu~::-,. 

Pl4J111!.Jl~ Tllyt.fon 
JS l!. !l<lroO: · 
l'otitu~, l!l 48058 

I/ 

-



Vacated Hollywood Avenue 

Vacated St. Louis Avenue 

----- l•;xisting Fence 

1!11 Existing Gate 

EXHIBIT "B" 



EXHIBIT "C" 

QUIT CLAIM DEED 

RACER PROPERTIES LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Granter"), having an 
address of 1505 Woodward Avenue, Suite 200, Detroit, Michigan 48226, for and in 
consideration of the sum of TEN DOLLARS and No/100, paid by the CITY OF PONTIAC, a 
Michigan municipality ("Grantee"), having an address of 47450 Woodward Avenue, Pontiac, 
Michigan 48342, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, and pursuant to the Order of the 
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York entered on March 29, 
2011, in Case No. 09-50026 (REG) styled In re: Motors Liquidation Company, f/k/a General 
Motors Corporation, et al., by these presents does QUIT CLAIM unto Grantee all of Grantor's 
rights, title, and interests in and to (a) that certain tract of land, as more particularly described 
in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference for all purposes, (b) 
strips and gores between such tract of land and any abutting properties whether owned or 
claimed by deed, limitations or otherwise, and whether or not held under fence by Granter, (c) 
any land lying in or under the bed of any creek, stream, or waterway or any highway, avenue, 
street, road, alley, easement, or right-of-way, open or proposed, in, on, across, abutting, or 
adjacent to such tract of land, (d) improvements, buildings, or fixtures located on such tract of 
land, and (e) mineral, water, oil, gas, solar, and wind rights relating to all or any part of such 
tract of land, together with all of Grantor's rights, claims, titles, and interests in and to any and 
all appurtenances, rights, easements, and rights-of-way, filings, or other interests, including, 
without limitation rents and profits accruing after the effective date hereof, related to or 
benefiting such tract of land (collectively, the "Property"). 

The Granter further grants to the Grantee the right to make all divisions available to the 
Property under Section 108 of the Land Division Act, Act No. 288 of the Public Acts of 1967, as 
amended. 

The Property may be located within the vicinity of farmland or a farm operation. 
Generally accepted agricultural and management practices which may generate noise, dust, 
odors, and other associated conditions may be used and are protected by the Michigan Right to 
Farm Act. 

Exempt from real estate transfer tax pursuant to Michigan Compiled Laws§§ 207 .505(c) 
and 207.526(c). 

Dated this ___ day of __________ , 2021. 

(Signature and notary appear on following pages) 



Signature Page to Quit Claim Deed 

RACER PROPERTIES LLC, 
a Delaware limited liability company 

By: Revitalizing Auto Communities Environmental 
Response Trust, Sole Member of RACER 
Properties LLC 

By: EPLET, LLC, acting solely in its capacity as 
Administrative Trustee of Revitalizing Auto 
Communities Environmental Response Trust 

By: 
ELLIOTT P. LAWS, not individually, but acting 
solely in his capacity as Managing Member 

DISTRICT/STATE OF _______ ) 
) SS: 

CITY/COUNTY OF _________ ) 

On the __ day of _______ , 2021 before me a Notary Public for the 
District/State and City/County aforesaid, personally appeared ELLIOTT P. LAWS, who 
acknowledged himself to be the Managing Member of EPLET, LLC, the Administrative Trustee of 
the REVITALIZING AUTO COMMUNITIES ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSE TRUST (the "Trust"), Sole 
Member of RACER PROPERTIES LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and that he, being 
authorized to do so, executed the foregoing Quit Claim Deed, on behalf of RACER PROPERTIES 
LLC, not individually, but solely in his capacity as Managing Member of EPLET, LLC, 
Administrative Trustee of the Trust, its Sole Member, for the purposes therein contained by 
signing his name. 

WITNESS my hand and seal the day and year aforesaid. 

Drafted by: 

Carl P. Garvey 
General Counsel 

Notary's Signature: ___________ _ 
Notary's Name: ____________ _ 
Notary Public, District/State of ______ _ 
City/County of ____________ _ 
My Commission Expires: _________ _ 
Acting in the County of: _________ _ 

Revitalizing Auto Communities Environmental Response Trust 
1505 Woodward Avenue, Suite 200 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 

When recorded return to: 

TBD 



EXHIBIT A 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 

Land situated in Township 3 North, Range 10 East, Sections 17 and 20, in the City of 
Pontiac, County of Oakland, State of Michigan, and more particularly described as follows: 

Commencing at the intersection of the South line of West Tennyson Avenue (60' wide) and 
the East line of Hollywood Avenue (50' wide), said intersection also being the Northwest 
corner of Lot 202 of Buena Vista Heights Subdivision, as recorded in Uber 24, Page 27 of 
Plats, Oakland County Records; thence South 00°03'18" West a distance of 321.68 feet to 
the Point of Beginning; thence North 86°58'39" West a distance of 25.03 feet to the 
centerline of Hollywood Avenue (50' wide); thence along said centerline, South 00°03'18" 
West a distance of 299.18 feet to the intersection of the centerline of vacated Hollywood 
Avenue and the centerline of vacated St. Louis Avenue (60' wide), extended; thence along 
said centerline of vacated St. Louis Avenue, South 86°58'39" East a distance of 25.03 feet; 
thence North 00°03'18" East a distance of 299.18 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

Portion of Tax Parcel Identification Number 14-17-384-003. 

Containing 7,480 square feet of land, more or less. 

And also, 

Land situated in Township 3 North, Range 10 East, Section 20, in the City of Pontiac, County 
of Oakland, State of Michigan, and more particularly described as follows: 

Commencing at intersection of the West line of Baldwin Avenue (90' wide) and the 
centerline of vacated St. Louis Avenue (60' wide); thence along said centerline, North 
86°58'39" West a distance of 659.35 feet to the intersection of said centerline and the East 
line of Hollywood Avenue (50' wide), said intersection also being the Point of Beginning; 
thence continuing along said centerline, extended, North 86°58'39" West a distance of 
25.03 feet; thence along the centerline of Hollywood Avenue, South 00°03'18" West a 
distance of 56.80 feet to the North line of Kennett Road (60' wide); thence along said North 
line, South 59°45'07" East a distance of 28.92 feet; thence North 00°03'18" East a distance 
of 70.05 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

Portion of Tax Parcel Identification Number 14-17-130-018. 

Containing 1,586 square feet of land, more or less. 

The above-described lands being a portion of Hollywood Avenue vacated by City Council 
resolution on December 18, 1984, recorded in Uber 8989, Page 69, Oakland County 
Clerk/Register of Deeds. 



I •First American 

Commitrnent 

EXHIBIT "D" 

ALTA Commitment for Title Insurance 
!SSUE'.DfiY 

First Am~lcan. TltleTnsurtmc;e Comp aw 

COMMITMENT .FPR TiTLEJN.SURAN GE 
Isstielil3V 

FifWT /JIV/ElUCAN TITLE I.NSURANCE C(J!VfPANY. 
NOTICE 

lMPORTAN T"READ CAREFULLY, THIS CQMMITMEN.t LS AN OFFER. TQ 188.JE ONE .QR MORE Tl1LE1N8JRANCE 
PtJLrCIES, ALL CLAiMS OR REMEDIES SJIJGHT AGAINST THE COMPANY iNVOLVlf{G THE i::ONTENTtiF THIS 
COMMITivlENTORT!-!E POLICY Ml.JST 11,E BA9=0 OOLE\:Y lNCONTRAC'T, . 

THl$COMM1TMENTTS NOT ANAB\:JTRACT QFTITLI=, REPORT CF TH\= c;QND/110N OF TrTLE, LE:GAL OPINION, 
OPJNION QFTlTC.E, OR QTHER. REPRE;SENTATION OF 1HE STATVS OF TITLE THE .PROCEDURE;SUEEO l:\Y THE 
i:cO/vlPANY TO DETERMif'JE lN9JRAEltljTV: OF THE TITLEi)NCLl,JbJNG Af'!'f EIY>.RCH ,!>.ND E:XAMfNAT10N', ,i\RE 
PROPRIETARY TO THE COMPANY, WERE PERFORME:P, 9'.)~E:LYFOR THE BENl=FIT OF 'THE GO/vlPANY, Atstp CREATE NO 
E)<:TR,b,CNlTRACTUALllABJ~lWTOANY PERSONi'.lNQ:.UpJ~H;;.A PROPOSEQINSIJRE:P, 

THE COMP .6.NY'S OBLIGATION. UNDER THLSCOMMiTMEt-ff lSTO fSSUE A POLICY TO APROPOEED INSURED 
IDENTIFIED IN $H~DULE A iN ACCORDANtE wiirl THE. TERMS AND PRovisroNsoF tHls coMMiTJviENT,. THE 
COMPANY HAS NO LIABILITY OR OBUGATION INVOLVING THE CONTENT Of THIS COMMITMENT TO ANY OTHER 
PERSON, 

COMMITMENT TOISSUE POLICY 

, S-ibject :tp, ih~ No~ite; l:3chi,idul~ B1. PiirJ:1-R!'lqllirlc!ri)ehts.; :S=hedule B, Part llsEKceptldJ7SJi:!ndthe Corrlniltmeht CoYJqltlon~ 
Fi~tAmer/c?J'] Title Ins11.rance Companjl, a; NebrclSk<i C:orporation (the °Compant), ~otrtmltsto le,((Ug u-,g P□ lii;:y 
i;!Cc□rd lhg to thl3 tErti)l, and.p(Ovisi□os of 1hJe, forrth1lttrteht This Co.mrnltrnent 1$ effective as. of the commitment Date 
shq½n U, sthedule A fur ead1 Pol!~y described ln 8:hed(jlE1 A, 6nl\1 Whi:!h the. G□mpany has ehti:lred \n S:hedule A both \he 
~peiJJfled ddllar '.:aifnbunt .is the Proposed Pdllcy Arnount <1hd. the nam~ bf the Propo~ed IhsUlfed, 

Ifall of the Scher.iule B, P.3rt I-Reqt1lt:emei1ts. ~ave not been· (netw1thu1 $l)t rnori:ths•after tlie c:ommltmentDal13, th(€! 
Commitmentterrnit1atas 1iJ,d th!"f ll;pn1pahf'll [lahliity ,antl obllgatl□ri end, 

Firs, Amencar1 T/rle 11,surance aampar,y 

/½ ,fi-.f&t1;;,L/r~ 

Ifthis jack~ was creal:ed,elajronip'llly, ltronstihltes al"! ori!linai document 

Tn!s pa<je/s m/'f apari' cf" :W.6 MTA@O/tlJti;l/ment for rlffe/~UfiJ(fCeJs9JedbvfirstAmerlca,.1{it/eln!il/rance Oin1p&1y, rh{s Cai1milll)ent is no/: 
v~d 1V/th<iUt the Nott.ci; the UJ(ll/llltinetitto Im1e f'o/lc/lj the C:o/nm.llrnenf CiJn(#ltons; Schediefe/,; Schedi!/e. Q, PartJ-Requfiements) schedo/e. lJ, P/!;t 
lI-Excep/lans;. iJnd a counter-signature. by the Cimpanv c. i/:s Jsf;!J/ng.aqent ihatmay b'ein e'edronlr: form, 

J:opyrig~t ?IJ0.6·2.0lli Anle.ricwi L11rldTitle Assodal:ion All rll'1ts reservi,:d. 
The use of this Fnrrn (or ;my deriyaUve /hereof) i~ restricl.lid l:o,:iLTA lic~n~es a1d ALTA .meii)ber~ In gmd st<'llding a; ot l:hedilte of use .. PII i,,.llier Uses 
are prohibited, Re~tinted under license lrorri the Arnei'lcan Land Title Associailai, · , 

ctm 503.□026 (9.-27-17) agi 1 tf 10 !'L 'f A Cornmltn1eilt fer Title lnsurq1ce (8-H6) 
fv11£hl 



COMMITME;NT CONDITIONS 

1, DEFtNITIONS 
(a) "Knowledge" or ''Known": 'Actual or Imputed knowledge,. but not constructive noti<:e irnparl:ed by the Public Records. 
(b) "L<lncl": The landdesoibed ill Schedule A and affixed improvements that by law constitute real property, The hmn ''Land" 

does not lnciude r)f\Y property beyond the li11es of th1-: ar~ described in Schedule A, nor any right, title, fntei'est, esta~e, or 
easement in abutting :itrf!ets, rQilds, <111enues, alleys, lanes, ways, or waterways, but this does not modify or limit tha extent 
that a right of access to ,md from the Land is to be Insured by the Policy. 

(c) ''Mortgage": A mortgage, deed of trust, or other security instrument, including one evidenced by electronic means authorized 
by law. 

( d) "Polley-'!: E9ch ~ontract of tit!e insurance, In a ,fo1m adQpted by the American Land Title Asso:::Jatjon1 iss\.fed or to be issued, by 
the Cc>inpany pursuant to thts t.:xnmitment. 

( e) ".ProR<Jsed rnsu/ed": Each per.son iderM\ed In Schedule A ilS the Proppsed Insured of e<1ch Policy to be isued pur,,uant to this. 
Commitment: . . .. . . 

(f} 1'Pl:opc,sed Polfc:y Amotirit": Each dollar amount specified In Schedule A.as the Proposed Polity Amount of each Policy. to be 
Issued· pursv,mt to this Ccmmi\ment, 

(g) ''Publjc Records'1: R.erords establis.hed under st<1te statutes at the Commitment Date for the purpose of Imparting constructive 
notice or mat1;l:rs rel11tlng to real property to purchasers for value and without Knowledge. 

(h) '"ritle": The. ~$tate or interest describecl In 5\:he(lule A, 

2. lf all of the Schedule a, Part Tc"'Requirementi; have not l:leen met Wit.hin the time period specified ih the commitment to Issue 
Policy, this Commitment termini:ltes and the Company's liability and obligaUon end. 

3. The Comp;iny•~ liabiflty and. obligaoon Js lfmlti;d by and this Commitment i$ riot valid without 
(a) the Notlce; 
(b) the Comrniimenttp Issue Policy; 
(c} tJ;ie C1J111rnitinerit Conditions; 
(d) Schedule A; 
( e) Schedule S, ~rt I;_R,;quirements;. 
(f} Schedule B, Part 1£-ExcepUons 

4. <:QMPANY'S RIGHT TO AMENb 
The Company miiy amend thls Commitment at any .time. rf the Company amends this Commitment to add. a defect, lien, 
en~ornbrance, adverse claim, or other matter (/;.corded In the Public Recqrds Prior to the Commitment D~te, any li<1billty of the 
Cctnpariy ls limited by Ccrnrriitrnent Condition' S, Th.e Company shall not be liable far ,rny other amendment to this Commitment. 

5, UMlTATIONS OFUABIUTY 
(a) The Company's liablllty under Commitment Condition A Is limited to the Proposed lnsu.red's ;ictual expense incurred in the 

interval bet\Neen the company's delivery to the Proposed Insured.of the Commitment and the delivery of the amended 
Commitment, resulting from the Proposed lnsured's good faith reliance to: · 
(i) comply with the Schedule .13., Part I-Requirements; 
(11) eliminate, wit.h the Company's written consent, any Schedule B, Part.Il-E>;ceptions; or 
(111) acquire the Title i;ir ~t~te tl1e Mortg;ige cavered by thli; Commitment 

(b) The.company shall not.be llable under CQmmilment Condition !i(i!) if the Propo~ Insured requested the amendment or hat:! 
Knowledge of the matter and did not notify the Company about It ·in writing. 

(c) Thi; Company will only have !ll;lb!lity un.der Commitment Condition 4 If the Proposed insured would riot have lnamed the . 
expensi; had the Cqnn,ltment indµqed the aqded rne1tter when the Cornrnitment was first delivered to th!'! Proposed Insured, 

(d) · Tha Company!s liability Qli3il 11ot eKcaed the le;ser of lhf: Proposed Insured's o1dual expen~ Incurred in good filith and 
described in O.:>mm~mentGonditiQhs S{a){i) through S(a)(lli}or t11e Proposed Polley Amount 

(e) The Company shaU notbe liable fortne conti;nt of the Transaction Identification Data, if any, 
(f) In 110 event shall the Company be obligated lo Issue the. Polity referred to in this.Commitment unless all of the Schedufe B, 

Pijrt l-Requi[eme()~ have b,een met to the wtisfac;\ion of the Company. 
( g) In any ev1mt1 the Company's l(abillty Is l!mltflq by the terms aod provisions of the Policy. 

7/Jispage is only .a pi:Jlt of .a 201 fiALTA(ii'.• Commilme!Jt fw 17fll' Jnsµrm(f' /;stied t,yFlr,tAmerican r,1111 lnsu/71/lc,i Con1pany. This Comm!tmen( Is not 
y;,t/d wt/flout the N.ollte; the L"<1mmltmeflt to fS>l!e Polley/ the Cpmm!U(lent Condit/M::; Si:hedu/e A; s,hedt.Jle e, Part I-Requ/rw,mis; SchecMe 8, P.wt 
ll•fxceplfons; and a rount~r•signaiure by the Coni/NH,Y ar /ti /,suing .agent that may be In eledronk (orrn, 

Copyrlgh~ ioo6•20l!i Ameri~ao uu1d Tit~ As•o~h1tio11, All rights reserved, 

The use of this Form (or lilY denva,tive theri:ol) ls m.lrided to ALTA licensees and ALTA members in good standing a,; of the date of use. All other uses 
l'!re prohibited. Repn,fred under license frcm the AmeticM L;ind Tide Assoclauon. 

orrn 5030026 (9'27-17) ge 2 of 10 ALTA Commitment f;;>,11Ue In.urance (.8-H6 
Michiqac 



6, LIABILITY OF THE COMPANY MUST IJE BASED ON THIS COMMITMENT 
(a) Only a Proposed lns.ured Identified· in Schedule A1 and no other person, may make a claim under this C_ommitmetil. 
(b) Any claim must be based in contract and must be restricted solely to the terms and provisions of this Commitment. 
( c) Until the Policy Is issued, thii. Commitment, as last revi~d1 Is the• exclusive and entire agreement be~n the parties With 

1-espect to the subject matter of this Commitment ,ind super$1l<les aU prior commitment negotiations, representations, and 
pr0P9$alS of any ldrtd, whether written or oral, express or implled, relating to the subject matte1· of this Commitment. 

( d) The deletion or mpdific;ition of any Schedule-B, Part 11-Ex<:eption does not constitute an agreement or obligation to provide 
coverage beyond the terms ~nd provisions of this Commitment or the Pollc;y. 

(e) Any amendment or endorsement to this Commitment must be in writing and authenticated by a person authorized by the 
Company .. 

(f) When the Polley (s Issued; all liability and oblJgat[on under this Commitment will end and the Company's only liability will be 
· urider the Policy. · · · 

7, IF THIS COMMITMENT HAS ar:rn J;SSUEO av AN lSSlHNG.AGf:NT 
The issutng agent is the Company's agent only for th.e l!mited ·purpose.of [$ulng title Insurance comrnitm.ents and policies. The 
15SUing agent is not the C,mipany's agent for the purpose of prQvlding dosing or Sl?ttlement 51;rvlces. 

8. PRO•FORMAPOUCY 
The OJmpahY may provide, atthe ri';quest of a PropW...d Insured, a pro•forma policy !IIUstrnting the. cover~ge that the company 
may provide, A pro-forma policy neitj1er reflect$ the status ofTrt:le iit the time that the pro-forrna policy 1s delivered to a Proposed 
Insured, nor rs it a ccrnmltment to Insure. 

9, ARSITAATION 
The Polley contains illi arbitration ~I au$<?. All atbitrable rnatters when. the Proposed Polley Amount is less th,m the certain dollar 
atnoont set forth li'i an}! -app!ica/;le N pftrafio() c/JIJse, shall be arbitrated at the option of either \he Company Qt t11e Pt·qp~d 
Insured as the exdusrve temedy of the parties, A Proposed Insured may review a copy of the arbitration rules at 
htt~:ltwww,a lta .org/a_rbitration. 

nus p<l!)e is only ii p11rt of a WJ o ALrA,g) C(!fllmiiment fer Tttle lns//R!l1(f! /,sued byf/rst Ameri(an Tillelnsutance Company. This C,1/llmltmeot Is n,;f 
valicl Wl/hou/ the Nol//:e; /he comm/tmi;llt to Issue l'ol/i;y,· the Cpmmilmeof CondiUom;; Schedule A; Schedule B, Part l·Reqt.!{ron~&; Schedule 8, Part 
ll-E,1,;epbo11s; and a (oun/f!r•sigfl<!/ure byth;; <.:omp?1ny or its /,suing ,#Jent that may be In electrrmic form, 
Copyrlghi iOO<i·2011SAmerican I.and Titk, .Asso~h1tioll, 411 rights reserv_ed, 
The l15e of this Fom (or lfiY denvativa there;,!) is ~.bitted to Al TA l!cemees ;u,d ALTA members in good standing as of the date pf use, All other uses 
~re prohibited. Reprl11ted under license from the Amerlcm l.i>nd Titie Association, 

orm 5030026 (!J-.27•17) ge 3 ol lO ALTA Commitment fi>rTIUe Inrunnce(S-1-16 
Mlchiqac 



\ Fi.rst American 

.Schedule A 

ALTA CommitmentforTitle Insurance 
ISSUED BY 

FirstAmerio:i.n Titleinsuranc~ COmparw 

.Trc1nsactltm Idenf:i-ll'cafian l)atc1for n:iference ar,/Jt:-
'Issuing Office: First American Title Insurance, company National commerciabSlrv lees 
Michigan Offic:e:'900 Wilshire b rive I Sllite ~60j 

Troy, Mr 48084. 
(24B)45l'h-noo 

corilmli;n:ientNo,; Ncs~ 10SO;:l70•MIGH: 
Property .Address: 900Bafctwli, Avenue, Pontiac, ML48340 
Revl?ion ~Jo; i $/~6{2021 kr 

SCHEDULE A 

1. Commltrnent Pate: January '.29; 2021 c1t7:i30 .1>M 

~; Polley I):) be Issued: 

(a) El ALT A® ownern Polic¥' ... 
ProposedJnsuredi Prospediye PUrchaser 
Proposed Polley Amount: $1,000,00 

\):i) :[! ALTA® Loan P61icy 
Proposedlnsured:None 
ProposedPoltc:y Amount: $0,ao 

(c) ,i:J ALTA® Policy 
ProposedltisLtred: 
Proposed Polity ./\mount: t 

3., The estam □r ititerest !("is the Land deid1bed or referred to ln this Commitment Is 

4, The Ti~le Is, at tl1e commitn1entDate1 vested in: RacefPn;iperties LLC, a.Qelaware llt:nited allabillty 
~ompany, pursuant to theideed recorded in Tiber 43570,Page 138, ,51sio Parcels 1 aid 2; . .a11d, 
General M61prs: corporatlon1 a Delaware ctorporatron1 .pursuant to. the dElecls recorded in Uber 1976, 
Page 100, Llber 4653; Pcige 393, Llbar4654, Pgge 3961 Liber 465.5, Page 121, Llbet 4732; Page 226, 
~s to Parcels 3- and 4 · · , · · · · 

5, The land.113 O~licrlbed .ii? fplloWs: 
'SEle S::hedule c attached heretq arid tncide a pc1rt hereof 

(Ni page Is Ci11V ii part cla 2(11611'..TA@C<;mllli./ment lbr.f/(/e l11SUra11ce,lswedby{lrst Ainetica{l !/tie Insurance Compa?y, This Ccv/mifll/ent iSllc>t · 
wJd 1vlthoU.f.~eNot/ce; .the Ccmmltm1Y1fto 1:i!iliePofir:r;Jhe c;M111ii{l/\ei/i'Cbf1ifl.t/of1s/ Schedvle A;.Schi!du/e Q, Part1°Requfre111ents; sched(J{e d, fl¥'( 
lf.E>iCT3{JOons; and a countat-!ignaturo by the C01pai//h!r ils Jsunrr a,:;ent that may he in eledroi1/c form, 
Copytight2il06-201~ lii:uerkan Larvl TitleAs!<odal;ion, Ail riilits reserVl!d, 
The use of this For/n (or anyderiya6ve.fhereof) is reslrided ID (ILTA.licenreesa-id ALTA member$ In groa Stf.flding as of tlie date of ure.'Pll allier uses 
<1re prohibited, Rer:tinl:ed undet license from the Alneiltanland Title Associatich, · · ' 

crm !;i030026 (9·ZN7) a~ 4 cf 10 ill. TA eommittoEOt fcr Title Insurq1ce(8-H6) 
Mlchl93n 



ALTACominitment for Title Insurance 
I FirstAmerican 

Schedule BI & BIi 
ISSUED.BY 

Corhtnitirf$ht No, i NC&-1,0508YO·MICH 

First Ametican:Title Ins-urah(:e Compa)y 

BOHEOUl+E B,.PART t 

Requirem~nts 

l, lni?f?roppsed 1tis.L1red mtJsthottfy the CompMY .ih writing ofthet1ame pf ariy partY,hot r13fe1ted ti:l in 
i:h(s l.:01nmitmentwhowlll obtain slh tnterest !ti 1he1 Land or who will make a loan onthe L,and; The 
compi'lhy · h1ay tben. m,ake addltiJJhal ReqU,lran1ent!'l pr. Exe:ept!ol1s, · · · 

;:: pay. the.agreed amount fur the estate or fntere?t to tie irrsur!;ll;I. 

3, P<!Y the preriiiymsJ lees1 and charges for the,poflcy \o \he Company. 

4, Ooc:~mehts, sali$fodoty' to the Cqr/lpany .that con\ley ihe TfiJe .o( cr.e.;ita t,he M6rtgage to be 1n~ured, 
or bpfh1 must be properly authorirnd1 ei<8cuted; dellver.ed, .. ~nd recorded In the Pub It~ Reco1'ds1 

5, Pay unpal:l !:axes and assessrnenfst.inless.shown as. paid, 

2020 Wi,\ErTaxes Tri the arn©l.lflt of $"23,9i are i'iCT PA1D 
2020 summer taxes inihe ammmt of$710i4B are PAlb. 

TAXPARCl::LWENtIFI:tATION: 
flroper.ty Address: W l(enn~tt1Pobtiac, Ml . 
T.3~ Pa.reel No.: 64++~20° 180°018: (Parcel 1) 
Special ,l>.ssessmentsl None 

2020 Wh!srTaxes fh the e_moLrnt of$184,d4 are. NOT PAID 
2020 Sun1mer Taxes i)1.lhe arnollntof $5,458 ,60 are PAID 

TAX PARCEL IDENTIFICATIO~H 
Property ,Address: l:\aldwln! Pontiac,. MI 
Tax parcelNo,i 64°14-f7.;384-003 (?a1c:els2, 3 and4) 
Special Assessments: None 
NOTEl The tax Assessors, legal description Is .inconsistelit l'(Jllii,lhei insul'E)d,leg;-il desdlption, 

l'he amoynts shown as unp,3ld do hot include collection lees, penalties, 11iterests, .sewer /w,ater 
'~r\ilcEJ c\wgi,s., pleas(;! verify l:lefbre closing, 

Notice: If taXEJs1.aS$essment orwater/!iBW8r are t.cd::ie paicj at time df closing, .. n orig [n.;11 ta){ ,~nd 
'WalEr p HI must b.e presented; ' . . . . 

rJiJs paqeJs cnfVa part d'a 20.(6 Ji, TA@ U/lllhllin/t3llt for Tlife lhSJ/rance li!1.iildbyfirst/!mence,.1 Title ln5llrance Gm!piNIY, l /1/s '(cmliiltn1ent isJJ{lt, 
v.Ha 1t1thoilt the Notice; the. UJ(l/f/1/i:mfYlf fo JS!;/Je f'o/ir:y; tne Crinmff11,1enf &nrfl,(ions: $chedr.✓eA; $c}Jfi!ule EJ, Part PRequir1;ments; Fchedu/.e a, P;¥:t 
JI-Excepiicns; and a ciJunter-dgtialrJro by the CiYi1panv dt il'l /sl;rjnij i!IJ.Mf tnatmav be in dectronlc form, 

topyright 20()6-2016 M~icarila.rd Title Assodatlim. All ri!titsreiiervi,d, 
The lJS; of this FDrm. (or any dii1iyati~\; Jnereof) is restrii:l\id ID ALTA-lfc~nrees md ALTA meinber~ In good staiding <ff of the date ,jf ure .• ·/lJI olher iJS€5 
ate prohibited, Rer:rinted undfr license rrom the Arnairanlarid Title Associatlai, · · · 

m ;5030026 (9-27-n) a93 s;cf to i>l TA Commitmen1 fcr Title 1nsllfc11ce: (s+ 16) 
, . . . Mifhl n 



6. 

10. 

14. 

15. 

18. 

Submit to the Company evidence of good standing of Racer Properties LlC, Issued by the appropriate 
offiae of its state of domicile, 

With respect to Racer Prop~es LLC, we will require a full copy of the operating agreement and any 
amendmimts, tcigetller With an affidavit signed by the managing member{s) stating that it is a true 
copy and that there have been no further amendments. Other requirements may be made following 
the review of such documents. 

Record Warranty .Deed from Racer Properties LLC to Prospective Purchaser. 

When the proposed insured I$ Identified additional requlrernents and/or exceptions may be made, 

ProVfde evidence of the purchase prl~e and/or the <101Qtmt. of the mortgage to be Insured 

Submit 'Wfidavlthy owner". Addltlonal requirements may be made or exceptions taken for matters 
disclosed thereh1, 

Submit AtTA/NSPS land title survey or ot11er~Aitvey satlsfa!;tory to the Company lly anai>proved 
$Urileyor. Ad~itrotial. (:l(teptions triay be 1nade for e~$ements, parties In possession of the land, 
encroacnments, overlaps, boundary line discrepancies, and other matters which may be dlstlosed by 
the survey, . This i:equlremeht rs waived IF the land is a tots In a recorded subdMslon and· the 
Improvement Is ,;1 ane-to,four fiur\fly residentfal strJ.1cture which was c:onstructed mot~ thah ~a 
months ago; 

Submit proper evidence that the lax leg<1l description has been corrected to conform with the legal 
description set forth on this commitment, 

We find no outstanding voluntary liens of record affecting subject property. Disclosure should be 
made concerning the existence of atw unrecorded lien or a.tiler indebtedness Which could give rise to 
any posslble security interest in ttie subject property. 

Prfor to closing, the Company must confirm whether the county recording office In w.titch., the Land is 
located has change4 .Its c1ccess policies due to the COVID•l9 outbrec1k. If recording has been 
restr[cted1 specific unde\Wl'itlng ilpproval ls required; anq, additlonal requirements or ~cept!ons may 
be nmde, 

Submlt tt;> the Company a certified truecopy of the Resolution of (il) w (b) below, ilS applicable, of 
General Motors Corporation, authorn.ing and directing the proper offkers to execute all documents on 
behalf of the Corporation, 

(a) .Ordinary Course of Business; ~ard of Directors; 
(b) · Outside Qrdin.;lry t;:oul'$e of ausl.ness: l11e Shareholders and Board of Direc;to(1; 

Submit to the Cohll><lnY evidence of good standing of General Motors Corporation, Issued by the 
appropriate office of itS stale of t101riicile. · 

Record Warranty Deed rroni General Motors corporatrort to Prospective Purchaser, 

n»s pi'!Je: f, only" part ofe JO! 6 AlrA,J!! Commitme.ntfor ntle Jnsuranee.l:mied by/'lrstAmeriran nd,dnsutance Cw11pai1Y, 1llls Commltmen0Hl6t 
y;;//d wt/flout lh~ Notice; /he Comtnf/meflt to lswe Polley; /he Cpmmiur,enf Condition,; Schl:f/U/e A; Scl,,:dt.,/e IJ, Pilrt l-Requ[n:me11ts, $che&.,/e IJ, PJTI 
ll·e'x(epUons; and a (ou11ter-,ig11<1ture by thr, Compi'fflY or lfi; issuing agent that may be /fl eler:trom'r:fom,, 

Cop)'l'lghi ;?006·2016 Ameri~>io l.anc!Title J\s5o(iQtion. All rights reserved, 
The use. of this Form (or "W denv'11ive therleOf) l• m.lrict:ed h; ALTA liceru-.ees and ALTA members irt goad standing as of lhl'- datiof u,;e. All other uses 
,,re prohibited. Rep(i11ted under license fi-om the Am~can.Uind Title Assodatton. 

om1 5030026 (9--27·17} ge 6 of 10 ALTA Commitment ror11Ue Insurance (S-J..16 
Michiq11c 



19. TermlnatioI1 of the interest of Erie Sundquist and Russell H, Sundquist as dfsdosed ln the Quit Claim 
Deeds re1:orded January 21 1985, ln Uber 8871, Page 146 and in Uber 8871, Page 747. 

n»', /J"!Je i, only a p;irt of., 2016 Al rA,g) commitment (er TiMe lnsuran(e Issued bvffrst American 11/le l!isutance Company, This C'IJmmltmfll1t Is not 
valid Wi/houl /he No/Ice; /he Commitment to Jswe l';)!/cy; the Comm!lment Condi/Jons; Sd11:dv/eA; schedule B, Part I-R1:qu/r1;1T1enis;Schedl.{e 8, Pirl 
ll·fXceplfons; and,, ca1111t~r-1ilg11<1ture by the Company or i(Ji /,suing agent that may be In electro,1/r: form, 
Copyright ;).00(i•2(1:l,6 Ameri(an La11d Tftk, Association, 411 rights reserv,:d, 

The use of this Rinn (or lflV denv<dive thereof) ls $ITTded to ALTA licert;ees and Al TA member; in good standing as of the date of Use. All other uses 
are prohibited, Repril\ted under l1ce11se from the Arnelican Lrod litle ASsociation. 

orm 5030026 (9'27-17) ge 7 of l0 ALTA Commlbn~nt forTIUe Inruraice(8+16 
Mlchiq~ 



1: First American 

Schedule BI & BU Cont~ 

ALTA Commitment for Title Ihsurance 

First Arnericm Titl.e Insu.rcnce Comp9ny 

Gommltmetit No,: Nd:r105037G•MICH 

SCHEDULE B~ PART II 

J:l(i:;eptiqn.s 

THIS c'.QMMiilvlENTDOESf\JOT REPUB~I:CH ANY COVENANT, C6NDITION1 RESTR!OTI6N, OR LIMirA110N 
CONTAINED IN ANYDOCUMENTREFERRED ,o lN THIS COMM~"[MENlTOTHE EXTE.NT THAT THE 
SPECIFIC COVENANT, COND lTION, RESTRfCTWN, ·OR LI Mi TA TION VIOLATES ST ATE OR FEDERAL LAW 
BASED ON RACE;, COLOR, RE,LIGION, SE);<, SE)((JALORIENTA TION, GENDE.R lPENTlTY, HAND!C;b,F;; 
· FAMILIAL ST ATlJS, OR NATiONAL ORIGlN, 

The Polity will not insure clgflinst loss or da.mage ~suiting thi m tlie te1:ms and provisions pf c1ny·lec1ss or 
easement Identified iii S~he,.diJle A; an.d will ihdude the foll□Wlhg Exc:Eiptior\$ unless·cleared to the 
.satlsfadloh of lhe Cotnpany: . . 

i, Any qefect, lieh; encutnl:lrance1 · advet'$e dci1ni1 O(o(her matteF th;:itappears'fpdhe first time in thtl 
Public Re;corc!s or Is cre~ted I attach1;,s,. or is disclosed ~lcltween the Commitment Da.l.E and the ctatfl on 
Which afloflhe Eched1.1!e B, P<lrt t~Requirenwnts areimet, 

. Any_ rac\.s, right;,,· interests, or claims tMat an'/ not.shown by the. Rybllc Record~ put; that could be, 
r.iscerfuined ~y an inspei-ctidn of U,e ~and or bY -roakihg lt1q4lry of l)l'3tsons ih possession pf the ~c1nd, 

·r;:asernents, liens or .encumbrc1nces,. pr dalms thereof; not.shown by ·tt11cl Publ1c'Records, 

Any encrqachmenh en_ctrmbr_anc1;3, vlr:ilcitioh\ varlatlqlir□r c1dverse·i;ln:uh1sti'1rtte al'1'1:J:ting thtlTitlEi. 
lhcludrng d lscrepanciE)sJ ,c!Jtlflicts ih boundary linEl~ shor!iage in, ate<IJ Pl' i;JtlY other f<;iitts lhc\t wou li:l be 
disclosed by aq acirurate i.:!ndc:ti/nplete Janel surve¥, of the: Land, anclthat .~re hot showi-1 1n the Fiublic 
Fleii:□rcls, 

, Arly llen .or rlghttd a lian fut: servicesi labor, -material or e9L1ipmelnt, unless St1m lien- \s ;,hown by the 
PUblite Retards. at Date of Polley ancl notothe}Wise s)(cepfed frot:rHrQverage herein,, 

BUl!dirig and Use restrictions and olftear tE:rrns covenant$ ani::l t;?nd1tions1 but deleting <lnY coven.int; 
. cpndit1tih orre.strlctioh ihdicatlng a preference; litnitatloh or discrirriihatlon base.don race, qalor1 
rnHgjon,, se~, handicap, fammarstal,us or national origin ID' the_8~t.erit sw~h covenanl.q, .conditions or 
restdctions v1oizite 42' !-JS: 3604 (c)1 disclosed. by Irish! ment(s) retarded in Lib er 55b, Page· 63 (.\,ot 
:\.12.)1Liber 5531Page 173 (l.ots 110 and 111)) and Liber582,Page284 (Lot 82); O<:Mlandcounty 
records. 

rfils page ls r:n!Y.iipart er a 20-J/i N.. Tflf!J .uwnitin_ient /or Tllfe llritfrani:e Ji!J.Jed byfir.t ;Jmf.'lice,1 Jlt!e Jnwrance, OJmpi/1/1, l hl!i Ccmm11n1entis not 
v.Od 11,thoilt. the /Vat/<:~ the 0Jm111/tm¢11No lmte Pi;;/iq:;.the Cww1tfy1,eilt Cbnd/(tons; sd1etM.eA; S-,htxiwe 81 Part 1-Requircmf!llt!iJ FcherMe. lf, p!Yt 
11-ExcaplirYls;and a cor.mter-:i<j_tlaluro by the Ci:IJ.1pany cir ifs Jsf;u/nfJili;/Mt that mat b'ein electron/cform, 

!:oµyright 2il0_6-2Cli~ Anle\'iCilll L;ind Tille Assodal:lon, All r1!J:)tsreservi,d, 
Tl:ie Lis~ iii' this FDrm (or anyderi:1aliV" /hereof) is restri.t¼d ID ~LTA licensees a.d ALTA mei~ber~ In ~ood staiding as of the date of use, '/Ill other uses 
are ptohibited; Rep-lnl:ed Uhde· license li-otn 1he Atn&ltanland Title Associatic:ri, . . 

m 5030026 (9·27-1-7) ag, 8 cf 10 (IL TA Commitment fer Tltle1nsw·a1ci:r(8-H6) 
· · · · Mlchlqan 



8. Easements for public utlllties lying Within the vacated streets and alleys adjoining the Land, recorded 
ln Uber 4731, Page 386; Uber 8337, Page 672; Uber 8337, Page 701; Uber 8989, Page 67; Uber 
13989, Page 1)9; and Uber 9022, Page 18; Oakland County records, 

9, Interest of others lit oil, gas and mineral rights, if any, whether or not recorded in the Publfc Records. 

10. Interest, if any, of the United States, State of Michigan, or any politJcal subdivision thereof, In the oil, 
gas and mlnernls in and under: and that may be produced from the qiptfoned land, 

11. All of tlie terrns and provisions set forth !'Ind containe<l in that certain lease between General Motors 
Corporation, a Oelaw<1re corporaticm, lessor, and General Motors Company, a Delamir!;! corporation, 
Lessee, a• memonindum of which is recorded· In Uber 41392" Page, 439, Oakland County records. 
(Affects the Land and other property) 

12: Rii,Jhls of tenants under unrec.on:fed feases,. 

NOTE: TI1e tax assessor's legal description Is Inconsistent with the insured legal description, 

i;L lnterest of Erlti! SundqUist and Ru$Sell H, sw1dquist pursuantto Qµit Claim Deeds recorded in Uber 
887l, P11ge 74tfand 1111Jb¢r ~\!U, P.~gia 7'f!, 

71»'s p1J9e Js; only a part of 8 Z(/16 ALTALII) commlimef/t for 'ritle Jns1✓t81Ue /ssul!d byflr,t Ameri,.,,n 11//e Jnsumn,;e Company; Thi, Commllmentls not 
valid Wfl//oul Ille No/Ne; /he Commitment to Jm,e Polley; /he Commlll(1ent CMi:lilions;. Sc{Je,Me Ai Schedule 8, f?ilrt l•ReqlJ!remenis;.Schedu/e 8, f?iii'i 
11-(:x(l;ptlom; and 8 rounter-sig11<1l1Jre by the Company or Its 1',suing agent that may /Je If/ electronfr: form, 
Copyrlght.10116•20:l.6 A111eri~an 1.411<1 Tith! AssoclQtion. AU rlghl!I resel'V<)d, 
The use of this fom1 (or <¥11/ derivative thereof) is resbicted ti:, ALTA licensees and ALTA members in good standing as of lhe date of use. All olh..- uses 
are prohibited. Reprinted under' license fi'Om the American l.ilnd Title Association. 

onn 5030026 (9'27·17) ge 9 of 10 ALTA Commitment for11tle lnsuran,e (8·1·16 
Mlchi a 



I FirstAmerican 

Schedule C 

Commitment f':Jo,: NCS-1050370°M!CH' 

SSUED a'/: 

ir.st .A.rnericoo, title tnsurmce Company N~tiqni:11 
ommer.tic1I Servlc~s 

11 ~ No :l'Jts~ i0:D3101-MI CH 

larid. In the City of Pontiat, 01:1kland county I f'\lllch igan, described as fullciws: 

Lb!'.$ 81 to 93; ini::lus1ve1 ,:ind ihe Norlh 1/:;1 ono~ 99 .snd "'II ofJots 100. to 10El, lhtlusi\ie1 BUENA V!STA HEIGHT'.:; 
Q-.)BDIVI$ION,,EXCEPT the East:~□ .feet oftheNorih '.l,/2.ofl,ot';l9 and Lois iOQ to i03i iri¢1usive, taker\ forr?ild, 
Includln!;).all qfvaG1teqallex deisc:ril:itld\l.s: Beginning at tfie.Nor!hwe.st q:imerof Lot 1m; ihenc;e south bl degrees12 
minutes 1.4 ,,ecbnds E,1st1 i,76;4? feet; !hence Notil.159 clegrees 52 minutes 5';l secot;id$ IA/est 'la feet)' !hence ?outh M 
degrees 07 mln1.1te!s 01 sei::?nds West i;;!,b5,feet ttl. lhe Nottheastedy corf'.)er ofLot ijl.3j Jher.Jc;e Northwesterly along· the 
North line of Lats 88 to 93, Incll!slve, ~o t.he Soutt) i[ne ¢f vacated Sairit Louis Avenue) ):hense Easterly• abng s;:i[d si;iuth 
line to ~he We,st: corner of Lot. iOtJi tl:iar\te s;,utfaiasterly along 9:lulh line of Lots 104 to 1bl;l !nduslve, In tj'iei southe<iist 
corner of Lqt 104; tlii:incl3 North a)or,g tbe East line cif )..ot 104 to the Nqrtheast.conier of Lot 104 )'tj,ence Ea.sttlrly 18 feet 
along. the North lit1e of Lat 104, 'l;ll{tendect Easterly; thence Soutl1erlx .20 feElt J;q. l:iegJnnirig, ALS':j lnclUd Ing the 9:lUth 1/2 
elf vac~ted Satnt Lp1,1ls Av.enue adjaCEJrt~ W th~ S9U\ll:l, ALSO including. the .East. !/2 of vacafed Hollywooq AvenU.e acljaC(,r\t 
to ihe same, a.s. recorded i/1 L iber 24, paqe 27 of Plats, 0,;1kli;ind. coun~y Recorcts, 

P/iR<:EL2: 

Lob, 109 lp ;l4t\ticlUsNe, Bl;JENAy,rST,I\ Hi=F~Hts 9J$DiYlSION, EXCl::Prth~ East 30 feetoflots iza to. 127 ind1siVs, 
taken fbr ro;:ici,.,ALSO lql:$ 170 to 202 \nc;lusive, f:XC:EPTthe East 30 63eb:if Lots: 184 u:i 1$8 inclL1s1ve1 ta~en for ro;ac!, 
lritludhg 1/2.V«cated Saintl'.oursAVenue adjacent to LPls 109 to 123 inclusive. 

ALEO including all of vacated Mansfield Avenue East of the l:;siBt line ofHolfywbodAvenLJe11hafpat:t of vacated TElnnyson 
Avern:1ecadjacent to the Vi/est 71.feel; ofLot 188, and 1/±ofvacated HoHywoodAveriwe adjacent tb Lots iQ9 :iind 141, 
ALro. ihCIL!ding ::ill of vacate.d c1il('ly .,idjacent ioLt:llE L)2. to 1:28 intlUSIV(), anct Lot$ 183 lp.11:)9. iric;ILJsive; as ret:cirded in 
Liber 24, Page: 27. of Plats, Qak lanct, county Retorcls, 

EXCEPTI~JG j:herefron1 !he ~l.orih 10 feet of Lots ib9 to 122 lht::llisive, .arid the 9:Ju1h 10 feet of Lots 12~ to .141 1ndt1si\le, 
Lot, 170 to 175 ind\Jsive, andtots,1.96 to 202 i11£lusivei aUE~lAVISTA HEIGHTEl SJB0IVJS!ON, as retarded 1.11 Libei:24,. 
Pag~.27 of Plats, Oakland Covnty Recotds, 

ParGel 3: 

Tlie North 10 feet oflcrts 109 to 122 lHdwilve'J .a,nd !he.!=□Uth 10 riaet oflots :\.21:l to 141 i11clUs!Vei BUENA VISTA 
HEIGHTS .SJBQIVISION, as recbrded 1h l ibEir .'24 ,. Page .27 of p, lats, iJaklaric! Count~ ,Rec:otds. 

Patcrel4: 

Lots 17(] to l75 indL!siVe; and Lots :J_SJ6 tb 202 inclusive, ·BUENA VISTA HEIGHTS SJBDII/ISION1 as re.corded fn Llber 24, 
Page 27 of Pl'.its, oaklandcounty Reoords .. 

{his piK.Je Is wv a part If a 21Fi6 Al[A~ (1/111m/Vl)ent for Tlifll ltsllraru:,i ls!.Uadb)il'irst America..11/Me In!il/ranca Compd7Y, li!ls'Cwlliilh1ent ts not 
v;;pi/ without Ille f!}ot/cr,; 1/ie OJmmltmMttpi~e f'ollr;y; the Cwin/lU11.en/' C.On(f/.(tons/ schedr,!eA; Sc}J(,du!e 8, Pilrci•RequiiemiY/f!;J schedule. Br .Pi!f/' 
ll-Exceplims; and a counrer-!igtlalrJre by tluletmpaiW di' ils ls511lf!(l i1flMt tl,at 11iay be in efedronlcform, 

townght 2006-201,6 Amerit~ Li!nd l'llle'As!!Odi'l:ioh. All r1i1itsreser\ii,d, 
The use of this F.orrn(or anyderiyalJVe/Jwreof) is t13stricted ID ALTA-licensees a.d ALTA member~ In qood stendinq as of the date of ure .• PII other useS" 
are prohibited, Re):finled under liceme from' the Atnerlran'Land Tifo Associatlcri, 

qm 50300215 (9·21H7) ag:i 10 of 10 f>l TA Commitment fer Tltli:i lnsuraice (8-H6) 
, . · · · · Ji\lch1Q3n 



EXHIBIT "E" 

EXHIBIT A 
legal Descriptions & Depictions 

ofPareht Parcels 

lfmd .situated in Township 3 North1 Range 10 East, Sections 17 and :W, in the City of Pontiac, 
Cqunty of Oakland, S~ate bf Michigan, and more particularly described as follows: 

Beginning at the intersection of the South.line of West Tennyson Avenue (60' wide) and the 
East line of Hollywood Avenue (50' wide); ~aid Intersection also being the Northwest corner of 
lot 202 of Buena Vista Heights Subdivision, as recorded in Uber 24, Page 27 of Plats, Oakland 
County Records; thence South 00°03'18" West a distance of 321.68 feet; thence North 
86"58'39" West a dist,.nce of2S.03 feet to the centerline of Hollywood Avenue; thence c1long 
said centerline, South 00°03118" West a distance of 299,18 feet to the intersection of the 
centetline of vacated Hollywood Avenue and the centerline of vacated St. Louis Avenue (60' 
wide); extended; thence. along said centerline of vacated St. Louis Avenue, South 86~58'39" East 
a distance of 684.39 feet to the West line of Baldwin Aven1,1e (90' wide); thence along said West 
line of Baldwin Avenue, North 01•i4• 46" West a distance of 161.00 feet; thence continuing 
along said West line; North 00°041001

' East c1 distance of 4!:i0.13 feet to the South fin~ of West 
Tennyson A11enue; thence North 86°58' 39"West a distimce of 655,32 feet to the Point of 
Beginning. 

Tax. Parcel Identification Number 14~17-384-003 

The above-described area being a portfon of lands conveyed by Motors llquldatioti. Company to 
RACER Properties LL(: on Marth 31, 2011 as recorded in Uber 43570, Page 13, Oakland County 
R.ecords. 

Abdve metes and bounds ~s determined during February 4, 2.021 field survey bv Nowak & Fraus 
Engineers. 





And alsq, 

Land situated in Township 3 North, Range 10 East, Section 20, In the City of Pontiac, County of 
bakland, State of Michigan, and more particularly described as follows: 

E!eginning atintersf:lction of the Wei;t line of Baldwin Avenue (901 wide) a11d the centerline of 
\/i;lci!ted St. Lot,Jis Avenve (60' Wide); thence illong saicl centerline, North 86°58'39"West a 
distance of684.39 feet to the centerline of vacated Hollywood Avenue (SO' wide); thence along 
said centerline of vacated HollyWood,Avenue,. South 00°03'18" West a distance of 56,80 feet to 
the North nne of Kennett Road {60' wlde): thence along said North line, South 59°45'07" l:ast a 
distance of 612.12 feet; thence No1th 30°17'13" East. a distance of 134,68 feet; thence Squth 
59"45'0:r' East a.distance of l8.00feet; thehce So\lth 01'24'4!:i".East a distance of 4.19 feel; 
thehce South B6'Sis'39'1 East a clrstat1ce of 76,92 feet to said West lrne of 8aldwih Avenue; 
thence following said West line; Notth 01~24'46"West a distance of 230.15 feet to the Point 9f 
Beginning. 

Tax Parcel Identification Number 14-17-130-018 

The abo\ie-descr)bed area belpg a portion of larids i;i:mveyi;<d by Motors Uquldation (.'ompilnY to 
RACER Properties LLCon March 31, 2011 as recorded In Uber 43570, Page 13, Oakland County 
Records. 

Above metes and bounds as determined during February 4, 2021 flelcl survey by Nowak & Fra\ls 
Engineers, 





EXHIBITB 
Legal Descriptions & Depictions of 

Area to be Retained by RACER Properties LLC 

Land situated in Tc;iwn!ihlp 3 North1 Range 10 East, Sections 17 and 2.0, in the City of Pontiac;, 
County of 011klanc(S1;ate of Michigan, andmore particularly described as follows: 

Beginning a.tthe intersection ofthe South line of West Tennyson A.venue (60' wide) and the 
Eart line of Hollywood Avenue (50' wide); said Intersection also being the Nprthwest corner of 
Lot 202 of Buena Vist;, HefghtsSubdivlslon, as recorded in Uber 24, Page 27 of Plats, Oakland 
County Records/thence South 00°03'18" West a distance of 620.86 feet to the centerline of 
vacated .St. Louis Avenue (!50' wide); thence along salq centerlfne of vacated St'. Louis Avenue, 
South 86~58'39" Ei;i$hl distaMe of659,3S feet tc;i the We$t line of Baldwin Avenue (901 wide)) 
thence along:said West line of Baldwin Avenue,.North 01 "24'46'' West a distance. of 161,00 
feet; thence conth,u!ng along said West !Ille; North 00~04'00" East a distance of 460.13 feetto 
the South line ofWest 'rennyson Avenuei thence North 86.S8'3911 West a distance of 6S5.32. 
feet to the PointofBeginnlrig. 

Porttoh ofTa){ Parcel ldettt1fication Number 14~17-384-003 





And also, 

land situated it1 Township 3 North, Range 10 East, Section 20, in the City of Pontiac, County of 
Oakland; State.of Michigan, and more particularly described as follows:. 

Beginning at Intersection of the Wes.tline of Baldwin Aveni.le (90' wide) iind the centerline of 
\li;lcc1ted St. Lollis Avenue (60' Wide);thence along said centerline, North 86°58139" West a 
distance of 659.35 feet to the intersection of said centerline and the East line of Hollywood 
Avenue (SO' Wide); thence South 00°03'18" West a distance of 70.05 feet to the North line of 
Kennett Road (150' wide); thence alon~ sald North li11e; South 59"45'07" East a distance of 
583,19 feet; thence North 30°.t7t13" East a .distance of 134.68 feet; thence South 59°45'03" 
East.a distance of 18,QQ.feet; thence South 01"24'46" East a distance of 4. 19 feet; thence South 
86~5813!;)" East a distance of 76,9Z fe1:it to said West line of Baldwln,Avenue; thence following. 
said West line, North 01•24:45'1 West a distance of 230.lS feet to the Point of B1;1gin11ing. 

Pbrtion ofTax Par1::el Identification Number 14°:17-130-018 





EXHIBIT C 
leg.al Descriptions & Depictions of 

Atea to be Conveyed to the City of Pontiac 

La11d situated in Township 3 Nqrth1 Range 10 East1 Sections 17 11nd ZO, In the City of Pontiac, 
Cot.mty of Oakl,md,,State of Michigan, and more particularly described as follows:· 

Co111mencing at the intersection of the South line of West Tennyson Avenue (60' wide} and the 
Eart line bf Hollywood Avenue (50' wide), said intersection also being the N.orthwest corner of 
Lot: 202 bf Buena Vfata Heights Subdivision, as recorded ih Lib er 241 Page 27 of Plats, Oakland 
County Records;thence South 00°03'18" West a distance of 321,68 feet to the Point of 
B1;tginnh1g; thence North 86°58;39'' West a distance of 25,03 feet to the centerline of Hollywood 
Avenue (50' Wide): thenci;i along satcl centerllne, South 00~03'1811 We$t a distance of 299.18 
feet to the intersection of the centerline of vacated Hollywood Avenue and the centerline of 
vacated St Louis. Avehue (60' wide), extended; thence alohg said centerline of vacated St. Louis 
Avenue, South 86°58'3911 East a distance of 25,03 feet; the11ce North 00"03'1811 East a distance 
of 299,18 feet to the Point of Beglnnfng. 

The 11bove-de$cdbed area aiso being a portion of Hollywood Avenue vac9ted by City Council 
resolution on December 18, 19841 recorded in Uber 8989; Page 69, Oakland County Records. 

Portion ofTax Parcel Identification Number 14-17-384-003 

Conhlining 7,480 square feet of land, more or less. 





And alsq, 

Land situated in Township 3 North,. Range 10 East, Section 20, In the City of Pontiac, County of 
01'!klancL State bf Michigan, and more particularly described as follows: 

Commendng !:It intersettlon of the West line of Elaldwin AVrmue (90' wide) and the centerline 
of vacated St Louis Avem1e (60' Wide); thence along said centerline, North 86°58'3911 West a 
distance of 659.35 feet to the intersection of.said centerline and the East line of Hollywood 
AVElnue (50' Wide), said intersection also being the Point of Beginning; thence continuing along 
safd centerline; extended, North 86°5813911 West a distance of 25.03 feet; thence along the 
centerline of Hollywood Avenue, South 00"03'18'' West a distance of 56.80 feet to the North 
line of ~ennett Road ( 60' Wide); thence aloni said North line, South 59•4s'07" East a distance of 
2.8,92 feet; thehce Notth 00~031181

' (ast a distance of 70,05 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

The. above-.descrlbed area also being a portion of Hollywood Avenue vacated by Clty Council 
resolution on December 18, 1984; recorded in Uber 8989; Page 69, Oakland County Records. 

Portion•of Tax P.Mcel ldentlflc~tlon Number l4-17-l3(r018 

toi1tahiing 1,586 square feet of land,. more or less. 







,d-~,. 

i ~ 

+- iU\Lk/i )l 

CITY OF PONTIAC 
Department of Building Safety & Planning 

PLANNING DIVISION 
~ 

~.!/4; 

47450 Woodward Ave I PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 48342 
TELEPHONE: 248.758.2800 

Mayor Deirdre Waterman 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

DATE: 

HONORABLE MAYOR WATERMAN. COUNCIL PRESIDENT WILLIAMS 
& PONTIAC CITY COUNCIL 

VERN GUSTAFSSON, PLANNING MANAGER 

ZMA21-03 ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 
COMMUNITY HOUSING NETWORK 
25 S. SANFORD I PIN 64-14-28-455-001 
R-1 ONE FAMILY DWELLING TO R-3 MULTIPLE FAMILY DWELLING 

SEPTEMBER 13, 2021 

The City of Pontiac is in receipt of application ZMA 21-03 for a Zoning Map Amendment [rezoning] 
Parcel Number 64-14-28-455-001. The 5.2 acre parcel is on the east side of S Sanford, between E Pike 
Street and Chandler Street. The applicant, Community Housing Network requests a rezoning from R-1 
One Family Dwelling to R-3 Multiple Family Dwelling. At the September 8, 2021 meeting of the Planning 
Commission, they recommended approval of this request to the Pontiac City Council. 

Community Housing Network expects to demolish the former school and redevelop into 76 townhome 
units with one, two or three bedrooms. The units will front the residential streets with off-street 
parking, playground and a community center to serve the residents and the surrounding community all 
located in the center of the site. The current school structure has long been vacant and blighted. The 
applicant looks to redevelop the site into a useful and revenue producing property and redevelopment 
ofthe site could be a catalyst for needed neighborhood development/redevelopment. 

The rezoning would ensure that the proposed multiple family use is properly zoned. In accordance with 
Section 6.802 of the City Zoning Ordinance, the request for Zoning Map Amendment requires a technical 
review, Public Hearing, recommendation by the Planning Commission, and a final decision by City 
Council. 

Summary 
1. The applicant requests rezoning the subject site from R-1 One Family Residential to R-3 Multiple 

Family Residential. 
2. The Master Plan identifies the subject site as Civic/Public Use. 
3. The subject property is compatible with R-3 standards. 

4. All future development must comply with City; codes, ordinances and procedures. 

1 



Existing Land Use Patterns 
The subject site is located on a single parcel and has frontage and access on all four sides from S 
Sanford, E Pike Street, Chandler Street and S Francis Avenue. The surrounding area to the north, east, 
south and west is predominately one-family and two-family dwellings. 

Master Plan 
The City of Pontiac updated the City's Master Plan in 2014. The subject site is designated as Civic/Public 
Uses, Future Land Use category in the Master Plan. In this current economic climate when the school 
district moved to consolidate, streamline, and disposed of property; the site now becomes an ideal 
opportunity to redevelop for new residents. 

Existing Zoning Pattern 
Properties surrounding S Sanford is predominantly zoned R-1 One Family Dwelling. On the north side of 
E Pike Street is zoned C-1 Local Business and R-1. 

Rezoning Criteria 
The Pontiac City Council must consider any of the following criteria [section 6.804] that apply to the 
rezoning application in making findings, recommendations, and a decision to amend the Official Zoning 
Map [Section 6.804]. Additionally, the section also stipulates that the Pontiac City Council may also 
consider other factors that are applicable to the application, but are not listed among the ten criteria. To 
assist in the evaluation of these and other criteria, we offer the following findings of fact for your 
consideration. 

Section 6.804 provides review criteria for the Pontiac City Council to utilize in making its findings, 
recommendations, and formulating a decision. The ten stated criteria are listed below with our findings: 

1. Consistency with the goals, policies and objectives of the Master Plan and any sub-area plans. If 
conditions have changed since the Master Plan was adopted, consistency with recent 
development trends in the area shall be considered. 

As described in the Master Plan, this project is consistent with the goals, policies, and 
objectives of the City's Master Plan and with current redevelopment trends in urban cities. 

2. Compatibility of the site's physical, geological, hydrological and other environmental features 
with the uses permitted in the proposed zoning district. 

The former school site was developed years ago, so it's geological, hydrological, and other 
environmental features are no longer present on the site. 

3. Evidence the applicant cannot receive a reasonable return on investment through developing the 
property with one (1) or more of the uses permitted under the current zoning. 

The applicant did not provide evidence that they could develop the 5.2 acre parcel for a 
single family subdivision. It is clear that demolition, development and construction costs 
will not provide a reasonable return on investment. 

2 



4. Compatibility of all the potential uses allowed in the proposed zoning district with surrounding 
uses and zoning in terms of land suitability, impacts on the environment, density, nature of use, 
traffic impacts, aesthetics, infrastructure and potential influence on property values. 

The development of new town homes is compatible with uses allowed within the R-3 zoning 
district and will not negatively impact neighborhood density, traffic or property values. 

5. The capacity of the City's utilities and services sufficient to accommodate the uses permitted in 
the requested district without compromising the health, safety and welfare of the City. 

The City's utilities and services will be sufficient to accommodate the proposed 76 
townhome units without compromising the Citys health, safety, and welfare. 

6. The capability of the street system to safely and efficiently accommodate the expected traffic 
generated by uses permitted in the requested zoning district. 

E Pike Street and S Sanford are City Major Roads. The proposed development will not impact 
the ability of these roads and other adjoining local roads to handle potential traffic. 

7. The boundaries of the requested rezoning district are reasonable in relationship to surroundings 
and construction on the site will be able to meet the dimensional regulations for the requested 
zoning district. 

The boundaries of the rezoning are reasonable in relationship to surroundings and zoning 
district dimensional requirements. 

8. If a rezoning is appropriate, the requested zoning district is considered to be more appropriate 
from the City's perspective than another zoning district. 

With all the previous findings of fact, the boundaries of the proposed R-3 zoning district are 
reasonable from the City's perspective and comply with the vision found in the City's Master 
Plan. 

9. If the request is for a specific use, rezoning the land is considered to be more appropriate than 
amending the list of permitted or special land uses in the current zoning district to allow the use. 

As currently required in the Zoning Ordinance, it would be inappropriate to amend the 
zoning text for R-1 One Family Dwelling district with its primary goal to improve single family 
residential neighborhoods to allow multiple family buildings within the zoning district. 

10. The requested rezoning will not create an isolated or incompatible zone in the neighborhood. 
The proposed rezoning does not create an incompatible zone within the residential 
neighborhoods. 

3 



ZMA 21-03 - Zoning Map Amendment 
Parcel No: 64-14-28-455-001 

Resolution 

Whereas, The City has received an application for a Zoning Map Amendment at 25 S Sanford identified as 
PIN 64-14-28-455-001 from Community Housing Network for the rezoning of the aforementioned parcel; 

and 

Whereas, The Planning Division has reviewed the applicant's rezoning request in regards to the City's 
Master Plan Update and the request conforms to the goals and vision contained within the plan; and 

Whereas, The Planning Division has reviewed the applicant1 s rezoning request and the requirements set 
forth by Section 6.804 of the Zoning Ordinance. The Planning Division has determined the aforementioned 
request and proposed intended use of the property complies with the City of Pontiac Zoning Ordinance; 
and 

Whereas, In accordance with the procedures outlined in the Zoning Ordinance, Sections 6.802 as it relates 
to Zoning Map Amendments, the request has undergone the required: Technical Review, Public Hearing, 
and Planning Commission Recommendation; and 

Whereas, On September 8, 2021, a Public Hearing was held, and in consideration of public opinion, the 
Planning Commission recommends City Council to approve the Zoning Map Amendment request for 25 S 
Sanford, approving the change from the current R-1 One Family Dwelling zoning district to R-3 Multiple 
Family Dwelling zoning district; and 

Now Therefore, Be It Resolved, That the City Council for the City of Pontiac approve the Planning 
Commission recommendation for the Zoning Map Amendment (ZMA 21-03) request for 25 S Sanford, also 
known as Parcel No. 64-14-28-455-001 to amend the zoning from R-1 One Family Dwelling to R-3 Multiple 
Family Dwelling zoning district. 

4 



Application for Zoning Map 
Amendment 

City of Pontiac 
Office of Land Use and Strategic Planning 

47450 Woodward Ave, Pontiac, Ml 48342 
T: 248.758.2800 F: 248.758.2827 

Property/Project Address: 25 s. Sanford St. 
------------ Office Use Only 

PF Number: Sidwell Number: 14-28-455-001 ---------

Date: July 12, 2021 

Instructions: Completed applications with appropriate fee shall be submitted to the Office of Land Use and Strategic 
Planning at least 30 days prior to the regularly scheduled Planning Commission meeting. Applications must be complete in 
all respects with supporting documents such as site plan, property survey etc. Planning staff will schedule the application for 
consideration by the Planning Commission in accordance with the attached schedule. Incomplete applications will delay the 
review process. 

Applicant (please print or type) 

Name Community Housing Network 
Address 5505 CorpORate Dr, Suite 300 
City Troy 
State Ml 
ZIP Code 48098 
Telephone Maln:248-928-0111 I Cell734-812-8960 I Fax:248-928-0122 
E-Mail cjfelton@chninc.net 

Project and Property Information 

Name of Proposed Development: Community Housing Network Perdue Development 

The subject property is location at 25 s. Sanford St. on the N / S / E / W side of E side of Sanford St 
between Pike st. and _C_ha_n_dl_er_s_t. ____ _ 

The property is zoned: _R_1 ________________ _ 

Proposed Zoning District: _R_3 ________________ _ 

It is proposed that the property will be used as: _R_e_si_de_n_ti_al_H_o_us_i--'ng'-----------

The subject property is legally described as follows (include sidwell numbers): 

TJ.'-1, R10E, SEC 28AROMOREm ADDITION LOT 67 TO 86 IUCL& VAC AllEY ADJ ALSO CITIZENS DEV. COS ADD, LOTS 197 TO 210 INCL & LOTS 222 T022fl INCL, & VAC POR OF ARDMORE ST LYING ADJACENT .. Sidwell# 14-28-455-001 



Property Owner Information 

Name City of Pontiac 
Address 7 450 Woodward Avenue 
City Pontiac 
State Ml 
ZIP Code 48342 
Telephone Main: 248-758-2800 I Cell: I Fax: 248-758-2827 

E-Mail 

Are you the ___ Owner ___ Agent/rep. of the owner X Other Proposed purchaser 

The proposed will be used for the following purpose (provide as much detail as possible with 
photographs, sketches, site plans, written documents, etc.). 
Approximately 76 units of one-, two- and three-bedroom rental town home units on the site of the current Perdue School. 

Plans include the demolition of the existing school building with all housing units being new construction. 

A large community building will also be built on the site to serve the resdients and the surrounding community. 

The current proposed site plan concept is attached. 

Sate the reason for the Zoning Map Amendment, particularly the manner in which the City will 
benefit if the amendment is approved and why such change will not be detrimental to the public 
welfare and/or the property rights of other persons located in the vicinity of the site. 
The current school building has long been vacant and blighted, and approving the amendment will redevelop 

the site into a useful and revenue producing property. There is no anticipated impact on the redevelopment that will be detrimental to 

the public welfare and/or property rights of other prople located in the vicinyt of the site, as the site is bounded by 

city streets on all four sides and does not directly adjoin any other proerties. Redevelopment of the 

site can also be a catalyst for additional redevelopment of other vacant and blighted properties. 

Signature of Owner 

State of Michigan 
County of Oakland 

v I 
Signature of Applicant 

011 thisl;/tf::day of J {,L.k __ , A.D., 20rJ-/ , before me perso11al/y appeared the above named perso11, who bei11g duly sworn, stated he/she has read 
the foregoing application, by him/her signed, and !mow the co11tents thereof, and that the same is true of his/her ow11 knowledge. e. enrf}s to the ma tiers 
therein stated to be upon i11 ormation and belief and so as to those matters he/she believes it to be true. , , . y lj{.Li~....-(_/ 

T.S.MUCCI 
Notary Public, Slate of Michigan 

County of Oakland 
My Commission Explres_t,t 24, 2'.f 4 

Acting In the County of C'A. w, !AC 

Nota,y Public, Oakla11d Cou11ty, Michi _11, ., j 
My Commission Expires: }t) 'l'7' 



Current Zoning: R-1 

Proposed Re-Zone to 
R-3· ... 

Building 

(8) 2:-Story Residential 
Buildings 

(76) Units - 1, 2 & 3 BR's 

(112) Parking Spaces 

Opening Doors • Transforming Lives, 
Hooker DeJong Inc 
.::..~Ch 'EC-:--s. "ENG!NE-£q_s t PLA7,.lf',1E:=:s 


	20210917165109249
	20210917165141866_0001
	20210917165141866_0002
	20210917165205263
	20210917165237867_0001
	20210917165237867_0002
	20210917165508069_0001
	20210917165508069_0002
	20210917165636436_0001
	20210917165636436_0002
	20210917165728358
	20210917165817197_0001
	20210917165817197_0002

